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How to go to your page

This eBook contains two volumes. In the printed version of the book,
each volume is paginated identically. To avoid duplicate page numbers
in the electronic version, we have inserted a volume number before the
page number, separated by a colon and a space, matching how the page
numbers appear in the Cumulative Index.

For example, to go to page 5 of Volume I, type I: 5 in the "page #" box at
the top of the screen and click "Go." To go to page 5 of Volume I, type
I1: 5... and so forth.
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Note on Photos

Many of the illustrations and photographs used in this book are old, histori-
cal images. The quality of the prints is not always up to modern standards be-
cause in many cases the originals are from old or poor quality negatives or are
damaged. The content of the illustrations, however, made their inclusion im-
portant despite problems in reproduction.
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he term exploration comprises the concepts of traveling and seeking. Dis-

covery, a term associated with exploration, refers to “finding.” But the lat-
ter term has often been misused. One cannot “find” or “discover” a land that
is already inhabited. But one can “discover” knowledge of that land and take
it back to one’s place of origin and pass on that knowledge. The history of ex-
ploration can therefore be characterized as the record of the diffusion of
knowledge. The knowledge most relevant to exploration is geographic; how
the world came to be mapped is thus central to chronicling exploration. In
exploratory expeditions, information passes back and forth between continents
and between cultures, affecting the realities both of the exploring and of the
explored.

People have participated in exploration for a variety of reasons over the
ages. Two basic human traitss—curiosity and the desire for personal accom-
plishment—must be taken into account in all types of exploration. More spe-
cific motives include geographic and scientific inquiry, seeking a new
homeland, conquest and/or colonization, commerce and profit, religious zeal,
finding others who have gone missing, and searching for new literary or artis-
tic themes. Those who explore come from diverse social and vocational back-
grounds, among them, navigators, sailors, soldiers, officials, diplomats,
colonists, missionaries, religious scholars, merchants, hunters, fur trappers,
whalers, sealers, pirates, guides, interpreters, tribal leaders, cartographers, writ-
ers, painters, naturalists, geologists, historians, archaeologists, oceanographers,
astronomers, aviators, astronauts, and mountain climbers. Some individuals
contributed to exploration by promoting, organizing, and financing expedi-
tions or by making technological breakthroughs, although they themselves
may not have ventured far from their homelands.

Explorers lead fascinating, driven lives, and the stories of their expeditions
are filled with adventure and danger. Many individuals have died in the pur-
suit of their dreams. Some have inflicted death, either directly or indirectly,
on fellow explorers and especially on indigenous peoples. It can be said that ex-
plorers are at the head of the historical curve, the forerunners of good or bad.
It also can be said that exploration is the starting point of many historical and
cultural themes.

The explorers and the particular expeditions discussed in this work are
only part of the story of exploration. Many more individuals have a role in
the exploring and charting of the Earth and, in recent decades, outer space.
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The general topics examined and the terms defined offer some context to the
field of exploration, but it is important to remember that the scope of the story
of exploration includes the entire historical record, and its sphere of action
encompasses the entire world and the solar system. So, in chronicling explo-
ration, particular time periods, cultures, activities, and technologies are given
great weight. But one should perceive exploration as a single window into hu-
mankind’s larger journey through time.

Volume I of the Encyclopedia of Exploration presents biographical entries
about explorers, organized alphabetically. Volume II, also organized alphabet-
ically, presents various subjects related to exploration: types of exploration,
activities relating to exploration, groupings of peoples known for exploration,
historical periods, organizations, legends, places, routes, natural phenomena,
cartographic terms, oceanographic equipment, navigational tools, and crafts
used in transportation.

In the biographical entries of Volume I, expeditions are more likely to be
described in detail than in Volume IIs entries. At the beginning of each bio-
graphical entry can be found the following: alternate names and spellings of
names, birth and death dates (when known), nationality (and, if different, the
country for whom explorations were carried out), occupations, places of the



world explored, and familial relationships to other explorers with entries. After
an opening discussion of the individual’s background, there follows a descrip-
tion of his or her career in exploration and, if applicable, voyages and routes.
Each entry closes with a summary of the person’s accomplishments and his or
her broader relevance to the history of exploration.

Some of the entries in Volume II provide overviews of historical or geo-
graphic information; others are definitions of terms relating to exploration.
Geographic terms include continents, regions, islands, capes, oceans, straits,
mountain ranges, mountains, mountain passes, deserts, rivers, cities, and
routes. In addition to the obvious choices for geographic entries on conti-
nents and oceans, which provide overviews, some places have been selected as
entries because they generated many expeditions or are central to periods of ex-
ploratory history. It should be kept in mind that other such places without
their own entries have fascinating stories of exploration attached to them;
many such stories can be found in Volume I (see the cumulative index).

Cross-references, indicated by a term set in SMALL CAPITAL letters the first
time it appears in an entry, are meant to guide a reader/researcher through the
complex material in both volumes. The cross-references run across both vol-
umes; the reader should remember to look for entries on people in Volume I
and all other entries in Volume II. A reader should understand that for the sake
of convenience, not all terms that are discussed in entries in Volume II are pre-
sented as cross-references. For example, the terms Africa and Atlantic Ocean are
mentioned in passing throughout the book, yet their entries appear as “Africa,
exploration of” or “Atlantic Ocean, exploration of the” and are not necessar-
ily cross-referenced. It is unlikely that a reader will choose to look up Africa for
a general discussion of its geography and exploration every time the term re-
lates peripherally to an entry. But the reader should know that Volume II in-
cludes overview entries of every continent, as well as the Arctic region and the
Atlantic, Pacific, and Indian Oceans. More-specific places that have their own
entries, such as the Himalayas and the Mississippi River, are cross-referenced.
Certain terms, such as colonization, are not cross-referenced since the heading
might appear as “colonization and exploration.” A glance at the appendices or-
ganized by categories or the List of Entries for Volume II will help clarify ques-
tions of organization. Each volume also lists all the entries in both volumes in
the “List of Entries” in the front matter.

Appendices in Volume I include a list of explorers with entries organized
by region explored (with some names listed more than once, plus a section on
cartographers, geographers, and sponsors where relevant); a list of explorers
with entries organized chronologically by birth date; a list of explorers with en-
tries organized by sponsoring country, or, when no sponsoring nation can be
cited, by nationality or native land; and a list of explorers with entries orga-
nized by most relevant occupation. Appendices in Volume II include a
chronology based on the explorations of all the individuals in Volume I, a gen-
eral bibliography, and the already mentioned list of the entries organized by
categories. Each volume contains a general index of the material in that
volume.

Maps are essential tools in studies of exploration. The photographs of pe-
riod maps that accompany some of the entries in both volumes offer a
glimpse of the evolving cartographic view of the world. Original maps in an
appendix in Volume II serve to illustrate the subject matter. A bibliography,
in which books are listed by geographic and other general groupings, is pro-
vided to encourage and facilitate additional study of the vast and fascinating
subject matter.
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Abbott, Henry Larcom (1831-1927) U.S. Army
officer in Oregon and Washington

Henry L. Abbott, born in Beverly, Massachusetts, was edu-
cated at the Boston Latin School, then at West Point, grad-
uating in 1854.

As a lieutenant with the U.S. Army Corps of Topo-
graphical Engineers, Abbott took part in the Pacific Railroad
Surveys conducted under the auspices of Secretary of War
Jefferson Davis. In spring 1855, he took command of the
final phase of a U.S. Army expedition exploring the region
between the Sacramento Valley, California, and Fort Walla
Walla, Washington.

With a large military escort, Abbott and his command
proceeded northward from the Sacramento Valley to Pit
River Canyon in northeastern California, then into the Kla-
math River Valley. At this point, Abbott led part of the ex-
pedition north and east of the Cascade Range, along the
Deschutes River to its confluence with the cOLUMBIA
RIVER. The rest of his command, under Lieutenant R. S.
Williamson, continued northward along the western slopes
of the Cascades, through the Willamette Valley, to Fort Van-
couver on the Columbia River.

Abbott returned to San Francisco south along the west
side of the Cascades, through the Willamette, Umpqua, and
Rogue River Valleys, a region embroiled in an Indian upris-
ing involving Tututni and Takelma bands under Chief John.

Abbott went on to take part in an engineering survey
of the lower MISSISSIPPI RIVER that greatly influenced flood
control measures. He served in the Civil War, during which

he was brevetted a major-general of volunteers. He retired
from the army in 1895 and became a leading consulting
engineer in the planning of the Panama Canal 10 years later.

Henry L. Abbott (Library of Congress)



2 ABERT, JAMES WILLIAM

Henry L. Abbott’s 1855 expedition from the Sacra-
mento Valley into Oregon and Washington succeeded in
finding two possible railroad routes from northern Califor-
nia into the Pacific Northwest, one east and one west of the
Cascades. His official account of the expedition, Report upon
Explorations for a Railroad Route from the Sacramento Valley
to the Columbia River, was included in the U.S. govern-
ment’s publication Pacific Railroad Reports, published in
1855-60. The routes he surveyed were ultimately adopted
by railroads connecting California with the Snake and
Columbia River Valleys. Abbott also commented on the
great agricultural potential of the region he surveyed.

Abert, James William (1820-1871) U.S. Army
officer, cartographer, artist in the American West

Raised in the Washington, D.C., area, James W. Abert was
the son of John James Abert, who organized and was the first
commander of the U.S. Army’s Corps of Topographical En-
gineers in 1838. Like his father, the younger Abert attended
West Point. Soon after his commission of second lieutenant
in 1842, James Abert was assigned to the Corps of Topo-
graphical Engineers.

While serving, Abert was part of Colonel STEPHEN
WATTS KEARNY’s expedition, in the spring and summer of
1845, from Fort Leavenworth in what is now northeastern
Kansas, south and west to the Santa Fe Trail and New Mex-
ico. Abert led a party of soldiers and topographical engineers
westward across present-day Kansas, then followed the
Arkansas River into present-day eastern Colorado, reaching
Bent’s Fort (named for WILLIAM BENT), along the Arkansas
River at present-day La Junta, Colorado, on August 2, 1845.

From Bent’s Fort, Abert and his men explored south-
ward into what is now western Oklahoma and the Texas
Panhandle, the domain of the Kiowa and Comanche Indi-
ans. Aberts assignment was to produce charts of the region
and provide the government with a report on these tribes.
The group then headed westward along the Santa Fe Trail
into New Mexico.

While Abert was exploring and charting the Southwest,
another detachment of topographical engineers under
Kearny’s command, led by JOHN CHARLES FREMONT,
headed westward to explore the central ROCKY MOUNTAINS
and the Great Salt Lake Basin.

In 1846—47, Abert undertook several expeditions into
central New Mexico, until that time rarely visited by Ameri-
cans or Europeans. In October 1846, he came upon the
Acoma Pueblo of the Keres Indians, located near the head-
waters of the Rio de San Jose, west of present-day Albu-
querque, New Mexico.

In 1848, the U.S. Congress published Abert’s account
of his expeditions, entitled Report of Lieutenant James W.
Abert of the Examination of New Mexico in the Years
1846—47. Abert, an artist as well as cartographer, provided

original sketches of early New Mexico scenes along with
the text, including life in Kiowa, Comanche, and Pueblo
Indian settlements throughout present-day Oklahoma,
northern Texas, and New Mexico.

James W. Abert’s explorations south and west of the
Arkansas River provided some of the earliest accurate maps
of the Santa Fe Trail region and proved extremely useful to
Kearny and his command the following year, 1846, when
Kearny led U.S. troops into New Mexico, soon after the
onset of the U.S.-Mexican War of 1846-48.

Abruzzi, Luigi Amedeo di Savoia d’

(duca d’Abruzzi, Luigi Amedeo de Savoia,

duke of Abruzzi, prince of Savoy) (1873-1933)
Iralian mountain climber, explorer in Alaska, the Arctic,
Africa, and Asia

Luigi Amedeo di Savoia d’Abruzzi, was born in Madrid dur-
ing the last year of the short reign of his father, King
Amadeus of Spain. Raised in the rugged Abruzzi region of
south-central Italy, near the Gran Sasso d’Italia range of the
Apennine Mountains, Abruzzi embarked on a career of
MOUNTAIN CLIMBING and exploration.

In 1897, Abruzzi made the first successful ascent of
Mount Saint Elias in southeastern Alaska, which, at 18,008
feet above sea level, is one of the highest peaks in North
America.

In 1899, Abruzzi commanded an Italian expedition at-
tempting to reach the NORTH POLE. He sailed on the ship
Stella Polare (polar star) to Franz Josef Land, the icebound
archipelago off the Arctic coast of European Russia. From a
point north of these islands, his chief assistant, Captain Um-
berto Cagni, set off across the frozen Arctic Ocean by sledge,
and, in April 1900, he reached 86°34" north latitude,
slightly farther north than the point reached by Arctic ex-
plorer FRIDTJOF NANSEN in 1895 and, up to that time, the
closest anyone had been to the North Pole.

In 1906, Abruzzi traveled to East Africa, where he led
mountaineering expeditions in the first ascents of the high-
est peaks in the Ruwenzori Range, associated with the fabled
MOUNTAINS OF THE MOON.

In 1909, Abruzzi attempted to climb the 28,251-foot
K2, then known as Mount Godwin Austen, in the Karako-
ram Range of the western HIMALAYAS, the second highest
mountain in the world. Although Abruzzi’s party did not
reach its peak, at 24,600 feet they set a new record for the
highest altitude attained to that time.

During World War I, Abruzzi, a high-ranking naval of-
ficer, commanded the Italian fleet in the Adriatic Sea. Af-
terward, in 1919, he returned to East Africa, where he spent
the next 10 years exploring and colonizing the Shebeli River
(Webi Shebeli) region of what is now Somalia.

Duca d’ Abruzzi’s accomplishments as a mountaineer
and explorer encompassed four continents, from the Arctic



Ocean to the Horn of Africa. His account of his 1899—1900
attempt to reach the North Pole, On the “Polar Star” in the
Arctic Sea, was published in 1903. Abruzzi’s 1909 expedition
in the western Himalayas employed photographic mapping
techniques to survey a route to the top of K2. His early ef-
forts aided the Italian mountaineering party that made the
first successful ascent of K2 in 1954.

Aco, Michel (Michel Accault, Michel Accou)

(fl. 1680s-1690s) French fur trader, interpreter on the
llinois, Wisconsin, and Mississippi Rivers

Little is known of Michel Aco’s life before he joined the ini-
tial phase of RENE-ROBERT CAVELIER DE LA SALLE’s explo-
ration of the MISSISSIPPI RIVER region in 1679-80. One of
the French VOYAGEURS with a wide knowledge of the lan-
guages of the Illinois Indians, he became one of La Salle’s
most trusted lieutenants. In spring 1680, Aco accompanied
La Salle from Lake Michigan to Lake Peoria and helped es-
tablish Fort Crévecoeur on the Illinois River.

That same spring, while La Salle returned to Fort Fron-
tenac on the eastern end of Lake Ontario, Aco, Father LOUIS
HENNEPIN, and another voyageur were sent to explore the
upper Mississippi River and establish a trading post at the
mouth of the Wisconsin River. They descended the Illinois
River to its outlet into the Mississippi, then followed that
river northward to the Wisconsin. According to some
sources, Aco and Hennepin were captured by the Sioux
(Dakota, Lakota, Nakota) Indians near the Falls of St. An-
thony, in the vicinity of what is now St. Paul, Minnesota,
which they probably visited in captivity. The Indians held
them as prisoners until fall 1680, when they were rescued by
DANIEL GREYSOLON DULUTH at Mille Lacs Lake in present-
day eastern Minnesota.

Aco settled in the Illinois River region, where he en-
gaged in fur trading with the Indians. In 1693, he reportedly
married the daughter of an Illinois chief, but there are no
known details of his later life.

Michel Aco’s travels with Hennepin northward up the
Mississippi River to the Wisconsin River and into Min-
nesota complemented La Salle’s explorations to the south,
providing the French with greater understanding of the en-
tire Mississippi Valley.

Acosta, José de (1539-1600) Spanish missionary,
naturalist in Peru and Mexico
José de Acosta was probably born in Spain. In 1551, he en-
tered the Jesuit order, and, 20 years later, he embarked for
the Americas as a missionary priest to Native Americans.
Starting in 1571, he spent 15 years ministering to the Inca
in Peru and, for one year, to the Aztec in Mexico.

Acosta’s academic background included the study of
natural history. Throughout his career as a missionary in
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the Americas, he studied the customs and languages of In-
dians and made a detailed examination of the wide variety of
newly discovered plants and animals.

In 1587, Acosta returned to Europe, and three years
later he produced one of the earliest detailed accounts of
the natural history of the Western Hemisphere, entitled 7he
Natural and Moral History of the Indies. The work provides
some of the first accounts of native use of coca leaf, as well
as a description of the experience of altitude sickness in the
high peaks of the ANDES MOUNTAINS.

José de Acosta was one of the first naturalists to note
that many animal species of the Americas were unknown in
Europe. His writings sparked interest in the Americas
among subsequent European naturalists.

Acuia, Cristobal de (1597—ca. 1676)

Spanish missionary on the Amazon River

Cristébal de Acufia was a Spanish Jesuit missionary in the
ANDES MOUNTAINS of Ecuador during the first half of the
17th century, serving for a time as the rector of the Jesuit
college at Cuenca. When PEDRO DE TEIXEIRA arrived in
Quito in 1638, after leading an expedition up the AMAZON
RIVER, the Spanish viceroy assigned Acufia and another Je-
suit to accompany the Portuguese explorer on his return
journey downriver the following February 1639.

With Teixeira’s party, Acufia crossed the Andes Moun-
tains to the upper Amazon, then descended the river to its
mouth at Para on the northeast coast of Brazil.

Cristébal de Acufia undertook surveys and kept a
record of his journey down the Amazon. His account, New
Discovery of the Great River of the Amazons, first printed in
1639, was the earliest published description of the Amazon
region.

Adair, James (ca. 1720-1783) British trader, writer

in the American Southeast

Originally from Ireland, James Adair arrived in the North
American colonies early in the 1740s. He settled on the
South Carolina frontier, where he established himself as a
trader to the Cherokee Indians.

In the next years, the South Carolina colonial govern-
ment sponsored several of Adair’s expeditions to the lands of
the Choctaw and Chickasaw Indians. He was soon able to
establish regular trade routes to these tribes.

Just prior to the outbreak of the American Revolution,
Adair returned to London, where he wrote of his travels
and experiences. The History of the American Indians, first
published in 1775, contains observations on the life and
customs of Southeast Indians. Adair was particularly im-
pressed by the wide variety and quality of foods that Native
Americans gathered from the woodlands and cultivated in
their fields.
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Unlike most other traders in the region, Adair was well
educated, versed in Latin, Greek, and Hebrew, with a wide
knowledge of ancient history. In his 1775 book, he pre-
sented the fanciful theory that North American Indians were
descended from the Ten Lost Tribes of Israel as described in
the Bible.

James Adair’s descriptions of the South Carolina fron-
tier and the region’s tribes were among the earliest to reach
British readers, informing them about the largely unex-
plored region inland from the seaboard settlements.

Adams, Harriet Chalmers (1875-1937)

American traveler in South America

Harriet Chalmers was born in Stockton, California. Her fa-
ther was an engineer who had emigrated from Scotland and
crossed the Great Plains to California in a covered wagon.
Her mother was a descendant of a California pioneer family.

Although Chalmers had little in the way of formal
schooling, she received a good education from her parents
and from private tutors. Her desire to travel was sparked at
the age of eight, when she accompanied her father on a tour
through the Sierra Nevada on horseback.

In 1899, Chalmers married Franklin Pierce Adams, an
electrical engineer from Stockton, who shared his new wife’s
interest in visiting distant places. They traveled to Mexico in
1900, where Franklin undertook an engineering survey.

In 1903, Adams and her husband began a three-year
tour of South America. They visited rubber plantations in
the Amazon Basin. In the Bolivian ANDES MOUNTAINS,
they visited the ruins of Tiahuanaco, thought to be the old-
est native settlement in the Americas. While in Bolivia, they
also sailed on Lake Titicaca. In Cuzco, Peru, they visited
ancient stone buildings left behind by the Inca civilization.
Adams developed a great empathy for Indians of the Andes
region, seeing how they had descended into poverty as a re-
sult of the Spanish conquest.

In the course of their South American sojourn, Adams
and her husband traveled more than 40,000 miles in South
America and made four crossings of the Andes.

In the years that followed, Adams lectured on her trav-
els in South America, and produced articles on that region
for National Geographic and other magazines. She made sub-
sequent journeys to Latin America and also retraced FERDI-
NAND MAGELLAN’s epic voyage from Spain to the
Philippines. Her observations and studies of Indians of the
Americas led her to become one of the earliest proponents of
the theory that they had originally come from Asia. In her
later travels, she retraced the explorations of the Spanish
CONQUISTADORES in the WEST INDIES and in South Amer-
ica, and in so doing visited almost every country in Latin
America. She also visited central Asia, including the GOBI
DESERT. In 1913, she was elected as a Fellow of the ROYAL

GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY; in 1925, she became the first
president of the Society of Women Geographers.

In a New York Times article of 1912, when Harriet
Chalmers Adams was questioned on why men had domi-
nated the field of exploration, she commented that in her
own travels into uncharted lands she had never faced a dif-
ficulty or a danger that she could not surmount just because
she was a woman.

Adams,William (Will Adams, Anjin Sama,
“Mr. Pilot”) (ca. 1564-1620) English mariner in Japan,
in service to Dutch and Japanese

William Adams was born in Gillingham, Kent, a small sea-
port on the southeast coast of England. At the age of 12, he
embarked on a seafaring career, serving with British mer-
chant ships on voyages to the BARBARY COAST, and later
with the Royal Navy.

By 1598, Adams had acquired a substantial knowledge
of shipbuilding, mathematics, and navigation. That year, he
was engaged as a pilot major by Dutch admiral James Mahu
for a trading expedition to the EAST INDIES, the islands that
now compose Indonesia and the Moluccas. Adams sailed
from Rotterdam with the Dutch fleet of five ships in June
1599. The expedition was beset with hardship. Admiral
Mahu died in the Cape Verde Islands off the west coast of
Africa. Then the ships were separated in a storm while at-
tempting to reach the Pacific Ocean through the STRAIT OF
MAGELLAN at the tip of South America. Adams’s ship and
two others reached the Mocha Islands off the coast of Chile,
where Simon de Cordes, the surviving commander of the
expedition, was killed in a clash with local people. Adams
and the three remaining ships then headed westward across
the Pacific for Japan, intending to trade their cargo there.

Only Adams and his ship, the Liefde, managed to reach
Japan, arriving in 1600 at Oita on the northeast coast of
Kyushu, the southernmost of Japan’s main islands. Adams
was taken into custody by Japanese military leader Iyeyasu,
who compelled him to work for the Japanese in directing
maritime affairs, including the construction of ships. Three
years later, in 1603, aided by Adams, Iyeyasu became
shogun, the military ruler of Japan.

Adams remained in the service of the Japanese for the
next 17 years. Although at first not permitted to leave Japan,
he eventually rose to prominence as a trusted naval adviser
to the shogun. He took part in trading expeditions to the
Ryukyu Islands south of Okinawa and traveled to ports in
Southeast Asia in present-day Thailand and Vietnam.

In 1613, Adams succeeded in winning a trade conces-
sion for the BRITISH EAST INDIA COMPANY, represented by
JOHN SARIS. He was subsequently granted a royal title,
Anjin Sama (Mr. Pilot), and was rewarded with an estate
near Yokosuka. Adams married a Japanese woman and spent



the rest of his life in Japan. His logbook was first published
in 1850, and his letters in 1916. A street was named after
him in Tokyo, where a festival is held in his honor each year.

William Adams was the first Englishman to visit Japan.
With his Western expertise as a mariner and shipbuilder, he
contributed significantly to the rise of Iyeyasu as shogun and
the establishment of a dynasty that ruled Japan for 250
years. Through his influence, the DUTCH EAST INDIA COM-
PANY was able to maintain a trading foothold in Japan after
all other foreign traders were expelled in 1640.

Africanus,Leo See LEO AFRICANUS.

Agricola, Gnaeus Julius (Cneius Julius
Agricola) (ca. 37-93) Roman general in Britain

Gnaeus Julius Agricola was born in Forum Julii, a port of the
ROMANS on the MEDITERRANEAN SEA, near present-day
Frejus and St. Tropez, France. In A.D. 59-61, he served in
Britain under SUETONIUS PAULINUS. Agricola returned to
the European continent and continued his military career in
campaigns in Europe and the Middle East. He rose to the
rank of general and served as a magistrate in Roman
provinces in Asia Minor. In 74, Agricola was appointed gov-
ernor of Aquitania in what is now southwestern France.
Three years later, he was named governor of Britain.

In 80, Agricola launched a military campaign that
pushed Roman conquests northward into Scotland. Under
his leadership, the Great North Road—the Romans’ main
military highway that originated at Ermine Street in present-
day London—was extended north of York across the river
Tyne to the Tweed in what is now southeastern Scotland.

Beyond the Tweed, troops under Agricola’s command
built smaller military roads penetrating Scotland above Ed-
inburgh and the Firth of Forth, as far as the Roman outpost
at Inchtuthil. From there, Agricola staged his campaign
against the Caledonians, culminating in his victory in the
Battle of Mons Graupius in 83.

Agricola also directed Roman naval operations in
Britain in 77—-84. Under his command, the Roman fleet
sailed along the east coast of Britain as far north as the
Orkney Islands. According to some accounts, the Roman
GALLEY ships then proceeded south along the west coast,
completing the first recorded circumnavigation of Britain.
In 84, Agricola was preparing for a military expedition to
Ireland, when he was recalled by Emperor Domitian.

Gnaeus Julius Agricola was immortalized in a biography
by his son-in-law, the Roman historian Tacitus. As a military
leader and governor, Agricola carried Roman civilization to
Britain and pacified most of what is now England, north-
ern Wales, and southern Scotland. He extended the Great
North Road well into Scotland. This vital transportation

AKELEY, CARL ETHAN 5

link helped maintain Roman domination of Britain for
more than 350 years. Great Britain’s present-day north-
south highway, the A-1, closely follows the route established
by Agricold’s army.

Aguirre, Lope de (ca. 1510-1561)

Spanish conquistador in Peru and Venezuela

Lope de Aguirre was probably born in Spain. Arriving in
Peru in about 1544, he worked as a horse trainer and later
became involved in warfare between rival factions of CON-
QUISTADORES, during which he developed a reputation for
cruelty and unbridled violence.

In 1560, Aguirre joined an expedition led by PEDRO DE
URSUA in search of EL DORADO, a fabled native kingdom of
great wealth, which the Spaniards believed lay somewhere in
the Amazon Basin. He left Lima with Ursta’s contingent of
300 men in July 1560. After crossing the ANDES MOUN-
TAINS and following the Huallaga and Maraidn Rivers, the
expedition reached the AMAZON RIVER. In December 1560,
along the Amazon, near the mouth of the Putumayo River,
Aguirre incited a mutiny and murdered Ursda, as well as his
second in command, an officer named Don Fernando de
Guzmdn.

Aguirre led the mutineers down the Amazon, probably
crossing to the ORINOCO RIVER by way of the Negro River.
They laid waste to several Indian villages along the way. The
party eventually reached the Caribbean coast of present-day
Venezuela. They captured the island of Margarita above the
mouth of the Orinoco, from which Aguirre planned to lead
an attack against royal Spanish forces in Panama. Crossing
to the mainland, his men were besieged in the northwestern
Venezuelan city of Barquisimeto. Before surrendering,
Aguirre murdered his own daughter. He was beheaded, and
his body was cut in quarters and displayed as a warning to
all would-be rebels.

Lope de Aguirre had one of the bloodiest careers of all
the conquistadores in South America. His advance in 1561
from the Andes to the Caribbean Sea amounted to the sec-
ond-known successful crossing of the South American con-
tinent, 20 years after FRANCISCO DE ORELLANA’s expedition.

Akeley, Carl Ethan (1864-1926)

American naturalist, taxidermist, photographer in East and
central Africa, founder of modern taxidermy, husband of
Delia Denning Akeley and Mary Kobe Akeley

Born in Clarendon, western New York, south of Lake On-
tario, Carl Akeley spent time as a youth in the neighboring
woods and was introduced to taxidermy methods. At the
age of 19, he became an assistant at Ward’s Natural Science
Establishment, working there for three years. In 1886-88, he
was a self-employed taxidermist in Milwaukee, Wisconsin,
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then was hired as the taxidermist for the Milwaukee Public
Museum in 1888. In 1895, he switched his focus to natural
science, first at the Field Museum of Natural History in
Chicago, then at the American Museum of Natural History
in New York City in 1909. He also worked in sculpture and
photography.

Akeley traveled to Kenya with his first wife, DELIA JULIA
DENNING AKELEY, in 1905-06, hunting specimens for the
Field Museum. They returned to Africa again in 1909-11,
going on safaris in the Belgian Congo (present-day Demo-
cratic Republic of the Congo) for the American Museum of
Natural History. Akeley designed displays with realistic
backdrops, which later became part of the latter museum’s
Akeley Hall of African Mammals. He returned to Africa in
1921-22. In 1923, he published 7n Brightest Africa. Akeley
again traveled to the Belgian Congo with his second wife,
MARY LEONORE JOBE AKELEY, in 1926.

In 1926, along with the support of King Albert I of Bel-
gium, Akeley helped found Africa’s first wild game preserve,
named the Parc National Albert (now the Virunga National
Park), as a sanctuary for the area’s mountain gorillas and
other fauna. Akeley died of tropical fever on this expedition
and was buried on Mount Mikeno in the preserve.

Carl Akeley was one of the first Americans to travel ex-
tensively in wilderness areas of East Africa and central Africa.
He devised new methods of taxidermy—sculpting lifelike
bodies around skeletal mounts that consisted of bone, wood,
paper, wire, and specially formulated cement—and new
types of museum displays depicting habitat based on pho-
tography. In addition to 38 tools for taxidermists, he de-
signed a lightweight motion-picture camera for shooting
wildlife. Akeley’s accomplishments led to a big-game hunt-
ing expedition with U.S. president Theodore Roosevelt.

Akeley, Delia Julia Denning (Mickie Akeley)
(1875-1970) American naturalist in East Africa, wife of
Carl Ethan Akeley
Delia Akeley, née Denning, also known by her nickname,
Mickie, grew up in Beaver Dam, Wisconsin. At the age of
13, she ran away from home and never saw her parents
again. An aspiring naturalist, she worked as an assistant to
the naturalist and taxidermist CARL ETHAN AKELEY, first in
Milwaukee, then at the Field Museum of Natural History in
Chicago. She married him in 1902.

Three years later, in 1905, the Akeleys set out to Kenya
for the purpose of collecting specimens and stayed 18
months. On the safaris, Delia participated in the hunt, be-
coming skillful with a rifle and shooting an elephant now on
display at the Field Museum. Returning to Affrica in
1909-11, the Akeleys explored the Belgian Congo (present-
day Democratic Republic of the Congo), her husband in
the employ of the American Museum of Natural History in

New York at that time. Because Carl was sick for much of
this second visit, Akeley oversaw many of the day-to-day
responsibilities.

The couple was divorced in 1923. Akeley continued her
career in natural science and returned to Africa in 1924-25,
collecting for the Brooklyn Museum of Arts and Sciences.
She departed from Lamu, Kenya, on the Indian Ocean,
crossed Uganda and the Belgian Congo, then traveled along
the CONGO RIVER (Zaire River) to Boma, eventually reach-
ing the Atlantic coast. She journeyed by CANOE as well as
camel. In the Belgian Congo, she lived among the peoples of
the Iruri Forest and studied their hunting and fishing tech-
niques. She visited Africa again in 1929-30.

Delia Akeley, in 1924-25, became the first known non-
African woman to cross Africa coast to coast. Her writings
about her African experiences include the book Jungle Por-

Delia Akeley (Library of Congress)



traits (1928). Her study of baboon colonies on her second trip
to Africa with Carl Akeley set a precedent among women nat-
uralists of working with primates. She kept a pet monkey late
in life.

Akeley, Mary Leonore Jobe (1886-1966)
American naturalist, photographer, geographer in the
Canadian Northwest and Africa, wife of Carl Ethan Akeley
Mary Akeley, née Jobe, was born and raised on her parents’
farm in Tappan, Ohio. She studied at Bryn Mawr College
and Columbia University, then taught history at Hunter
College. In 1916, she bought property in Mystic, Connecti-
cut, where she ran a camp for girls, ages eight to 18, which
operated from 1916 to 1930.

When in her 20s, Jobe was commissioned by the Cana-
dian government to study the native peoples of the Cana-
dian Northwest. She also charted the headwaters of the
Fraser River and parts of the Canadian ROCKY MOUNTAINS
and climbed Mount Sir Alexander. For her work in British
Columbia, she was elected to the ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL
SOCIETY in 1915.

In 1924, she married the naturalist and taxidermist
CARL ETHAN AKELEY after his divorce the year before from
DELIA JULIA DENNING AKELEY. With him, in 1926, she trav-
eled to the Belgian Congo (present-day Democratic Repub-
lic of the Congo) and helped him hunt specimens and
photograph animals and their habitat for the American Mu-
seum of Natural History in New York City. Her husband
died on this expedition, and Akeley continued their work,
exploring in Kenya and Tanganyika (present-day Tanzania).
On her return to the United States, she became an adviser
for the Akeley Hall of African Mammals, in New York’s nat-
ural history museum, which opened 10 years later.

Akeley received from King Albert of Belgium the Cross
of the Knight, Order of the Crown, for her work in Africa
on behalf of the wildlife preserve her husband had helped
found. Her books include Carl Akeleys Africa (1929); Lions,
Gorillas and Their Neighbors (1932); and Congo Eden
(1950). She returned to Africa in 1952, visiting her hus-
band’s grave on Mount Mikeno. She died in Mystic, Con-
necticut, in 1966.

Mary Akeley was one of the earliest women explorers
in the Canadian Northwest and parts of Africa. She over-
saw some of the last museum taxidermy. In subsequent years
after the completion of Akeley Hall, observation of mam-
mals in the field and recording their behavior on film and
videotape became the chosen ways of documenting them.
The Geographical Board of Canada named Mount Jobe in
the Rockies in her honor.

Akkad, Sargon of See SARGON.
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Alarcén, Hernando de (1500-unknown)

Spanish conquistador in the Gulf of California and on the
lower Colorado River

In 1540, Hernando de Alarcén was given command of three
ships to carry supplies to FRANCISCO VASQUEZ DE CORON-
ADO’s expedition in the present-day American Southwest.
The expedition’s organizer, Spanish viceroy ANTONIO DE
MENDOZA, also instructed Alarcén to sail northward along
the coast in search of the Seven Cities of CIBOLA, the fabled
civilization believed to lie north of Mexico at the edge
of Asia.

In summer 1540, Alarcén and his fleet sailed from the
mouth of the Rio Grande de Santiago, near the port city of
San Blas on Mexico’s Pacific coast, and proceeded into the
Gulf of California. At the head of the gulf, he noted the
outflow of a river. In 1539, FRANCISCO DE ULLOA had ob-
served the same currents but had not positively identified
their source nor explored more than a short distance up-
stream. Skillfully piloting his ships through the sand bars
and shallows, Alarcdén entered the stream and recognized
that the flow came from a river, which he called the Rio de
la Buena Guia, meaning “river of the good guide.” He nav-
igated what became known as the COLORADO RIVER about
50 miles up river to a point where it became impassable for
his ships. From there, he continued his explorations in
small boats.

Alarcén soon made contact with the Yuma (Quechan)
Indians, with whom he established friendly relations. He
made two journeys up the Colorado. On the second one,
he reached a point near the mouth of the Gila River. By
then, news of Coronado’s conquest of Pueblo Indians in
western New Mexico had reached Alarcén and the Indians
on the lower Colorado. Alarcén attempted to lead his men
overland to join Coronado, but they refused to cross the re-
gion because of reports of hostile tribes.

Alarcédn, believing he would be unable to rendezvous
with the main body of Coronado’s forces, left a message be-
neath a stone monument below the mouth of the Gila, at a
point where the main Indian trail from the east crossed the
Colorado. He then returned to his ships and sailed back to
Mexico. Several weeks later, MELCHOR DIAZ, one of Coron-
ado’s lieutenants, reached the Colorado and found Alarcén’s
message.

Hernando de Alarcén is credited with being the first
non-Indian to explore above the mouth of the Colorado
River. He traveled 200 miles up the river; the territory
beyond would remain unexplored by Europeans for the
next 300 years. His expedition in 1540 was one of the
first to report that Baja California was not an island, as
was commonly thought, but a long peninsula. Yet his
finding would not be confirmed until the explorations
of Father EUSEBIO FRANCISCO KINO in the early 18th
century.
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Albanel, Charles (ca. 1613-1696) French missionary
in French Canada

Charles Albanel was born in Auvergne, France, in either
1613 or 1616. He studied to be a Jesuit priest, entering the
order’s novitiate in Toulouse in 1633, after which he served
in a number of different French villages.

When in his 30s, Albanel traveled to New France. Start-
ing in 1649, he began working with fellow Jesuit Jean de
Quen at the Tadoussac mission to Indians (mostly Monta-
gnais) on the Saguenay River north of Quebec City. It is
thought that in 1659-60, Albanel accompanied PIERRE-
ESPRIT RADISSON and MEDARD CHOUART DES GROSEIL-
LIERS on an expedition to Lake Superior and the headwa-
ters of the MISSISSIPPI RIVER; after returning to Montreal, he
set out with the Indians once again to their homeland. In
the mid-1660s, Albanel served as a chaplain to French
troops, traveling with them in actions against the Iroquois
(Haudenosaunee) Indians around Lake Champlain and
helping negotiate peace agreements.

On learning of an English presence in HUDSON BAY,
following the founding of the HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY in
1670, French officials dispatched Albanel and fellow
Frenchmen Paul Denis de Saint-Simon and Sébastien
Provencher to the region. They traveled from Tadoussac
westward to Lac Saint Jean in August 1671, where they
spent the winter. The following June, by CANOE, with 16
Montagnais Indian guides, they set out northwestward to
Lake Mistassini, then westward along Lake Nemiskau and
down the Rupert River to James Bay, the southeastern extent
of Hudson Bay. At the mouth of the Rupert, they spotted an
English ship and two empty buildings—the English pre-
sumably on a hunting expedition—and met with Indians
living nearby in the hope of preventing their trade with the
English. Albanel returned to Tadoussac in August 1672.

In 1673, Albanel, about 60 years old, endured the hard-
ships of another trip to Hudson Bay in response to contin-
uing reports of English presence. On this trip, he was taken
prisoner by the English on James Bay and sent to England.
After agreeing not to attempt to undermine English trade re-
lations with the Indians of Hudson Bay, Albanel was allowed
to return to France. By 1676, he was back in Quebec and
was appointed superior of the St. Francis Xavier mission (at
present-day De Pere, Wisconsin). He died in 1696 at Sault
Sainte Marie in present-day Michigan.

Charles Albanel was among the earliest Europeans to
travel the overland route to Hudson Bay. This was the first
such expedition, unless Radisson’s claimed trip of 1660 to
James Bay from Lake Superior did in fact take place.

al-Biruni, Abu ar-Rayhan Muhammad ibn
Ahmad See BIRUNI, ABU AR-RAYHAN MUHAMMAD
IBN AHMAD AL-.

Albuquerque, Afonso de (Alphonso
d’Albuquerque, Afonso do Albuquerque,

Alfonso the Great) (1453-1515) Portuguese naval
officer in the Indian Ocean, India, and Indonesia

Afonso de Albuquerque was born near Lisbon, Portugal,
into a noble Portuguese family. After spending his early years
at the court of King Alfonso V the African, he embarked on
a naval career, taking part in the Portuguese conflicts with
Muslim powers in the MEDITERRANEAN SEA and off the
coast of Morocco.

Albuquerque became a leading officer in the Portuguese
navy, eventually achieving the rank of admiral. In 1503, he
made his first trip around the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE to
India, under the sponsorship of the Portuguese monarch
Manuel II.

In 1506, with Tristao da Cunha, Albuquerque sailed
again for the EAST INDIES. He explored the east coast of
Africa, visiting the island of Madagascar, plus the port of
Mombasa on the coast of what is now Kenya. Albuquerque
assumed command of part of the Portuguese fleet as it ap-
proached the Persian Gulf, then launched a military cam-
paign against the Muslim-held island of Hormuz, as well as
against the island of Socotra in the Gulf of Aden. In 1507,
Albuquerque established the first Portuguese outpost in
Asia, on Hormuz. Although forced to abandon Hormuz
soon afterward, he ultimately succeeded in retaking this im-
portant trading center along the SPICE ROUTE to the Far
East by 1515.

In 1509, Albuquerque replaced FRANCISCO DE
ALMEIDA as Portuguese viceroy in India, and, in 1510, he
led a successful military expedition against Goa and other
ports on southwestern India’s Malabar Coast. A map pro-
vided by a Javanese pilot, detailing the Indian Ocean and
the islands of present-day Indonesia, aided Albuquerque
in his 1511 conquest of Malacca at the southern end
of the Malay Peninsula. This victory wrested from the
Muslim powers control of the Strait of Malacca, the main
sea route between the Indian Ocean and the South China
Sea, providing the Portuguese with direct access to the
SPICE ISLANDS (the Moluccas) and the ports of Japan and
China.

Portuguese court intrigues led to Albuquerque’s removal
as viceroy of India in 1515. Although he was restored to
this office before long, Albuquerque died of dysentery off
the coast of Goa on his way back from his final victory at
Hormuz, before he could resume command.

Afonso de Albuquerque’s exploits in the Indian Ocean,
the Persian Gulf, and the Strait of Malacca expanded Por-
tuguese domination of the sea route from Europe, around
the tip of Africa, to China, Japan, and the Spice Islands. His
victory at Goa in 1510-11 secured Portuguese control of this
Malabar Coast port for the next 450 years. Among the early
Portuguese seafarers who ventured around the Cape of Good



Hope to India and Southeast Asia, he was known as “Afonso
the Great.” In recognition of his military successes, Albu-
querque was also dubbed the “Portuguese Mars.”

Alexander the Great (Alexander Il of
Macedonia) (356-323 B.C.) king of Macedonia, military
leader in Asia and North Africa

Alexander, the son of the Macedonian king Philip II, was
born in Pella, the ancient capital of Macedonia (Macedon).
His early years were spent under the tutelage of the Greek
philosopher Aristotle.

In 336 B.C., Philip was assassinated, and Alexander,
then 20 years old, assumed the throne. After consolidating
his rule over the Greek states, he undertook, in 334, a mili-
tary campaign against the Persian Empire to the east.

Alexander’s army, about 35,000 strong (although some
sources say 65,000), crossed the Hellespont (the Dard-
anelles) from Greece into what is now Turkey and defeated
a Persian force under Darius III at the Granicus River. He
proceeded along the east shore of the MEDITERRANEAN SEA,
then inland into Asia Minor, conquering all the territory as
far as present-day Ankara, Turkey.

Alexander and his army continued southward into pre-
sent-day Lebanon where he captured the Phoenician city of
Tyre. Then, in 332, he headed west along the northern coast
of the Sinai Peninsula into Egypt, which he conquered with
lictle resistance. That same year, he established Alexandria on
Egypt’s northern Mediterranean shore.

In 331, Alexander’s army crossed into Syria and soon
reached the Tigris and Euphrates Rivers. At the battle of
Gaugamela in what is now northern Iraq, he decisively de-
feated the Persians. Alexander pushed northeastward across
present-day Iran in pursuit of the Persian army. South of
the Caspian Sea, he crossed the Elburz Mountains by way
of a pass known as the Caspian Gates, or the Sirdar Pass.
Following the south coast of the Caspian Sea, he led his
army across northern Iran to the Gurgan River. From there
he headed south and east, entering what is now Afghan-
istan. En route, he established Alexandria in Ariis (modern
Herat, Afghanistan) and Alexandria Arachosia (near mod-
ern Kandahar, Afghanistan).

Turning northeast in 329, Alexander and his victorious
army entered the Kabul Valley. At the foot of the Hindu
Kush range, which he believed to be part of the Caucasus
Mountains, he founded the city of Alexandria ad Caucasum.
Still in pursuit of the Persians, he crossed the Hindu Kush,
probably by way of 11,650-foot-high Khawak Pass, and en-
tered what is now Uzbekistan.

In the southern Russian steppes, Alexander crossed
north and east to the Amu Darya, then known as the Oxus
River, and conquered the ancient cities of Balkh and
Samarkand. He continued northeastward as far as the Syr
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Darya River (known in ancient times as the Jaxartes), where
he established Alexandria Eschate, the site of what became
Leninabad. This settlement was the farthest eastern reach of
Alexander’s travels.

From Alexandria Eschate, Alexander and his forces
moved south across Afghanistan and, in 327, recrossed the
Hindu Kush into India, reaching the INDUS RIVER. He led
his army across the Indus to the Jhelum River (the ancient
Hydaspes) and reached the Beas River (the ancient Hypha-
sis). Although his army defeated the Indian forces on the
Jhelum, his men refused to proceed, fearing the unknown
lands to the east. Alexander had planned to conquer the rest
of India, as far as the GANGES RIVER, but with his troops on
the verge of mutiny, he decided to return west.

After having a fleet of 200 ships built on the Jhelum,
Alexander led his army down the river in autumn 325.
They reached the Indus and descended to its mouth in the
Arabian Sea near present-day Karachi, Pakistan. Alexan-
der sent part of his army aboard 150 ships, under the com-
mand of NEARCHUS, on an expedition westward along the
coast of the Arabian Sea as far as the mouths of the Tigris
and Euphrates Rivers at the head of the Persian Gulf.
He led the rest of his army through the desert region of
southern Baluchistan back to the Mesopotamian cities of
Susa and Babylon. The overland journey was fraught with
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hardship; it is estimated that Alexander lost thousands of
his men to thirst. Moreover, thousands of the camp fol-
lowers were drowned in desert flash floods.

By 324, Alexander had returned to Persia and under-
took explorations of the Tigris River into what is now Iraq.
He planned to undertake a seaward exploration around the
Arabian Peninsula and may have intended a circumnaviga-
tion of Africa. Before he could embark, however, he con-
tracted a fever, probably resulting from malaria, following a
10-day drinking bout, and died in June 323 B.C. Soon af-
terward, his empire fell into disarray.

Alexander the Great, as he was known after his un-
precedented conquest of the Middle East and central Asia,
extended European geographic knowledge as far as India.
His army traversed 20,000 miles of territory in Europe,
Africa, and Asia, including many regions unknown to the
Greeks and other Mediterranean civilizations. Traveling with
his army were scientists, who sent back to Greece samples
of newly discovered plants and animals. In addition, his
forces were accompanied by bematists, early surveyors who
measured his route. Subsequent accounts of Alexander’s
conquests provided the Hellenistic world with a knowledge
of Asia and led to increased contact with India and China.
His route across modern Iran, south of the Caspian Sea,
became a vital link in the Silk Road, an important trade
route in ancient times between China and the eastern
Mediterranean.

Alfinger, Ambrosius (Ambrose Alfinger,
Ambrosius Dalfinger, Ambrosio Ehinger)
(unknown—1533) German colonial leader in northern
South America

Ambrosius Alfinger was from the German duchy of Swabia.
In 1528, the German banking family of Welser sponsored a
colonizing expedition of some 300 settlers to what is now
Venezuela in South America, following a land grant to
them by Charles I, king of Spain (Holy Roman Emperor
Charles V).

It was hoped that expeditions launched from the
colony might locate a short route to the Pacific Ocean. Re-
ports about EL DORADO, a fabled land of great riches, pro-
vided additional incentive for explorations. After
establishing the coastal settlement of Coro in 1529, Alfin-
ger explored the country around Lake Maracaibo. In 1531,
he set out from Coro and reached Tamalameque on the
Magdalena River in present-day Colombia. He also ex-
plored the Sagamoso River. On the return journey in 1533,
he was killed in a skirmish with Indians in the Chindcota
Valley.

Ambrosius Alfinger, together with fellow Germans
NIKOLAUS FEDERMANN and GEORG HOHERMUTH VON
SPEYER, who also explored the plains of Venezuela and

Colombia, was one of the few northern Europeans to play a
P play
part in the exploration of South America.

al-Idrisi,Abu Abd Allah Muhammad ash-
Sharif See IDRISI, ABU ABD ALLAH MUHAMMED ASH-
SHARIF AL-.

Allen, Henry Tureman (1859-1930) U.S. Army
officer in Alaska

Originally from Sharpsburg, Kentucky, Henry T. Allen
graduated from West Point in 1882 and was assigned
to the Washington Territory under the command of
General Nelson A. Miles. Three years later, he was sent
on a mission to explore the interior of Alaska. In spring
1885, with a small party of enlisted men and civilian
prospectors, Lieutenant Allen undertook an expedition
into Alaska’s Copper River region. Traveling overland and
by CANOE, Allen and his group explored the Copper,
Koyukuk, and Yukon Rivers in eastern Alaska, plus their
tributaries the Tanana and Chitina Rivers. While exploring
the Copper River Basin, the expedition traveled through
the Wrangell Mountains northeast of present-day Cor-
dova, Alaska, the site of the present-day Wrangell-St. Elias
National Park.

Allen went on to become commander of U.S. forces oc-
cupying Germany from 1919 to 1923.

In addition to providing important topographic infor-
mation and an early survey of the region’s natural resources,
Henry T. Allen’s 1885 expedition resulted in some of the
carliest official U.S. government contact with eastern
Alaska’s natives. The expedition also led to the establishment
of a railroad link between Cordova on the Gulf of Alaska
and the mineral-rich Copper River Basin.

Allouez, Claude-Jean (1622-1689)
French missionary in the Great Lakes region and the
upper Mississippi River
A native of St. Didier, France, Claude-Jean Allouez became
a Jesuit at the age of 17. In 1658, he arrived in North Amer-
ica as a missionary priest to Native Americans of the St.
Lawrence River region. He spent the next seven years at
Trois Rivieres and Montreal, and then, as the Jesuit vicar
general of the Northwest, he traveled westward to establish
a mission to the Algonquian tribes of the western Great
Lakes. On the southwestern end of Lake Superior, near pre-
sent-day Ashland, Wisconsin, he founded the Chequa-
megon Bay Mission.

In 1665-67, Allouez explored, by CANOE, the south
shore of Lake Superior and produced for the Jesuits an
early map of this lake, the largest freshwater body of water



in the world. From Illinois and Miami Indians, he learned
of a large river that ran to the sea. Allouez incorrectly be-
lieved that this river’s outlet was somewhere on the Vir-
ginia coast.

In 1669, Allouez founded the De Pére Jesuit mission
near present-day Green Bay, Wisconsin where JEAN NICO-
LET had established a fur-trading post 35 years earlier. That
year, Allouez also explored the Fox and Wisconsin Rivers,
later speculating they were tributaries of the “Messipi,” the
great river he had heard about from the Indians. He was the
first European to refer to this river by this name, later known
as the MISSISSIPPI RIVER.

In 1677, Allouez became head of the Jesuit mission in
the Illinois River Indian settlement at Kaskaskia, near Starved
Rock, formerly headed by Father JACQUES MARQUETTE. He
remained in the upper Mississippi Valley, ministering to area
Indians for the remainder of his life. He died on the St.
Joseph River, near present-day South Bend, Indiana.

Claude-Jean Allouez’s explorations in the western Great
Lakes and upper Mississippi River Valley provided a basis for
the 1673 Mississippi expedition of LOUIS JOLLIET and Mar-
quette. Allouez is said to have preached to 22 tribes and to
have baptized some 10,000 Indians, and has been referred to
historically as the “Founder of Christianity in the West.”
The Wisconsin city of Allouez on the Fox River, at the south
end of Green Bay on the west shore of Lake Michigan, was
named in his honor.

Almagro, Diego de (ca. 1478-1538)

Spanish conquistador in Peru and Chile

Diego de Almagro was born in the town of Almagro in cen-
tral Spain. He was of humble origins, having been aban-
doned as an infant on the steps of a local church.

Little else is known of his life before 1514, the year he
accompanied PEDRO ARIAS DE AVILA on an expedition to
Panama. Almagro became associated with FRANCISCO
PIZARRO, with whom he entered into a partnership for the
exploration and conquest of what is now Peru. From 1524
to 1528, he explored the northwest coast of South America
in conjunction with Pizarro, taking part in military cam-
paigns against Indians. In one encounter in 1525, he was
wounded and lost an eye as well as some fingers.

Almagro provided financial support for Pizarro’s 1531
expedition against the Inca Indians. In 1533, he took part in
the campaign that secured Quito in present-day Ecuador.
Later that year, Almagro arrived at Cajamarca, Peru, where
he joined Pizarro with a force of 200 men and played an
important role in the conquest of the Inca. Although he re-
ceived no gold for his participation, he was granted gover-
norship of the lands south of Cuzco.

A conflict between Almagro and Pizarro was averted
when, in December 1534, Almagro was appointed governor
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of the newly organized Peruvian province of New Toledo
and given permission to lead an expedition of conquest
southward.

Almagro, with a force of about 750 Spaniards and
thousands of allied Indians, left Cuzco, northwest of Lake
Titicaca, in July 1535. Inspired by reports of a civilization
rich in gold and other valuables, Almagro led his men
southward along the central ANDES MOUNTAINS into what
is now Bolivia and northern Argentina. Having set out in
the midst of the South American winter season, the Span-
ish suffered great hardships in the severe cold of the high
Andes. At the San Francisco Pass, the expedition turned
westward and reached the coastal Copiapé Valley. Almagro
and his men continued southward along the coastal plain of
present-day Chile into the Central Valley. Along the way,
they were repeatedly attacked by Araucanian Indians. One
of his lieutenants, Gémez de Alvarado, explored southward
to the Itata River, north of what is now the city of Con-
cepcion. Failing to locate an advanced civilization compa-
rable to the Inca, Almagro decided to head back northward
to Peru. The return journey took the Spanish through the
Atacama Desert, along the north coast of Chile, where
many died of thirst.

By carly 1537, Almagro had reached Arequipa in
southern Peru, and from there he recrossed the Andes to
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Cuzco. At Cuzco, he found the Inca, under Manco, in
open revolt against the Spanish. Almagro succeeded in sup-
pressing the uprising but became embroiled in a conflict
with Francisco Pizarro and his brother HERNANDO
PIZARRO over who had the right to rule Cuzco and the
northern provinces of Peru. Forces under Hernando
Pizarro captured Almagro at Cuzco in April 1538. He was
put to death by the garrote; his body was then publicly be-
headed in the town square. In 1541, Almagro’s half-Indian
son, Diego, known as “the Lad,” led a campaign against the
Pizarros and, in revenge for his father’s death, killed Fran-
cisco Pizarro.

Diego de Almagro’s exploration south of Peru into
Chile extended Spanish domination along the west coast of
South America. On his return journey, he led his men on the
first European crossing of the Atacama Desert.

al-Masudi, Abu al-Husan Ali
AL-HUSAN ALI AL-.

See MASUDI, ABU

Almeida, Francisco de (1450-1510) Portuguese
admiral in East Africa and India, Portugals first viceroy of
India, father of Lourenco de Almeida

Born in Lisbon, Portugal, Francisco de Almeida was related
to Portuguese royalty. Under Afonso V the African, he
served as a soldier and diplomat. In 1492, in conjunction
with Spanish forces, he took part in the conquest of the
Moorish-held city of Granada.

By 1493, Almeida was a leading admiral in the Por-
tuguese navy. That year, before reaching Spain, CHRISTO-
PHER COLUMBUS stopped in Lisbon for ship repairs and
reported his discoveries to Portugal’s King John II. King
John, believing that Columbus had reached the outlying
islands of Asia, organized his own expedition, under
Almeida’s command, intended to thwart Spanish encroach-
ment upon Portugal’s rich trade with India. Almeida’s pro-
posed voyage was canceled, however, when the 1494 Treaty
of Tordesillas secured Portugal’s interests in Africa and
India.

In 1503, Almeida commanded a Portuguese fleet sailing
around Africa to India, where he succeeded in gaining a Por-
tuguese trade foothold on the southwest coast, known as the
Malabar Coast, by defeating the naval forces of the ruler of
Calicut.

Almeida’s second voyage to India began in 1505.
Under King Manuel I, he commanded a Portuguese
fleet of 22 ships that sailed around the CAPE OF GOOD
HOPE into the Indian Ocean. His son LOURENCO DE
ALMEIDA accompanied him. Along the east coast of
Africa, Almeida established Portuguese forts and trading
bases at Sofala, Mogambique, and Kilwa. He then attacked

Mombasa, destroying most of that city and establishing
Portuguese domination of the route around the Cape of
Good Hope from Europe to India. Almeida, who had
been appointed Portugal’s first viceroy of India, reached
Cochin on India’s Malabar coast, where he established
trade relations.

Over the next years, Almeida defended Arab and
Egyptian challenges to the Portuguese presence in India,
culminating in a decisive victory in the naval battle at
Diu in 1509, off the northwest coast of India, during
which Almeida’s 19 ships, aided by superior firepower,
defeated a combined Muslim fleet of more than 100
vessels.

Later in 1509, Almeida was replaced as viceroy in India
by AFONSO DE ALBUQUERQUE. On his return voyage to Por-
tugal, Almeida stopped at Saldanha, just north of the Cape
of Good Hope, where he was killed in a clash with native
peoples.

Francisco de Almeida established the first Portu-
guese ports along the Indian Ocean coast of East Africa,
thus ensuring his country’s control of the Cape of Good
Hope route to India. As the first Portuguese viceroy in
India, his naval victories ended Arab and Egyptian domi-
nation of the sea routes from the Gulf of Aden to the Far
East.

Almeida, Lourenco de (unknown-1508)
Portuguese naval commander in the Indian Ocean, son of
Francisco de Almeida

Lourengo de Almeida was the son of Portuguese admiral
and viceroy to India FRANCISCO DE ALMEIDA. In 1505, he
sailed to India with his father’s fleet and took part in naval
engagements along the Malabar Coast of southwestern
India. He subsequently undertook an expedition to CEY-
LON (present-day Sri Lanka), where he established a Por-
tuguese trading base at Colombo. From there, he explored
southwestward into the Indian Ocean to the Maldive
Islands.

In 1506, the younger Almeida defeated naval forces of
the king of Calicut, and two years later he was sent by his fa-
ther to attack MUSLIMs in the RED SEA. In 1508, he was
killed in a naval battle with ships under the command of
Egyptian admiral Mir Hossein.

Lourengo de Almeida helped Portugal achieve domi-
nance over the important sea route from the Red Sea to the
west coast of India. He also expanded Portugal’s control over
the SPICE TRADE by establishing a base at Colombo, Ceylon,
an important source of cinnamon.

al-Rumi, Shihab al-Din Abu Abd Allah Yaqut
See YAQUT AL-RUMI, SHIHAB AL-DIN ABU ABD ALLAH.



Alvarado, Hernando de (fl. 1540s)

Spanish conquistador in the American Southwest

Spanish conquistador Hernando de Alvarado was a lieu-
tenant under FRANCISCO VASQUEZ DE CORONADO in his
1540 expedition from Mexico into the American South-
west and took part in the conquest of the Zuni pueblo of
Hawikuh near present-day Zuni, New Mexico. From there,
in summer 1540, Coronado dispatched exploring parties to
the west, north, and east, still hoping to locate an advanced
Indian civilization, rich in gold.

On August 29, 1540, Alvarado, in command of a small
company of men, led the expedition eastward from Hawikuh
across what is now north-central New Mexico. He soon came
upon the Keres Indians’ Acoma Pueblo, known as “Sky
City,” perched atop a 350-foot sandstone mesa. Guided by
Indians, he headed northeastward from Acoma into the Rio
Grande Valley, locating yet another pueblo at Tiguex, just
north of present-day Albuquerque, New Mexico.

Alvarado and his men proceeded northward along the
upper Rio Grande as far as Taos Pueblo, then headed east
and south along the Pecos River. At Cicuye Pueblo, near
present-day Pecos, New Mexico, he encountered two Plains
Indians, one known as the TURK and the other called
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Ysopete. They guided Alvarado and his men eastward along
the Canadian and Pecos Rivers into the western edge of the
southern plains, where they became some of the earliest Eu-
ropeans to observe vast herds of buffalo.

From the Turk, Alvarado heard news of a fabulously
rich Indian kingdom known as QUIVIRA, supposedly situ-
ated far to the east and north. He took the Turk back to
Coronado, who by then had made his headquarters at
Tiguex. In spring 1541, the Turk guided Coronado and his
men from Tiguex through present-day Texas and Oklahoma
into present-day Kansas, on what proved to be yet another
fruitless quest for Indian riches.

Hernando de Alvarado played a significant role in the
first major European penetration of the American South-
west. He and his men were the first non-Indians to see
Acoma Pueblo, the oldest continuously inhabited site in
North America. His introduction of the Turk to Coronado
led to one of the most extensive explorations of the southern

plains undertaken by the Spanish.

Alvarado, Pedro de (ca. 1485-1541)

Spanish conquistador in Mexico, Guatemala, and Ecuador
Pedro de Alvarado was a native of Badajoz in western Spain’s
Estremadura region. In 1510, he arrived in Santo Domingo
on the Caribbean island of Hispaniola (present-day Haiti
and the Dominican Republic). Eight years later, he sailed
from Cuba in command of a ship in JUAN DE GRIJALVA’s
expedition along the coast of the Yucatdn Peninsula and the
Bay of Campeche, off what is now Mexico.

In April 1519, as a lieutenant under HERNAN CORTES,
Alvarado landed near present-day Veracruz, Mexico, and took
part in the first Spanish expedition into Aztec Indian territory.
By spring 1520, Cortés and his men had established them-
selves in the Aztec capital at Tenochtitldn. When Cortés left
to confront an opposing Spanish force under PANFILO DE
NARVAEZ on the Gulf coast, Alvarado was placed in com-
mand at Tenochdid4n.

Alvarado soon led the Spaniards in an attack against
the Indians, in which thousands of Aztec were slaughtered.
Cortés returned to Tenochtitldn to find the Aztec about to
rise up against the Spanish. On the night of June 30, 1520
(the “Sorrowful Night”), the Spaniards were forced to flee
from Tenochtitldn. At that time, the city was surrounded by
the waters of Lake Texcoco and connected to the shore by
causeways. The Aztec, in an attempt to trap the Spaniards,
had destroyed these bridges. Alvarado reportedly made a
daring leap (known later as the “Salto de Alvarado”) from
the edge of a causeway to safety on the shore of the lake.

In 1521, Alvarado took part in Cortés’s counterattack,
which resulted in the conquest of the Aztec. In 1523, Cortés
sent Alvarado on an expedition southward along the Sierra
Madre del Sur range into Mexico’s Oaxaca Valley. From
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there, he continued southward into what is now Guatemala
and El Salvador of CENTRAL AMERICA and established Span-
ish dominion over the region.

In 1527, Alvarado returned to Spain, where he was ap-
pointed captain general and governor of Guatemala. Re-
turning to the Americas, he founded new Spanish
settlements.

In 1533-34, inspired by FRANCISCO PIZARRO’s reports
of the great wealth of the Inca Indian civilization, Alvarado
undertook an expedition to conquer the Inca province of
Quito in present-day Ecuador. He sailed to the northwest
coast of South America in command of a force of 500 men.
Upon reaching Quito, he found himself opposed by
Pizarro’s forces under DIEGO DE ALMAGRO and SEBASTIAN
DE BENALCAZAR, which had already brought Quito under
Spanish domination. An open conflict between the CON-
QUISTADORES was averted when Alvarado, recognizing
Pizarro’s supremacy, agreed to leave his army and equipment
to Pizarro in return for a large payment in gold. He then re-
turned to Guatemala and consolidated his rule.

In 1540, Alvarado organized a seaward expedition to
the SPICE ISLANDS (the Moluccas) near present-day Indo-
nesia, which was never realized. His fleet of 13 ships sailed
first to the west coast of Mexico. There, the Spanish viceroy
ANTONIO DE MENDOZA convinced Alvarado to take part
in FRANCISCO VASQUEZ DE CORONADO’s planned expedi-
tion in search of the fabled Seven Cities of CIBOLA, which
the Spaniards believed lay somewhere north of Mexico in
the American Southwest. Yet the outbreak of an Indian up-
rising in central Mexico, known as the Mixtén War, delayed
his departure. Alvarado led an abortive attack against the In-
dians at Nochistlin. During the ensuing retreat, he was
killed when his horse fell on him.

Following Alvarado’s death in the Mixtén War, his
widow, Dofia Beatriz de la Cueva, succeeded him briefly as
governor of Guatemala, the only woman known to have
held such a high office during the Spanish colonial period in
the Western Hemisphere.

Pedro de Alvarado’s career as a conquistador brought
him into contact with two advanced Indian civilizations of
the Americas, the Aztec and the Inca. He was instrumental
in establishing Spanish domination in Central America.
After Alvarado’s death, the fleet with which he intended to
sail to the Spice Islands was placed under the command of
JUAN RODRIGUEZ CABRILLO, who used it in his exploration
of the California coast.

Alvares, Francisco (ca. 1490—1540)

Portuguese priest in Ethiopia

Francisco Alvares grew up in the village of Coimbra in cen-
tral Portugal. In 1515, he was assigned to the Portuguese
embassy in Ethiopia under Duarte Galvao. Rui da Lima re-
placed Galvio as ambassador in 1520.

That same year, Alvares and the new ambassador trav-
eled from Massawa on the RED SEA southward about 500
miles into central Abyssinia (present-day Ethiopia). They
visited Mandeley, a Moorish town subject to the negus, the
Christian ruler of the region.

In 1527, Alvares left Africa for Italy and reported his
travels to the pope. He later wrote an account of his African
experiences entitled 7he Prester John of the Indies. It was pub-
lished the year he died, 1540; in it, he compared Negus
Claudius to the legendary Christian ruler PRESTER JOHN.
His writing helped bring about a 1541 Portuguese military
expedition to Abyssinia headed by Christovao da Gama that
defended the negus against an Islamic force.

Francisco Alvares’s work is the earliest known written
description of Ethiopia. In it, he describes the earlier voyages
of the Portuguese diplomat PERO DA COVILHA.

Alvarez, Manuel (1794-1856) American fur trader,
trapper in the American West, politician

Born in Spain’s province of Leén, Manuel Alvarez arrived in
the United States in 1823, embarking on a career in the FUR
TRADE out of St. Louis. He worked the region between the
upper MISSOURI RIVER and the Green and Yellowstone
Rivers in what is now western Wyoming. He was also active
in the fur trade in the southern ROCKY MOUNTAINS, based
at Taos and Santa Fe, New Mexico. He worked as a trapper
first for P. D. Papin and Company (also known as the French
Company) and later for the AMERICAN FUR COMPANY.

While trapping and trading for furs in 1832-33, Al-
varez came upon the geysers of the present-day Yellowstone
National Park, becoming one of the earliest non-
Indians to see them. At the rendezvous of mountain men on
the Green River in summer 1833, he provided an account of
these natural wonders.

Alvarez reportedly had three sons by an Indian woman.
One of them died while young; the other two were educated
in Spain.

After the decline of the Rocky Mountain fur trade in
the early 1830s, Alvarez settled in Santa Fe, New Mexico,
where he operated a store and trading post. He prospered in
the lucrative trade between Missouri and New Mexico dur-
ing the 1830s. Between 1834 and 1839, he undertook sev-
eral hazardous trips through Indian country on the southern
plains between St. Louis and Santa Fe.

By 1839, Alvarez had achieved considerable stature in
New Mexico politics, and, as a result, he was appointed as
consul in Santa Fe by the U.S. government, even though he
was not at that time an American citizen.

At the outbreak of the U.S.-Mexican War in 1846, Al-
varez assisted General STEPHEN WATTS KEARNY in the U.S.
military occupation of New Mexico. He subsequently served
in the newly organized New Mexico
government.

territorial



Manuel Alvarez’s early travels as a trapper in the Yel-
lowstone region of present-day western Wyoming led to an
increased awareness of this unique scenic area, which be-
came America’s first national park in 1872. Additionally,
his trade expeditions across the southern plains helped open
up the Southwest to commercial interests in St. Louis and
Independence in present-day Missouri.

Alvarez de Pineda, Alonso (Alonzo Alvarez

de Pineda, Alonso de Pineda) (unknown—ca. 1519)
Spanish mariner in the Gulf of Mexico

In late 1518, Alonso Alvarez de Pineda, a Spanish sea cap-
tain, was commissioned by Francisco de Garay, the Spanish
governor of Jamaica, to explore the shores of the Gulf of
Mexico, from Florida to the mouth of the Pdnuco River on
the east coast of Mexico, in search of a possible strait link-
ing the Gulf of Mexico with the Pacific Ocean.

Alvarez de Pineda was equipped with a fleet of three or
four ships and, with the pilot Anton de Alaminos, sailed
from Jamaica northward to the southwest coast of Florida.
When the Spaniards landed somewhere between what is
now Fort Myers and Naples, they were attacked repeatedly
by Indians and withdrew to their ships.

Alvarez de Pineda’s fleet then followed the Gulf Coast
north and west and came upon the mouth of a great river,
which they explored upstream for about 20 miles, passing
as many as 40 Indian villages along the way. Since it was by
then the season of Pentecost, Alvarez de Pineda named the
river Rio del Espiritu Santo, in honor of the Holy Spirit. On
returning to the Gulf of Mexico, the expedition continued
westward along the Texas coast, encountering more hostile
tribes.

At the Pdnuco River’s mouth, near present-day
Tampico, Mexico, Alvarez de Pineda and his men suffered a
decisive defeat by the Aztec Indians. Many of the Spaniards
were killed, and all but one of the ships were burned. Alvarez
de Pineda, according to one account, was among those
killed in battle. The survivors, under the command of Diego
de Camargo, escaped on the remaining vessel and sailed
southward to Veracruz, where they joined up with HERNAN
CORTES and his forces. Back in Jamaica, Francisco de Garay
received a grant for the lands explored by Alvarez de Pineda,
naming the region Amichel, although his claim on the re-
gion was short-lived.

Some sources suggest that the river Alonso Alvarez de
Pineda explored may have been the MISSISSIPPI RIVER, mak-
ing him and not HERNANDO DE SOTO its first European dis-
coverer. Others speculate that Alvarez de Pineda had actually
explored the Mobile River and Mobile Bay. According to
one account, Alvarez de Pineda survived and returned to Ja-
maica, where he reportedly told Garay of having located a
land rich in gold and inhabited by giants. In any event, as a
result of his voyage, the Spanish learned that Florida was not
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an island, as many had thought, but an extension of the un-
broken coastline of a huge continental landmass that lay to
the northwest of the known islands of the Caribbean Sea.

Amundsen, Roald Engelbregt Gravning
(1872-1928) Norwegian polar explorer

Roald Amundsen was born in Borge, near Oslo, Norway,
the son of a shipowner. Inspired by the exploits of SIR JOHN
FRANKLIN and FRIDTJOF NANSEN, he decided on a career
in polar exploration while still in his teens. At the age of 20,
after two years of studying medicine, he went to sea, taking
part in Norwegian seal-hunting expeditions in Arctic waters.

In 1897, Amundsen joined Belgian explorer ADRIEN-
VICTOR-JOSEPH DE GERLACHE DE GOMERY as first mate
on the Belgica in an expedition to Antarctica. Following the
exploration of Graham’s Land, the ship became trapped in
ice. Lacking sufficient supplies of fresh food, the crew de-
veloped SCURVY. When Gerlache and the ship’s captain were
stricken, Amundsen was put in command. Aided by the ex-
pedition’s medical officer, FREDERICK ALBERT COOK,
Amundsen managed to save the crew by providing them
with fresh meat obtained from frozen seal carcasses found
in snowbanks near the ship. He then supervised efforts to
break up the ice with dynamite charges and eventually suc-
ceeded in clearing a channel. The Belgica, icebound for 13
months, was the first vessel to winter in the Antarctic.

Amundsen returned to Norway in 1899. The next year,
he was licensed as a sea captain. He soon organized an expe-
dition to locate the NORTH MAGNETIC POLE and negotiate
the NORTHWEST PASSAGE from the Atlantic Ocean to the
Pacific Ocean. He obtained a small Norwegian fishing boat,
the Gjoa, and, with a crew of seven, departed Norway in
June 1903. He sailed first to Melville Bay on the west coast
of GREENLAND, then entered Baffin Bay and Lancaster
Sound, threading his way through the islands and straits of
the Canadian Arctic. He spent two winters iced in at King
William Island, where, in 1904, he discovered the skeletons
of two members of the Franklin expedition who had per-
ished a half-century earlier. Also, in 1904, he succeeded in
determining the exact location of the North Magnetic Pole
at 70°30" north latitude and 95°30" west longitude.

In summer 1905, Amundsen managed to sail the Gjoa
to the mouth of the Mackenzie River on the western end of
Canada’s Arctic coast but was once again trapped by ice.
Accompanied by the captain of a nearby whaling ship, also
icebound, he undertook an overland journey more than 250
miles into the interior of the Yukon and northern Alaska.
In February 1906, he reached Fort Egbert, Alaska, then the
northernmost U.S. military outpost. He returned to the
Gjoa, which was freed from the ice in July 1906. Amundsen
proceeded along the Arctic mainland of Canada, through
the gulf that now bears his name, and reached Point Bar-
row, Alaska, and the BERING STRAIT, completing the first
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Roald Amundsen (Library of Congress)

successful navigation of the Northwest Passage. After ex-
ploring the coast of the Seward Peninsula and stopping at
Nome, Alaska, he sailed down the west coast of North
America, reaching San Francisco, California, by October
1906. The Gjoa, which Amundsen presented to the city of
San Francisco, was subsequently displayed in that city’s
Golden Gate Park.

Back in Norway in 1908, Amundsen purchased the
Fram, Fridtjof Nansen’s former ship, which he planned to
use in an expedition to the Arctic. By mid-1909, news of
ROBERT EDWIN PEARY’s success in attaining the NORTH
POLE had reached Amundsen. He then decided to sail the
Fram to the Antarctic and make an attempt on the SOUTH
POLE. At this time, the British polar explorer, ROBERT FAL-
CON SCOTT, was already en route to the Antarctic on the
same mission.

Leaving Norway in June 1910, Amundsen sailed by way
of CAPE HORN. He landed on the Antarctic mainland at the
Bay of Whales, on the edge of the Ross Ice Shelf, 65 miles
closer to the South Pole than Scott’s base at McMurdo
Sound. There, Amundsen established a base camp known
as Framheim, and spent the rest of the Antarctic winter
preparing for a trip to the South Pole. During the next year,
he and his men made three trips into the interior, establish-
ing food depots.

Amundsen’s first atctempt to reach the South Pole from
Framheim occurred in early September 1911, but severe

storms and temperatures of minus 70° F forced him to re-
turn to the base camp. He set out again on October 19,
1911, with four men, using four sledges and 52 dogs. By
mid-November, they reached the Polar Plateau via the Axel
Heiberg Glacier. By early December, he and his companions
were at an elevation of over 10,000 feet. Along the way,
Amundsen discovered Devil’s Glacier.

On December 14, 1911, Amundsen reached the South
Pole. His party established an encampment known as Pole-
heim, then explored within a five-mile radius of the South
Pole to confirm navigational findings. After three days,
Amundsen and his companions began their return trip to
the Bay of Whales, sighting en route the 14,000-foot-high
Queen Maud Mountains, which he named after the queen
of Norway. At the Pole, Amundsen had left a marker flag, a
letter to the king of Norway, a SEXTANT, a spirit level, arti-
cles of clothing, a plate with his crew’s names, and an enve-
lope addressed to Scott. Scott’s party, to their extreme
disappointment, found these items on reaching the Pole in
mid-January 1912.

After his return to Norway, Amundsen entered the
shipping business and wrote and lectured on his experiences
in the Arctic and Antarctic. Although most polar explo-
ration had come to a halt with the outbreak of World War
I, Amundsen planned another expedition into Arctic waters.
On his ship, the Maud, he left Norway in July 1918. Despite
the danger of German submarines then operating off Nor-
way, he proceeded along the Arctic coasts of Europe and
Asia, through the NORTHEAST PASSAGE, finally reaching
Nome, Alaska, in spring 1920.

Over the next several years, Amundsen experimented
with airplanes as a means for polar exploration. In 1925,
with the support of American aviator LINCOLN ELLS-
WORTH, he obtained two amphibious aircraft. In May of
that year, he and Ellsworth took off from Spitsbergen
(part of present-day Svalbard), near the Arctic coast of Eu-
ropean Russia, in an attempt to fly over the North Pole. One
of their planes was forced down just 135 miles from the
pole. The other plane made a landing to rescue the rest of
the party, but was unable to take off for three weeks until
an airstrip could be improvised on the PACK ICE.

In 1926, Amundsen and Ellsworth obtained an AIR-
SHIP, the Norge, from the Italian government. They also en-
gaged the airship’s designer, UMBERTO NOBILE, as pilot.
They left Spitsbergen on the Norge on May 11, 1926, and
flew 600 miles, crossing over the North Pole early the next
morning. Two days later, they landed at Teller, Alaska. Al-
though RICHARD EVELYN BYRD and Floyd Bennett had re-
portedly succeeded in making a flight over the North Pole
just a few days earlier, Amundsen’s dirigible expedition was
the first to cross from Europe to North America by that
route. (It has been theorized, based on Byrd’s diary, that he
and Bennett missed the mark.)



In 1928, Amundsen disappeared when his plane was
lost in the Arctic during a search for Nobile, whose dirigible
the Jtalia had crashed while attempting a second flight over
the North Pole.

Roald Amundsen is credited with many significant
“firsts” in polar exploration. With the Belgian expedition of
1897-99, he was among the first to winter in the Antarctic.
His 1903-06 expedition along the Arctic coasts of Canada
and Alaska was the first successful seaward crossing of the
Northwest Passage, a feat that European mariners had been
attempting for 400 years. Most notably, in 1910-12, he
led the first successful expedition to the South Pole. In his
subsequent Arctic explorations, he became the first man to
negotiate successfully both the Northwest and Northeast
Passages, and with his overland and aerial expeditions he
became the first man to attain both the Poles: the South
Pole by dogsled and the North Pole by airship. His exploits
also resulted in such scientific findings as the exact loca-
tion of the North Magnetic Pole, as well as the discovery
that the South Pole was located on a landmass. Amund-
sen’s base at Framheim on the Bay of Whales was later the
site of Little America, the first permanent settlement in the
Antarctic.

Anabara, Semyon (fl. 1710s) Russian Cossack fur
trader in Siberia
In 1713-14, Semyon Anabara, a Russian Cossack fur trader,
traveling with Ivan Bykov, explored eastern SIBERIA from
Yakutsk on the Lena River, to the southeast shore of the Sea
of Okhotsk. From there, he crossed to the Shantar Islands.
Although sketchy reports of this archipelago had reached
Europe as carly as 1645, Anabara’s trip was the first con-
firmed visit to these islands. He explored three of them be-
fore returning to Yakutsk with furs.

In the years following Semyon Anabara’s rediscovery of
the Shantar Islands, they became an important fishing base
as well as a valuable source of furs and lumber.

Andagoya, Pascual de (ca. 1495-1548) Spanish
naval commander along the Pacific coast of South America
Basque-born Pascual de Andagoya traveled to what is now
Panama with PEDRO ARIAS DE AVILA in 1514. In 1522, soon
after HERNAN CORTES’s conquest of the Aztec of Mexico,
Andagoya commanded the first Spanish maritime explo-
ration of the Pacific coast of South America below Panama.
He sailed as far south as Cape Corrientes on the central Pa-
cific shore of present-day Colombia, then returned to
Panama with reports of a highly advanced and wealthy In-
dian kingdom called “Bird,” later known as Peru. This civi-
lization turned out to be that of the Inca Indians, and their
land was later known to the Spanish as Peru.
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Inspired by Pascual de Andagoya’s account, FRANCISCO
PIZARRO and DIEGO DE ALMAGRO embarked from Panama
in 1524 on an expedition that would lead to the Spanish
conquest of the Inca Empire 10 years later.

Andrade, Antonio de (Antonio de Andrada)
(ca. 1580-1634) Portuguese or Spanish missionary in Tibet
Antonio de Andrade, of Portuguese or Spanish origin, was a
Jesuit priest in India. In 1624, he set out from Agra in
north-central India to investigate reports of Christians living
in Tibet. He went northward from Agra to Delhi, then pro-
ceeded to the upper GANGES RIVER and reached Srinagar in
northern India’s Kashmir region. He continued into the HI-
MALAYAS, crossing that range by way of the 18,000-foot-
high Mana Pass.

Andrade entered the kingdom of Tibet, reaching the
city of Tsaparang on the upper Sutlej River. Although he
found no Christians, he received a friendly reception from
the kingdom’s Buddhist leaders. Encouraged, he returned
to India.

In 1625, Andrade made a second journey to Tibet, dur-
ing which he established a mission at Tsaparang. He re-
mained there until 1630, when his Jesuit superiors ordered
him to the Portuguese colony at Goa on the west coast of
India.

Antonio de Andrade was one of the first Europeans to
visit Tibet since the journeys of Friar ODORIC OF PORDE-
NONE in the early 1300s. His explorations into the central
Himalayas revealed one of the sources of the Ganges River.

Andrée, Salomon August (1854-1897)

Swedish engineer, aviator in the Arctic

Salomon Andrée was born in Granna, Sweden. Trained in
engineering, he went on to become the chief engineer of
the Swedish Patent Office. In 1882-83, he took part in
Swedish polar expeditions from Spitsbergen, off the Arctic
coast of Norway.

Andrée began to experiment with aerial exploration of
the Arctic by BALLOON in 1893. He made nine ascents and
developed a steering device that enabled him to follow a
course not entirely limited by wind direction.

In 1896, with the financial support of the Swedish in-
ventor and industrialist Alfred Nobel and the Swedish
monarch Oscar II, Andrée planned an airborne expedition
by balloon from Spitsbergen (part of present-day Svalbard)
to the NORTH POLE. His first attempt was in June 1896, but
unfavorable wind conditions caused him to postpone his ex-
pedition until the following summer.

OnJuly 11, 1897, Andrée ascended from Danes Island,
Spitsbergen, in his balloon, the Ornen (eagle), accompanied
by Knut Fraenkel, an engineer, and Nils Strindberg, nephew
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of Swedish dramatist August Strindberg. The expedition was
equipped with sledges, hunting gear, and a collapsible boat.
On takeoff, the balloon’s steering mechanism failed, caus-
ing the Ornen to drift uncontrollably northward. After
about 400 miles, at about 83° north latitude, an ice sheet
formed on the balloon, forcing it down on the frozen polar
sea. After a three-month trek across the ice, Andrée and his
companions reached White Island near Franz Josef Land,
where they survived until mid-October 1897.

Thirty-three years later, in 1930, a Norwegian scien-
tific expedition stopping at White Island discovered the re-
mains of Andrée and his companions. Andrée’s written
account was found with the final journal entry dated Oc-
tober 17, 1897. A roll of undeveloped film was also recov-
ered, which, upon processing in Sweden, revealed images
of the ill-fated expedition’s final days. Andrée and the other
two men are believed to have died from trichinosis, con-
tracted from eating contaminated polar bear meat. Other
scientists have speculated that they died from carbon
monoxide fumes given off by their cooking apparatus.

Salomon Andrée was the first to recognize the advan-
tages of aerial exploration in the Arctic. By 1926, with ad-
vances in aviation technology, the first successful flights over
the North Pole had been accomplished by RICHARD EVELYN
BYRD, ROALD ENGELBREGT GRAVNING AMUNDSEN, and
UMBERTO NOBILE.

Andreyey, Stepan (fl. 1760s) Russian army officer on
the Arctic coast of eastern Siberia

Stepan Andreyev was a Russian army officer who explored
the Arctic coastal regions of extreme eastern SIBERIA in the
early 1760s.

In March 1763, Andreyev set out from Fort Anadyr,
the Russian outpost on the Bering Sea coast of the Chukchi
Peninsula and headed northwestward to the Arctic coast of
eastern Siberia. While exploring the Bear Islands, opposite
the mouth of the Kolyma River, he sighted what appeared
to be land to the north. Upon his return to Fort Anadyr, his
reports led his commanding officer to speculate that An-
dreyev may have located a new landmass of continental
proportions.

In 1764, Andreyev returned to the region to reexamine
his earlier finding. In the course of his second investigation
of the area, he came upon sledge tracks left by a large
unidentified group of people (probably natives). Since he
had only a small party under his command, he decided to
withdraw without exploring further.

The landmass that Andreyev reported seeing became
known as “Andreyev Land.” Subsequent attempts to locate
it were fruitless, although in 1773, Russian merchant Ivan
Lyakhov located the New Siberian Islands in the same gen-
eral area.

Not until 1951 did a Soviet polar geographic survey de-
termine that what Stepan Andreyev had actually seen from
the Arctic coast was New Siberia Island, one of the larger of
the New Siberian Islands. As a result, Andreyev is credited
with the island group’s European discovery.

Anson, George (Baron Anson) (1697-1762)
British admiral in South America and the South Pacific
George Anson was born in Shrugborough Park, Stafford-
shire, England. He entered the Royal Navy in 1712, be-
coming a captain 11 years later. From 1724 to 1725, he
commanded three expeditions to the coast of South Car-
olina. During the mid-1730s, he undertook several naval ex-
peditions to America and the west coast of Africa.

In 1740, with the onset of war between Great Britain
and Spain, Anson set out on a punitive naval expedition
against Spanish possessions on the west coast of South
America. His fleet of six ships sailed from England in
September 1740, heading for CAPE HORN and the coast of
Chile. At Cape Horn, several of the ships were wrecked in
rough weather. Anson, aboard the flagship Centurion,
rounded the tip of South America and explored the
Chonos Archipelago, Chiloé Island, and the Juan Ferndn-
dez Islands along the Pacific coast of Chile. After raiding
the Spanish settlement at Paita, Peru, and inflicting damage
on the Spanish fleet, he sailed across the Pacific Ocean to
China. His was the first British warship to enter Chinese
waters. From there, he continued across the Indian Ocean
to the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE and back to England, arriving
in 1744, having circumnavigated the world.

Anson returned with only one ship of his original fleet
of six. About half of the 2,000 men in his expedition died
of SCURVY. Nevertheless, with his capture in the Philippines
in 1741 of the Spanish galleon Nuestra Seiora de Cobadonga,
laden with a cargo of gold coins and ingots worth £400,000,
his expedition was heralded as a great naval triumph.

Upon his return, Anson was promoted to vice admiral. As
first lord of the Admiralty in the 1750s, he went on to com-
mand the Royal Navy in victorious actions against the French.

George Anson’s exploits on his 1740-44 voyage
brought back new knowledge about the little-known regions
around the southern tip of South America. In addition, the
expedition’s loss of life from scurvy led the Royal Navy to
control this problem by introducing citrus fruits as a di-
etary supplement for sailors (a measure used with great suc-
cess during the three voyages of JAMES COOK).

Anville, Jean-Baptiste Bourguignon d’
(1697-1782) French geagrapher, cartographer

Born in Paris, Jean-Baptiste d’Anville engraved his first map
at the age of 15. He went on to publish many written works



and more than 200 maps. Although he reportedly never left
Paris, he used the latest accounts of explorers as source ma-
terials and accumulated a library of more than 100,000
maps.

In 1735, d’Anville produced the first relatively accurate
map of China. He was also known for his maps of North
America, including the 1732 Carte de la Louisiane. His
widely read Géographie Ancienne, originally published in
1768, included a historical atlas.

Jean-Baptiste d’Anville became the most influential car-
tographer of his age. U.S. president Thomas Jefferson

owned several of his maps.

Anza, Juan Bautista de (1735-1788) Spanish
soldier, governor of New Mexico, founder of San Francisco
Juan Bautista de Anza was born in northern New Spain, the
son of a provincial military leader. Like his father and grand-
father before him, he entered the military. By 1759, he had
reached the rank of captain, and he was placed in command
of the Spanish garrison at Tubac, south of present-day Tuc-
son, Arizona. Over the next 10 years, he took part in major
Spanish campaigns against Apache Indians and other tribes
of what is now the American Southwest.

In the 1770s, Spanish colonial leaders in Mexico viewed
British and Russian encroachment in northern California
as a threat to missions, military bases, and agricultural set-
tlements established by JUNIPERO SERRA and GASPAR DE
PORTOLA. Spanish settlers along the California coast needed
to be resupplied from Mexico, but sending ships up the
coast proved unreliable. In 1773-74, Serra lobbied the
Spanish colonial government in Mexico City to sponsor an
overland expedition that would open a route from the set-
tlement in what is now southern Arizona at Tubac, across
the desert and through the Sierra Nevada to San Gabriel
Arcangel, near present-day Los Angeles, California.

Commissioned to undertake this task, Anza, leading a
company of 35 soldiers and accompanied by the Franciscan
missionary FRANCISCO GARCES, left Tubac in January 1774,
heading westward. The expedition followed the Gila River
to the Colorado, which they crossed near the present-day
California-Arizona state line. The route west closely paral-
leled the present U.S.-Mexican border in Arizona.

On crossing the COLORADO RIVER, Anza and his men
headed northward along the Sierra Nevada, then crossed
into California through the San Carlos Pass. They entered
the Cahuilla Valley, reaching the area of present-day River-
side, California. The party arrived at the San Gabriel mis-
sion, nine miles from present-day Los Angeles, in March
1774. Anza continued north to Monterey, from where he re-
turned to Tubac.

In November 1775, Anza led a party of 225 colonists,
soldiers, and missionaries, including Garcés, from the
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province of Sonora in northern Mexico to Tubac, and from
there, along the trail he had blazed the previous year, to San
Gabriel, California. They then went north, via Monterey,
to San Francisco Bay, which had been rediscovered by Por-
told in 1769. Anza’s chief subordinate, Lieutenant José
Joaquin Moraga, supervised the establishment of the first
permanent settlement on San Francisco Bay, known as San
Francisco de Asis. This settlement’s garrison later became the
site of the U.S. Army’s main installation on the central Cal-
ifornia coast, the Presidio.

Anza returned to New Mexico, where he became gov-
ernor in 1777. He served in this capacity for 11 years, dur-
ing which he continued to explore the Southwest. In 1779,
he undertook expeditions from Santa Fe, New Mexico, into
the Arkansas River region, as well as into the San Luis Val-
ley of New Mexico and Colorado.

The next year, 1780, Anza attempted to establish a di-
rect overland route between Santa Fe and the province of
Sonora on the Gulf of California. Although his party
reached Sonora, the lack of available water for travelers and
their pack animals made this route impractical.

In 1781, the Yuma (Quechan) Indians revolted against
Spanish rule, and the route Juan Bautista de Anza had
blazed across their Yuma lands in the Colorado Basin to
California was closed until after 1821, when Mexico
achieved its independence from Spain. The trail then be-
came an important link between Mexican settlements in
California and New Mexico. After 1849, Anza’s route be-
came an important road for settlers and gold seckers travel-
ing across southern New Mexico and Arizona to central and
northern California.

Applegate, Jesse (1811-1888) American pioneer on
the Oregon Trail, settler of Oregon

Originally from Kentucky, Jesse Applegate moved with his
family to the Missouri frontier at the age of 10. He studied
surveying at the Rock Springs Seminary in Shiloh, Illinois.
From 1828 to 1832, he was employed in the state surveyor
general’s office in St. Louis, Missouri, where he heard
accounts of the frontier regions of the northern plains
and ROCKY MOUNTAINS from such MOUNTAIN MEN as
WILSON PRICE HUNT, JEDEDIAH STRONG SMITH, and
DAVID E. JACKSON.

Applegate was strongly opposed to the spread of slavery;
his views brought him into conflict with the powerful
proslavery faction in Missouri. In 1843, seeking to settle on
new lands free of slavery, Applegate and his family, along
with the families of his two brothers, Lindsay and Charles,
joined about 1,000 other settlers, among them the mission-
ary MARCUS WHITMAN, in a wagon train migration to Ore-
gon Country. The “Great Migration,” led by frontier guide

Peter Burnett, was the largest wagon train ever to attempt
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the westward crossing and included more than 5,000 head
of oxen and cattle.

The wagon train left Independence, Missouri, on May
22, 1843, and followed the California and Oregon Trail to
Fort Laramie in present-day Wyoming. It then crossed the
Continental Divide at the SOUTH PASS of Wyoming’s Wind
River Range. After stopping for supplies at JAMES BRIDGER’s
newly opened Fort Bridger on the Green River, the emi-
grants headed into present-day Idaho and reached Fort Boise
on the Snake River.

At Fort Hall in Idaho, the travelers were joined by MAR-
CUS WHITMAN, who helped guide the party on the next leg
of the journey. Until that time, the Oregon Trail beyond
Fort Hall had been suitable only for pack animals. Apple-
gate’s party had to enlarge the route to make it passable for
wagon traffic.

Crossing northeastern Oregon’s Blue Mountains, Ap-
plegate led the migrants along the Umatilla River to its con-
fluence with the COLUMBIA RIVER. They then followed the
Columbia River to the HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY trading
post at Fort Vancouver, opposite present-day Portland, Ore-
gon. Applegate was received by Hudson’s Bay Company di-
rector JOHN MCLOUGHLIN, who directed the migrants
southward to the fertile Willamette Valley, which they
reached in November 1843. Applegate and his family settled
on Salt Creek, near the present site of The Dalles, Oregon.

In 1846, Applegate, with fellow pioneer Levi Scott and
other associates, set out in search of a shorter route from
Idaho to Oregon, south of the usual trail along the Snake
River. He explored the Humboldt River region and the
Black Rock Desert of northwestern Nevada, then traveled
northeast to Fort Hall, Idaho.

From Fort Hall, Applegate set out with a party of set-
tlers back to Oregon. Despite repeated raids by Indians, who
preyed upon the travelers cattle, and the hardships wrought
by the severe winter weather of 1846-47, Applegate suc-
ceeded in leading this party through northern Nevada and
northern California into Oregon’s Willamette Valley, fol-
lowing a new and shorter route—the Applegate Trail—
which traversed the region around Klamath Lake and the
Umpqua Valley.

In 1849, Applegate moved his family to the Umpqua
Valley, a region suitable for farming, where he founded Yon-
calla, one of the earliest settlements in that part of south-
western Oregon.

Applegate was active in territorial and later state politics
in Oregon, and he made an unsuccessful bid for governor
in 1861. He also served as Oregon’s surveyor general and,
in 1853, he helped establish a new wagon route into north-
ern California, which became part of the Oregon and Cali-
fornia stage road.

Following his initial trek west to Oregon in 1843, Ap-
plegate wrote an essay, A Day with the Cow Column in 1843,

first published in 1868. In it he described the challenges fac-
ing the early migrants along the Oregon Trail to the Pacific
Northwest.

Jesse Applegate’s involvement in the Great Migration
of 1843, and subsequent trailblazing efforts in Idaho and
Nevada, contributed to the ensuing massive influx of settlers
into Oregon during the 1840s and 1850s.

Arago, Jacques (1790-1855) French artist, writer

in the South Pacific

Jacques Arago was born in the southern French town of Es-
tagel, the younger brother of the physicist and astronomer
Frangois Arago.

In September 1817, Arago departed France on the
Uranie under the command of LOUIS-CLAUDE DE SAULCES
DE FREYCINET, as the expedition’s artist and journalist. Dur-
ing the next three years, he circled the world and toured the
South Pacific Ocean, visiting the Marianas, the Hawaiian Is-
lands, and the British settlements on the southeast coast of
Australia. His illustrations of the voyage included watercol-
ors and drawings of native scenes.

Arago returned to France in November 1820. His illus-
trated, popular account of the voyage, jJourney Around the
World, was published in 1822, several years before the
appearance of the official account of the expedition by
Freycinet. In the years that followed, Arago was involved in
the theater as a writer and director. Although stricken with
blindness in 1837, he published an expanded account of
the expedition under Freycinet in 1838—40.

In his work as an artist and journalist in the South Pa-
cific, Jacques Arago depicted naturalistic scenes of native life
and customs, as well as written and pictorial accounts of
meetings between the French and native leaders.

Avrculf (fl. 680s) Frankish pilgrim to the Middle Fast
Arculf, of Frankish descent, possibly was the bishop of
Périgucux in southwestern France or a monk attached to a
mission. The Anglo-Saxon scholar Saint Bede relates in his
three-volume Historia ecclesiastica gentis Anglorum (Ecclesi-
astical history of the English people), from about 731, that
Arculf landed in a storm on the Scottish island of Iona,
where he described his travels to Saint Adamnan, the abbot
of the Iona monastery. He claims he had visited holy sites
in the Middle East. Adamnan used Arculf’s account to write
a geography, De Locis Sanctis (Concerning the sacred places),
which he presented as a gift to Aldfrith, king of Northum-
bria, in 698.

Arculf, as recorded by Adamnan, gave a detailed ac-
count of Jerusalem, Bethlehem, Nazareth, Damascus, and
other cities, including their churches. He also describes
many geographic sites from the Bible, including the Dead



Sea and the Jordan River. His guide through Palestine was
Peter of Burgundy. After leaving Palestine, Arculf visited
Alexandria, then crossed the MEDITERRANEAN SEA, sailing
past Crete, to Constantinople (present-day Istanbul,
Turkey). On the return trip, Arculf describes islands to the
east of Sicily, where the third volume of De Locis Sanctis
ends.

Arculf’s trip to the Holy Land was not a unique pil-
grimage for his time, yet no similar detailed record exists.

Arias de Avila, Pedro (Pedro Arias Davila,
Pedrarias Davila) (ca. 1442-1531)

Spanish conquistador in Central America

Pedro Arias de Avila, known to his contemporaries as Pe-
drarias, was born in the Segovia region of Spain, of Span-
ish-Jewish ancestry. He was well connected to the court of
Spanish monarchs Ferdinand and Isabella, and he took part
in military campaigns against the North African Moors in
1510.

In July 1513, Arias de Avila was appointed chief colo-
nial administrator of Darién, the Spanish colony on the At-
lantic coast of what is now Panama in CENTRAL AMERICA.
Several months later, while Arias de Avila was still in Spain
preparing for his expedition to the Americas, news of VASCO
NUNEZ DE BALBOA's crossing of the Isthmus of Panama and
sighting of the Pacific Ocean reached the Spanish court.

Arias de Avila arrived in Darién in late June 1514.
Among his expedition of about 2,000 men were several
Spanish conquistadores who would play significant roles in
the conquest and exploration of the Americas, including
HERNANDO DE SOTO, SEBASTIAN DE BENALCAZAR, DIEGO
DE ALMAGRO, and PASCUAL DE ANDAGOYA.

A conflict with Nufiez de Balboa developed from the
beginning of Arias de Avila’s governorship of Panama,
which ultimately led to Nuifiez de Balboa’s arrest and exe-
cution on trumped-up charges of treason in 1519. That
same year, Arias de Avila moved the principal settlement
from Darién, on the Atlantic coast of Panama, to Panama
City, on the Pacific coast. During the next five years, Arias
de Avila organized expeditions that explored to the north
and west and that brought the Chiriqui region of western
Panama under Spanish domination. In 1524, he supported
Almagro and FRANCISCO PIZARRO in their explorations
southward along the Pacific coast, which eventually led to
the conquest of the Inca in Peru and Ecuador.

In 1526, Arias de Avila was replaced as governor of
Panama. Soon afterward, he undertook an expedition north-
ward into present-day Nicaragua, defeating rival forces
under FRANCISCO FERNANDEZ DE CORDOBA. He remained
in control until his death in 1531.

In Spain, Pedro Arias de Avila had been known as El
Galdn (the gallant one) for his courtly manner and gallantry,
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and El Justador (the Jouster) for his military prowess. In
Panama, however, his reputation for cruelty and ruthlessness
in dealing with both the Indians and his Spanish rivals
earned him the title Furor Domini (wrath of God). Panama
City, which he founded in 1519, endured as the oldest sur-
viving European settlement on the American mainland.

Arias de Saavedra, Hernando (Hernandarias
Saavedra) (1561-1634) Spanish soldier, colonial leader
in Paraguay and Argentina, son-in-law of Juan de Garay
Hernando Arias de Saavedra, of Spanish ancestry, was born
in Asuncion, in present-day Paraguay. At the age of 15, he
participated in an expedition in search of LOS CESARES, a
fabled city of Indian riches thought to exist in southern
South America. At the age of 19, he settled in Buenos Aires,
in present-day Argentina, when it was founded for the sec-
ond time by the conquistador JUAN DE GARAY. He later mar-
ried Garay’s daughter. In his 20s, Arias de Saavedra served in
armies sent out against Indians living inland from Buenos
Alires.

Arias de Saavedra and his family returned to Asuncion
in 1589, and he served as governor in 1592-94. He was ap-
pointed governor of the Rio de la Plata colony in 1598 and
served through 1609. He served a second term in 1614-18.
In 1617, he accomplished the separation of the province of
Rio de la Plata from the administration of Asuncion, with
Buenos Aires as the seat of the new provincial government.

During his governorships, especially between 1604 and
1608, Arias de Saavedra encouraged further exploration of
the interior and launched a series of expeditions, leading
some of them himself, ever hopeful of locating Los Césares.

Hernando Arias de Saavedra contributed to Spanish
exploration of South America as both a military and politi-
cal leader.

Armstrong, Neil Alden (1930- )

American astronaut, first human to walk on the Moon

Neil Armstrong was born in Wapakoneta, Ohio. At the age
of 16, he became a student pilot. Earning a navy scholarship,
he enrolled at Purdue University in 1947. In 1950-52, he
served as a combat pilot in the Korean War. After his tour
of duty, he returned to Purdue and in 1955 earned a B.S. de-
gree in aeronautical engineering.

That same year, Armstrong joined the National Advi-
sory Committee for Aeronautics (NACA) at the Lewis Re-
search Center in Ohio, soon transferring to the NACA
Flight Research Center at Edwards Air Force Base in Cali-
fornia, where he was a test pilot for experimental aircraft. In
1962, he joined the second group of trainees to become As-
TRONAUTS of the NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE AD-
MINISTRATION (NASA).
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Armstrong’s first assignment was as backup to the Gem-
ini 5 mission, part of the GEMINI PROGRAM. In 1966, he
served as command pilot for the Gemini 8 mission, during
which he and David R. Scott performed the first successful
docking of two vehicles in space. He then was part of the
backup crews for the Gemini 11 mission and Apollo 8 mis-
sion of the subsequent APOLLO PROGRAM.

In 1968, Armstrong was given command of the
Apollo 11 mission. He, Edwin “Buzz” Aldrin, Jr., and
Michael Allen Collins took off from Cape Canaveral,
Florida, on July 16, 1969, propelled by the Sazurn V rocket
designed specifically for Apollo craft. They arrived in orbit
around the Moon on July 20, and after eight hours of
preparation, Armstrong and Aldrin separated from the
Columbia command module in the Eagle lunar module and
three hours later landed on the Moon’s Mare Tranquilitatis
(sea of tranquility).

Armstrong became the first human to walk on the
Moon on July 20, 1969, 10:56 P.M., Eastern Daylight Time.
For two and a half hours, while Collins orbited the Moon
in the command module, he and Aldrin explored the
Moon’s surface. They planted a U.S. flag, collected 48
pounds of lunar soil and rock, and set up scientific experi-
ments, including an instrument to measure solar wind, a
seismometer to detect moonquakes, and a laser reflector to
reflect pulses of laser for measurements between the Earth
and the Moon. After 21/2 hours on the lunar surface, Arm-
strong and Aldrin lifted off and rejoined Collins in the com-
mand module. They returned to Earth on July 24,
accomplishing a successful splashdown in the Pacific Ocean
about 810 miles southeast of Hawaii.

Armstrong received the Presidential Medal of Freedom
and numerous other awards for the Apollo 11 mission. His
activities after his career as an astronaut have included
NASA deputy association administrator for aeronautics in
the Office of Advanced Research and Technology, professor
of engineering, businessman, presidential adviser on space
exploration, and media personality.

The expedition to the Moon was the work of a team of
scientists, engineers, technicians, and astronauts. But as the
first man to walk on the Moon, Neil Armstrong receives spe-
cial notice in the history of exploration. He is famous for the
quote “That’s one small step for man, one giant leap for
mankind” as he took his first step on the lunar surface, as
watched by millions of people around the world. Other mis-
sions would follow to the Moon, five of them successful
manned landings.

Arthur, Gabriel (fl. 1670s) English colonist in

Virginia and the trans-Appalachian region

Gabriel Arthur was born in England and arrived in the Vir-
ginia colony prior to 1673 as the indentured servant of En-

glish military officer and exploration sponsor Major General
ABRAHAM WOOD.

In 1673, Arthur and another Virginia colonist, JAMES
NEEDHAM, were sent by General Wood to explore the trans-
Appalachian frontier lying to the west of the Virginia colony.
Arthur and Needham left the Virginia colony’s western
outpost at Fort Henry, present-day Petersburg, Virginia,
in April. Traveling southwestward through North Car-
olina’s Yadkin Valley into what is now eastern Tennessee,
they were taken captive by Indians, thought to be a band of
Cherokee.

Arthur remained among his captors for more than a
year, learning their language and participating in several
raids on other tribes. He then traveled southward with them
as far as Spanish Florida. Along the way, he explored the
Blue Ridge of North Carolina. Returning north with a party
of Indians in 1674, he traveled eastward through the cum-
BERLAND GAP, becoming one of the first non-Indians to
cross the APPALACHIAN MOUNTAINS by this route. He then
explored the Kanawha River region of present-day West Vir-
ginia. Arthur’s companion, Needham, had managed to es-
cape but was later killed by his Indian guide.

Arthur was again taken captive by a raiding party of
Shawnee Indians near the mouth of the Scioto River in pre-
sent-day Ohio. He then traveled with this band into the
Scioto River region and explored what is now southeastern
Ohio.

After surviving an ambush by Ocaneechi Indians,
Arthur convinced the Shawnee that he would be able to
open British trade relations with them if they granted his
freedom. He returned to Fort Henry some time in 1674.

Gabriel Arthur’s travels through what is now West Vir-
ginia, southeastern Ohio, eastern Tennessee, the Carolinas,
Georgia, and Florida resulted in the first recorded explo-
rations of the trans-Appalachian frontier by an English-
man. His accounts of the Cumberland Gap and the Ohio
country to the west provided the impetus for further ex-
ploration, including that of DANIEL BOONE a century later.

Ashley, William Henry (ca. 1778-1838)

American fur trader in the West, soldier, politician

William Henry Ashley, a native of Virginia, moved to the
Missouri Territory in 1803, the year the United States final-
ized its acquisition of the Louisiana Territory from France.
Settling first in Sainte Genevieve, he later made his home in
St. Louis, where he went into business with his friend, the
Pennsylvanian ANDREW HENRY. During the War of 1812,
Ashley and Henry prospered by selling gunpowder and lead
to the U.S. Army. Ashley was also active in the Missouri
territorial militia, serving as a major; after the war, he
reached the rank of general.



Ashley was prominent in politics, and when Missouri
achieved statehood in 1821, he was elected the first lieu-
tenant governor. Because of severe financial reverses result-
ing from the Panic of 1819, Ashley sought to recoup his
losses by initiating the FUR TRADE to the upper MISSOURI
RIVER. In partnership with Henry, Ashley recruited MOUN-
TAIN MEN for an expedition from St. Louis to trade furs
with the Mandan and other Indian tribes in present-day
North and South Dakota and Wyoming. In the spring of
1822, Ashley and Henry and a small party of trappers and
frontiersmen traveled northward from St. Louis via the Mis-
souri River to the mouth of the Yellowstone River, where
they established a trading post, Fort Henry (later Fort
Union). The venture failed to bring in the necessary profits,
and the following year Ashley sponsored a second expedi-
tion.

The Arikara Indians, who lived on the Missouri near
the present North Dakota-South Dakota state line, and who
up to that time had acted as middlemen in the fur trade,
felt their interests threatened by the appearance of the trap-
pers. In spring 1823, Ashley’s men, heading by KEELBOAT
for Fort Henry, stopped at the Arikara settlement along the
Missouri to trade for horses. The Indians launched a surprise
attack, and Ashley and his men narrowly escaped.

Although a punitive military expedition, headed by
Colonel HENRY LEAVENWORTH, soon atrived and dispersed
the Arikara to the Mandan Indian villages in North Dakota,
Indian attacks made further travel on the upper Missouri
into the northern ROCKY MOUNTAINS impractical. To meet
this challenge, Ashley instituted the “brigade system,” in
which parties of trappers were sent westward from Fort
Kiowa in present-day South Dakota into the foothills of the
Rockies. Taking part in these expeditions were mountain
men JAMES PIERSON BECKWOURTH, JAMES BRIDGER,
ROBERT CAMPBELL, JAMES CLYMAN, THOMAS FITZPATRICK,
HUGH GLASS, DAVID E. JACKSON, EDWARD ROSE, JEDEDIAH
STRONG SMITH, and WILLIAM LEWIS SUBLETTE.

In spring 1824, after Andrew Henry had left the fur
trade, Ashley assumed complete ownership of what was
known as the ROCKY MOUNTAIN FUR COMPANY. In
November of that year, Ashley himself led a supply train of
pack animals westward along the North Platte and South
Platte Rivers over the Wind River Range of what is now
southern Wyoming, through the SOUTH PASS to the Green
River of what is now northern Utah.

Starting in April 1825, Ashley and his party began to
explore the Green River of northern Utah, as well as the
Uinta River and the Greart Salt Lake region. Using makeshift
boats fashioned from buffalo hides stretched over willow
sticks, they negotiated the perilous rapids of the Green River
as it coursed through what is now northern Utah’s Dinosaur
National Monument. They explored the river’s southern
branch to determine whether it was the so-called Buenaven-
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tura River, erroneously thought to flow directly to the Pa-
cific Ocean. However, based on reports by French trappers
in the area, Ashley correctly concluded that the southern
Green River was actually a northern tributary of the cor-
ORADO RIVER. Traveling overland through the Uinta Moun-
tains, Ashley and his mountain men met up with ETIENNE
PROVOST. The combined party headed northeastward to
Henrys Fork on the Green River, where Ashley had arranged
to meet with the rest of his trappers in July 1825, the first
trappers’ annual rendezvous.

After selling supplies to the trappers and purchasing
their season’s catch of furs, Ashley embarked on an expedi-
tion northward through the SOUTH Pass, then explored the
Sweetwater, Popo Agie, and Bighorn Rivers. He returned to
St. Louis via the Yellowstone and Missouri Rivers.

In summer 1826, Ashley was again at the Green River
rendezvous, where he sold his fur interests to David Jackson,
Jedediah Smith, and William Sublette.

Ashley returned to St. Louis, his financial condition
greatly improved, and he continued to be prominent in Mis-
souri political circles. Although unsuccessful in his bid for
election as governor of the state, he was elected to Congress,
serving in the House of Representatives from 1831 to 1837.

William Henry Ashley’s fur-trading ventures into the
Rockies demonstrated that there was a practical overland
supply route into the region. His exploits opened the Amer-
ican West to exploration and travel routes not restricted to
the rivers. His 1824-25 expedition into the Rockies of
southern Wyoming and Utah blazed the trail that would,
more than 40 years later, be the basis of the route used by the
builders of the Union Pacific Railroad.

Astor, John Jacob (1763-1848) American fur trader,
[inancier, sponsor of expeditions to the Pacific Northwest

The son of a butcher, John Jacob Astor was born in Waldorf,
near the German university town of Heidelberg. At the age
of 16, he moved to England to join his brother’s musical in-
strument business. Five years later, he immigrated to Amer-
ica, arriving first in Baltimore, then settling in New York
City.

Through his 1785 marriage to Sarah Todd, whose fam-
ily was wealthy and politically well-connected, Astor was
able to launch a successful business career. Aided by his
wife’s knowledge of furs, Astor operated a store in New York
that developed a thriving trade not only in imported musi-
cal instruments, but also in animal pelts from Montreal and
the Hudson River Valley. By 1800, he had expanded his
business to include real estate development in and around
New York City.

Astor also became a leading mercantile force in the
trade with China from New York, dealing especially in
furs. Still, his profits were limited by fur prices fixed by the
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HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY and the NORTH WEST COMPANY
based in Montreal. Prompted by the Louisiana Purchase of
1803 and the ensuing explorations of MERIWETHER LEWIS
and WILLIAM CLARK in the largely unknown region be-
tween the Mississippi River and the Pacific coast, Astor
organized a venture to obtain furs from the Pacific North-
west and ship them directly to the lucrative markets in
China.

In April 1808, under the aegis of President Thomas Jef-
ferson, Astor chartered the AMERICAN FUR COMPANY. His
original plan was to establish a chain of trading forts along
the route of the Lewis and Clark Expedition, terminating at
the mouth of the COLUMBIA RIVER on the coast of present-
day Oregon. He established two subsidiary companies, the
Pacific Fur Company in June 1810 and the Southwest Fur
Company in June 1811.

The Pacific Fur Company was to establish a settlement
called Astoria on the Oregon coast, near the Columbia River
site where Lewis and Clark had wintered in 1805. At the
same time, Astor entered into an agreement with the Cana-
dian fur companies to supply their Great Lakes operations.
He also obtained additional financial backing from the RUS-
SIAN-AMERICAN COMPANY, agreeing in return to transport
supplies to its settlements in Alaska.

Two expeditions were sent to the Oregon coast to es-
tablish Astoria. The first, the seaward arm of the enterprise
aboard Astor’s ship, the 7onquin, headed by ROBERT STU-
ART, left New York City in September 1810, rounded CAPE
HORN, and reached the Oregon coast in March 1811. After
the founding of the Astoria settlement, the Zonguin sailed
northward along the coast, heading for the Russian posts in
southern Alaska. At a stopover in Nootka Sound, where
Astor’s men intended to trade for sea otter pelts with the
Nootka Indians, the ship came under attack. The Nootka
killed all hands but one, who, although badly wounded,
managed to ignite the ship’s powder magazine. The explo-
sion destroyed the ship and killed a number of Nootka.

An overland expedition, led by Astor employee WILSON
PRICE HUNT, departed St. Louis in April 1811. The Astori-
ans traveled up the Missouri, then overland into present-day
Wyoming and Idaho, where they followed the Bighorn and
Snake Rivers to the Columbia River’s outlet on the Pacific
Ocean at Astoria in February 1812.

Supplying the Astoria enterprise by sea from New York
proved difficult. The situation became critical with the out-
break of the War of 1812 and the imposition of British naval
blockades. Anticipating the imminent seizure of the Astoria
settlement by the British, Astor’s agents in Oregon sold the
fort to the North West Company in 1813.

After 1815, Astor concentrated his Great Lakes opera-
tions out of centers at Green Bay, Wisconsin, and Grand
Portage, Minnesota. His South West Company soon domi-
nated most of the trade from Mackinac on Lake Michigan

south and west to St. Louis and the ROCKY MOUNTAINS.
His American Fur Company proved more efficient than the
independent Missouri traders and smaller concerns, such as
the ST. LOUIS MISSOURI FUR COMPANY and the ROCKY
MOUNTAIN FUR COMPANY, and, by the late 1820s, held a
near-monopoly on the FUR TRADE in the trans-Mississippi
West, with the exclusion of the Pacific Northwest, which
was dominated by the Hudson’s Bay Company.

By the 1830s, demand for western beaver pelts by Eu-
ropean and American hat manufacturers had declined be-
cause silk hats had replaced beaver as the dominant fashion.
In addition, the number of beavers throughout the tradi-
tional trapping areas of the Great Lakes and eastern Rockies
had been depleted. As a result, Astor sold his fur-trading em-
pire to a consortium of St. Louis traders in 1834.

Although John Jacob Astor’s expeditions were launched
to expand his business empire, they also enabled the earliest
organized explorations of large portions of North America,
previously known only to Native Americans and a handful
of MOUNTAIN MEN. Washington Irving’s 1836 book Astoria
provides a chronicle of the Oregon coast venture, based on
Astor’s own notes and journals and the accounts of other
participants.

Atkinson, Henry (1782-1842) U.S. Army officer

on the Missouri River

Henry Atkinson was born in North Carolina. In 1808, he
joined the U.S. Army, and during the War of 1812, he was
promoted to colonel.

On July 4, 1819, Atkinson led 1,100 troops from St.
Louis up the MISSOURI RIVER on an expedition in which he
hoped to reach the mouth of the Yellowstone River. The
steamboats transporting the Yellowstone Expedition broke
down, and Atkinson and his command reached only as far as
Council Bluffs on the Missouri River in present-day Ne-
braska. At this point, Atkinson established a log outpost,
known as Fort Atkinson.

In summer 1820, Atkinson dispatched military explor-
ing expeditions to the north and west. One group, under
Major STEPHEN HARRIMAN LONG, reached as far as Pikes
Peak in the ROCKY MOUNTAINS. Another, under Captain
Matthew J. Magee, explored northward to the mouth of
the Minnesota River.

Five years later, Atkinson led a second Yellowstone Ex-
pedition. His command of 476 troops left the Council
Bluffs post on May 16, 1825. This time, traveling by hand-
cranked, paddle-wheel-driven KEELBOAT, he reached a
point on the Yellowstone 100 miles above its mouth and
negotiated treaties with Indian tribes of present-day eastern
Montana.

Atkinson, who had been promoted to brigadier general
in 1820, commanded troops in the Indian wars in Illinois,



Wisconsin, and Minnesota during the late 1820s and carly
1830s.

Henry Atkinson’s post at Council Bluffs became a focal
point for fur traders and MOUNTAIN MEN of the upper Mis-
souri and eastern Rockies. It was also an important starting
point for early government explorations of the American
West, including the 1827 expedition into present-day
Kansas led by Colonel HENRY LEAVENWORTH. Moreover,
his 1825 negotiations with the upper Missouri and Yellow-
stone tribes ended two years of Indian resistance and helped
open the northern plains and Rocky Mountains to white
trade and exploration.

Atkinson, Lucy (fl. 1820s—1860s) British traveler, writer
in Russia and central Asia, wife of Thomas Wittlam Atkinson
Few details are known of Lucy Atkinson’s origins or early
life. She was definitely British by birth, yet her maiden name
and place of birth remain unknown.

In about 1840, Atkinson went to live in St. Petersburg,
Russia, where she worked as a tutor and governess for a
daughter of General Mouravioff, governor general of eastern
SIBERIA. It was as a member of Mouravioff’s household that
she first met English artist and architect THOMAS WITTLAM
ATKINSON in 1846. He was about to embark on a sketch-
ing trip to SIBERIA and had contacted Mouravioff to obtain
travel documents for his journey across Russia and into the
regions to the east. Upon Thomas’s return to St. Petersburg
the following year, he and Lucy became engaged and were
married in Moscow soon afterward.

In February 1848, Atkinson left Moscow with her hus-
band, accompanying him on his sketching expedition east-
ward into Russian Asia. They traveled by horse-drawn
sledge southeastward across the Ural Mountains to Barnaul,
a goldmining center on the upper Ob River in the Altai
Mountains. They crossed the mountains toward the north-
eastern Mongolia border. At a mountain lake called Altin
Kool (golden lake), they were hosted by Kalmuck tribes-
men, who accompanied them on a tour of the waters by na-
tive CANOE.

After a camel trip across the Kirghiz steppes, Atkinson
and her husband reached the town of Kopal in September
1848, near the Russian-Chinese border. Atkinson gave birth
to a son there whom the couple named Alatau, after the
mountain that rises above Kopal. Six months later, they set
out on a return journey to Barnaul, arriving in December
1849.

After a few months at Barnaul, Lucy and Thomas
Atkinson resumed their travels, heading eastward into
south-central Siberia. For the next several years, while Lucy
remained with her infant son at Irkutsk on Lake Baikal,
Thomas undertook expeditions into the surrounding coun-
try to sketch and make natural history studies.
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The Atkinsons returned to England in 1854 in time
for young Alatau to begin school. Thomas Atkinson pro-
duced an illustrated book of his travels, published in
1857.

After her husband’s death in 1861, Lucy Atkinson com-
piled her own book from letters to her friends, Recollections
of Tartar Steppes and Their Inhabitants (1863). The work
provided the English reading public with details about peo-
ples and lands east of the Ural Mountains.

Atkinson,Thomas Wittlam (1799-1861)

British artist, traveler in Russia and central Asia, husband

of Lucy Atkinson

Thomas Atkinson, an English artist and architect living
in the Russian city of St. Petersburg, undertook a sketching
trip to Siberia in 1846. Two years later, accompanied by his
wife LUCY ATKINSON, he headed eastward across the Ural
Mountains. Over the next five years, they journeyed to parts
of central Asia rarely visited by western Europeans. Their
travels took them from Barnaul, in the Altai Mountains,
across the Kirghiz steppes to the Chinese border. He also
reportedly visited Mongolia. He and his wife returned to
St. Petersburg in 1853, after a journey that had taken them
across almost 40,000 miles of Russian territory.

While traveling, Atkinson produced hundreds of water-
color paintings of central Asian scenes. Engravings made
from them were used to produce illustrations for his account
of his travels, Oriental and Western Siberia: A Narrative of
Seven Years' Explorations and Adventures in Siberia, Mongolia,
the Kirghis Steppes, Chinese Tartary, and Part of Central Asia
(1857). The book was well received in both England and the
United States, and he became a highly acclaimed lecturer
on Russian Asia. He was also elected as a member of the
ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY.

Atlasov,Vladimir Vasilyevich (Vladimir
Atlassov) (unknown—1711) Russian Cossack in eastern
Siberia and the Kamchatka Peninsula

Vladimir Atlasov, a Siberian Cossack, settled in Yakutsk in
1672, where he served as an administrator for the czarist
government. In 1695, he took command of Fort Anadyr on
the shore of the Bering Sea, then Russia’s northeasternmost
outpost. From there, in conjunction with fellow Cossack
LUKA MOROZKO, Atlasov undertook exploring expeditions
into the region south of the Anadyr River that led to Russia’s
first knowledge and subsequent settlement of the Kam-
chatka Peninsula.

In 1699, in command of a force of 120 men, Atlasov
headed south from Fort Anadyr. Upon reaching the Kam-
chatka River, he claimed the entire Kamchatka Peninsula
for Czar Peter I (Peter the Great). The next year, he founded
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Verkhnekamchatsk, the first Russian settlement on the
Kamchatka Peninsula.

Atlasov journeyed to Moscow in 1700, where he pre-
sented an account of his explorations to Czar Peter. In 1708,
he returned to Kamchatka as the region’s chief administra-
tor. Five years later, he was killed in a rebellion of his own
men.

Vladimir Atlasov is credited with the Russian discovery
and conquest of Kamchatka. His exploits helped extend
Russia’s domination of central Asia to the Pacific Ocean; his
explorations revealed that Kamchatka was a peninsula. The
Russian settlement of Kamchatka provided the next genera-
tion of Russian explorers with a staging point for expeditions
across the Sea of Okhotsk to the Kuril Islands of northern
Japan, and eastward across the Bering Sea to Alaska and the
west coast of North America.

Audubon, John James (1785-1851)

American artist, naturalist in the Ohio and Mississippi Valleys
John James Audubon was born in Les Cayes, Haiti, the
son of a French sea captain and a Haitian Creole woman.
He was raised in France, studying art under the French
artist Jacques-Louis David. In 1803, Audubon settled on
his father’s Pennsylvania estate, Mill Grove, near Philadel-
phia. It was there that he first began to study and paint
birds.

In 1807, Audubon moved to Louisville, Kentucky, and
entered the mercantile business. Three years later, he under-
took a trade expedition down the Ohio River to Henderson,
Kentucky, and established a general store, as well as a lum-
ber and grist mill. He continued his painting of birds while
on hunting expeditions into the largely unsettled Kentucky
frontier region. At this time, he became acquainted with
frontiersman DANIEL BOONE.

By 1819, Audubon’s business had failed, leaving him
bankrupt. He moved to Cincinnati and found work as a
taxidermist. In 1820, he traveled down the Ohio River and
MISSISSIPPI RIVER to New Orleans, where he supported his
family by painting portraits and at times taught art. His
fortunes improved in 1827, when he went to England and
succeeded in winning financial support for the publication
of his paintings of birds. This work, The Birds of North
America, was published serially from 1827 to 1838.

Audubon returned to America in 1831, settling for a
time in Charleston, South Carolina. In the 1830s, he un-
dertook expeditions in search of wildlife subjects to paint,
traveling over a wide area of North America, including the
dunes and lagoons along the Texas coast and the wild re-
gions of Florida, as well as the coast of Labrador.

In his later years, Audubon and his family lived at
“Minnielands,” their Hudson River estate in what is now
New York City.

John James Audubon (Library of Congress)

John James Audubon became one of the foremost au-
thorities on North American birds and established an en-
during reputation as a painter of wildlife subjects. His
painting expeditions through the frontier regions of the
United States in the first half of the 19th century resulted
in the discovery of 40 previously unknown bird species.

Auribeau, Alexandre Hesmivy d’
(unknown—1794) French naval officer in the South Pacific
and East Indies

Alexandre Hesmivy d’Auribeau was second in command to
ANTOINE-RAYMOND-JOSEPH DE BRUNI, chevalier d’Entre-
casteaux, on the French ship Recherche, which sailed from
Brest, France, in September 1791 in search of JEAN-
FRANGOIS DE GALAUP, comte de La Pérouse, who had be-
come lost in his explorations of the South Pacific Ocean
several years earlier.

In July 1793, near the coast of New Guinea, d’Entre-
casteaux succumbed to SCURVY, and Auribeau assumed
command. Over the next year, his ship sailed through the
EAST INDIES, stopping at various Dutch settlements in
present-day Indonesia. The French Revolution was then at
its height, and Auribeau, a royalist, had to contend with



political dissension among his own men as well as the dis-
trust of Dutch authorities, who had become wary of any
French presence during this critical time. In August 1794,
he died at Semarang on the island of Java. According to
some sources, he may have been poisoned, but most schol-
ars believe that he died of dysentery.

Alexandre Hesmivy d’Auribeau played a key role in the
first search efforts for the French explorer La Pérouse. Iron-
ically, even in the South Pacific, halfway around the world
from France, he was plagued with the political strife of the
French Revolution.

Avila, Pedro Arias de See ARIAS DE AVILA, PEDRO.

Avilés, Pedro Menéndez de See MENENDEZ DE
AVILES, PEDRO.

Ayllon, LucasVasquez de (ca. 1475-1526)

Spanish colonial official in Santo Domingo, early colonizer on
the southeast coast of North America

Few details are known of Lucas Vdsquez de Ayllén’s life be-
fore 1502, the year he first arrived in Santo Domingo, the
chief Spanish settlement on the Caribbean island of His-
paniola (present-day Haiti and the Dominican Republic). In
Santo Domingo, he served in the colonial government as a
magistrate.

In 1520, inspired by the reports of JUAN PONCE DE
LEON, Ayllén sent out an expedition under Francisco
Gordillo that reached the coast of present-day South Car-
olina. Gordillo returned to Santo Domingo with about 70
Indian captives. The next year, Ayllén took one of these
captives, an Indian (probably Shakori) known as Francisco
Chicora, to Spain and presented him at the court of Charles
I (Holy Roman Emperor Charles V). Chicora related to the
Spanish monarch a fabulous account of his homeland,
claiming that his native land contained a great wealth of
precious stones and gold, that the kings and queens there
were giants, and that the people had huge, rigid tails grow-
ing out of their posteriors, forcing them to dig holes in the
ground in order to sit down.

With the death of Ponce de Leén in 1521, Ayllén was
granted a royal patent to colonize Florida and what is now
the southeastern United States. With Chicora, he sailed
from Santo Domingo in 1526. His fleet of six ships carried
500 colonists and slaves. On the first landing at the mouth
of the Santee River, near present-day Georgetown, South
Carolina, Ayllén established the settlement of San Miguel
de Guadalupe. He then explored southward along the coast
of present-day Georgia, to the mouth of the Savannah
River.
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Chicora disappeared soon after landing. Over the next
few months, the colonists were decimated by swamp fever.
Ayllén himself succumbed in the winter of 1526-27. Only
150 of the colonists survived to return to Santo Domingo
in 1527.

Lucas Vdsquez de Ayllén attempted to establish one of
the earliest Spanish settlements on the mainland of the pre-
sent-day United States. The next major Spanish colonizing
effort on the southeast coast of North America did not occur
until 40 years later with the founding of St. Augustine,
Florida.

Ayolas, Juan de (unknown-ca. 1538)

Spanish conquistador in South America

Juan de Ayolas was a lieutenant in PEDRO DE MENDOZA’s
1535 expedition from Spain to the Rio de la Plata region of
South America.

In 1535-36, encouraged by the reports of SEBASTIAN
CABOT, Ayolas explored up the Rio de la Plata, from the site
of present-day Buenos Aires, Argentina, in search of gold
and silver. From the Rio de la Plata estuary he reached the
Parand River, which he ascended, and along its banks he
founded the settlement of Corpus Cristi. He then explored
the Paraguay River in search of a route to Peru. At one point
he obtained gold and silver from the Guaran{ Indians, but
these riches had probably originated among the Inca Indians
west of the ANDES MOUNTAINS. He penetrated the interior
of South America as far as what is now the Chaco region of
Paraguay and northern Argentina, and he may have reached
the eastern slopes of the Andes.

Probably in early 1538, Ayolas was killed in a clash with
Guaran{ near present-day Asuncién, Paraguay. Soon after-
ward, his lieutenant, DOMINGO MARTINEZ DE IRALA, suc-
ceeded in securing Asuncidn.

Juan de Ayolas’s explorations, along with those of his
lieutenant Martinez de Irala, led to the opening of the upper
Rio de la Plata and its tributaries to extensive Spanish set-
tlement.

Azara, Félix de (1746-1811) Spanish official,
naturalist in South America

Félix de Azara was born in the Aragon region of Spain. In
1775, while serving as a Spanish army officer against the
North African pirates in present-day Algeria, he was
wounded and earned a promotion to the rank of brigadier
general.

Azara went to the Rio de la Plata region of South
America in 1781, as a commissioner in a Spanish govern-
ment survey that determined the boundary between Span-
ish and Portuguese territory. Over the next 20 years, he
undertook extensive explorations along the Parand and
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Félix de Azara (Library of Congress)

Paraguay Rivers, during which he made studies of the re-
gion’s natural history.

Following his return to Spain in 1801, Félix de Azara
published a series of scientific and geographic studies of the
upper Rio de la Plata river system. His works provided Eu-
ropeans with one of the earliest scientific accounts of the
interior of South America, as well as a definitive history of
the conquest of the region now comprising Paraguay and
northern Argentina.

Azevado, Francisco de (1578-1660)
Portuguese or Spanish missionary in India and Tiber
Francisco de Azevado was a Portuguese or Spanish Jesuit mis-
sionary priest in India during the early 1600s. In 1631, he
journeyed from Delhi, India, across the HIMALAYAS by way
of the Mana Pass, and into Tibet. He succeeded in reestab-
lishing a Jesuit mission and church in Tibet, continuing the
work begun several years earlier by missionary priest ANTO-
NIO DE ANDRADE. Azevado’s mission in Tibet lasted for only
a few years. In 1635, he was forced to abandon it in the face
of hostility from Tibetan Buddhist authorities.

Although Francisco de Azevado failed to establish a per-
manent Christian missionary presence in Tibet, he was one

of the first Europeans to journey there since the end of the
Middle Ages.



Back, Sir George (1796-1878) British naval officer
in the Canadian Arctic

Born in Stockport, Cheshire, England, George Back entered
the Royal Navy in his early teens as a midshipman, serving
in the last naval engagements of the Napoleonic Wars.

In 1818, Back served under SIR JOHN FRANKLIN in an
unsuccessful attempt to navigate from Spitsbergen (present-
day Svalbard), north of Norway, across the Arctic Ocean to
the Bering Sea.

The next year, 1819, Back took part in Franklin’s over-
land expedition into the Canadian Arctic. With Franklin, he
traveled from York Factory on HUDSON BAY, along the Nel-
son and Saskatchewan Rivers to Lake Athabasca. From
there, he joined Franklin on an exploration northward to
Great Slave Lake and the Coppermine River, which they fol-
lowed to its mouth on the Arctic coast. The expedition then
charted the northern coastline of Canada eastward to Point
Turnagain. Back spent three years exploring with Franklin,
during which the expedition faced extreme hardships due
to shortages of food. At one point, Back heroically trekked
southward from the Arctic coast to Great Slave Lake in order
to obtain food supplies from the Indians for Franklin and
his men, covering 250 miles in less than eight weeks. With-
out adequate food himself, he survived only by eating
lichens, a pair of leather trousers, and an old shoe.

Back returned to Arctic Canada with Franklin in 1825.
Starting from New York, they journeyed overland to Great
Slave Lake and descended the Mackenzie River to its mouth
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on the Beaufort Sea. They then undertook an exploration
westward along the northern coast of Canada, intending to
reach British naval vessels waiting for them at Icy Cape,
Alaska. Impeded by ice and the rugged coastline, they man-
aged only to reach a point 370 miles west of the Mackenzie’s
mouth, about half the distance to Icy Cape, Alaska. The ex-
pedition returned to England in fall 1827.

In 1833, Back was promoted to the rank of lieutenant
in the Royal Navy. That year, he undertook an expedition
in search of SIR JOHN ROSS, who, with his nephew SIR JAMES
CLARK ROSS, had disappeared while exploring the Arctic
coast of Canada by ship. While wintering at Great Slave
Lake in 1833-34, Back received news that Ross and his
party had safely returned to England and instead set out to
explore to the north and east. From the Indians, he heard re-
ports of a stream known as the Great Fish River, which
flowed into the Arctic north of Great Slave Lake, several
hundred miles east of the Coppermine River. He succeeded
in locating the Great Fish River and traveled its 550-mile
length to its outlet on Simpson Strait, south of King
William Island. Back returned to England in 1835.

In 1836, Back was promoted to captain and embarked
on a seaward expedition to the Canadian Arctic in com-
mand of the Zérror. From Hudson Bay, he sailed northward,
attempting to negotiate the NORTHWEST PASSAGE. Chart-
ing the Arctic coastline, he sailed around Southampton Is-
land but was trapped by the ice in Frozen Strait. The Zerror
was icebound until spring 1837, by which time it had been
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so severely damaged that Back was forced to head back to
England. On the return voyage, the ailing ship was in dan-
ger of sinking and had to be beached on the coast of Ireland.

Back returned to regular naval service after 1837. He
was awarded a baronetcy for his Arctic explorations, and, in
1857, he was made an admiral.

Sir George Back’s exploits in the Canadian Arctic in-
cluded extensive overland and seaward explorations. His
work filled in many gaps in the previously uncharted coast-
line of northern Canada. The Great Fish River, which he ex-
plored during his 1833-35 expedition, was subsequently
renamed the Back River in his honor. He recounted his ex-
periences in his books, Narrative of the Arctic Land Expedi-
tion to the Mouth of the Great Fish River (1836) and
Narrative of Expedition in H.M.S. Terror (1838).

Baffin,William (ca. 1584-1622) English mariner in
Greenland and the Canadian Arctic

Little is known of William Baffin’s early life except that he
was apparently a highly skilled mariner and was self-edu-
cated in navigation and mathematics. In April 1612, he
sailed as a pilot on the ship Patience, captained by JAMES
HALL, undertaking an expedition in search of the NORTH-
WEST PASSAGE, sponsored by London-based COMPANY OF
MERCHANTS OF LONDON DISCOVERERS OF THE NORTH-
WEST PASSAGE.

From the port of Hull, England, Baffin sailed to what
is now Godthaab, on the southwest coast of GREENLAND.
Baffin and Hall then transferred to the expedition’s other
ship, the Heartsease, and explored northward into Davis
Strait along the west coast of Greenland as far as 67° north
latitude, then turned south. While ashore at Rommel’s
Fjord, Greenland, Hall was killed by Inuit. Baffin then re-
turned to England, having made important navigational
observations relating to magnetic variations of the COM-
PASS in high northern latitudes. On this voyage, he also
made early calculations of longitude at sea.

In 1613-14, Baffin made two voyages to Spitsbergen
(present-day Svalbard) under the sponsorship of the Lon-
don-based MUSCOVY COMPANY. Baffin returned to the ser-
vice of the Company of Merchants of London Discoverers
of the Northwest Passage in 1615. That year, he sailed as a
pilot aboard HENRY HUDSON’s former ship, the Discovery,
under the command of ROBERT BYLOT; a survivor of Hud-
son’s ill-fated final voyage. Baffin navigated the Discovery
through Hudson Strait and explored the northwest coast of
HUDSON BAY, secking an outlet to the Pacific Ocean. After
surveying the coastline northward beyond Southampton Is-
land and into Foxe Basin, Baffin rightfully concluded that
Hudson Bay provided no navigable outlet westward to the
Pacific, although later explorers would search the region
again.

On a second voyage with Bylot in 1616, Baffin sailed
northward along the west coast of Greenland and into a
large bay that was later named after him. He entered Kane
Basin on the extreme northwest coast of Greenland and ex-
plored the coast of a large body of land later known as Baf-
fin Island. Proceeding south, he found and named Jones
Sound and Lancaster Sound, which flank Devon Island on
the north and south. Upon his return to England, he re-
ported that there was little hope in locating a waterway
through the islands and frozen straits west of Greenland.

Baffin served next in the BRITISH EAST INDIA COM-
PANY’s fleet, commanding the ship London. In 1622, he took
part in a military campaign in the Persian Gulf against the
Portuguese. He was killed in an assault on the Portuguese-
held fortress at Queshm, near the Strait of Hormuz.

William Baffin’s geographic findings north and west of
Greenland were not confirmed until subsequent British ex-
plorations in the early part of the 19th century. His reports
slowed down attempts to locate an eastern entrance to the
Northwest Passage. On his second voyage with Bylot in 1616,
Baffin reached as far north as 77°45' north latitude, a record
until SIR GEORGE STRONG NARES'’s Arctic expedition of 1852.
Ironically, Lancaster Sound, which Baffin first charted in
1616, proved to be the eastern entry point for the Northwest
Passage, first successfully navigated in the early 20th century.

Baikie, William Balfour (1825-1864)

Scottish naval surgeon, naturalist in West Africa

Born in Scotland, William Baikie became a medical doctor,
with a background in the natural sciences. He also devel-
oped an interest in the study of foreign languages.

In 1854, he took part in a British government-
sponsored expedition to West Africa that attempted to make
contact with the German explorer of Africa, HEINRICH
BARTH, who had reached the upper NIGER RIVER from the
SAHARA DESERT. As a naval surgeon aboard the Pleiad,
Baikie sailed from England to the Niger Delta, on the west
coast of Africa.

Following the death of the ship’s captain, Baikie took
command of the expedition. Traveling by steamboat, he as-
cended the Niger to its principal tributary, the Benue, which
he followed upstream for several hundred miles. Unable to
locate Barth, he returned to England.

Baikie undertook a second exploration into West Africa
in 1857. While ascending the Niger, his vessel was wrecked.
Nevertheless, he again reached the confluence of the Niger
and Benue Rivers, where, in 1859, he established a trading
settlement at Lokoja.

Baikie remained on the Niger for the next seven years,
during which he studied the region’s natural history as well
as the various languages and dialects of the native popula-
tion. He also translated the Bible into Hausa, then the pre-



dominant language of West Africa. In 1864, while on his
way back to Great Britain, Baikie died on the West African
coast in Sierra Leone.

William Baikie’s 1854 exploration of the Benue River
took him farther upstream than any European had reached
to that time. His settlement at Lokoja in what is now
south-central Nigeria opened the upper Niger River re-
gion to Western commerce. As a scientific explorer, he col-
lected the earliest data on the region’s native cultures,
languages, and natural history.

Baines, Thomas (1822-1875) British painter in
Africa and Australia

Born in 1822 in King’s Lynn, Norfolk, England, Thomas
Baines pursued a career as a painter. He traveled and painted
in southern and central Africa and in Australia, some of his
work in an official capacity, with assignments from the
British government.

In 1848-51, Baines served as artist to the British army
in South Africa. In 1855-56, he visited Australia as part of
the North Australian Exploring Expedition, led by Augustus
Charles Gregory, which traveled along the Victoria River
and Sturt Creek in the Northern Territory, before returning
overland to Moreton Bay, Queensland.

In 1858-59, back in Africa, Baines accompanied DAVID
LIVINGSTONE on his expedition to the ZAMBEZI RIVER and
despite frequent personal quarrels with Livingstone, pro-
duced valuable work. In 1860—66, he traveled with an ex-
pedition headed by James Chapman to Namibia and
Victoria Falls. Thereafter he lived in South Africa.

In addition to his sketches made during his travels,
from which he painted oils and watercolors, Thomas Baines
kept journals in which he recorded his observations on na-
tive peoples and wildlife. His paintings were the first views
of central and southern Africa seen by Europeans.

Baker, Florence (Florence von Sass Baker, Lady
Baker) (ca. 1841-1918) Hungarian-English explorer in
East Africa, wife of Sir Samuel White Baker
Florence Baker, née von Sass, was the second wife of
British explorer SIR SAMUEL WHITE BAKER, whom she met
in 1858, while Baker was traveling in the Balkan region of
southeastern Europe. The facts of her earlier life are un-
certain. She was Hungarian by birth, daughter of Finnicek
von Sass, probably 20 years younger than Baker. It is
thought that she lost her family during the 1848 revolu-
tions in Europe. She ended up a slave to Turks, and Baker
purchased her and liberated her.

In 1861, von Sass accompanied Baker on his first expe-
dition to East Africa, during which he planned to under-
take a search for the source of the NILE RIVER. They traveled
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first to Egypt, then sailed along the Nile to Khartoum in
the Sudan, where they remained for 14 months, preparing
for the trip into the interior of equatorial East Africa by
studying Arabic.

In December 1862, von Sass and Baker left Khartoum
and sailed up the Nile to Gondokoro, where they met with
the British explorers JAMES AUGUSTUS GRANT and JOHN
HANNING SPEKE. They continued up the Nile into the king-
dom of Bunyoro, at times traveling with an Arab slave cara-
van. They encountered some opposition from the brother of
the king of Bunyoro, a native chief named M’Gambi.
M’Gambi at one point demanded that in order for Baker to
continue his explorations, he would have to leave von Sass
behind for “his pleasure.” Von Sass’s indignation led
M’Gambi to relent and even provide 300 of his men as an
escort.

In March 1863, von Sass and Baker pushed southeast-
ward in search of the uncharted lake known by the local
people as Luta N’zige. En route, she suffered an acute case of
sunstroke. Although she fell into a coma for a week, she fully
recovered.

On March 14, 1864, von Sass and Baker finally reached
the lake in what is now western Uganda, which they named
Lake Albert (Albert Nyanza). They also located Murchison
Falls, a source of the Nile, naming it after the president of
the ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY.

Upon their return to London in 1865, von Sass and
Baker were married. While delivering his first lecture to the
Royal Geographical Society that year, Baker formally intro-
duced his wife to the English public.

Florence Baker returned to Egypt with her husband in
1869, accompanying the Prince of Wales to the opening cer-
emonies of the Suez Canal. When her husband was ap-
pointed governor general of the equatorial Nile Basin (the
White Nile region in south-central Sudan), she accompa-
nied him there, and during the next four years, she assisted
in his efforts to eliminate the SLAVE TRADE in the region.
They returned to England in 1873, at the conclusion of
Baker’s term of office.

Florence Baker was one of the few women to play an ac-
tive role in the history of African exploration and travel into
the continent’s interior, not as a missionary, but solely for
the purpose of exploration. Samuel Baker credited her
courage and devotion as essential to his success in exploring
East Africa.

Baker, James (Jim Baker) (1818-1898)

American fur trader, guide, interpreter in the American West
James (Jim) Baker left his home in Belleville, Illinois, in the
late 1830s, soon embarking on a career in the FUR TRADE
in the northern and central ROCKY MOUNTAINS. He was
part of the AMERICAN FUR COMPANY’s 1838 expedition
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along the Oregon Trail, led by fur trader THOMAS FITZ-
PATRICK. During this trip, Baker left the main party and
joined with JAMES BRIDGER to trap in the Green River Val-
ley of what is now eastern Utah and southern Wyoming.

Except for a brief visit to his hometown in Illinois dur-
ing 1840—41, Baker remained in the northern Rockies, op-
erating as a trapper for Bridger for nearly two decades.
During that time, he married a Shoshone Indian woman
and became fluent in several Indian languages.

In 1857-58, Baker served as an interpreter and guide to
Captain RANDOLPH BARNES MARCY’s U.S. Army command,
which had been sent to Utah to quell the Mormon upris-
ing. At one point, Baker guided Marcy’s troops over more
than 600 miles of snow-covered mountain trails—from east-
ern Utah southwestward to Taos, New Mexico—to obtain
supplies for Fort Bridger, which had been cut off during the
conflict.

Sometime after 1858, Baker settled on the Green River
and operated a store on the Mormon Trail. He then moved
to Denver, Colorado, following the Pikes Peak (Colorado)
gold rush of 1859.

Starting in 1865, Baker served for several years as a
guide and interpreter for the federal government’s agency to
the Ute Indians. Baker spent his later years in retirement in
southern Wyoming near the Colorado border.

As a trader, guide, and interpreter, Jim Baker helped in
the opening of the American West to non-Indian settlement.

Baker, Sir Samuel White (1821-1893)

British explorer, writer in East Afvica, government official,
husband of Florence Baker

Samuel Baker was born in London, the son of a wealthy
family with extensive business interests in Great Britain and
its overseas empire. He attended private schools in England
and Germany, where he was trained as an engineer, with a
specialization in railroad construction.

In 1842, following his marriage to the daughter of an
English clergyman, Baker traveled to Mauritius, the British
island colony in the Indian Ocean, east of Madagascar,
where his father owned several sugar plantations. He later
moved with his wife to CEYLON (present-day Sri Lanka), off
the south coast of India, where he established an agricultural
colony as well as a resort at Nuwara Eliya.

Tropical fever in Ceylon caused Baker to return to Eng-
land in 1855. Soon afterward, on a hunting trip in the Pyre-
nees, his wife died. He then undertook travels into the Balkan
countries of Europe, where he directed the construction of a
railroad that connected the Danube River with the Black Sea.
During his travels, he met Florence von Sass, a Hungarian
woman, who later became his wife (FLORENCE BAKER).

Following travels in Asia Minor (present-day Turkey),
Baker and von Sass went to Cairo, Egypt, in 1861, from

Sir Samuel Baker (Library of Congress)

where they headed southward into the Sudan, in search of
the source of the NILE RIVER. They remained in Khartoum for
over a year, studying Arabic and undertaking explorations of
the tributaries of the Nile that flowed into the river from
Ethiopia. By studying the silt of the Atbara River of northern
Ethiopia, they determined that the rich soil of the Nile Delta
originated from Ethiopia.

In 1862, Baker and von Sass set out from Khartoum
and ascended the Nile southward across the Nubian Desert.
By February 1863, they had arrived in Gondokoro and there
met up with British African explorers JAMES AUGUSTUS
GRANT and JOHN HANNING SPEKE, who informed them
they had determined that the source of the Nile was Lake
Victoria. Grant and Speke also reported to Baker the exis-
tence of an as yet uncharted lake that they believed was also
a principal source of the Nile, known by the natives as Luta
N’Zige. Baker and von Sass then continued southward to
Juba on the White Nile.

Baker and von Sass set out from Juba in March 1863,
traveling through the remote East African regions of La-



tooka and Obbo and making contact with the Dinka peo-
ple. They were forced to head southward by way of a round-
about route because of problems with porters and hostile
local peoples. Heavy rains, and opposition to their expedi-
tion by the ruler of the African kingdom of Bunyoro, ham-
pered their progress.

Finally, on March 14, 1864, after two and a half years of
exploring along the Nile into unknown regions of East
Africa south of the Sudan, Baker and von Sass reached the
shores of the Luta N’Zige, in what is now northwestern
Uganda. Baker renamed it Lake Albert (Albert Nyanza), in
honor of Prince Albert, husband and consort to Queen Vic-
toria, after whom the principal source of the White Nile—
Lake Victoria (Victoria Nyanza)—had been named. Over
the next two weeks, Baker and von Sass explored Lake Al-
bert in a native CANOE and located the 120-foot-high
Murchison Falls, which he named after Sir Roderick
Murchison, then president of the ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL
SOCIETY.

Baker and von Sass returned to England in 1865,
where they were married. Baker was awarded a gold medal
by the Royal Geographical Society. In 1866, he was
knighted by Queen Victoria for his achievements in
African exploration.

In 1869, the Bakers returned to Egypt for the opening
ceremonies of the Suez Canal. Samuel Baker agreed to lead
a military expedition into the upper Nile region of the
southern Sudan (then still part of Egypt), on behalf of the
Ottoman viceroy of Egypt, Ismail Pasha.

With a command of 1,500 men, Baker and his wife
again ascended the Nile, reaching as far south as Fatiko.
Commissioned to establish Egyptian rule over the region
and wipe out the SLAVE TRADE, he established a military
outpost. Over the next four years, he ran into conflicts with
both Arab slavers and local African rulers. Nevertheless, he
did succeed in organizing the government of a new Egyptian
province in south-central Sudan, called Equatoria, of which
he was appointed governor general.

With the expiration of his term of office in 1873, Baker
and his wife returned to England. They settled on his estate
in Devonshire but continued to make periodic hunting trips
to far-off places, including Japan and the ROCKY MOUN-
TAINS of the western United States.

Sir Samuel Baker’s explorations in East Africa did
much to clarify the geography of the region for Europeans.
His administration in the southern Sudan helped some-
what to stem the slave trade. In his later years in England,
he was considered a foremost authority on Africa. He
wrote about his experiences in Ceylon in his book The
Rifle and the Hound in Ceylon (1854) and recounted his
African exploits in The Albert N'yanza, Great Basin of the
Nile, and Explorations of the Nile Sources (1866) and The
Nile Tributaries of Abyssinia (1868).

BALDAYA, AFONSO GONCALVES 33

Bakhov, lvan (unknown—1762) Russian mariner

in the Siberian Arctic

Ivan Bakhov was a Russian mariner operating out of the
Bering Sea port of Anadyr on the Pacific coast of northeast-
ern SIBERIA. In 1748, while on a voyage from Anadyr south-
ward along the coast to the Kamchatka Peninsula, his ship
was wrecked on the shores of Bering Island. He survived
the winter there, and, the following spring, he improvised a
vessel from the wreckage of his ship and sailed it west to
Kamchatka.

In 1755, the Russian government authorized Bakhov to
explore the Arctic coast of Siberia eastward from the mouth
of the Lena River. Bakhov did not begin his expedition until
summer 1760. Accompanied by an associate named Nikita
Shalaurov, he set out in a small boat from the Lena’s outlet
into the Laptev Sea; they sailed eastward along the coast to
the mouth of the Yana River and wintered there.

Bakhov resumed his eastward exploration in spring
1761. He sailed into the East Siberian Sea, reaching as far
as the mouth of the Kolyma River. While encamped the
following winter, he succumbed to SCURVY. Shalaurov sur-
vived to report the results of the expedition.

In his 1760-62 explorations of the north coast of
Siberia, Ivan Bakhov succeeded in navigating through a
major Asian portion of the NORTHEAST PASSAGE not previ-
ously visited by Europeans.

Balboa,Vasco Nuifiez de See NUNEZ DE BALBOA,
VASCO.

Baldaya, Afonso Goncalves (Alfonso Baldaya)
(fl. 1430s) Portuguese mariner on the west coast of Africa

In 1435, Portuguese mariner Afonso Baldaya took part in
GIL EANNES’s second voyage southward along the West
African coast, below Cape Bojador. They were sponsored
by HENRY THE NAVIGATOR, prince of Portugal, for whom
Baldaya acted as cup bearer.

The next year, Baldaya commanded an expedition of
his own that sailed to a point below the TROPIC OF CANCER,
to the north of Cape Blanco on the Atlantic coast of the
present-day West African nation of Mauritania. He returned
to Portugal with a cargo of seal skins, the first time goods
from West Africa had been taken directly to Europe without
the intervention of Arab middlemen.

Baldaya’s 1436 voyage marked the first time a ship from
Christian Europe had sailed to a point south of the tropic
of Cancer, below the extent of Muslim-controlled territory
on the west coast of Africa. With Eannes, he was one of the
early pioneers of Prince Henry’s program of maritime explo-
ration that eventually led the Portuguese to develop a sea-
ward passage around Africa to India and the Far East.
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Balmat, Jacques (1762-1834) French mountain
climber in the Alps

Jacques Balmat was from Chamonix in Savoy, formerly a
duchy and now part of France. Like other men from his vil-
lage, he became a crystal hunter who climbed into the Alps
near his home in search of quartz crystals used in the mak-
ing of jewelry. In the process, Balmat became an accom-
plished montagnard, the French word for mountaineer.

Back in 1760, Horace Bénédict de Saussure, a Swiss
aristocrat and naturalist from Conches, near Geneva, offered
a reward to the person who found a route to the top of
MONT BLANC, the highest peak in the Alps at 15,771 feet
above sea level. Attempts for 25 years, even a number of
well-organized expeditions starting in 1775, had failed, but
knowledge of possible routes and of mountaineering tech-
niques had been gained. By the time Balmat was in his 20s,
he had gained a great deal of experience on the glacier-cov-
ered rock of the high Alps. Michel Paccard, a doctor from
Chamonix, also had spent time in the Alps seeking the route
to Mont Blanc’s summit with the help of local guides. While
locating a route in advance of their final assault, Balmat be-
came the first known man to spend nights on the upper
glaciers. He approached Paccard and told him of his route,
and, in a subsequent expedition, the two men reached the
summit on August 8, 1786.

Balmat climbed to the summit six more times in his
career, one of them in 1787 with a scientific expedition
under Saussure, during which he used a barometer to mea-
sure Mont Blanc’s altitude (his result of 15,626 feet com-
ing close to later readings conducted with more accurate
equipment). In one climb late in life, he was accompanied
by a local woman, Marie Paradis, in the first female as-
cent. Balmat’s final ascent was in 1817, at the age of 57, al-
though he continued his alpine activities until
disappearing in 1834 while searching for gold in the Sixt
Valley of the Alps.

Jacques Balmat’s efforts, along with those of Paccard
and Saussure and other early climbers in the Alps, helped
shape what was to become modern MOUNTAIN CLIMBING.
Balmat’s role in the conquest of Mont Blanc was that of
the local guide, beginning a tradition carried on by such
other guides as MATTHIAS ZURBRIGGEN and TENZING
NORGAY.

Banks, Sir Joseph (1743-1820) British naturalist in
Labrador, Newfoundland, and the South Pacific, sponsor of
scientific expeditions
Born in London, Joseph Banks was the son of an affluent
Devonshire doctor. He attended Eton and Harrow, then
went on to Oxford University.

Banks’s main interest was in NATURAL SCIENCE, espe-
cially zoology and botany. On his father’s death in 1761, he
inherited a fortune, enabling him to devote his life to scien-

tific study. About this time, he initiated the program of plant
experimentation and research at London’s Kew Gardens.

In 1763, Banks undertook a scientific expedition to
Labrador and Newfoundland, seeking specimens of new
species of plants and animals.

From 1768 to 1771, Banks circled the world as the
chief scientist on JAMES COOK’s first voyage to the South Pa-
cific Ocean. Sailing on the Endeavour, Banks furnished his
own extensive array of scientific equipment and provided his
own staff of assistants and servants. His chief assistant was
DANIEL CARL SOLANDER.

Banks and his staff collected hundreds of specimens of
previously unknown species of plants and animals throughout
the voyage. En route to Tahiti, Banks made a landing at Tierra
del Fuego and undertook the first scientific studies of the
wildlife at the tip of South America. In Tahiti, Banks broad-
ened his research to include the ethnology and language of the
native people.

In Australian waters, Banks collected specimens of the
life forms found along the Great Barrier Reef. Accompa-
nied by Cook, he made a landing on the eastern Australian
coast at a spot subsequently named Botany Bay (modern-
day Sydney), after the hundreds of new species of plants that
Banks discovered there. Banks collected specimens of Aus-
tralian marsupials, including the kangaroo, and took the
first stuffed specimen of this animal back to Europe.

In 1772, soon after his return to England, Banks led a
scientific expedition, including JOHN GORE, to the Hebrides
and ICELAND. Six years later, he was elected president of En-

Sir Joseph Banks (Library of Congress)



gland’s leading scientific organization, the ROYAL SOCIETY. In
1788, Banks helped establish, the Association for Promoting
the Discovery of the Interior Parts of Africa, also known as
the AFRICAN ASSOCIATION, which under his direction in
1795 sponsored MUNGO PARK’s explorations of West Africa.

Sir Joseph Banks, who was knighted and awarded a
baronetcy in 1781, became the chief adviser to the British
government on scientific matters. Under his influence, gov-
ernment-sponsored exploring expeditions regularly included
a scientific staff. The animal and plant specimens that Banks
collected on Cook’s first voyage formed the basis of the nat-
ural history collection of the British Museum.

Baptista, Pedro Jodao (Pedra Baptista)

(fl. early 1800s) Portuguese colonial official in

south-central Africa

In 1802, Pedro Baptista, of Afro-Portuguese descent, was in
the employ of the Portuguese colonial government as a
pombeiros, a slave agent. He left Cassange on the Atlantic
coast of Angola and, accompanied by Amaro José, trekked
eastward across south-central Africa. Baptista and José first
headed northeastward, then, on reaching the Kasai River,
followed it to its headwaters to the south.

Traveling overland, Baptista and José reached the
Lualaba River at the settlement of Kolwezi in present-day
southern Democratic Republic of Congo. They proceeded
eastward to Lake Mweru, then crossed present-day north-
eastern Zambia to Lake Malawi. From the lake, they traveled
into the Tete region of Mozambique and, in 1804, de-
scended the ZAMBEZI RIVER to its outlet on the Indian
Ocean at the Mozambique Channel.

Soon after reaching the east coast of Africa, Baptista and
José set out on a return journey to Angola, arriving there in
1811. The entire trip, first east to west, then west to east,
covered about 4,000 miles.

Pedro Baptistas journey in 1802-04 was the first
known European crossing of the African continent, predat-
ing the explorations of DAVID LIVINGSTONE by nearly 50
years. His trip established the earliest overland trade links
between Angola and Mozambique, at that time Portugal’s
main colonies in Africa. He also opened up the Kasai River
to European commerce. In his 1811 report to Portuguese
colonial authorities, he described the interior of south-cen-
tral Africa as agriculturally well developed, with law and
order effectively maintained by a few powerful native rulers.

Baranov, Aleksandr Andreyevich

(Alexander Andreyevich Baranov, Alexandr
Andreivich Baranof) (1747-1819)

Russian fur trader, administrator of Russian Alaska

Aleksandr Baranov was a native of Kargopol, Russia, a small
village near the Arctic Ocean port of Archangel. At the age
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of 15, he traveled Moscow, where he was employed as a clerk
to a German trading firm. In the early 1770s, he moved
east to the Siberian city of Irkutsk. From there, he headed
to the Anadyr region in the extreme northeastern Siberian
Arctic, directly across the BERING STRAIT from Alaska’s Se-
ward Peninsula. He attempted to establish a fur-trading en-
terprise, but his business was destroyed by the Siberian
native Chukchi.

Back in Irkutsk, Baranov became acquainted with GRIG-
ORY IVANOVICH SHELIKOV, who was at that time develop-
ing the FUR TRADE in Russia’s newly acquired North
American territory, Alaska. In 1790, Baranov was hired to
manage the Shelikov-Golikov Company, then operating on
Kodiak Island in the Gulf of Alaska. That year, he sailed for
Kodiak from the Siberian port of Okhotsk aboard the 7hree
Saints. The ship was wrecked on Unalaska Island in the Aleu-
tian Archipelago, however. In spring 1791, using boats built
from skins, Baranov and his men completed the journey to
the settlement at Three Saints on Kodiak. Soon afterward,
under Baranov’s direction, DIMITRY IVANOVICH BOCHAROYV,
a subordinate, undertook an exploration of the north shores
of the Alaska Peninsula. Bocharov’s expedition also discov-
ered that the Egegik River provided a shortcut for small boats
across the Alaska Peninsula into the Shelikov Strait.

The Shelikov-Golikov enterprise in Alaska flourished.
Baranov extended the company’s trade operations west and
south along the Alaskan coast. In 1791-93, Baranov led ex-
plorations around Kodiak Island and the Kenai Peninsula,
and into Cook Inlet in the area of present-day Anchorage,
Alaska. He also explored islands in Prince William Sound,
and, in 1792, he established a shipyard at present-day Se-
ward, Alaska. Three years later, Baranov explored Yakutat
Bay and claimed it for Russia. He also expanded the com-
pany’s operation on what came to be known as Baranof Is-
land, establishing the settlement of Mikhailovsk.

In 1799, the settlement was enlarged to include the city
of New Archangel, which developed into a cosmopolitan
center with a reputation as the “St. Petersburg of the Pa-
cific.” Also that year, Czar Paul I granted Shelikov and Bara-
nov a royal monopoly for trade and exploration of all
territory in Russian North America, north of 55° north lat-
itude. In addition, Baranov was granted official status that
made him the virtual governor of Russian possessions in
North America.

Under Baranov’s leadership, the Russians accelerated
their exploitation of the fur resources of the Aleutian Is-
lands and Gulf of Alaska region, trapping to near extinction
such species as the Alaska blue fox, the Arctic fox, the Alaska
seal, and especially the sea otter. Baranov employed native
workers in the RUSSIAN-AMERICAN COMPANY enterprise,
organizing whole Aleut villages as factories involved in all as-
pects of production. He was frequently criticized for his
harsh treatment of the native peoples, although he was mar-
ried to an Alaskan Indian woman.
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Aleksandr Baranov (Library of Congress)

The Tlingit Indians of the panhandle of southeastern
Alaska refused to work for Baranov and the Russians; during
the 1790s, they came to resent the Russian encroachment on
their hunting lands. In 1802, they rose up against the New
Archangel settlement, destroying the city. Two years later,
with the help of Royal Russian naval forces under explorer
and naval officer YURY LISIANSKY, Baranov successfully re-
captured New Archangel and rebuilt the city.

In 1804-05, Baranov directed an expedition southward
along the North American coast from the Gulf of Alaska to
the coast of northern California. He also sponsored an ex-
pedition aboard the Juno to the mouth of the COLUMBIA
RIVER in 1805. Yet the ship was unable to reach the Oregon
coast because of storms, instead landing at San Francisco
Bay. Had the Juno put in to the Columbia, it might have en-
countered the expedition of MERIWETHER LEWIS and
WILLIAM CLARK, then wintering nearby.

The Russian government hoped to maintain exclusive
trading rights over its North American interests, but Bara-
nov repeatedly entered into business ventures with foreign
commercial interests. He negotiated an arrangement with
JOHN JACOB ASTOR’s Pacific Fur Company, a subsidiary of
the AMERICAN FUR COMPANY, to supply Russian trade cen-
ters in Alaska in 1813, but Astor’s ship failed to reach Alaska.

From his headquarters at New Archangel, Baranov also
attempted to extend Russian influence to California and
the South Pacific. In 1812, under Baranov’s direction, 1. A.
Kuskov, an associate of the Russian-American Company, led
an expedition south from Alaska to the California coast, and
inland to a site on Bodega Bay, 50 miles north of present-
day San Francisco, where he established Selenie Ross (later
known as Fort Ross) among the Pomo Indians.

In 1815-17, Baranov sought to create a Russian sphere
of influence in the HAWAIIAN ISLANDS, under his subordi-
nate Dr. G. A. Schaffer, a venture that was soon abandoned.
The Fort Ross settlement also proved unprofitable over sub-
sequent years and, in 1841, was sold to Swiss pioneer John
Sutter.

Because of his continued involvement with foreign
traders, and amid Russian Orthodox Church criticism of his
abusive treatment of the Alaska Natives, Baranov ran afoul
of Russian authorities in Moscow. He was recalled as direc-
tor of the Russian-American Company in 1818. On his voy-
age home to Russia in 1819, he died at sea in the Indian
Ocean, off the coast of the Indonesian island of Batavia.

At the height of his career, Aleksandr Baranov was the
chief administrator of a vast trading empire that stretched
from Bristol Bay, north of the Aleutian Archipelago, as far
south as the Sacramento Valley of California. His life closely
paralleled the careers of Canadian and American fur traders,
such as DONALD MACKENZIE, JOHN McLOUGHLIN, PETER
SKENE OGDEN, and WILLIAM HENRY ASHLEY, who helped
open up lands beyond the ROCKY MOUNTAINS to non-
Indian development during the same period.

Barents,Willem (Willem Barentzoon,

Willem Barentz) (unknown—-1597) Dutch mariner

in the European Arctic

Few details exist of Willem Barents’s origins and early life.
By 1594, he had established a reputation in the Nether-
lands as a highly capable mariner and navigator. In June of
that year, he commanded the Gesandre, one of three ships
sent out by the Dutch government in search of the NORTH-
EAST PASSAGE. Another ship in this fleet was captained by
the expedition’s principal supporter, JAN HUYGHEN VAN
LINSCHOTEN.

From Holland, Barents sailed northward along the coast
of Europe, rounded Norway’s North Cape, then headed
eastward as far as the islands of Novaya Zemlya, off the
north coast of eastern European Russia. He navigated north-
ward along the west coast of Novaya Zemlya, reaching its
northernmost extremity, which he named Ice Cape. Farther
progress eastward beyond this point was blocked
by ice.

Barents then turned southward, charting the strait that
divides Novaya Zemlya into two large islands. Meanwhile,
Linschoten had his ship follow the Russian mainland east-
ward beyond Novaya Zemlya, sailing in ice-free waters as far
as the mouth of the Kara River and the Kara Sea. Barents re-
joined Linschoten and the rest of the fleet in an island group
west of Novaya Zemlya that he called the Orange Islands in
honor of the Dutch ruling family.

Barents returned to Amsterdam after the three-month
voyage. His navigational reports were encouraging, and the
Dutch government organized another expedition that they



hoped would locate an ice-free passage eastward to China
and the Far East. In spring 1595, Barents embarked from
Holland as the chief pilot of a Dutch fleet of seven ships,
commanded by Linschoten. On this expedition, he guided
the ships as far as Vaigach Island, lying between the south-
ernmost of the Novaya Zemlya islands and the Russian
mainland, before being forced back by ice. Barents returned
to Amsterdam with little new geographic or navigational
information.

In 1596, Barents undertook his third voyage in search of
the Northeast Passage. Backed by a group of Amsterdam mer-
chants, he commanded one of two ships in an expedition
that sailed from Holland in June of that year. The other ves-
sel was under the command of Dutch sea captain Jan Cor-
nelizoon Rijp.

In contrast to the first two voyages, which had hugged
the northern European coastline, Barents sailed due north
this time, from the northern end of Norway toward the
NORTH POLE. He followed this northward course to test a
theory then held by many European geographers that the wa-
ters north of the initial Arctic PACK ICE were freely navigable.
North of Norway, Barents and Rijp came upon an island
which they called Bear Island, after a violent encounter there
with a polar bear. They continued northward and came upon
Spitsbergen (present-day Svalbard). Although he made the
first European sighting of that region since the days of the
VIKINGS, Barents later mistakenly charted these islands as the
east coast of GREENLAND.

Finding his way north of Spitsbergen blocked by ice-
bergs, Barents turned eastward, seeking the Northeast Pas-
sage by the more conventional route. Following a
disagreement, Rijp and his ship turned back to Holland.
Barents reached the northern end of Novaya Zemlya, but
after rounding Ice Cape again, he found his progress com-
pletely blocked and his ship trapped by ice. He made a
landing at a bay he called Ice Haven, where his crew of 16
men managed to improvise a shelter from driftwood and
parts of the ship. They subsisted on foxes and walruses that
they hunted, and were repeatedly troubled by polar bear
attacks.

Under Barents’s leadership, only one member of the
crew died that winter. By June 1597, the ship was still
trapped in ice. Barents and his men then set out in two of
the ship’s small boats. Not far off the coast of Novaya
Zemlya, Barents died of SCURVY and was buried at sea. The
rest of the crew managed to reach the Russian mainland.
With the help of Russian fishermen, they traveled westward
more than 1,500 miles to the Kola Peninsula, where they
met up with Rijp. From there, they safely reached Holland
in November 1597.

In 1871, a Norwegian seal-hunting expedition discov-
ered the house built by Barents and his men at Ice Haven.
They also came upon tools and other artifacts of the expe-
dition, including Barents’s journal. These items were subse-
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quently acquired by the Dutch government and displayed at
a museum in The Hague.

Willem Barents undertook the earliest recorded explo-
rations of the European Arctic regions since the time of the
Vikings. His voyages resulted in much new navigational
information concerning the Arctic coast of Europe, and his
exploits were subsequently followed up by such well-known
mariners as HENRY HUDSON and WILLIAM BAFFIN. His ex-
ploration of Spitsbergen permanently fixed that region on
European charts. While exploring Spitsbergen in 1596, he
attained a point farther north than any European on record
to that time. Over the ensuing months, he and his men
wintered closer to the North Pole than anyone ever had be-
fore. The Barents Sea, which stretches eastward from north-
ern Norway and Spitsbergen to the west shores of Novaya
Zemlya, was named in his honor.

Baret, Jeanne (Jean Baré) (ca. 1740—ca. 1803)
French traveler in the South Pacific

Jeanne Baret was born in the Burgundy region of France. In
1764, French naturalist JOSEPH-PHILIBERT COMMERSON
hired her as a governess to look after his young son. In
February 1767, she sailed with Commerson as his scientific
assistant from Rochefort, France, aboard the ship Etoile as
part of LOUIS-ANTOINE DE BOUGAINVILLE’s expedition to
the South Pacific Ocean.

Baret had boarded the Eroile in a man’s clothes. None of
Bougainville’s expedition suspected her deception until they
reached Tahiti. There, her true sex was revealed, reportedly
detected by the Tahitians, or, according to one account, be-
cause of her apparent lack of interest in the uninhibited
Tahitian women.

Commerson and Baret left the Bougainville expedition
on the island of Mauritius. After Commerson’s death in
1773, she married a wealthy colonist there. She is thought to
have returned eventually to St. Malo, France.

If she returned to France by a westward route, Jeanne
Baret is the first woman known to have completed a CIR-
CUMNAVIGATION OF THE WORLD.

Barrow, Sir John (1764-1848) British naval official,
Jfounder of the Royal Geographical Society

John Barrow was born to a family of moderate means in Liv-
erpool, England. He was educated in local schools, study-
ing mathematics, geography, and astronomy.

After working for a brief period at a Liverpool iron
foundry, Barrow joined a whaling voyage to GREENLAND.
Sailing with a Captain Potts from Liverpool, he made his
first voyage into Arctic waters, in the course of which he per-
fected his skills in mathematics and geography.

Following his return from Greenland, Barrow accepted
as appointment as a mathematician at the British Royal
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Observatory at Greenwich. He subsequently traveled to
China as a staff member of the British diplomatic mission.
From there, he went to Cape Town, South Africa, as an aide
to the British governor. He returned to England in 1802,
when Cape Town reverted to Dutch administration.

In 1804, Barrow became second secretary of the Admi-
ralty, a post he held for 40 years. In 1818, amid reports that
previously ice-blocked portions of the Arctic Ocean had be-
come accessible to ships, he initiated a series of exploratory
expeditions to survey the Arctic coasts of Greenland and
Canada, and to seck a NORTHWEST PASSAGE. Among those
who led these explorations were SIR JOHN ROSS, DAVID
BUCHAN, SIR WILLIAM EDWARD PARRY, SIR JOHN FRANKLIN,
SIR GEORGE BACK, and FREDERICK WILLIAM BEECHEY.

Barrow’s geographic interests extended to the then un-
charted regions of West Africa, and in the 1820s his influ-
ence led to the British government-sponsored expeditions
of WALTER OUDNEY and HUGH CLAPPERTON that at-
tempted to explore the NIGER RIVER. At that time, Barrow
was among those who mistakenly believed the Niger was a
tributary of the NILE RIVER.

In 1830, Barrow helped found the ROYAL GEOGRAPHI-
CAL SOCIETY. As one of its early presidents, he sponsored SIR
ROBERT HERMANN SCHOMBURGKs explorations of what is
now Guyana in South America in the 1830s and early
1840s.

Awarded a baronetcy and knighted in 1835, Barrow re-
tired from the Admiralty 10 years later.

Under John Barrow’s leadership, British naval expedi-
tions into the Arctic in the first half of the 19th century
brought back definitive geographic information concerning
one of the last uncharted regions of the world. Point Bar-
row in Alaska and Point Barrow and Cape Barrow in
Canada, were named in his honor. Well into the 20th cen-
tury, Barrow’s Royal Geographical Society continued to en-
courage and support explorations of Africa, Asia and the
polar regions.

Bar Sauma, Rabban (ca. 1220-1294) Turkish monk
Sfrom China in the Middle East and Europe

A descendant of Onggud Turks who had allied themselves
with the Mongols, Rabban Bar Sauma was born in north-
ern China. He was raised a Nestorian Christian. (The
Nestorian Church, also referred to as the Assyrian or East
Syrian Church, was one of the most active Christian de-
nominations in Asia.) Pursuing religious studies, he became
a Nestorian monk at about age 25.

Sometime before 1278, Bar Sauma, along with his stu-
dent Markos, who went on to become a Nestorian leader, set
out on a pilgrimage to Jerusalem, traveling the southern SILK
ROAD below the Takla Makan Desert and arrived in Mon-
gol-held territories in Persia (present-day Iran) two years
later. Although Bar Sauma never reached Jerusalem because

of reported dangers along the route there, he visited other
Nestorian holy sites as well as cities in present-day Armenia
and Georgia. He also was appointed as part of a delegation
representing the interests of the Mongols that visited Con-
stantinople (present-day Istanbul), Naples, Rome, Genoa,
Paris, and Bordeaux. He died in Baghdad in 1294.

Bar Sauma departed China soon after MAFFEO POLO,
NICCOLO POLO, and MARCO POLO arrived there; his jour-
ney crossed some of the same lands in the opposite direc-
tion. Their journeys and others in subsequent years led to a
sharing of ideas and trade goods between Asia and Europe.

Barth, Heinrich (Henry Barth) (1821-1865)
German scholar, explorer in Africa

Born in Hamburg, Germany, to a wealthy family with ex-
tensive commercial interests, Heinrich Barth began his
studies at the University of Berlin in 1838, concentrating
in history, archaeology, philology, and Arabic. From 1845
to 1847, he made extensive field trips throughout the Mid-
dle East and North Africa, and, in 1848, he accepted a pro-
fessorship at the University of Berlin’s department of
archaeology.

In 1849, Barth joined a British government-sponsored
expedition to West Africa, aimed at suppressing the SLAVE
TRADE and promoting legitimate trade contacts. In March
1850, with British antislavery activist JAMES RICHARDSON
and German geologist ADOLF OVERWEG, he headed south-
ward across the SAHARA DESERT from Tripoli, Libya. Near
Agades, in what is now central Niger, they separated. Barth
and Overweg traveled southward into present-day north-
eastern Nigeria, while Richardson continued south and east
toward Lake Chad.

Along the way, disguised as a Muslim scholar, Barth vis-
ited the restricted city of Kano. Upon reaching Kukawa, cast
of Lake Chad, he learned that Richardson had died of fever
en route, and he assumed leadership of the expedition.

From late 1851 to mid-1852, Barth Overweg under-
took four explorations of Lake Chad. In September 1852,
Overweg succumbed to malaria. As the only surviving
member of the expedition, Barth continued his explo-
rations of West Africa with a trek to Yola and the upper
reaches of the Benue River. In 1853, he headed northwest
to TIMBUKTU in the kingdom of Mali, where he remained
for more than nine months. By 1854, he was back in
Kukawa, from where he began a trip northward across the
Sahara, along a route that took him east of the Ahaggar
Mountains to the Mediterranean coast at Tripoli.

Barth returned to Europe in 1855 after five years of
traveling in West Africa. In 1856, he was awarded a gold
medal by the ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY. Over the
next two years, he published a five-volume account of his
African experiences, Travels and Explorations in North and
Central Africa.



In the late 1850s and early 1860s, Barth undertook sci-
entific expeditions throughout Greece and Turkey. In 1863,
he was awarded a professorship in geography at the Univer-
sity of Berlin.

Heinrich Barth’s five-year exploration of West Africa
below the Sahara was one of the first scientific expeditions
into the region. His account revealed much about the re-
gion’s culture and economy. From his explorations of the
upper Benue River, he concluded that it had no connection
with Lake Chad, as was then believed by European geogra-
phers. He was one of the first Europeans to make an ex-
tended stay in Timbuktu and live to tell about it.

Bartram, John (1699-1777) American naturalist in
eastern North America, father of William Bartram

John Bartram was born and raised near Darby, Pennsylvania,
where he spent his early years on the farm of an uncle. In
1728, he settled near Philadelphia, establishing a farm of
his own on the Schuylkill River.

While in his early 20s, Bartram developed a keen inter-
est in the natural sciences and corresponded with English
naturalist Peter Collinson. Soon after settling on the
Schuylkill, he established the first botanical garden in North
America at Kingsessing, now part of Philadelphia.

Bartram undertook a series of expeditions in search of
new plant specimens that took him across a wide area of the
North American colonies. In 1743, he traveled northward
into what is now New York State to the south shore of Lake
Ontario, exploring along the Mohawk Trail. He subse-
quently went specimen-collecting in the Blue Ridge of the
western Carolinas, and, in 1755, with his son WILLIAM BAR-
TRAM, he explored New York’s Catskill Mountains and west-
ern Pennsylvania.

In 1765, Bartram was appointed the official American
botanist for the English king George III. That year, accom-
panied by his son, he sailed south to eastern Florida and ex-
plored northward into Georgia. Among the new species of
plants he identified on his expedition was the royal palm.

John Bartram’s scientific work and writings became
well known in England and throughout Europe, earning
him a reputation as one of the foremost botanists of his day.
His books also revealed much about life on the North
American frontier, including observations on the society
and culture of both Indians and non-Indian settlers. In a
communication to Benjamin Franklin, he proposed a gov-
ernment-sponsored scientific survey beyond the western
limits of non-Indian settlement.

Bartram, William (1739-1823) American naturalist,
writer in the American Southeast, son of John Bartram

William Bartram was the son of JOHN BARTRAM, who pio-
neered the study of botany in America. William was born
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in Kingsessing, Pennsylvania, on the Schuylkill River, in
what is now part of the Philadelphia metropolitan area,
where, years eatlier, his father had established the first botan-
ical garden in North America.

William Bartram, like his father, developed an early in-
terest in botany, especially in drawing the plants and flow-
ers unique to North America. He studied drawing, printing
and engraving with Benjamin Franklin in Philadelphia dur-
ing the early 1750s. In 1757, Bartram began working for a
Philadelphia merchant, and, by 1761, he had gone into
business as an independent trader on the Cape Fear River
in North Carolina.

Four years later, Bartram accompanied his father on an
expedition along the St. Johns River of central and north-
castern Florida. Although the purpose of this 176566 trip
was primarily to collect, draw, and study the region’s flora
and fauna, Bartram also made contact with the Seminole In-
dians of Florida.

After his return to the Philadelphia area, Bartram’s
botanical sketches came to the attention of Quaker natural-
ist Dr. John Fothergill, who subsequently financed a four-
year exploration of the Southeast. From 1773 to 1777,
Bartram and a small party traveled throughout the Caroli-
nas, Georgia, and Florida, collecting samples and seeds of
indigenous plants and making sketches of wildlife.

An account of Bartram’s adventures during these years
was presented in his 1791 book, Travels through North and
South Carolina, Georgia, East and West Florida, the Cherokee

William Bartram (Library of Congress)
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Country, the Extensive Territories of the Muscogulges, or Creek
Confederacy, and the Country of the Choctaws. Well received,
the work was soon translated into several European lan-
guages. Its vivid descriptions of the southeastern frontier
landscape soon became a source of imagery for such British
Romantic poets as William Wordsworth and Samuel Taylor
Coleridge.

Bartram’s father died in 1777, after which William
helped his older brother John maintain the botanical gar-
den in Kingsessing.

In addition to travel accounts, William Bartram also
wrote some of the earliest ethnological studies of the
Southeast tribes, including his 1789 work, Observations on
the Creek and Cherokee Indians, first published in 1853, 30
years after his death.

Basargin, Grigory Gavrilovich (unknown-1853)
Russian naval officer in the Caspian Sea
In 1819, Vice Admiral Grigory Basargin of the Russian navy
began his explorations of the Caspian Sea along the west
coast of Azerbaijan, acquired by Russia from Persia (present-
day Iran) six years earlier.

Under Basargin’s command were two ships, the Kazan,
a warship, and the Kura, a transport vessel. During the next
two years, he surveyed the Caspian’s southwest coast, from
Lenkoran to the mouth of the Kura River, compiling geo-
graphic data subsequently used to produce the first accurate
charts of the region.

Starting in 1823, Basargin charted the northwest coast
of the Caspian Sea, around the outlet of the Volga River, a
project that took three years.

Grigory Basargin’s naval explorations provided the ear-
liest accurate details of the west shores of the Caspian Sea,
the world’s largest landlocked body of water.

Bashmakov, Pyotr (fl. 1750s) Russian mariner,
trader in the Aleutian Islands

Pyotr Bashmakov was a Russian seafarer and fur hunter on
the Pacific coast of SIBERIA during the mid-1700s. In 1753,
he undertook a fur-hunting voyage from the Kamchatka
Peninsula eastward into the North Pacific Ocean and Bering
Sea. East of Bering Island, Bashmakov’s ship, the Yeremiya,
was wrecked on one of the westernmost of the Aleutian Is-
lands, stranding Bashmakov and his crew there for nearly
two years. They eventually managed to construct a small
boat from the wreckage and sail back across the Bering Sea
to Kamchatka.

In late 1756, Bashmakov sailed again from Kamchatka
for the Aleutians. On the ship, Pyotr i Pavel (Peter and Paul),
he stopped first at Bering Island, and, in spring 1757, he
headed as far east as the Aleutian island of Tanaga. His party

returned to Kamchatka the next year with a valuable cargo
of furs.

Pyotr Bashmakov’s fur-hunting expeditions eastward
from the Kamchatka Peninsula were among the first com-
mercial ventures to follow up the explorations of the Aleu-
tians undertaken by VITUS JONASSEN BERING in 1740—41.

Basov, Emelyan (Yemelyan Basov)

(ca. 1705—ca. 1765) Russian Cossack mariner, trader

in eastern Siberia and the Bering Sea

Emelyan Basov was a Russian Cossack who, in 1726, em-
barked from the eastern Siberian city of Yakutsk and ex-
plored northward along the Lena River, in search of a water
route to the Pacific ports on the Kamchatka Peninsula.

By 1733, Basov was in command of the port of
Okhotsk, and from there he undertook a series of Russian
government-authorized explorations of the Sea of Okhotsk.

In 174243, Basov organized a fur-trading enterprise
and launched his first expedition across the Sea of Okhotsk
to the east coast of the Kamchatka Peninsula and the Bering
Sea. Using a small wooden boat built without nails, called a
shitik, he reached Bering Island in 1743. Over the next sev-
eral years, he extended his fur-hunting expeditions to other
parts of the Commander (Komandorski) Islands. He retired
from the FUR TRADE after 1748, settling on Kamchatka.

Emelyan Basov helped extend the Russian fur trade from
the upper reaches of north-central SIBERIA’s Lena River region
to the Bering Sea islands off the coast of easternmost Siberia.
His development of the Commander Islands as a fur-trading
base eventually led to further regional exploration and settle-
ment in the Aleutian Islands and on the Alaskan mainland.

Bass, George (1771-ca. 1805) British naval surgeon,
explorer in Australia and Tasmania

George Bass was born in Asworthy, Lincolnshire, England.
In 1795, after receiving training in medicine, he arrived in
Port Jackson (present-day Sydney), Australia, as ship’s sur-
geon on the HMS Reliance. Also on that voyage was British
naval officer MATTHEW FLINDERS.

Later that year, Bass joined Flinders in an exploration of
nearby Botany Bay and the Georges River, which flows into
it. Traveling in a small boat called the Zom Thumb, Bass and
Flinders ascended the Georges River as far as the eastern
slopes of the BLUE MOUNTAINS.

In 1796, Bass and Flinders undertook a reconnaissance
of the Australian southeast coast below Sydney. They ex-
plored what was thought to be the mouth of a river and dis-
covered it was actually a natural harbor, which Bass named
Port Hacking after the expedition’s pilot.

Bass commanded an exploratory expedition of his own
the following year. In December 1797, he sailed with a six-



man crew in an open whaleboat from Sydney as far south as
Cape Howe, Australia’s southeasternmost point. Bass and his
party continued around Cape Howe westward along the un-
charted south coast of the Australian continent and reached
a bay southeast of present-day Melbourne, which Bass
named Western Port.

While returning eastward along the coast, Bass rounded
Wilson’s Promontory and investigated nearby islands. He
detected signs of a strong west-flowing ocean current, a dis-
covery that led him to believe he was in an uncharted strait
that separated Van Diemen’s Land (present-day TASMANIA)
and the mainland. Up to that time, Van Diemen’s Land
was thought to be a southern extension of the Australian
continent.

In October 1798, Bass and Flinders undertook another
exploration of the Australian south coast. Sailing from Syd-
ney in a sloop called the Norfolk, they reached what later
became known as Flinders Island, and, starting from there,
circumnavigated Tasmania in a counterclockwise direction,
firmly establishing that it was indeed an island. Flinders
and Bass subsequently explored up the Derwent River, deep
into Tasmania’s interior.

Little is known of Bass’s life after 1799. He is believed
to have traveled to South America, where he died between
1803 and 1808.

George Bass, along with Flinders, undertook one of
the carliest European penetrations of the Australian inte-
rior. His subsequent explorations provided geographers
with new information on the south coast of the continent,
much of which remained uncharted at the close of the 18th
century. The expanse of water that separates Tasmania from
the Australian mainland was named Bass Strait in his
honor.

Bastidas, Rodrigo de (1460-1526)

Spanish conquistador, colonizer in Central and

South America

Rodrigo de Bastidas was born in the town of Triana, near
Seville, Spain. He prospered in commerce and served as an
official in the Spanish judiciary.

In 1500, Spanish monarchs Ferdinand and Isabella au-
thorized Bastidas to undertake a trading expedition to the
region south and west of Trinidad. The venture was inspired
by CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS, who had visited this part of
the northeast coast of South America in 1498, returning to
Spain with pearls obtained in trade with the Indians.

Bastidas outfitted two ships with trade goods and sailed
from Spain in 1501. Accompanying him as pilot was JUAN
DE LA COSA, who had sailed to the Caribbean Sea with
Columbus on his first two voyages in 1492-93. Also joining
Bastidas on the expedition was the young VASCO NUNEZ
DE BALBOA.
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Following Columbus’s course, Bastidas’s expedition
reached Trinidad and the South American mainland. He
headed westward along the coast of what is now Venezuela,
exploring the Gulf of Maracaibo. He was the first European
to visit the Magdalena River, as well as the large natural har-
bor of Cartagena in present-day Colombia, naming them
both.

Bastidas traded with the coastal Indians, obtaining
pearls and brazilwood (valued in Europe as a source of red
dye and for making musical instruments), in exchange for
inexpensive European metal goods. Although the natives did
not wear clothes and had no use for sewing implements,
Bastidas managed to trade needles for large quantities of
pearls after demonstrating how valuable needles could be in
removing thorns and in cleaning teeth.

West of Cartagena, the coastline veered sharply south-
ward, leading Bastidas and Cosa to believe they were enter-
ing a strait to the Pacific Ocean and Asia. Instead, they came
upon the Gulf of Darien at the eastern end of the Isthmus of
Panama and explored the Gulf of Urabd. They discovered
that the hulls of the ships, infested with wood-eating worms,
had begun to leak. They headed eastward for Spain after
making temporary repairs on an island near Jamaica. But the
ships were in no condition for a transatlantic voyage, and
Bastidas was forced to beach the vessels on the island of His-
paniola (present-day Haiti and the Dominican Republic).

Once on Hispaniola, Bastidas and his men carried their
cargo of pearls and remaining trade goods overland to the
Spanish settlement of Santo Domingo. Along the way, they
continued to barter with the local natives, but they were
soon arrested for unlicensed trading by the newly appointed
governor, Francisco de Bobadilla.

Bastidas remained imprisoned in Santo Domingo until
June 1502. He was then sent back to stand trial in Spain
aboard one of a fleet of 30 ships. Bobadilla sailed on another
of the fleet’s ships with a large contingent of native slaves.
Soon after embarking, the fleet was struck by a severe hurri-
cane. Only the ship carrying Bastidas and his cargo of pearls
managed to reach Spain. Most of the ships, including the
one carrying Bobadilla, were lost with all hands.

In Spain, Bastidas was acquitted of all charges against
him, and he managed to retain a large portion of the wealth
derived from the pearls he had brought back.

In 1524, Bastidas was granted permission from the
Spanish Crown to establish a colony on the part of the
South American coast he had explored 23 years carlier. In
1526, he founded the settlement of Santa Marta on the
coast of what is now Colombia. Bastidas forbade his
colonists to exploit or enslave the natives, in contrast to the
usual practice in other Spanish colonies. This policy drew re-
sentment among his followers, and they soon rebelled
against him. In 1526, suffering from wounds inflicted by the
rebels, he withdrew to Cuba, where he died.
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Rodrigo de Bastidas was the eatliest European to ex-
plore and visit the coast of CENTRAL AMERICA, preceding
Columbus’s 1502 expedition there by one year. He was
among the few CONQUISTADORES to treat the natives rel-
atively fairly, and he openly opposed their enslavement.
With Cosa, Bastidas explored and charted the coasts
of present-day Venezuela, Colombia, and Panama, from
the Gulf of Venezuela to the Gulf of Darien. His settle-
ment at Santa Marta became an important port for the
Magdalena River. Balboa first learned of Panama while
with Bastidas in 1501; 12 years later, he reached the Pacific
Ocean.

Batakov, Anton (fl. 1780-1790s) Russian mariner in
northeastern Siberia, the Aleutian Islands, and Alaska

In 1785, Anton Batakov, a Russian navigator, joined the
Russian government’s Northeastern Secret Geographical and
Astronomical Expedition, a venture organized to locate a sea
route from the Kolyma River in northeastern SIBERIA to the
BERING STRAIT and the west shores of Alaska.

By 1786, Batakov had traveled eastward across Siberia
to Okhotsk. The next year, sailing on a specially constructed
vessel, the Pallas, he followed the Kolyma northward to its
outlet in the East Siberian Sea, from where he explored the
Arctic coast of northeastern Siberia.

In 1789, after two years in Okhotsk, Batakov joi
ned the expedition’s leader, former British naval officer
JOSEPH BILLINGS, in a voyage across the Sea of Okhotsk
to the port of Petropavlosk on the Pacific coast of the Kam-
chatka Peninsula. They sailed across the Bering Sea to
Kayak Island in the Gulf of Alaska, arriving in summer
1790.

A year later, Batakov and Billings sailed westward from
Kayak Island into the Aleutians, stopping at Unalaska Is-
land, then headed northward into the Bering Strait. After
visiting St. Matthew and St. Lawrence Islands, they under-
took a reconnaissance of the Alaskan mainland to the east, as
well as the coastline of the Chukchi Peninsula on the Asian
mainland to the west. They crossed the Chukchi Peninsula,
from St. Lawrence Bay eastward to the Kolyma River, trav-
eling on the backs of reindeer.

With the completion of the Northeastern Secret Geo-
graphical and Astronomical Expedition in 1793, Batakov re-
turned westward across Siberia, arriving in St. Petersburg in
1794.

Anton Batakov explored the region between northeast-
ern Asia and northwestern North America. His examination
of the East Siberian Sea’s south shores provided navigational
information on the easternmost segment of the NORTHEAST
PASSAGE. In addition, he surveyed the Gulf of Alaska, the
Aleutian Islands, and the islands in the Bering Strait. Along
with Billings, he was one of the earliest Europeans to venture
overland across the Chukchi Peninsula.

Bates, Henry Walter (1825-1892)

British naturalist in South America

Henry Bates was born in Leicester, England. He attended
local private schools, preparing for a career in business. Dur-
ing his teens, he developed an interest in entomology, the
study of insects, making frequent trips into the English
countryside to collect butterflies and other specimens.

In 1844, while working as a clerk in a brewery in Bur-
ton-upon-Trent, he befriended ALFRED RUSSEL WALLACE, a
local schoolteacher who, like Bates, was a naturalist. Inspired
by the exploits of CHARLES ROBERT DARWIN and ALEXAN-
DER VON HUMBOLDT, as well as by W. H. Edwards’ book
A Voyage Up the River Amazon (1847), they planned a scien-
tific expedition to South America.

In April 1848, Bates and Wallace sailed to Belém, Brazil,
abroad a cargo vessel called the Mischief By late June of that
year, they reached the mouth of the Pard River, the south-
eastern estuary of the AMAZON RIVER. They traveled up the
Pard to its principal tributary, the Tocantins, which they ex-
plored southward for more than 1,000 miles. Bates and Wal-
lace then returned to the north and, traveling separately,
ascended the Amazon across north-central Brazil to Manaus.
Meeting up again at Manaus, Bates continued up the Ama-
zon on his own. At the same time, Wallace, who by this time
had been joined by his brother Herbert, explored the Negro
River flowing into the Amazon at Manaus from the north.

Bates explored westward along the Amazon for almost
400 miles, reaching what is now Tefé, Brazil. He remained
there until 1851, when he lost all his money in a robbery
and returned to Pard on the Atlantic coast. At Pard, Bates
met up with Herbert Wallace, who had contracted yellow
fever and would die later that year. Alfred Wallace returned
to England in 1852.

Soon afterward, Bates resumed his explorations, travel-
ing up the Amazon to Santarém, halfway between Manaus
and the river’s mouth at Pard. He remained in the region
until 1855, collecting thousands of insect specimens and ex-
ploring a great distance southward along the Tapajos River.
In 1855, he returned to the western reaches of the upper
Amazon, where, over the next three years, he undertook sev-
eral explorations even farther to the west. On one of his last
expeditions, he attempted an overland trek to the ANDES
MOUNTAINS but was forced back by illness.

Bates returned to England in 1859. His classic account
of his decade of exploring the rivers of northern Brazil, The
Naturalist on the River Amazon, was first published in 1863.
He became assistant secretary of the ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL
SOCIETY.

During his 10 years on the Amazon and its tributaries,
Henry Bates collected more than 14,000 insect specimens,
including 8,000 newly discovered species. His scientific find-
ings include the earliest observations on the way certain
species of butterflies develop natural disguises that put off
predators. The idea became known as the Batesian Theory



Henry Bates (Library of Congress)

of Mimicry and provided support for some of Darwin’s ideas
on natural selection.

Batts,Thomas (unknown-1698) English colonist in
Virginia, the Appalachian Mountains, and West Virginia

In September 1671, Captain Thomas Batts, serving under
Virginia colonial military leader Major General ABRAHAM
WOOD, set out with ROBERT FALLAM from Fort Henry (pre-
sent-day Petersburg, Virginia) to explore the Piedmont re-
gion in search of new sources of furs.

From the falls of the Appomattox River, Batts and Fal-
lam traveled westward across the Blue Ridge into the
Kanawha and New River Valleys of present-day West Vir-
ginia through Indian territory. They explored the headwaters
of the Kanawha River, then returned to Fort Henry in late
October or early November 1671.

With their journey through the Blue Ridge to the New
and Kanawha Rivers, Thomas Batts and Fallam became the
first Englishmen to cross the APPALACHIAN MOUNTAINS
and enter the Ohio Valley watershed region.

Battutah, Abu Abd-Allah Muhammad lbn
See IBN BATTUTAH, ABU ABD-ALLAH MUHAMMAD.
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Baudin,Thomas-Nicolas (1754-1803)

French naval officer in Australia and Tasmania

Nicolas Baudin was born on the Ile de R¢, an island in the
Bay of Biscay, off the coast of La Rochelle, France. He be-
came an officer in the French navy and a ship’s captain by
1793. That year, in command of a scientific expedition for
the Museum of Natural History in Paris, he sailed from
France to China and India and the islands of present-day In-
donesia. He made a successful return trip to France in 1795.
During the next two years, Baudin led additional scientific
expeditions to the Antilles in the Caribbean, as well as along
the coast of South America.

In 1800, Baudin took command of an official French
government naval and scientific expedition to Australia.
Planned by Napoleon, the project was intended to establish
French control over Van Diemen’s Land (present-day TAS-
MANIA), as well as the unexplored south coast of Australia.
Baudin also had instructions to chart the continent’s west
and north coasts.

Baudin departed Le Havre, France, in October 1800.
He commanded the French warship the Géographe, along
with the cargo vessel Naturaliste, captained by French naval
officer Jacques-Felix-Emmanuel Hamelin. A team of 24 sci-
entists, including astronomers, mineralogists, botanists, and
zoologists, including zoologist FRANGOIS PERON, accompa-
nied him. Two other Baudins were among the crew—naval
officers Charles Baudin and Francois-Nicolas Baudin—but
they were not related to him. After stopping in the CANARY
ISLANDS, Baudin commanded his two ships southward
along the coast of Africa, where their progress was slowed
by lack of wind. Food and other provisions became short,
and many among the crew were stricken with SCURVY. By
the time the expedition reached the French Indian Ocean
settlement on Ile de France (present-day Mauritius), a num-
ber had died. Others were too sick to continue and had to be
left behind.

From Ile de France, Baudin sailed eastward across the
Indian Ocean. Still short of provisions, he sailed directly for
the west coast of Australia instead of heading to Van
Diemen’s Land farther to the east. By June 1801, he had
reached Cape Leeuwin on the extreme southwest coast of
Australia. At a site Baudin named Géographe Bay, he sent a
party of scientists ashore to collect samples of wildlife and
make contact with the natives.

Soon after heading northward to explore the west coast
of Australia, Baudin and the Géographe became separated
from the Naturaliste. He continued up the coast toward the
Dutch settlement at Timor, on the way exploring Shark Bay
as well as sites along the northwest coast of Australia not vis-
ited by Europeans since the voyages of WILLIAM DAMPIER
100 years earlier.

By August 1801, Baudin had reached Timor, where he
was joined by the rest of the expedition aboard the Natu-
raliste. At Timor, more men had to be left behind because
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of scurvy and an outbreak of dysentery. After nearly three
months on Timor, Baudin sailed directly southward and
eastward around Australia to Van Diemen’s Land, reaching
it in January 1802. He then undertook a three-month sur-
vey of the Tasmanian coast, sending parties inland to study
the native Bara-Uru people and collect animal and plant
specimens. Proceeding along the coast of Van Diemen’s
Land, he determined that the supposed small island was ac-
tually an extension of the eastern Tasmanian mainland,
known today as the Tasman Peninsula.

In April 1802, while exploring along the south coast of
Australia, at a site subsequently named Encounter Bay,
Baudin met up with British naval captain MATTHEW
FLINDERS, who had been mapping the coast from the west.
Baudin obtained a copy of Flinders’s maps of the newly
charted south coastal region, then sailed to the British set-
tlement at Port Jackson, present-day Sydney. From there, the
Naturaliste sailed for France by way of the Indian Ocean and
the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE with a large number of scientific
specimens, while Baudin and the Géographe returned to the
south and explored along the south coast of Australia. They
stopped at Kangaroo Island, which Flinders had visited the
previous year.

In spring 1803, Baudin retraced his route along the
west coast of Australia, then continued along the north coast
into the Gulf of Carpentaria. The Géographe then started
back for France.

That summer, at a stopover at Mauritius, Baudin died
from an illness he had contracted on the voyage. Under the
command of Pierre Milius, the Géographe returned to France
in late March 1804.

Nicolas Baudin’s 1800-1804 expedition secured for
France more than 100,000 samples of animal and plant life
from Australia and Tasmania, including many varieties of
kangaroos, as well as several hundred live specimens. Fol-
lowing his death in 1803, the French government credited
him with mapping much of the Australian and Tasmanian
coastlines, although Baudin’s reported findings were really
those of Flinders (a fact not revealed until Flinders returned
to Europe in 1810, after being imprisoned on Mauritius for
more than six years by the French).

Bauer, Ferdinand Lucas (1760-1826)
Austrian naturalist, artist in Australia
Born in Feldsberg, Austria, Ferdinand Bauer was the son of
artist Lukas Bauer. He also pursued a career in art, becom-
ing known for his drawings of plants. In 1786-87, he ac-
companied British botanist J. Sibthorp on a scientific
expedition to study the flora of the Middle East.

Bauer’s work as a botanical illustrator came to the at-
tention of SIR JOSEPH BANKS, on whose recommendation he
was appointed as a natural history artist with the English ex-

plorer MATTHEW FLINDERS’s 1801-03 expedition to Aus-
tralia aboard the Investigator. Along with the expedition’s
naturalist, ROBERT BROWN, he took part in scientific forays
throughout southern Australia, including a specimen-hunt-
ing expedition on Kangaroo Island.

Bauer also joined Flinders, Brown, and artist WILLIAM
WESTALL in an excursion by small boat up Spencer Gulf,
during which they penetrated inland for 200 miles. At the
gulf’s northern end, they climbed a peak later named Mount
Brown in the Flinders Range.

In 1803, Bauer remained with Brown at Port Jackson
(Sydney), Australia, while Flinders left to seck a replacement
for the Investigator, damaged on its passage through the
Great Barrier Reef. Over the next 18 months, Bauer and
Brown examined the plant life of coastal Australia around
Sydney. Bauer undertook an expedition on his own to Nor-
folk Island in the Pacific Ocean, about 1,000 miles northeast
of Sydney. Flinders failed to return by 1805, and Bauer and
Brown set out to England on their own.

In England, Bauer prepared illustrations for Sibthorp’s
multivolume work on the flora of the Middle East. In 1812,
he settled at Hietzing, Austria, where he continued his draw-
ing and painting of plants at the Schénbrunn Gardens.

In addition to botanical studies, Ferdinand Bauer as-
sisted Brown in examining the newly discovered animals of
Australia, helping to bring back to London the first live
specimens of such creatures as the koala and the bare-nos-
triled wombat.

Baumann, Oskar (1864-1899) Austrian explorer

in Africa

Oskar Baumann was born in Vienna, Austria. His early ca-
reer as an explorer took him to present-day Bosnia and
Herzegovina and Croatia, where he participated in moun-
tain-climbing expeditions in the southern Dinaric Alps.

In 1885, Baumann was a member of an Austrian expe-
dition to central Africa, which ascended the CONGO RIVER
(Zaire River) from its mouth on the Atlantic coast of An-
gola, to its upper reaches, as far as Stanley Falls in what is
now north-central Democratic Republic of the Congo.

The next year, Baumann traveled to West Africa and ex-
plored the island of Fernando Po in the Gulf of Guinea, off
the coast of present-day Cameroon.

Baumann returned to East Africa in 1888, where he
embarked on an expedition to the region around MOUNT
KILIMANJARO. In 1890, under the sponsorship of the Ger-
man East Africa Society, he explored south of Lake Victoria
into what is now northern Tanzania, making the European
discovery of Lake Manyara and Lake Eyasi.

Two years later, in 1892-93, Baumann led a German
expedition to Lake Victoria, from where he undertook the
first European investigation of its principal source, the



Kagera River. Baumann spent his last years in East Africa,
dying in Zanzibar in 1899.

Oskar Baumann’s explorations in Africa revealed that
the Kagera River, which drains into Lake Victoria, was the
true source of the NILE RIVER.

Beale, Edward Fitzgerald (1822-1893) U.S.

Navy officer, American official, surveyor in the American West
A native of Washington, D.C., Edward Beale was a graduate
of the U.S. Naval Academy at Annapolis. In 184546, as a
lieutenant, he sailed with Commodore Robert Stockton
aboard the Congress to the California coast. The ship reached
San Diego just in time for the outbreak of the California up-
rising and the U.S.-Mexican War.

Beale went ashore with a party of marines to join U.S.
Army forces under STEPHEN WATTS KEARNY at San Pasqual,
south of present-day Los Angeles. The Americans were soon
surrounded by Mexican troops. With frontiersman
CHRISTOPHER HOUSTON CARSON (Kit Carson), Beale man-
aged to pass undetected through the Mexican lines to Com-
modore Stockton and the American fleet at San Diego,
where he brought news of Kearny’s besieged forces. A com-
pany of marines was soon deployed north to San Pasqual, re-
lieving Kearny’s troops.

After the war’s end in 1848, Beale made several trips
across the North American continent, including one in
1849-50 that carried to the East the earliest news of the
1848 gold strike at Sutter’s Mill, near Sacramento, leading to
the California gold rush of the following year.

In the early 1850s, Beale was the superintendent of In-
dian Affairs for California and Nevada. During that time, he
came under the patronage of Missouri senator Thomas Hart
Benton, who was also the father-in-law of western explorer
JOHN CHARLES FREMONT. In 1853-54, the federal govern-
ment enacted legislation sponsoring topographic surveys in
preparation for a proposed transcontinental railroad route.
Benton, representing Missouri financial interests, backed
several privately sponsored railroad surveys and placed Beale
in command of an expedition to evaluate a railroad route
that would extend from St. Louis, Missouri, along the 38th
parallel to California.

Beale succeeded in mapping this route, but sectional
differences and the eventual onset of the Civil War delayed
construction of the transcontinental railroad for the next
15 years.

In 1857-58, Beale oversaw the famous “Camel Experi-
ment,” which employed up to 75 camels as draft animals in
the construction of a wagon route from Camp Verde in
western Texas near Bandera Pass, across the southern plains
and desert to Fort Tejon, California. This road crossed the
Colorado River at the western end of the Mojave Desert,
later known as Beale’s Crossing. While the camels were of
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great service in the road-building project, their use never
caught on in the West among frontier wranglers. The trail it-
self became an important link for the Butterfield Overland
Stage Company’s service to California and was a much-
traveled route for immigrants to California. It was known
first as the Southern Overland Trail and later as the Butter-
field Southern Route.

In 1861-65, Beale served as California’s surveyor gen-
eral. In 1876—77, he was the U.S. ambassador to the Austro-
Hungarian Empire.

Edward Beale’s innovative use of camels failed to en-
dure, but his explorations and road-building projects
throughout the 1850s helped paved the way for the con-
struction of the first transcontinental railroad links in the
late 1860s.

Beatus of Valcavado (fl. 770s) Spanish monk,
cartographer

Beatus of Valcavado, a Benedictine monk, lived in Spain
during the last half of the eighth century A.D. In 776, he
produced a religious work, Commentary on the Apocalypse,
which included a map of the known world. Unlike modern
wortld maps, Beatus’s map depicted Jerusalem and the Mid-
dle East at the top, where north usually is, and consequently
provided little aid to medieval navigators or geographers.
His intention was to symbolically express the importance of
Jerusalem as the focus of the Christian world.

Throughout the early medieval period, European map-
makers adopted Beatus’s geographic orientation, portraying
a view of the world that was considerably more limited than
the one held by the ancient Greeks and Romans.

The map by Beatus of Valcavado influenced European
geographic knowledge over the next 500 years, until the
travels of MARCO POLO in the late 1200s.

Beautemps-Beaupré, Charles-Francois
(1766-1854) French cartographer in the South Pacific
Charles Beautemps-Beaupré was born in the French town of
La Neuville-du-Pont, in the Marne region east of Paris. He
became a highly skilled cartographer, specializing in the
charting of coastlines. In 1785, he took part in a survey of
the Baltic Sea, producing scientifically based maps for the
French government.

In September 1791, Beautemps-Beaupré sailed from
Brest, France, aboard the Récherche with ANTOINE-RAY-
MOND-JOSEPH DE BRUNI, chevalier d’Entrecasteaux’s expe-
dition in search of JEAN-FRANCOIS DE GALAUP, comte de
La Pérouse, missing in the South Pacific Ocean since early
1788. As the expedition’s chief hydrographer, Beautemps-
Beaupré made scientifically based maps of the uncharted
coasts of southern Australia and southern TASMANIA. East of
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New Guinea, he identified the exact location of New Cale-
donia, the Solomon Islands, the Santa Cruz Islands, and
other island groups in the Melanesian region of the western
South Pacific.

As a result of the international crises brought about by
the ongoing French Revolution, Dutch authorities on Java
detained Beautemps-Beaupré along with the rest of the ex-
pedition when it arrived there in fall 1793. In 1796,
Beautemps-Beaupré returned to France, sailing there by
way of the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE. He went on to direct all of
the major navigational and cartographic projects under-
taken by the French government in the first half of the 19¢h
century.

Charles Beautemps-Beaupré is considered the “father of
hydrography,” the technique of mapping coastlines with at-
tention to navigational detail. Although his atlas of the En-
trecasteaux expedition to the South Pacific was not
published until 1808, British naval authorities captured
copies of his charts of Tasmania as early as 1795, making
them available to MATTHEW FLINDERS for his 1801-03 ex-
plorations. Beautemps-Beaupré was the first cartographer to
represent the southeast coast of Tasmania, where the British
established the settlement of Hobart in 1803. Moreover, his
charts provided the first accurate location of the Solomon Is-
lands, explored by Spanish navigator ALVARO DE MENDANA
in 1567.

Becknell,William (ca. 1790-1865) American trader
in the American Southwest

Prior to 1821, William Becknell, probably a native of Ken-
tucky, arrived in Franklin, Missouri, where he engaged in
trade with Indians of the southern plains. At that time,
Spanish provincial authorities had barred American traders
from entering their New Mexico province.

In August 1821, Becknell set out with a party of three
companions and their pack animals into the southern
plains for the purpose of trading horses and mules with the
Indians and capturing, according to his own account,
“Wild Animals of every description.” They left Franklin,
Missouri, and headed westward for Fort Osage and the
Arkansas River. Becknell’s party followed ancient Indian
and Spanish trails and reached the mouth of the Purgatoire
River in present-day southeastern Colorado by October.
From there, they headed southward into the mountains via
Raton Pass.

The group soon encountered a detachment of Mexican
soldiers, who informed them that Mexico’s independence
had been declared, and that they would now be able to con-
tinue to Santa Fe to sell their much-sought-after trade
goods. Becknell and his companions then crossed into
northern New Mexico and reached Santa Fe by early
November, where they sold their goods at a huge profit.

Becknell returned to his home in Franklin, Missouri,
and wasted no time in organizing a second, larger trade ex-
pedition. In 1822, he set out with three wagons carrying
trade goods and headed across the Kansas plains. Rather
than heading southward into New Mexico via Raton Pass, a
route that was then nearly impassable to wagon traffic,
Becknell and his party blazed a trail across the Cimarron
Desert in the region of present-day southwestern Kansas and
the Oklahoma Panhandle. This trail, which came to be
known as the Cimarron Cutoff, was extremely hazardous be-
cause of Comanche and Kiowa Indian attacks and because
of lack of water for men and draft animals. Overcoming
these obstacles, Becknell and his traders, among them
WILLIAM WOLFSKILL and EWING YOUNG, reached Santa Fe
and again realized an enormous profit on the goods they had
carried from Missouri. Open trade between New Mexico
and Missouri soon flourished.

In 1824, Becknell organized a much larger trade cara-
van, consisting of 24 wagons and 80 men, and again headed
from Independence, Missouri, to Santa Fe. Later that year,
Becknell took a party of traders northward from Santa
Cruz, New Mexico, about 50 miles north of Santa Fe,
into the Green River region in what is now northeastern
Colorado.

By 1828, Becknell had established a ferry service and
trade center on the MISSOURI RIVER at Arrow Rock, near
present-day Sibley, Missouri. He went on to serve in the
Missouri state legislature, then moved to Texas, where he
took part in the Texas Revolution and struggle for indepen-
dence from Mexico. He eventually settled at Clarksville in
northeastern Texas’s Red River region.

William Becknell’s accomplishments earned him the
reputation as the “Father of the Santa Fe Trail.” His 1822 ex-
pedition to Santa Fe marked the first use of wagons on the
route to the New Mexico settlements. Becknell also pro-
duced some of the earliest maps of the Santa Fe Trail and
provided impetus for the federal government to undertake
a topographic survey of this route. His pioneering efforts led
the federal government to provide military protection for
trade caravans traveling westward to New Mexico across the
southern plains. Fur traders soon followed Becknell’s route
into the southern ROCKY MOUNTAINS.

Beckwith, Edward Griffin (1818-1881)
U.S. Army officer, American topographer in Utah
and Nevada
Born in Cazenovia, New York, E. G. Beckwith was an 1842
graduate of West Point. He subsequently took part in several
major campaigns in the U.S.-Mexican War of 1846-48.

In 1849, Beckwith served under Major WILLIAM HEM-
SLEY EMORY in the Mexican Boundary Commission survey
of the Gila River region of present-day southern Arizona.



In spring 1853, Beckwith, a lieutenant in the U.S.
Army Corps of Topographical Engineers, joined Lieutenant
JOHN WILLIAMS GUNNISON in a survey of a proposed
transcontinental railroad route along the 38th parallel from
Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, to the Pacific coast. After Gun-
nison and others were killed by Ute Indians in Utah’s Sevier
River Valley, the expedition was reorganized under Beck-
with’s command.

In spring 1854, Beckwith led a party of scientists and
topographers in a survey along the 41st parallel, westward
from Fort Bridger in Wyoming’s Green River region to Cal-
ifornia. He crossed Utah’s Wasatch Mountains to Pilot Peak,
then followed the Humboldt River to a point north of Pyra-
mid Lake. In the Sierra Nevada, he located two passes,
Madeline Pass and Nobles’ Pass, that could be used for a
rail line to the Sacramento River.

Two years later, in 1856, Beckwith supervised the con-
struction of a military wagon road from Fort Riley, Kansas,
into the ROCKY MOUNTAINS to Fort Bridger, Wyoming.

Beckwith went on to serve in the Union army during
the Civil War, taking part in campaigns in Virginia and
Louisiana.

E. G. Beckwith’s route across northern Utah and
Nevada in 1854 was eventually adopted by the Union Pa-
cific for the first transcontinental railroad, completed in

1869.

Beckwourth, James Pierson (Jim Beckwith)
(ca. 1800—ca. 1866) American fur trader, trapper in the
American West, army scout

James (Jim) Beckwourth was born on a plantation in Fred-
ericksburg, Virginia, the son of the Irish aristocrat Sir Jen-
nings Beckwourth and a mixed-race slave woman. In 1810,
he moved with his father to the Louisiana Territory, and he
later settled in St. Louis, Missouri. On being granted his
freedom by his father, Beckwourth set out in the early 1820s
for Illinois’s Fever River region, where he worked in the lead
mines near the town of Galena.

Two years later, Beckwourth was hired by wiLLIAM
HENRY ASHLEY to take part in his 1824-25 expedition up
the MISSOURI RIVER from St. Louis. The purpose of this trip
was to take supplies and trade goods to Ashley’s fur trappers
and traders in the Green River region of present-day
Wyoming and Utah. Beckwourth, serving as a blacksmith
and personal assistant to Ashley, attended the first annual fur
traders’ rendezvous at Henrys Fork, a branch of the Green
River, in summer 1825. Soon afterward, Beckwourth him-
self became a trapper, and he spent the winter of 1825-26
with mountain man JEDEDIAH STRONG SMITH in the Cache
Valley of what is now northern Utah.

In 1828, Beckwourth trapped the ROCKY MOUNTAINS
of Utah and southern Wyoming with ROBERT CAMPBELL,
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narrowly escaping death when Campbell’s party was at-
tacked by Blackfeet Indians in the “Fight in the Willows.”
Reportedly, it was Beckwourth who saved his companions
by breaking through the line of attacking Indians and sum-
moning the help of another party of MOUNTAIN MEN.

Later in 1828, fellow mountain man CALEB GREEN-
WOOD convinced the Crow Indian chief, Big Bowl, that
Beckwourth, with his Indian-like mixed-race features, was
actually the chief’s long-lost son, who had been kidnapped
as a child by marauding Cheyenne Indians. Welcomed into
the tribe, Beckwourth soon rose to prominence among the
Crow as a warrior and chief. At this time, both Greenwood
and Beckwourth were associated with KENNETH MCKEN-
ZIE and the AMERICAN FUR COMPANY, and, during the next
six years, Beckwourth used his influential position among
the Crow to advance his and Greenwood’s trade activities in
the northern and central Rockies.

Leaving the Rocky Mountain FUR TRADE in 1837,
Beckwourth traveled to Florida, where he took part in the
Second Seminole War of 1835-42, as a muleteer for U.S.
Army troops.

Returning to the West in 1838, Beckwourth traveled
to the southern plains, where he undertook trading expedi-
tions with LOUIS VASQUEZ and Andrew Sublette along the
Santa Fe Trail. In the early 1840s, Beckwourth lived for a
time in Pueblo, Colorado. At the outbreak of the U.S.-
Mexican War in 1846, he was in California and took an ac-
tive part in the Bear Flag Republic’s revolt against Mexican
rule.

Beckwourth settled in Santa Fe after the war, where he
operated a saloon for a short time before returning to Cali-
fornia with the gold rush of 1849. In 1851, he was involved
in building wagon roads to supply miners in the Sierra
Nevada.

The Pikes Peak (Colorado) gold rush of 1859 took
Beckwourth to Colorado, where he was two years later, at
the onset of the Civil War. He served as an army scout and
interpreter for Colorado militia forces under Colonel John
Chivington in the 1864 campaign against the Cheyenne.

In 1866, Colonel Henry B. Carrington hired Beck-
wourth as a peace emissary to his former adoptive tribe, the
Crow. While on this mission, Beckwourth was reportedly
killed by tribal members, who may have poisoned him be-
cause they believed he had brought an earlier smallpox epi-
demic to their people. Other reports indicate Beckwourth
may have died in Denver the following year.

Jim Beckwourth’s early career as a fur trapper and
mountain man during the 1820s and early 1830s took him
to parts of the middle and northern Rockies then known
only to other trappers and Indians. He accompanied some
of the men who undertook the earliest significant explo-
rations of that region. His subsequent experiences on the
old Santa Fe Trail and in the Sierra Nevada took him to
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uncharted territory. He is sometimes confused with ED-
WARD ROSE, another mountain man of African descent.

Beebe, Charles William (1877-1962)

American naturalist, oceanographer

Charles William Beebe was born in Brooklyn, New York,
and attended Columbia University. In 1899, he became cu-
rator of the New York Zoological Society and started a col-
lection of living birds in the New York Zoological Park in
the Bronx. In 1916, he became the director of tropical re-
search and as such, led scientific expeditions in North
America, CENTRAL AMERICA, South America, the
Caribbean region, and Asia. He became increasingly inter-
ested in oceanographic research, and in 1923 he conducted
studies in the waters off Bermuda and the Galapagos
Islands.

With American engineer Otis Barton, Beebe developed
the BATHYSPHERE, a type of SUBMERSIBLE. On August 15,
1934, after a series of dives beginning in 1930, each pro-
gressively deeper, Beebe and Barton made a descent of 3,028
feet, a record at that time.

Beebe wrote about the bathysphere expeditions in Half
Mile Down (1934). Among his many other books are Gala-
pagos (1923), Jungle Days (1925), Beneath Tropic Seas
(1928), Book of Bays (1942), High Jungle (1949), and Unseen
Life in New York (1953). He also edited Book of Naturalists
(1944).

William Beebe was one of the pioneers of underwater
exploration. His design for the bathysphere was later incor-
porated into that of the BATHYSCAPH, developed by AU-
GUSTE PICCARD and first used in 1947.

Beechey, Frederick William (1796-1856)

British naval officer in the Pacific Ocean and Arctic regions
Frederick Beechey was born in London, England. The son
of portrait artist Sir William Beechey, he had a background
in art and natural history. He entered the Royal Navy in his
early teens, taking part in naval engagements throughout the
Napoleonic Wars, and he served aboard a British warship at
the Battle of New Orleans in January 1815, part of the War
of 1812.

Promoted to lieutenant, Beechey joined SIR JOHN
FRANKLIN in his 1818 naval expedition north of Spitsbergen
(present-day Svalbard). In 1819-20, with SIR WILLIAM ED-
WARD PARRY, he explored the Arctic coast of Canada.
Beechey produced drawings of Arctic scenes on these polar
expeditions.

In 1821-22, Beechey, accompanied by his brother
Henry Beechey, undertook a coastal survey of North Africa
east of Tripoli, Libya.

In 1825, at the rank of commander, Beechey em-
barked on a three-year expedition to the Pacific Ocean. His

main objective was to reach the north Alaskan coast and
there meet up with Franklin, who was at that time explor-
ing Arctic Canada from the east. In command of the Blos-
som, he sailed from Spithead, England, in May 1825, and
reached the Pacific coast of South America by the following
autumn. A scientific team with the expedition made several
inland investigations into the coastal regions of Chile and
Peru.

From South America, Beechey headed westward across
the Pacific, stopping at Easter Island, then continued to Pit-
cairn Island, where he met with the last surviving member of
the Bounty mutineers.

Beechey headed eastward from Pitcairn Island to Tahiti
and made the European discovery of islands in the Gambier
archipelago. From Tahiti, he sailed northward to Oahu in
the HAWAIIAN ISLANDS, then proceeded northwestward to
the Kamchatka Peninsula, extending from the Pacific coast
of SIBERIA.

From Petropavlovsk on Kamchatka, Beechey and the
Blossom sailed to the islands of the BERING STRAIT and
the west coast of Alaska. He reached Kotzebue Sound on
the northwest Alaskan coast in late July 1826. An exploring
party in a small boat reached as far north as a small penin-
sula that Beechey named Point Barrow in honor of second
secretary of the Admiralty SIR JOHN BARROW. It proved to
be Alaska’s northernmost point. Beechey’s men were un-
able, however, to reach Franklin and his expedition, who
were then at a point 146 miles to the west. With PACK ICE
becoming a problem, Beechey commanded his ship south-
ward toward the Spanish settlements on the California
coast.

In spring 1827, after repairs to the ship, Beechey sailed
from California to the Bonin Islands, an archipelago south
of Japan not visited by Europeans since 1639. He then
headed back to Kamchatka and the Bering Strait and reex-
plored the Alaskan coast, making the European discovery of
Port Clarence. Expeditions sent out in small boats this time
reached as far north as Icy Cape, but were again unable to
locate Franklin.

Beechey then headed southward along the coasts of
North and South America, rounded CAPE HORN, and ar-
rived in England in mid-October 1828. Less than three
weeks earlier, Franklin had also safely returned.

Over the next two decades, Beechey directed maritime
surveys of South America and Ireland for the British govern-
ment. In 1854, he was appointed a rear admiral; the next
year, he was elected president of the ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL
SOCIETY.

Frederick Beechey’s 1825-28 explorations took him far-
ther north along the coast of North America than any Eu-
ropean had been up to that time. Members of that
expedition visited and named Point Barrow, Alaska’s north-
ernmost extremity. He completed the first comprehensive
exploration of the west coasts of both North and South



America. In the western Pacific Ocean, he located islands
only briefly explored by the Spanish two centuries earlier.
His account of his Arctic and Pacific explorations, Narra-
tive of a Voyage to the Pacific and Bering’s Strait, was first pub-
lished in 1831.

Begichev, Nikifor Alekseyevich (1874-1927)
Russian mariner, fur trader in the Siberian Arctic

Russian seafarer Nikifor Begichev participated in BARON
EDUARD VON TOLL’s 1900-1902 attempt to negotiate the
NORTHEAST PASSAGE across the top of Asia. With Toll, he
sailed around Cape Chelyuskin, Asia’s northernmost point,
and explored the New Siberian Islands of the Laptev Sea.
Following Toll’s disappearance in the Siberian Arctic in
1902, Begichev took part in search operations the next
year. Traveling overland from the mouth of the Yana River
to Bennett Island in the New Siberian chain, he came
upon letters indicating that Toll and his entire party had
perished.

In 1904, Begichev took part in the Russo-Japanese War,
serving in the defense of Port Arthur on the Pacific coast of
SIBERIA. He subsequently entered the northern Siberian FUR
TRADE, operating around the Taymyr Peninsula on the Arc-
tic coast of central Siberia. In 1908, he located an island in
a region previously thought to be a peninsula and named it
Bolshoy Begichev. While revisiting the area in 1915, he took
part in the rescue of crewmembers of a fleet of Russian
icebreakers.

In 1921-22, while engaged in fur trapping on the
Taymyr Peninsula, Begichev aided in the search for members
of ROALD ENGELBREGT GRAVNING AMUNDSEN’s expedi-
tion, who had become separated from the Maude on its voy-
age through the Northeast Passage. Begichev was with the
Soviet scientific expedition that found the remains of
Amundsen’s men on the west coast of the Taymyr Peninsula
in 1922.

In 1926, Begichev undertook a fur-trapping expedi-
tion down the Pyasina River to its mouth on the eastern
shore of the Kara Sea, where he remained until his death
from SCURVY in 1927.

Nikifor Begichev explored the northernmost reaches of
the central Siberian Arctic, a region still largely uncharted
as late as the 1920s. His exploits in support of Toll and
Amundsen contributed to the opening of the Northeast Pas-
sage as a trade route.

Behaim, Martin (Martin Boeheim, Martin
Behem, Martin of Bohemia) (ca. 1436—ca. 1506)
German cartographer, mariner, in service to Portugal

Martin Behaim was born in the German city of Nuremberg.
There are conflicting reports regarding his birth date: either
1436 or 1459. His early education included the study of as-
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tronomy and mathematics. He became involved in textile
manufacturing in what is now Belgium.

By the late 1470s, Behaim’s scientific curiosity was
aroused by the explorations of Portuguese navigators. He
traveled to Lisbon, where he became acquainted with
CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS and supported his ideas on the
feasibility of a westward passage to India.

Behaim’s interest in mathematics and astronomy broad-
ened to the applied science of navigation. In 1485-86, he
may have served as cosmographer on the expedition of
DIOGO CAO, which explored the west coast of Africa as far
south as the mouth of the CONGO RIVER (Zaire River).

Behaim became active in Portuguese navigational re-
search under King John II, taking part in the development
of an improved version of the ASTROLABE, an important
navigational instrument of the 15th and 16th centuries. In
1484, the Portuguese monarch knighted him for this ac-
complishment.

In 1486, Behaim was instrumental in establishing an
early Flemish settlement on Fayal in the AZORES.

By 1490, Behaim had returned to Nuremberg, where,
in 1492, he completed an early GLOBE of the known world.
He made several diplomatic trips between Portugal and the
Low Countries before settling permanently in Portugal.

Martin Behaim’s 1492 globe, still in existence, depicts
a large island, west of the Azores, thought by some histori-
ans to indicate a knowledge of Brazil and the South Ameri-
can mainland that predated Columbus’s return from his first
voyage. In addition, FERDINAND MAGELLAN used a copy of
Behaim’s globe to gain Spanish sponsorship for his 1519-22
voyage to the SPICE ISLANDS (the Moluccas), which also ac-
complished the first CIRCUMNAVIGATION OF THE WORLD.

Beketov, Pyotr (fl. 1620-1660s) Russian Cossack
leader in Siberia
Pyotr Beketov was a Russian Cossack leader who in 1628
initiated a campaign of conquest that brought much of
southeastern SIBERIA under Russian domination. From the
central Yenisey River, he led a force of Cossacks south and
east into the upper Tunguska River region and established a
fur-trading settlement at the mouth of the Oka River.

Three years later, in 1631, Beketov pushed eastward
across central Siberia, from the Yenisey to the Lena River,
and from there headed southwestward toward Lake Baikal.
The next year, he headed northward along the Lena, and
on its banks established a settlement that later developed
into the Siberian city of Yakutsk. Starting in 1633, he ex-
panded Cossack and Russian influence into the Aldan
River region to the east.

In the 1640s, Beketov commanded important central
Siberian outposts, including Bratsk. From there, in 1652, he

undertook a military expedition into the region southeast
of Lake Baikal. In 1654, he traveled up the Amur River. The
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next year, his force succeeded in defending against a
Manchu invasion from the south.

By 1660, Beketov had consolidated Russian control
over territory as far south as the Amur River. He later re-
turned to the Yenisey River to the north, having opened up
the fur resources of southeastern Siberia to European Rus-
sian traders.

Pyotr Beketov was one of the Cossack leaders who con-
tributed to the Russian exploration and conquest of the re-
gion east and south of the Yenisey River, as far as the Lena
River to the east and as far as the Amur River to the south.
His settlement at Yakutsk on the Lena developed into an im-
portant center of the FUR TRADE for all of eastern Siberia.

Bekovich-Cherkassky, Aleksandr (Alexandr
Bekovich-Cherkassky) (unknown—ca. 1717) Russian
mariner, military leader in the eastern Caspian Sea region
Aleksandr Bekovich-Cherkassky was born to a noble family
in Kabardia, a Circassian Muslim principality between the
Black and Caspian Seas. In his early years, he went to live in
European Russia, where Czar Peter I (Peter the Great) took
charge of his education, sending him to western Europe in
1707 to study navigational techniques.

By 1715, Bekovich-Cherkassky was an accomplished
navigator and military officer. At that time, Czar Peter was
seeking to expand Russian interests south and east into cen-
tral Asia, and he believed that the Amu Darya River (the
Oxus of ALEXANDER THE GREAT’s time) could provide an
access route from the southern Caspian Sea to its headwaters
in the Hindu Kush, north of India. Accordingly, in 1715, he
dispatched Bekovich-Cherkassky on an exploratory expedi-
tion in search of the mouth of the north-flowing Amu
Darya.

Bekovich returned to Czar Peter with reports from na-
tive tribesmen that the Amu Darya River flowed into the
southern Aral Sea, east of the Caspian, after being diverted
by the Uzbek people of Khiva. Plans were then made to redi-
rect the Amu Darya to its original course.

In 1716, Bekovich led a 3,000-man military expedi-
tion by ship from the mouth of the Volga River, along the
north coast of the Caspian Sea, to the mouth of the Ural
River. He then proceeded southward overland across the
Ust-Urt Plateau, toward Khiva.

Bekovich and his Russian forces defeated the Khivans in
preliminary engagements. The Khivan monarch, known as
the Khan, pretended to sue for peace and convinced
Bekovich to divide his forces. On entering the city of Khiva,
each Russian contingent was attacked and defeated. Most
were killed, and the few survivors were enslaved. Bekovich
himself never returned from the campaign and is presumed
to have died in about 1717.

Aleksandr Bekovich-Cherkassky’s expedition into the
eastern Caspian region was the last Russian attempt to take

the area until the middle of the 19th century. The Aral Sea,
which Bekovich-Cherkassky had heard about in 1715, was
not identified by Europeans until 1844.

Belcher, Sir Edward (1799-1877) British naval
officer in the Pacific Ocean and Arctic regions

Born in Halifax, Nova Scotia, Edward Belcher entered the
Royal Navy in 1812. As a midshipman, he served in naval
engagements off the coast of North Africa in 1816.

In 1818, at the rank of lieutenant commander, Belcher
took part in a British naval expedition to the North Pacific
Ocean. Trained in chartmaking as well as navigation, he sub-
sequently undertook a hydrographic survey of the coasts of
North and West Africa, producing official maps of these re-
gions for the Royal Navy.

Belcher sailed with FREDERICK WILLIAM BEECHEY on
the Blossom in his 1825-28 expedition to the South Pacific
and North American Arctic, serving as the principal hydro-
grapher. Part of the expedition’s objective was to make con-
tact with SIR JOHN FRANKLIN, then exploring overland in
the Canadian Arctic.

On the second visit to the northwest coast of Alaska in
summer 1827, Belcher led an exploring party northward
from Kotzebue Sound as far as Icy Cape. Unable to contact
Franklin, he attempted a return, but his small boat was
wrecked in heavy seas near Chamisso Island. Although four
of his party drowned, Belcher and the survivors managed to
reach an island, where they were soon rescued by Beechey
and the Blossom.

In 1837, Belcher, by then a captain, traveled to the west
coast of Panama and there took command of the Sulphur, re-
lieving the ailing Beechey, who had become ill during his ex-
plorations along the west coast of South America.

Over the next year, Belcher sailed along the coasts of the
Americas, undertaking inland exploring expeditions in
Nicaragua and El Salvador. He ranged as far north as
Alaska’s Prince William Sound and visited the Russian set-
tlement at Sitka. In addition, on this voyage he charted the
Sacramento and Columbia Rivers, making a stop at the
HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY post, Fort Vancouver, near pre-
sent-day Portland, Oregon.

Belcher and the Sulphur headed west across the Pacific
in late 1839. While visiting the Fiji Islands, he met up
with the American exploring expedition commanded by
CHARLES WILKES. At Singapore, Belcher was ordered to sail
to the southeast coast of China to take part in the naval op-
erations of what later became known as the Opium War of
1839—42. In October 1840, Belcher commanded the Su/-
phur in a naval battle against Chinese forces that ended with
the British capture of Hong Kong.

In November 1840, Belcher’s ship was damaged in a
typhoon and he was compelled to sail back to England. The

homeward course took the ship along the east coast of



Africa. Belcher explored the Mozambique Channel between
Madagascar and the African mainland before rounding the
CAPE OF GOOD HOPE.

Belcher reached England in July 1842. Soon afterward,
he was knighted for his efforts in the Opium War. The next
year, he was appointed commander of the Samarang and un-
dertook a three-year expedition to present-day Indonesia
and the South China Sea.

In 1852, Belcher took command of the Royal Navy’s
last official effort to locate Franklin, missing in the Canadian
Arctic since 1845. SIR FRANCIS LEOPOLD McCLINTOCK
served under him. Once again in command of the Blossom,
he sailed into the islands of the Canadian Arctic from the
east, passing through Lancaster Sound, then headed north-
ward along the west coast of Devon Island into Wellington
Strait.

In 1854, with his fleet of five ships icebound near Dealy
Island, Belcher ordered his men to abandon the vessels, fear-
ing their destruction. They managed to reach supply ships
anchored off Beechey Island, on which they then returned to
England. One of the abandoned ships, the Resolute, was re-
covered by American whalers in Davis Strait almost a year
later. It was taken to Connecticut, restored to seaworthiness,
and presented by the United States to Queen Victoria as a
gift.

After Belcher’s return to England, the Admiralty denied
him further naval commands because it was felt he had ex-
ercised poor judgment in abandoning his ships in the Cana-
dian Arctic. Yet he remained in the navy for the rest of his
life, reaching the rank of full admiral in 1872.

Sir Edward Belcher was a naturalist as well as a naviga-
tor and undertook natural history studies in North America,
South America, and CENTRAL AMERICA. Although his
1852-54 search for Franklin was fruitless, it did result in ad-
ditional knowledge of the geography of the maze of straits
and islands of the polar regions of northern Canada.

Bell, Gertrude Margaret Lowthian

(1868-1926) British archaeologist, mountain climber,
traveler, writer in the Middle East

Born in England, Gertrude Bell attended Oxford University
in 1883-87, graduating with honors in history. In the late
1880s, she engaged in MOUNTAIN-CLIMBING expeditions in
Europe in which she set several alpine records.

In 1892, Bell traveled extensively in Persia (present-day
Iran), studying its ancient heritage. Starting in 1901, she
toured throughout the Middle East, visiting presenc-day Is-
rael, Turkey, Syria, and Iraq, while undertaking archacolog-
ical studies.

In 1913-14, Bell traveled with a native trade caravan
from Damascus southward into the Arabian Desert, plan-
ning to reach Riyadh. Forced to turn back by Muslim op-
position at the northern Arabian city of Ha'il, she followed
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a different route to Damascus by way of Palmyra, covering
areas of the Middle East not usually visited by Europeans.

Bell was fluent in both Farsi and Arabic, skills she put to
use at the outbreak of World War I, when she went to work
for the British intelligence service, operating out of Cairo,
Egypt.

Soon after the war’s end in 1918, Bell was assigned as an
assistant political officer with the British government’s Arab
Bureau in what was then Mesopotamia. Working alongside
the British Middle East explorer and scholar THOMAS ED-
WARD LAWRENCE (Lawrence of Arabia), she played an im-
portant role in the organization of the modern nation of
Iraq by supporting the selection of King Faisal I as the na-
tion’s first ruler.

Bell went on to establish the Iraqi state museum for an-
tiquities in Baghdad, serving as its first director. From 1897
until her death by suicide in 1926, she published a prolific
body of writings about her experiences in the Middle East
and her archaeological discoveries, including Poems from the
Divan of Hafiz (1897), The Desert and the Sown (1907),
Amurath to Amurath (1911), Palace and Mosque ar Ukaidir
(1914), The Arab of Mesopotamia (1917), and her first book,
Persian Pictures, issued posthumously in 1928. She was the
first woman to receive a medal from the ROYAL GEOGRAPH-
ICAL SOCIETY, in 1918.

Gertrude Bell was one of the first European women to
travel extensively in the Arabian Desert, and was one of the

earliest female archaeologists to undertake field research in
the Middle East.

Bellingshausen, Fabian Gottlieb Benjamin
von (Baron von Bellingshausen, Thaddeus
Bellingshausen, Faddey Faddeyevich
Bellingsgauzen) (1778-1852) German-born naval
officer in Antarctica and the South Pacific, in service
to Russia
Fabian Gottlieb von Bellingshausen was born on the Baltic
island of Saaremaa, into a noble Estonian family of German
descent. In his youth, he entered the Russian navy; in
1803-06, he circumnavigated the world as a midshipman
with ADAM IVAN RITTER VON KRUSENSTERN’s expedition.
In 1819, at the rank of captain, Bellingshausen took
command of a Russian naval expedition to the Antarctic seas
south of the known latitudes. He sailed from the port of
Kronstadt, near present-day St. Petersburg, in July 1819. Ac-
companying his ship, the Vostok (east), was the Mirny
(peaceful), captained by MIKHAIL PETROVICH LAZAREV.
Bellingshausen and his expedition headed into the
South Atantic Ocean, touching first at Rio de Janeiro before
reaching South Georgia Island. From there, he headed east
and south, commanding the first ships to sail below the
ANTARCTIC CIRCLE since the voyages of JAMES COOK in the
1770s. On January 27, he came within 20 miles of Princess
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Martha Coast of Greater (East) Antarctica and sighted the
edge of the ice sheet, which some claim constitutes the first
sighting of the continent (before the Englishman EDWARD
BRANSFIELD).

With the onset of the antarctic winter season, Bellings-
hausen and his ships headed northward into the central
South Pacific Ocean. Over the next few months, he located
a number of uncharted islands in the Fiji Islands and the Tu-
amotu Archipelago. The expedition also visited Tahiti, ex-
plored the coast of TASMANIA, and reprovisioned at Sydney,
Australia.

In December 1820, Bellingshausen returned to the
Antarctic. At 69° south latitude, he sighted and named Peter
I island. Soon afterward, he located a larger body of land
that he named Alexander I Land, known today as Alexan-
der I Island.

On his return northward, in February 1821, Bellings-
hausen and his men encountered American whaling captain
NATHANIEL BROWN PALMER at South Shetland Island.

During his travels, Bellingshausen conducted studies in
the natural sciences. The expedition brought back many
species of birds from the Southern Hemisphere, including
the first specimen of the emperor penguin. He also under-
took observations of ocean currents and studied the Sargasso
Sea. He went on to a distinguished career in the Russian
navy, including service against the Turks in the eastern
MEDITERRANEAN SEA. He was appointed an admiral in
1843, after which he commanded the port of Kronstadt.

Baron von Bellingshausen’s circumnavigation of Antarc-
tica resulted in an early sighting of land below the Antarctic
Circle (some claim his as the first sighting of the Antarctic
continent). The Bellingshausen Sea is named in his honor.

Beltrami, Giacomo Costantino (1779-1855)
Italian traveler in northwestern Minnesota

Giacomo Beltrami was born in the northern Italian town of
Bergamo, near Milan, and grew up to hold judicial offices in
the Venetian government. In 1821, he was exiled from
Venice after being implicated in a plot against the Austrian-
backed government.

In his first year of exile, Beltrami toured the European
continent, covering a wide area between Livorno in Italy and
Brussels in Belgium, visiting major cities as well as rural
areas in France and what is now Germany. He then crossed
to England, spending time in London, Windsor, and Ox-
ford and, in mid-1822, sailed from Liverpool for the United
States. After landing in Philadelphia, he traveled to Balti-
more and Washington, D.C., where he was received by Pres-
ident James Monroe.

From Washington, Beltrami set out westward on a tour
across the APPALACHIAN MOUNTAINS and into the Ohio
Valley. As he traveled by stagecoach and hired wagon

Giacomo Beltrami (Library of Congress)

through Kentucky, he recorded his impressions of the region
and its inhabitants. He eventually reached Pittsburgh, from
where he headed southwestward, toward the MISSISSIPPI
RIVER.

Beltrami had originally planned to travel southward to
New Orleans and Mexico, but, upon reaching the conflu-
ence of the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers, near what is now
Cairo, Illinois, he decided instead to head northward into
the upper reaches of the Mississippi. He began his journey
up the Mississippi from St. Louis aboard the steamboat Vir-
ginia, on a voyage that marked the first successful attempt by
a steam-powered vessel to travel upstream as far as Fort St.
Anthony (near present-day Minneapolis, Minnesota). He
was accompanied on this trip by the newly appointed Indian
agent to the Chippewa (Ojibway) and Sioux (Dakota,
Lakota, Nakota), Major Lawrence Taliaferro.

From Fort St. Anthony, Beltrami traveled up the Min-
nesota River with a U.S. Army expedition commanded by
Major STEPHEN HARRIMAN LONG. Long had been assigned
to survey the border between the United States and Canada,
from the Red River of the North eastward to Lake Superior.
Near Pembina, in what is now northeastern North Dakota,
Beltrami left Long and his soldiers and traveled southeast-
ward up the Red Lake River by CANOE, in search of the
source of the Mississippi River.



In mid-August 1823, following an attack by Sioux, Bel-
trami’s Chippewa guides abandoned him. Unskilled at pad-
dling, he waded upstream, towing the canoe behind him.
He entered Red Lake, and there obtained new Indian
guides. Soon afterward, he came upon an as yet unnamed
lake, which he christened Lake Julia. A stream he observed
flowing southward out of this body of water he wrongly
concluded was the source of the Mississippi. (The true
source is Lake Itasca as determined by HENRY ROWE
SCHOOLCRAFT in 1832.)

By mid-October 1823, Beltrami was back in St. Louis,
then continued southward to New Orleans. Over the next
two years, he wrote and published an account of his explo-
ration and supposed discovery of the Mississippi’s source.

Beltrami traveled into Mexico before returning to Eu-
rope in 1826. In 1849, he was permitted to return to Italy,
where he spent his remaining years.

Giacomo Beltrami’s claim that he had located the
source of the Mississippi was rejected by most geographers
of his day. Nonetheless, in 1866, the Minnesota state gov-
ernment named a newly organized section of northwestern
Minnesota, Beltrami County, in recognition of his explo-
rations. It contains Red Lake and the upper Red Lake River,
which he explored in 1823.

Benalcazar, Sebastian de (Sebastian de
Belalcazar, Sebastian Moyano) (ca. 1479-1551)
Spanish conquistador in Peru, Ecuador, and Colombia
Sebastidn de Benalcdzar was born in Belalcdzar, a village in
south-central Spain. Little is known of his origins, or early
life, except that he was of a humble family; his original sur-
name was Moyano.

In 1498, Benalcdzar accompanied CHRISTOPHER
COLUMBUS on his third expedition, which explored the
coasts of present-day Trinidad and northeastern South
America. He remained in the WEST INDIES, settling first
on Hispaniola (present-day Haiti and the Dominican Re-
public), then moving to the Spanish settlement of Darfen
on the mainland of CENTRAL AMERICA in what is now
Panama. By 1522, he had established himself as a military
and colonial leader, participating in the Spanish conquest of
Nicaragua.

In 1531, Benalcdzar joined forces with FRANCISCO
PIZARRO in his third attempt to conquer the Inca Empire of
Peru, taking part in the Spanish victory at Cajamarca in
1532.In 1534, he launched his own expedition of conquest.
He pushed into what is now Ecuador, and, with the sup-
port of local Canari Indians, he occupied the Inca Indian
provincial capital of Quito. In 1535, he established the port
city of Guayaquil.

In 1536, Benalcdzar undertook another expedition
farther north, penetrating the interior of what is now
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Colombia. Along the way, he established settlements at
Popaydn and Cali. An Indian captured the previous year
had told Benalcdzar of a fabulous kingdom to the east, rich
in gold and precious stones, ruled by the “Gilded One,” an
Indian monarch covered by gold dust in sacred cere-
monies.

Benalcdzar continued to search for the land he dubbed
EL DORADO for the next few years. In 1539, he went east-
ward across Colombia’s central mountains, the Cordillera,
reaching the upper Magdalena River Valley, near present-
day Bogotd. There, he met up with GONZALO JIMENEZ
DE QUESADA as well as NIKOLAUS FEDERMANN, both of
whom had been exploring the region from the east. Subse-
quently, the three conquistadores traveled to Spain to re-
solve their conflicting claims. In Spain, Benalcdzar was
named governor of the Popaydn in what is now southwest-
ern Colombia.

During the 1540s, Benalcdzar became embroiled in the
civil wars generated by GONZALO PIZARRO and DIEGO DE
ALMAGRO. He ordered the execution of a rival without au-
thorization and was himself condemned to death. In 1551,
in Cartagena, while en route to Spain to appeal this sen-
tence, he died of fever.

Sebastidn de Benalcdzar expanded the Spanish conquest
of the Inca northward into what is now Ecuador and
Colombia. He founded the first important seaports on the
northwest coast of South America and led the first European
explorations across what is now Colombia. He is credited
with introducing the legend of El Dorado, an idea that con-
tinued to generate explorations into the South American
interior until the early 1600s.

Benavides, Alonzo de (Alonso de Benavides)
(fl. 1620s) Spanish missionary in New Mexico

Alonzo de Benavides was born in the AZORES off Portugal,
on the island of S0 Miguel. He traveled to the Americas in
about 1600, settling in Mexico City, where he studied for
the priesthood and entered the Franciscan order three years
later. He subsequently became director of the novices at the
Franciscan monastery in Puebla in east-central Mexico.

With the beginning of organized Spanish colonization
of New Mexico in 1621, Benavides was appointed as father
custodian of that province, in charge of all Franciscan mis-
sionary activities, including the construction of missions,
schools, and churches.

In 1622, Benavides traveled with a party of some 30
Franciscan friars to New Mexico, where he undertook expe-
ditions into the lands of the Apache Indians of the upper
Gila River Valley of present-day southwestern New Mexico.
In 1626, at Santa Fe, he established the Chapel of San
Miguel, one of the earliest Catholic chapels in the United
States.
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From Santa Fe, Benavides and his missionary staff em-
barked on a series of expeditions along the Rio Grande and
Pecos River, seeking to convert the Indians. Their mission-
ary work took them into the lands of the Navajo (Dineh)
and Hopi Indians, as well as the Rio Grande Pueblo Indians.
Benavides established a mission at the Acoma Pueblo of
Keres Indians in 1629. That same year, he founded a mis-
sionary settlement, Santa Clara de Capoo, on the edge of
Apache country. Santa Clara de Capoo developed into a base
for further missionary forays into the lands of the Apache.

From 1622 to 1629, Benavides succeeded in converting
as many as 16,000 Indians to Christianity and provided a
strong cultural base for Spanish domination of the region’s
native population.

In 1630, Benavides was relieved of his duties as father
custodian of New Mexico. He then returned to Spain, via
Mexico City, where he presented a detailed report of his ac-
tivities to King Philip IV, hoping to gain increased support
for his missionary pursuits in New Spain. This report,
known as the Memorial, includes extensive physical descrip-
tions of the territory that Benavides explored during his
years among the Indians of the American Southwest.

During the early 1630s, Benavides again traveled to the
Americas and revisited the missions he had established in
New Mexico. In 1634, he left for Goa, the Portuguese
colony on the east coast of India, where he eventually be-
came archbishop.

Through his missionary work, Alonzo de Benavides
helped open the American Southwest to Spanish colonization.

Benjamin of Tudela (Rabbi Benjamin of Tudela)
(unknown—1173) Spanish rabbi in the Middle East and
central Asia

A Spanish Jew, Rabbi Benjamin was born at Tudela in
northeastern Spain. In 1159, he set out from Saragossa for
the Mediterranean coast near Barcelona. He then embarked
from the port of Marseilles on an eastward journey in which
he planned to visit Jewish communities.

Benjamin of Tudela first sailed to Italy, then traveled into
Greece, Anatolia (Turkey), and Syria and visited Jerusalem
and the Holy Land. He crossed into Mesopotamia (present-
day Iraq), where he met with the caliph of Baghdad. After
traveling in Arabia and Persia (present-day Iran), according to
his own later account, he reached China’s western frontier be-
fore going on to India and Ceylon (present-day Sri Lanka).

In 1173, Rabbi Benjamin of Tudela returned to Spain
by way of Egypt and Sicily. He died later that same year.
His account, Massoth Schel Rabbi Benjamin, originally writ-
ten in Hebrew, was soon translated into Latin and other lan-
guages and became one of the first widely circulated travel
books in medieval Europe. An English edition, 7he Itinerary
of Rabbi Benjamin of Tudela (also known as Book of Travels

and The Travels of Rabbi Benjamin), first appeared in the
1840s. He was the first medieval explorer of the Orient and
is thought to be the first European to have reached China.

Bent, Charles (1799-1847) American trader,

first U.S. territorial governor of New Mexico, brother

of William Bent

Charles Bent was born in the Virginia town of Charleston,
part of present-day West Virginia. In 1806, his family
moved to the Louisiana Territory and settled in St. Louis,
where his father, Silas Bent, was appointed first deputy sur-
veyor and then a justice of the supreme court of the Mis-
souri Territory.

Starting in 1822, Bent embarked on a career in the FUR
TRADE on the upper MISSOURI RIVER. He worked for
JOSHUA PILCHER’s ST. LOUIS MISSOURI FUR COMPANY for
three years, eventually becoming Pilcher’s partner. By the
late 1820s, however, competition by JOHN JACOB ASTOR’s
larger AMERICAN FUR COMPANY, coupled with the decline
in the demand for beaver pelts brought on by a change in
fashion to hats made of silk, led Bent to leave the fur trade
and concentrate on the commercial opportunities presented
by the newly reopened Santa Fe Trail.

Starting in about 1826, Bent became active in the trade
in furs and buffalo hides on the upper Arkansas River, near
present-day La Junta, Colorado. In 1829, he organized and
led a trade caravan westward from Westport, Missouri (near
present-day Kansas City), and followed the Santa Fe Trail
across the southern plains. Accompanying him on this trip
was WILLIAM BENT, one of six brothers who, at various
times, participated in frontier trade. This 1829 trade expe-
dition was one of the earliest to use oxen to pull wagons
along the Santa Fe Trail. Near the present Colorado—New
Mexico stateline, Bent led his trade caravan through the
Cimarron Cutoff established by WiLLIAM BECKNELL. They
eventually reached Santa Fe, where they sold their trade
goods at a considerable profit.

By 1833, Bent was in partnership with frontier en-
trepreneur CERAN DE HAULT DE LASSUS DE ST. VRAIN. That
year, he founded Bent’s Fort on the Arkansas River, just
above the mouth of the Purgatoire in what is now south-
eastern Colorado. Bent’s Fort soon became an important
base for traders and settlers headed westward from Kansas
and western Missouri. Bent himself began to reside in Taos
at about this time, and placed his brother William in charge
of the operations at Bent’s Fort.

In 1837, Bent and St. Vrain established a second trad-
ing post in Colorado: Fort St. Vrain, on the South Platte
River, north of Pikes Peak. With supplies from the American
Fur Company and the HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY, Bent and
St. Vrain’s enterprise dominated the Indian trade south of
the Black Hills.



In 1835, Bent married Maria Ignacio Jaramillo, the
daughter of a prominent Taos family. Her sister, Josephine,
later married frontiersman CHRISTOPHER HOUSTON CAR-
SON (Kit Carson), a hunter at Bent’s Fort.

In 1842, Bent entered into a peace agreement with the
Comanche Indians that enabled him to expand his trade op-
eration into the Canadian River region of northern Texas.

Colonel STEPHEN WATTS KEARNY’s military expedition
from Kansas used Bent’s Fort as a staging area for the 1846
invasion of New Mexico. With the successful occupation of
Santa Fe and the surrounding area, Kearny named Bent as
the first governor of the provisional U.S. Territory of New
Mexico.

In January 1847, the Mexicans and Tiwa Indians of
Taos rose in rebellion against the American occupation.
While in Taos that month, Bent was killed and scalped by
warriors, who then paraded his body through the streets of
that town. American forces under Sterling Price soon put
down the revolt.

Charles Bent’s trade enterprise along the Santa Fe Trail
and his forts on the Arkansas and Platte Rivers contributed
to the non-Indian settlement of southern Colorado. By de-
veloping the Santa Fe Trail as a regular route from the Mis-
souri frontier, Bent also paved the way for future settlers
headed across the southern plains to Arizona and California.
Bent’s Fort itself provided an important stopover point for
the subsequent explorations of JOHN CHARLES FREMONT,
JAMES WILLIAM ABERT, JOHN WILLIAMS GUNNISON, ED-
WARD FITZGERALD BEALE, and others to the ROCKY MOUN-
TAINS and Far West.

Bent, James Theodore (1852-1897)

British archaeologist in Africa and the Middle East

Born in England, James Theodore Bent studied archaeol-
ogy at Oxford University, graduating in 1875.

In 1885-87, Bent studied the native customs in the
Aegean Sea islands; in 1889-90, he undertook a study of an-
tiquities in what is now Turkey, as well as in Bahrain in the
Persian Gulf.

Bent’s next studies, in 1891, involved the ancient burial
grounds in present-day Zimbabwe in southern Africa. He
described his work in the 1892 book 7he Ruined Cities of
Mashonaland.

Accompanying Bent on many of his expeditions was his
wife, Mabel Bent. Starting in 1893, the Bents began four
years of study and travel in Arabia, during which James pro-
duced one of the carliest European maps of the Hadhramaut
region of what is now Saudi Arabia.

James Theodore Bent’s archaeological studies led to
travel and exploration of islands in the MEDITERRANEAN
SEA, and in Africa and the Near East, increasing European
knowledge of those regions.
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Bent,William (1809-1869) American trader, trapper,
scout, Indian agent in the West, brother of Charles Bent
William Bent, one of CHARLES BENT’s six brothers, was born
in St. Louis. At the age of 15, he traveled up the Arkansas
River to trap for furs in what is now southeastern Colorado.
In 1830, he joined his brother Charles and CERAN DE
HAULT DE LASSUS DE ST. VRAIN in the FUR TRADE. In 1833,
they established Bent’s Fort on the Arkansas River, about
12 miles above the mouth of the Purgatoire River, near pre-
sent-day La Junta, Colorado.

While Charles Bent directed the company’s operations
from Taos and Santa Fe, New Mexico, William Bent re-
mained at the upper Arkansas River site, where he super-
vised the construction of Bent’s Fort, completed in 1833.
William remained as the manager of this post and directed
operations there over the next 16 years.

In 1846, Colonel STEPHEN WATTS KEARNY arrived at
Bent’s Fort in command of U.S. forces on their way to in-
vade New Mexico and northern Mexico at the outbreak of
the U.S.-Mexican War. Bent was commissioned by Kearny
as an army scout to lead his troops along the remaining
stretch of the Santa Fe Trail into New Mexico. In New Mex-
ico, he also served as a scout for Sterling Price in the sup-
pression of the Mexican and Pueblo revolt in Taos in early
1847, during which his brother Charles was killed.

With Céran St. Vrain’s retirement in 1849, William
Bent assumed sole control of Bent, St. Vrain & Co. Also in
1849, the federal government tended an offer to buy Bent’s
Fort for use as a military base. Rather than accept the gov-
ernment’s low price, Bent blew up the fort. In 1853, he es-
tablished a new trading post 40 miles downstream on the
Arkansas at the mouth of the Purgatoire River. Bent's New
Fort, as it came to be known, served as an important
stopover point and trading center on the Santa Fe Trail, as
well as a base for government surveys of the West. Ameri-
can settlers were attracted to the lands around the post and
it became the first permanent Anglo-American settlement in
present-day Colorado.

The Pikes Peak (Colorado) gold rush of 1859 brought
about a great influx of non-Indian fortune-seckers and set-
tlers into eastern Colorado, increasing tensions with the
Cheyenne Indians. Bent, a respected figure among tribes of
the southern plains because of his years of fair dealing with
them and his three marriages to local Indian women, was
given the position of Indian agent, which he held for sev-
eral years.

In 1860, Bent leased Bent’s New Fort to the U.S. Army.
Soon afterward, it was destroyed by a flood. A new army
post, Fort Lyon, was later built on the site.

Bent spent his retirement years in Westport, Missouri,
which had been the starting point of the Santa Fe Trail.
Among his neighbors was CHRISTOPHER HOUSTON CAR-
SON (Kit Carson), who had worked for Bent as a hunter at
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the upper Arkansas River post in the 1830s, as well as LOUIS
VASQUEZ and other fur traders who operated in the south-
ern ROCKY MOUNTAINS during the 1820s and 1830s.

From his early days as a fur trapper on the upper
Arkansas River, through his career in the Santa Fe Trail trade
on the southern plains, William Bent played a key role in the
exploration and settlement of the region. He served as an in-
termediary between the Indians, the settlers, and U.S. Army
forces that began to arrive in southeastern Colorado during
the years before and shortly after the Civil War. In addition,
both government and commercial expeditions exploring
the region north and south of the Santa Fe Trail made use
of trading posts managed by him.

Bering,Vitus Jonassen (1681-1741) Danish
mariner in Siberia and Alaska, in service to Russia

Vitus Bering was born in Horsens, Denmark. In the early
1700s, he embarked on a seafaring career that began with a
trip to the EAST INDIES aboard a Dutch ship. Returning to
Europe in 1703, he entered the service of the Royal Russian
Navy as a sub-lieutenant, reaching the rank of caprain in
1724.

In 1725, Czar Peter the Great commissioned Bering to
undertake an exploration of SIBERIA’s Pacific coast to deter-
mine if there were a land connection between Asiatic Russia
and the extreme northwestern part of North America. Czar
Peter I and other Russian leaders were also interested in es-
tablishing an Arctic route to open trade connections with
China and India.

That year, in what became known as the First Kam-
chatka Expedition, Bering traveled overland across Russia
and Siberia to the mouth of Kamchatka River on the
Siberian peninsula of the same name. Here, he directed the
construction of a ship, the St. Gabriel. In 1728, he sailed
from Kamchatka northeast along the Siberian coast to the
Gulf of Anadyr. During this leg of the expedition, he ex-
plored Krest Sound and Preobrazheniya Bay.

Bering continued northward through what later became
known as the BERING STRATIT, as far as 67°18' north latitude,
making the European discovery of St. Lawrence Island and
the Diomede Islands along the way. Because of heavy fog, he
failed to sight the coast of Alaska. Determining to his satis-
faction that there was no land connecting Siberia and North
America, he sailed south and west back to Kamchatka.

Bering returned to St. Petersburg in 1730, where Em-
press Anna had come to the Russian throne. Although the
Russian admiralty deemed the results of his initial explo-
rations to be inconclusive, Empress Anna appointed Bering
to lead a much larger exploration of eastern Siberia and the
unknown seas to the east. In 1733, Bering again headed
eastward across Russia and Siberia in command of what
came to be known as the Great Northern Expedition, which
also included the Second Kamchatka Expedition. This ven-

ture was organized on a large scale, involving 13 ships and as
many as 600 men.

Over the next six years, with Martin Spanberg and
ALEKSEY ILYICH CHIRIKOV serving as Bering’s chief lieu-
tenants, explorations were undertaken from the Pacific port
of Okhotsk into the Lake Baikal region and the Amur Basin.
Seaward expeditions were also made along the Arctic and Pa-
cific coasts of Siberia, and southward to the Kuril Islands,
north of Japan.

Bering resumed his seaward explorations to the east in
1740. Sailing on the S. Peter, which had been constructed at
Okhotsk, he rounded the southern end of the Kamchatka
Peninsula to the newly established settlement of Petro-
pavlovsk on the Pacific coast. There, he joined Chirikov,
who had directed the construction of another vessel, the St.
Paul. (The settlement’s name had been derived from the
Russian names for these two ships.)

On June 5, 1741, the two ships sailed from Petro-
pavlovsk and headed eastward. Accompanying Bering was
German naturalist GEORG WILHELM STELLER, who had
been sent by the Russian Academy of Science to study the
flora and fauna of Siberia and regions to the east. They ex-
plored Avacha Bay and searched in vain for the fabled Gama
Land, a non-existent landmass that was believed to lie in
the mid-Pacific. The two ships were soon separated, and
Bering continued eastward. On July 16, 1741, he sighted
Mount St. Elias on the Alaskan mainland and, soon after-
ward, he landed on Kayak Island in the northeastern corner
of the Gulf of Alaska. Chirikov’s contingent had also sighted
the Alaskan coast farther to the south.

Bering went on to explore Kodiak Island. On his re-
turn journey toward Siberia, he charted the Kenai Penin-
sula of Alaska and the Aleutian Islands. In early November
1741, near one of the Commander (Komandorski) Islands
off the coast of the Siberian Kamchatka Peninsula (later
called Bering Island), Bering’s ship ran aground.

Although Bering and his crew survived the shipwreck,
they were stricken with SCURvY while stranded. Bering,
along with 18 of his crew, died. The survivors were able to
build small boats from the wreckage of the Sz. Peter and
eventually reached the Siberian mainland.

Chirikov and Spanberg returned to St. Petersburg in
1743, with navigational reports indicating conclusively that
Siberia and North America were separated by the Bering
Strait. They also brought back samples of sea otter pelts,
which soon inspired the expansion of the Russian FUR
TRADE eastward from Siberia to the Aleutians and into the
Gulf of Alaska.

Reports of the Bering Strait had been made as carly as
the mid-16th century, considered by some to be the west-
ern outlet to the fabled STRAIT OF ANIAN, a mythical
NORTHWEST PASSAGE through North America to the At-
lantic. Cossack seafarer and explorer SEMYON IVANOVICH
DESHNEYV, based on his explorations of the Gulf of Anadyr



during the 1650s, had also suspected that Siberia did not ex-
tend into the North American continent. Vitus Bering’s ex-
peditions were the first to base this finding on modern
navigational methods. His explorations provided the basis
for Russia’s colonization of the Aleutians over the next 100
years, as well as the coastal islands and the mainland of

Alaska.

Berlandier, Jean-Louis (ca. 1805-1851)

French naturalist in Texas

Jean-Louis Berlandier was born in the French town of Fort
de I’Ecluse, not far from Geneva, Switzerland. He was
largely self-educated, studying Latin and Greek on his own
while working as an apprentice to a pharmaceutical com-
pany in Geneva.

The young Berlandier studied under Swiss botanist Au-
guste-Pryame de Candolle and accompanied him on field
trips in France and Switzerland. Berlandier’s talent as a nat-
uralist came to the attention of Mexico’s foreign minister,
Lucas Alemdn, one of Candolle’s former students. In 1825,
the Mexican government was organizing a scientific expedi-
tion to explore Texas and establish the boundary between
Mexico and the United States. Alemdn enlisted Berlandier to
take part in this expedition, and the young Frenchman jour-
neyed to Mexico City in 1827.

Berlandier left Mexico City with the Mexican Comisién
de Limites on November 10, 1827. The group under Gen-
eral Manuel de Mier y Terdn headed northward into Texas,
reaching the Rio Grande at present-day Laredo on February
2, 1828. They then continued toward the settlement of San
Fernando de Bexar (present-day San Antonio), arriving on
March 1, 1828.

During the following spring and summer, Berlandier
made an extensive exploration of the region northwest of
San Antonio including a detailed study of the area’s flora. In
fall 1828, he was invited to take part in a buffalo and bear
hunt with a group of Comanche Indians. A detachment of
Mexican soldiers and civilians also took part in this hunt,
commanded by Colonel José Francisco Ruiz, who was well
acquainted with the Comanche.

In early November 1828, Berlandier traveled with the
Comanche and Mexican hunting party into the largely un-
explored area northwest of San Antonio. After the Co-
manche had left the Mexican soldiers and civilians at the
Guadalupe River in late November, the group continued
on and explored northward as far as the Pedernales River,
then headed southward through Frio Canyon before return-
ing to San Antonio on December 18, 1828.

Following his service with the Mexican scientific expe-
dition into Texas, Berlandier settled in Matamoros, Mexico,
across the Rio Grande from present-day Brownsville, Texas.
He established himself as a medical doctor and married a
Mexican woman. He died in a drowning accident while at-
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tempting to cross the San Fernando River, south of Mata-
moros, in 1851.

Jean-Louis Berlandier’s account of his experiences with
the Comanche hunting party, entitled “Caza del oso y cibolo
en el noroeste de Tejas” (“Hunting bear and bison in north-
western Texas”), first appeared in a Mexican scientific jour-
nal in 1844. An artist as well as a naturalist, he illustrated his
writings with field sketches, landscapes, and some of the ear-
liest scientifically drawn maps of the interior of Texas.
Berlandier’s observations on the topography of the Texas in-
terior and on the ethnology of its native people provide an
accurate depiction of this area in the years prior to the ex-
tensive non-Indian settlement of the 1830s and 1840s.

Bernier, Joseph Elzéar (1852-1934)

Canadian mariner in the Arctic

Born in Llslet, Quebec, J. E. Bernier followed family tradi-
tion and pursued a career as a mariner. At the age of 14, he
started as a cabin boy and, after three years, became caprain
of the first of 105 ships that he would command during his
lifecime. He also served as a dockmaster at Lauzon, managed
an ice company, and served as governor of a prison.

Bernier developed an interest in Arctic navigation. He
also came to the conclusion that Canadian Arctic holdings
were being violated by foreign whaling ships: He believed
that any country adjacent to the Arctic had rights to any
islands within a triangle from the north shore of its
mainland to the apex at the NORTH POLE. To assert Cana-
dian sovereignty over Arctic islands, he first proposed an
expedition to the Canadian government in 1902. In the
years to come, from 1904 to 1911, he carried out Arctic
expeditions on behalf of Canada, during which he left
documentation declaring sovereignty on most islands up to
the 80th parallel.

In 1912-17, Bernier led several private expeditions to
the Arctic archipelago, prompted by rumors of gold on Baf-
fin Island. In 1922-25, he again sailed for the Canadian gov-
ernment, charting islands in the eastern Arctic. He came out
of retirement at the age of 75 for one last expedition, seeking
an Arctic route for grain ships to and from Churchill on
HUDSON BAY.

J. E. Bernier’s 12 Arctic expeditions helped establish the
dominant presence of Canada in the use of islands to its
north. They also provided a body of knowledge concerning
the geography of the Canadian Arctic and the navigation of
Arctic waters.

Berrio, Antonio de (Antonio de Berreo)
(ca. 1520-1597) Spanish mariner in South America
Little is known of Antonio de Berrio’s early life, except that
he was probably born in Spain and was a seafarer. He mar-
ried a niece of GONZALO JIMENEZ DE QUESADA, Spanish
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colonial governor of what is now eastern Colombia, becom-
ing his heir.

Starting in 1584, Berrio initiated a series of thorough
explorations of the ORINOCO RIVER, seeking the fabled land
of EL DORADO. Over the next 10 years, he expanded his
search to include the Guiana (present-day Guyana) region of
northeastern South America. His son, Fernando de Berrio,
explored the southern tributaries of the Orinoco.

In 1595, Berrio was taken prisoner at Trinidad by En-
glish explorer SIR WALTER RALEIGH. He was soon released
at the port settlement of Cumana in present-day Venezuela.
With information provided by Berrio, Raleigh himself set
out in search of El Dorado. Berrfo died in the Americas in
1597.

Antonio de Berrio’s efforts to find mythical, gold-laden
Indian lands led to increased knowledge among both the
Spanish and the English of the Orinoco River system.

Beutler, August (fl. 1750s) Dutch pioneer in
South Africa
August Beutler was an 18th-century Dutch sectler in
southern Africa’s Cape Town colony. In 1752, Beutler or-
ganized and led a group of colonists in an overland expe-
dition eastward from Cape Town, along the south coast of
Africa, beyond Algoa Bay, and into the present-day
Transkei region.

August Beutler’s expedition was one of the earliest ef-
forts to expand European settlement in southern Africa be-
yond the region around the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE.

Bienville, sieur de Sce LE MOYNE, JEAN-BAPTISTE.

Billardiére, Jacques-Julien Houtou de la
See LA BILLARDIERE, JACQUES-JULIEN HOUTOU DE.

Billings, Joseph (ca. 1758-1806) British navigator,
astronomer in the Siberian Arctic and Alaska, in service to
Great Britain and Russia

Joseph Billings was born in Furnham Green, England, near
London. He embarked on a naval career, becoming skilled
in navigation and astronomy. Serving on the Discovery as an
astronomer on JAMES COOK’s expedition of 1776-80, he
made his first journey into Arctic waters, to the north of the
BERING STRAIT.

In 1783, Billings entered the Russian navy. Two years
later, at the rank of caprain lieutenant, he took command of
Russia’s Northeastern Secret Geographical and Astronomical
Expedition, which was dispatched to locate a NORTHEAST
PASSAGE from the extreme northeast coast of SIBERIA into
the Bering Strait.

With Cook, Billings had reached as far as Cape Shmidta
on the central coast of the East Siberian Sea. For the Rus-
sians, he planned to explore from the mouth of the Kolyma
River eastward to Alaska. Yet, in 1786-87, he only suc-
ceeded in reaching the western end of the East Siberian Sea,
hundreds of miles west of Cape Shmidta and Bering Strait.
With the onset of winter, he settled at Yakutsk for almost a
year, engaging in the central Siberian FUR TRADE.

Starting in 1789, Billings, along with ANTON BATAKOV
and NIKOLAY DAURKIN directed a seaward attempt to pass
through Bering Strait and reach northeastern Siberia. Sailing
from Okhotsk on the east coast of Siberia, he failed in an
attempt to find an ice-free passage northwestward.

In 1790, in command of the ship Slava Rossy, with
Batakov and GAVRIIL ANDREYEVICH SARYCHEY, Billings ex-
plored the Aleutian Islands, as well as the Gulf of Alaska as
far east as Mount Saint Elias. The next year, he made an
overland crossing of the Chukchi Peninsula, traveling by
reindeer westward to the Kolyma River region. By 1793,
Billings was in Irkutsk, and from there he returned to St. Pe-
tersburg.

Joseph Billings spent nearly 10 years exploring the
northern reaches of eastern Siberia. His work revealed geo-
graphic information on the relationship between North
America and Asia and resulted in some of the first accurate
maps of the Chukchi Peninsula and the Sea of Okhotsk, as
well as the Aleutian Islands and Prince William Sound of
Alaska.

Binger, Louis-Gustave (1856-1936) French
explorer, colonial official in West Africa

Louis-Gustave Binger was a native of Strasbourg, France.
His first visit to Africa was with the French military. He re-
turned to the coast of Senegal in 1887, from where he began
a three-year exploration of the interior. The expedition was
supported in part by the French government, which at the
time was interested in establishing a colonial presence in
West Africa.

Binger ascended the Senegal River. Heading southeast-
ward across present-day Mali, he reached Bamako on the
upper NIGER RIVER. From that point, he examined the re-
gion south of the great bend of the Niger River to the head-
waters of the Volta. By late 1889, he had reached the Comoe
River, which he descended to its mouth on the Gulf of
Guinea. For this achievement, Britain’s ROYAL GEOGRAPHI-
CAL SOCIETY later awarded him its Founder’s Medal.

In 1892, Binger surveyed the boundary between the
Ivory Coast and the Gold Coast (present-day Ghana). In
carrying out this work, he ascended the Volta River north-
ward to its confluence with the Comoe.

In 1893, Binger became French colonial governor of the
Ivory Coast, and in 1897, he was appointed director of
African Affairs for the French colonial office.
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As a result of the explorations of Louis-Gustave Binger,
the region north of the Ivory Coast, which now comprises
much of Mali and Guinea, came under French control as
French West Africa. Binger was known as one of the creators
of France’s one-time colonial empire in West Africa. An
Ivory Coast city near the mouth of the Comoe River is
known today as Bingerville.

Bingham, Hiram (1875-1956) American historian

in South America, explorer of Inca sites in the Andes

Born in Honolulu, Hawaii, Hiram Bingham was the grand-
son of the American missionary of the same name who
founded the first Protestant mission in Hawaii. He studied
at Yale and Harvard Universities and at the University of
California and in the course of his academic career, special-
izing in Latin American history, taught at Yale, Harvard, and
Princeton.

In 1906-07, Bingham explored Venezuelan general
Simén Bolivar’s route across Venezuela and Colombia a cen-
tury earlier. In 1908-09, Bingham explored an old Spanish
trade route from Buenos Aires, Argentina, to Lima, Peru. In
1911, as director of the Yale Peruvian Expedition, Bingham
explored the Urubamba Valley in the ANDES MOUNTAINS in
search of the Inca sites of Vilcabamba and Vitcos, men-

Hiram Bingham (Library of Congress)

tioned in Spanish texts. He located instead the ruins of the
ancient Inca city of Machu Picchu, located on a peak rising
up above the valley about 50 miles northwest of Cuzco,
Peru. Archaeological evidence indicates that Machu Picchu
was a country retreat for Inca emperors, with temples,
shrines, and baths. Bingham subsequently located the ruins
of Espiritu Pampa (plain of ghosts), now believed to be Vil-
cabamba, the last Inca capital, which fell to the Spanish in
1572. In the years to come, Bingham carried out additional
fieldwork of Inca sites. The National Geographic Society
sponsored some of his work.

In World War I, Bingham directed an Aviation Instruc-
tion Center at Issoudun, France. In 1923-24, he served as
lieutenant governor of Connecticut, then as governor for
one year before becoming a U.S. (Republican) senator from
Connecticut for eight years.

Hiram Bingham’s expeditions, which he wrote about in
Inca Land (1922), Machu Picchu (1930), and Lost City of the
Incas (1948), increased knowledge of the Inca and the Span-
ish conquest. The road to Machu Picchu is known as the
Hiram Bingham Highway in his honor.

Biruni, Abu ar-Rayhan Muhammad ibn
Ahmad al- (Abu Raihan Muhammad al-Biruni,
al-Ustadh) (973-1048) Arab scholar in India

Al-Biruni was born in Kath, formerly considered part of the
Persian Empire and presently part of Karakalpak in Uzbek-
istan. Of Arab ancestry, he was associated with the court of
Sultan Mahmud and later Sultan Mawdud—probably orig-
inally as a captive, then as an adviser as well as a tutor—in
the city of Ghazna (present-day Ghazni, near Kabul,
Afghanistan). He became one of the most renowned schol-
ars among Muslims, mastering the Arabic, Persian, Turkish,
Sanskrit, and Hebrew languages and writing about mathe-
matics, astronomy, physics, botany, geography, geology,
mineralogy, and history in 113 works.

In 1017 or 1018, al-Biruni traveled to India for the first
time, accompanying Mahmud’s military force. While there,
he studied Indian customs, languages, science, and geogra-
phy, which he wrote about in one of his best-known books,
India. Al-Biruni explored parts of the GANGES RIVER and
theorized that the sea had once covered the INDUS RIVER.
Among his observations in other writings were a computa-
tion of the Earth’s circumference close to modern values and
different ways to determine north and south and LATITUDE
AND LONGITUDE.

Al-Biruni, known as al-Ustadh (the master), influenced
his contemporaries as well as Islamic and Hindu scholars
for generations. Although most of his works were lost, and
surviving works were not translated into European lan-
guages until the 20th century, some historians refer to the
period of intellectual activity during his lifetime as “the age
of al-Biruni.”
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Biscoe, John (1794-1843) British mariner, seal hunter

in Antarctica

Born in Enfield in Middlesex, England, John Biscoe joined
the Royal Navy in 1812. Starting in 1830, he commanded
seal-hunting expeditions on ships owned by the Enderby
brothers of England. Charles Enderby, a fellow of the ROYAL
GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY, encouraged Biscoe and his other
captains to explore for new lands during their voyages in
the Southern Hemisphere.

In 1831, Biscoe sailed from TASMANIA southward in
search of signs of land in the portion of the Antarctic adja-
cent to the Indian Ocean. He circumnavigated Antarctica,
reaching as far as 69° south latitcude by late January. He came
upon what he took to be a part of the mainland, naming it
Adelaide Land. Less than a month later, while exploring the
Antarctic south of the Indian Ocean, Biscoe sighted ice
cliffs, which he determined were actually exposed parts of a
landmass covered with ice from the sea. He named the re-
gion Enderby Land, after his employers.

John Biscoe was one of the first mariners to chart large
areas of the world’s last known continent. Enderby Land was
not explored again until SIR DOUGLAS MAWSON’s expedition
of 1929-31. In 1908-10, French polar explorer JEAN-BAP-
TISTE-ETIENNE-AUGUSTE CHARCOT showed that Adelaide
Land, which Biscoe also sighted and named, was really an is-
land. Biscoe Bay, near the Bay of Whales, as well as Biscoe
Island off Graham Land, are named in recognition of his
Antarctic explorations.

Bishop, Isabella Lucy Bird (1831-1904)

British world traveler, writer

Isabella Bishop, née Bird, was originally from Yorkshire,
England, where her father was a clergyman. She suffered
from a variety of maladies, including insomnia, severe
headaches, and a chronic spinal problem. At the age of
21, partly to regain her health, she embarked on a life of
travel.

In 1854-55, Bird traveled widely in the United States
and Canada. She set off again in 1872, visiting Australia and
NEW ZEALAND. From there she went to the HAWAIIAN Is-
LANDS, where she climbed Mauna Loa, the 13,675-foot vol-
canic mountain.

From Hawaii, Bird went to San Francisco, California,
and after resting for a few months at a sanatorium, she set
out by train for the Sierra Nevada in fall 1873. At Truckee,
Nevada, she left the train and over the next four months,
traveled 800 miles on horseback into the ROCKY MOUN-
TAINS. At Fort Collins, Colorado, she lived for a short time
with a family of settlers.

In 1878, Bird journeyed to the Far East. She visited the
remote regions of northern Japan, where she lived among
the aboriginal Ainu people. From Japan, she traveled to
Hong Kong, then to the Malay Peninsula.

Bird married Dr. John Bishop in 1881, settling in Ed-
inburgh, Scotland. Her husband died five years later. In
1888, Bishop resumed her life of travel, visiting India, Per-
sia (present-day Iran), Syria, and the Kurdistan region of
present-day Iraq.

In 1894, Bird traveled to Korea. She proceeded to
China in 1896, traveling in a small boat to the farthest nav-
igable point of the YANGTZE RIVER (Chang). By sampan,
she reached as far as the Tibet border. Soon afterward, she
made a final visit to Morocco.

In her 50 years of travels, Isabella Bishop circled the
globe three times, journeying to places in the American
West, the Pacific, and Asia seldom visited by Europeans, es-
pecially European women. She authored a number of books
detailing her exploits as a world traveler, including English-
woman in America (1856), The Hawaiian Archipelago
(1875), A Lady’s Life in the Rocky Mountains (1879), Un-
beaten Tracks in Japan (1880), Journeys in Persia and Kurdis-
tan (1891), and Korea and Her Neighbors (1898). In 1892,
she was elected as the first woman member of the ROYAL GE-
OGRAPHICAL SOCIETY.

Bjarni Herjulfsson See HERJULFSSON, BJARNI.

Black Beaver (1806-1880) Lenni Lenape (Delaware)
Indian guide, U.S. Army scout, interpreter, fur trapper, trader
in the American West

Black Beaver, a member of the Lenni Lenape (Delaware)
Indian tribe, was born in Illinois. As a young man, he moved
to the West and took part in the FUR TRADE in the ROCKY
MOUNTAINS during the 1820s—30s.

In 1834-35, Black Beaver joined General HENRY LEAV-
ENWORTH and Colonel HENRY DODGE in their exploration
of the southern plains. The purpose of these expeditions was
twofold: to convince Comanche, Kiowa, and Pawnee Indians
to accept the resettlement of Southeast tribes into the Indian
Territory, and to explore and chart the little-known regions
lying to the west and south of what is now eastern Oklahoma.

Along with the part-Cherokee Indian JESSE CHISHOLM,
Black Beaver traveled with the Dodge-Leavenworth expedi-
tion westward from Fort Gibson in present-day eastern Ok-
lahoma, southwestward along the Arkansas River, and across
the southern plains into the Washita Mountains and Red
River region of present-day western Oklahoma and northern
Texas. This first expedition of 1834 penetrated the lands of
Osage and Kiowa Indians. Black Beaver served as the inter-
preter in the ensuing negotiations between the army and
tribal leaders.

Over the next year, several other expeditions from Fort
Leavenworth, Kansas, onto the southern plains were under-
taken by Leavenworth’s command, with Black Beaver as
guide and interpreter. He participated in the exploration of



the Cross Timbers region, a 30-mile-wide belt of forested
land lying between the Arkansas River and COLORADO
River, where contact was made with the Comanche. Black
Beaver helped guide Leavenworth’s men as far as the eastern
Rockies of what is now Colorado.

During the U.S.-Mexican War of 1846-48, Black
Beaver was an army scout for U.S. forces under General
William Selby Harney in his campaign on Mexico’s east
coast.

In 1849, following the discovery of gold in California,
the flow of migrants across the southwestern desert to the
Pacific coast increased dramatically. That year, Black Beaver
assisted Captain RANDOLPH BARNES MARCY in leading a
wagon train of 500 settlers westward across Texas and New
Mexico. On the return journey, Black Beaver blazed a new
trail from the Brazos River, in northwest Texas, eastward to
Fort Smith, Arkansas, then the gateway to the southwestern
frontier.

Black Beaver worked as a trader and trapper in the
Southwest throughout the 1850s, and, with the outbreak of
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the Civil War in 1861, he served as a scout for Union forces
in the New Mexico and western Texas campaigns. At the
war’s close in 1865, Black Beaver served as an interpreter for
the U.S. Army at the Little Arkansas Council, an important
diplomatic conference with tribes of the southern plains.

In his later years, Black Beaver settled on Lenni Lenape
lands along the Washita River near Anadarko in the Indian
Territory (present-day Oklahoma). He became a leader and
spokesperson for the Lenni Lenape in their dealings with the
army and the Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Black Beaver was one of many Native American guides,
interpreters, and trailblazers essential to the non-Indian ex-
ploration of North America.

Blaeu,Willem Janzoon (Guillielmus Blaeu)
(1571-1638) Dutch geographer, cartographer, publisher
A native of the Netherlands, Willem Blaeu studied geogra-
phy and astronomy under the 16th-century Danish as-
tronomer Tycho Brahe. In the early 1600s, Blacu established
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a printing business in Amsterdam, which became one of the
foremost publishers of maps and atlases.

Blaeu’s earliest works were mainly celestial and terres-
trial globes. He published a large atlas in 1630, the first such
work to appear since ABRAHAM ORTELIUS’s annual atlas of
1570-98. Blaeu’s atlas included the first detailed maps of
both North and South America, plus recently discovered ge-
ographic information. It was one of the first maps to show
accurately that Tierra del Fuego was not connected to a
GREAT SOUTHERN CONTINENT, but was an island off the
tip of South America.

Over the next 42 years, the Blacu atlas appeared in new
editions, eventually encompassing 11 volumes, with infor-
mation on all the known continents. Blaeu compiled geo-
graphic data for his maps from the works of English
mapmaker John Speed, and also drew from the maps of the
Flemish cartographers Ortelius and GERARDUS MERCATOR.
After his death, Blaeu’s sons Cornelius and Johann carried
on the business until 1672.

Throughout the 1600s, Willem Blaeu’s maps and atlases
reflected the latest geographic findings. Although his maps
were among the first to be mass-produced, they gained a
reputation throughout Europe for high quality and accuracy,
largely due to Blaeu’s development and use of specially de-
signed printing presses.

Blaxland, Gregory (1778-1853) Australian pioneer
in the Blue Mountains

Born in Kent, England, Gregory Blaxland was among the
first generation of colonists in what is now New South
Wales, Australia. As a farmer near the coastal settlement of
present-day Sydney, he faced financial ruin because of severe
drought conditions in 1810.

In search of new pasture lands and a new source of
water, Blaxland traveled up the Warragamba River, hoping
to find a route through the high cliffs and deep canyons of
the BLUE MOUNTAINS, less than 50 miles west of Sydney.
From his two forays up the Warragamba, Blaxland deter-
mined that a route through the Blue Mountains could be
found by following interconnected ridges rather than at-
tempting any direct ascents.

In May 1813, accompanied by fellow landowner WIL-
LIAM CHARLES WENTWORTH, surveyor William Lawson,
and aboriginal guide James Burnes, as well as several con-
vict servants, Blaxland set out from his farm at South Creek.
The party, equipped with pack-horses, followed the high
ridges without making descents into the canyons. They
eventually reached a peak affording a view of the Bathurst
Plains, a large fertile region to the west, naturally irrigated by
the abundant waters of the Lett River.

Later that year, an expedition sponsored by the British
colonial governor, Lachlan Macquarie, followed Blaxland’s
route, continued beyond his westernmost point, and, on

crossing the GREAT DIVIDING RANGE, located the Fish
River.

Less than two years after Blaxland’s 1813 trek into the
Blue Mountains, convict laborers constructed a road along
his route that connected Sydney with the newly established
inland settlement of Bathurst. In 1815, Blaxland himself set-
tled at Bathurst, the first British settlement west of the Blue
Mountains.

By blazing a trail through the Blue Mountains, Gre-
gory Blaxland opened up eastern Australia to the rapid ex-
ploration and settlement that took place over the next 75
years. The peak from which he first saw the region west of
the Blue Mountains is known today as Mount Blaxland.

Bligh,William (1754-1817) British naval officer

in the Pacific

William Bligh was born and raised in Tyntan, near the port
city of Plymouth, England. He began his naval career in his
early teens, and then, in 1776-80, he served as sailing master
on the Resolution during JAMES COOK’s third Pacific expedi-
tion. On this voyage, Bligh first visited Tahiti; explored Prince
William Sound, Alaska; and, in January 1779, undertook a
reconnaissance of Kealakekua Bay on the newly explored is-
land of Hawaii.

Upon his return to England in 1780, Bligh was pro-
moted to lieutenant. He took part in hydrographic surveys,
as well as naval engagements at Dogger Bank in the North
Sea and at Gibraltar.

In December 1787, Bligh took command of the Bounty
in an expedition aimed at obtaining breadfruit trees in Tahiti
and introducing them as a food source for slaves in the WEST
INDIES. After a 10-month journey, the Bounty reached Tahiti
in late October 1788. Six months later, Bligh set out for the
WEST INDIES with a cargo of living breadfruit trees. On April
28, 1789, while off the Friendly Islands, members of the
crew, led by Fletcher Christian, rose up in mutiny. Along
with 18 loyal crew members, Bligh was set adrift in a 23-foot-
long open boat, with a minimal supply of food and water.

Using only basic navigational instruments and no
charts, Bligh sailed the open boat across nearly 4,000 miles
of the western Pacific. After three months, he safely brought
his men to Timor, a Dutch colonial port in what is now In-
donesia. Some of the mutineers were later captured, tried,
and executed. Others, including Christian, founded a com-
munity on Pitcairn Island, where their descendants still live.

Bligh returned to England in spring 1790. Soon after-
ward, he was given command of the Providence, and in
1791-93, he undertook another voyage to Tahiti, succeeding
in transporting more than 300 live breadfruit trees to Jamaica.

In the late 1790s and early 1800s, Bligh distinguished
himself in naval actions against the French. In 1801, he was
commended by Admiral Horatio Nelson for his service in
the victory at Copenhagen.



William Bligh (Library of Congress)

Bligh was appointed governor of New South Wales,
Australia, in 1805. His attempts to stem alcohol consump-
tion led to the so-called Rum Rebellion, in which the offi-
cers under his command mutinied and imprisoned him in
1808. Released in 1810, Bligh returned to England, where
he was appointed rear admiral in 1811, then vice admiral
in 1814.

William Bligh’s naval career is most associated with the
1789 Bounty mutiny, and his reputation as an overly harsh
disciplinarian often obscures his maritime accomplish-
ments. Yet, as a sailing master, he played a significant role
in Cook’s explorations of the Gulf of Alaska, where Prince
William Sound’s Bligh Reef was named in his honor.
Moreover, his 1789 open-boat voyage following the
Bounty mutiny was a remarkable navigational endeavor.
Although Bligh succeeded in his second attempt to trans-
port live Tahitian breadfruit plants to Jamaica and the
British West Indies, his efforts had limited practical results.
The native laborers of the West Indies did not take to
breadfruit as a staple food, continuing to prefer bananas
and plantains.

Block, Adriaen (Adriaen Blok) (fl. 1610s)

Dutch navigator on the east coast of North America

Dutch seafarer Adriaen Block first explored the waters off
the coast of present-day New York and New England with
HENRY HUDSON in 1609.
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In 1613, Block returned to New York Bay as comman-
der of one of five ships in a fleet sent out by the Dutch gov-
ernment to trade for furs with the Indians of the Hudson
River Valley. His ship, the 7iger, ascended the Hudson River
and spent the winter in contact with Native Americans near
present-day Albany, New York. In early 1614, the 7iger was
destroyed by fire. Block then directed his crew in the con-
struction of a new ship, the Unrest.

From Albany, Block sailed down the Hudson to Man-
hattan, then navigated the treacherous currents of a narrow
channel of the East River between present-day Wards Island
and Astoria, Queens. With its passage through what he
named Hellegat or Hell Gate, Block’s Unrest became the first
European ship to enter Long Island Sound from the west.
While exploring along the south coast of present-day Con-
necticut, Block became the first European to discover the
Housatonic and Connecticut Rivers. He sailed up the Con-
necticut River for a distance of about 50 miles, to the site of
present-day Hartford, before returning south to Long Island
Sound. Then, sailing eastward, he came upon a large island,
which became known as Block Island.

Block next explored what is now Rhode Island and the
Massachusetts coast, rounding Cape Cod and reaching as far
north as Nahant Bay, just north of present-day Boston.
Leaving the Unrest at Cape Cod, he joined the rest of the
Dutch fleet on a return trip to the Netherlands.

Adriaen Block led the first Dutch expedition to follow up
Henry Hudson’s explorations of the east coast of North Amer-
ica. Soon after his return to Amsterdam in 1614, he produced
an early map of New Netherland, which clearly showed Long
Island as separate from Manhattan. The Unresz, which his
men built on the Hudson, was one of the first European ships
to be constructed in what is now the United States.

Blunt, Anne Isabella (Lady Anne Blunt,
Baroness Wentworth) (1837-1917) British traveler

in the Middle East, writer, wife of Wilfrid Scawen Blunt
Born Anne Isabella Noel, Lady Anne Blunt was the daugh-
ter of William, earl of Lovelace, and Augusta Ada Byron;
granddaughter of Lord Byron the poet; and great-great-
granddaughter of the British naval officer and explorer JOHN
BYRON. She had become an accomplished artist by the time
of her marriage in 1869 to British diplomat and later poet
WILFRID SCAWEN BLUNT.

Lady Anne accompanied her husband on his many trav-
els into North Africa and the Middle East. In 1877—79, she
joined him in an expedition into the heart of the Arabian
Peninsula, including present-day Iraq. Although she and
Blunt wore native clothes, they made no attempt to dis-
guise themselves as Muslims.

Lady Anne Blunt’s 1881 book, A Pilgrimage to Nejd, is
an account of her experiences as the first European woman
to travel openly in present-day Saudi Arabia.
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Blunt, Wilfrid Scawen (1840-1922) British traveler
in the Middle East, writer, husband of Anne Isabella Blunt
Wilfrid Blunt served briefly in the British diplomatic service
before embarking on a career as a poet and political activist
with strong anti-imperialist convictions. With his wife,
ANNE ISABELLA BLUNT, he traveled widely in North Africa
and the Middle East.

Blunt was a breeder of Arabian horses. In 1877, he
planned a trip deep into the Arabian Peninsula to buy breed-
ing stock for his stud farm. Blunt and his wife started from
Iskenderun on the Mediterranean coast of southeastern
Turkey and traveled down the Euphrates River to Baghdad.
From Baghdad, they followed the Tigris River northward,
touring the region that once comprised ancient Mesopo-
tamia (present-day Iraq), then returned to Damascus and
the coast of the MEDITERRANEAN SEA.

The Blunts returned to Damascus in 1879. They be-
friended an influential Arab sheik and, under his protection,
traveled southward from Damascus into the Nefud (Nejd)
region of present-day central Saudi Arabia. They studied the
life and culture of the bedouin and Shammar people, then
headed northward to Baghdad. They eventually reached the
Persian Gulf port of Bushehr, where they obtained passage
back to Europe.

Wilfrid Blunt and Lady Anne Blunt were among the
first Europeans to travel into the interior of Arabia openly as
Christians. Blunt’s outspoken sentiments on behalf of the
rights of Muslims in the face of European colonialism prob-
ably aided in his travels through regions not usually hos-
pitable to non-Muslims.

Bocharov, Dmitry lvanovich (fl. 1770s-1790s)
Russian mariner in southern Alaska

Dmitry Bocharov was a Russian mariner along the Pacific
coast of SIBERIA. In 1771, along with GERASIM ALEKSEYE-
VICH IZMAILOV, he became involved in a mutiny on the
Kamchatka Peninsula and was forced to travel southward
through the Kuril Islands and the islands of northern Japan
to Canton in southern China. He made his way to Europe
aboard a French vessel. Back in Russia, he was jailed briefly
but was soon cleared of complicity in the mutiny.

By the early 1780s, Bocharov had returned to seafaring
around Kamchatka and the Sea of Okhotsk. He entered the
service of Russian fur entrepreneur GRIGORY IVANOVICH
SHELIKOV, taking part in the 1783-84 voyages establishing
the first Russian fur-trading settlements at the eastern end of
the Gulf of Alaska.

In 1786, Bocharov, sailing in an open boat, surveyed
the Aleutian Islands southwest of Kodiak. Two years later,
again with Izmailov, he explored a wide stretch of the north
coast of the Gulf of Alaska, from the Kenai Peninsula east-
ward to Yakutat Bay.

Bocharov commanded the 7hree Saints in 1790, when
it took ALEKSANDR ANDREYEVICH BARANOV from eastern
Siberia to Alaskan waters. On that voyage, the ship was
wrecked on Unalaska Island, but under Bocharov’s direc-
tion, the passengers and crew constructed small open boats
on which they were able to reach Kodiak.

In 1791, Bocharov explored the eastern end of the
Alaska Peninsula and succeeded in finding a water route be-
tween Bristol Bay to the north and the Gulf of Alaska to the
south.

Dmitry Bocharov’s explorations led to an expansion of
the Russian FUR TRADE in southern Alaska. By discovering
a passage through the Alaska Peninsula, he provided an im-
portant shipping link between the trading settlements north
of the Aleutians and the principal Russian settlements on the

Gulf of Alaska.

Bodega y Quadra, Juan Francisco de la

(Juan Francisco de la Bodega y Quadra

Mollineda, Juan Francisco Bodega y Cuadra)
(1744-1794) Spanish naval officer in Alaska and the

Pacific Northwest

Juan Francisco de la Bodega was born in Lima, Peru. His
father was a Spanish diplomat at Cuzco, and his mother, a
descendant of a leading Peruvian family. In 1762, Bodega
joined the Spanish navy’s marine guard, and, over the next
12 years, he rose in rank to ship’s lieutenant while serving on
Spanish warships.

In 1774, Bodega traveled to San Blas, the main port of
the Spanish navy’s North Pacific Fleet, on the central west
coast of Mexico. The following year, with an expedition
headed by BRUNO HECETA, he commanded the schooner
Sonora along the Pacific coast of North America, and ex-
plored what is now known as Grays Harbor in Washington.
Accompanied by JUAN JOSEF PEREZ HERNANDEZ, Bodega
followed the coast of what is now British Columbia and the
southern Alaskan panhandle, reaching 58°30' north lati-
tude. En route, he explored Prince of Wales Island; on its
western side, he located and named Bucareli Sound. Also on
this voyage, Bodega sailed into Sitka Sound and sighted
Mount Edgecombe. Heceta meanwhile had been forced to
turn back off Vancouver Island in present-day British
Columbia.

In 1776, Bodega returned to Peru, where he obtained a
new ship for Spanish exploration in the Pacific Northwest.
In command of the Favorita, he again sailed to Alaskan wa-
ters as part of Lieutenant Ignacio de Arteaga’s expedition of
1779. The Spanish government had sent the fleet to investi-
gate the extent of Russian colonization in Alaska and to in-
tercept the ships in JAMES COOK’s expedition that were then
exploring the BERING STRAIT for a northern passage across
Asia or North America.



Bodega again reached Prince of Wales Island and un-
dertook an extensive survey of Bucareli Sound. He then con-
tinued northward into the eastern Gulf of Alaska, sighting
Mount Saint Elias and Kayak Island. He took part in the
official ceremonies at Nuchek Bay and on the Kenai Penin-
sula, in which Arteaga officially claimed southern Alaska
for Spain. Bodega reached as far west as Kodiak Island but
did not venture beyond that point, and was thus unable to
meet up with Cook’s expedition, at that time commanded
by CHARLES CLERKE.

Throughout the 1780s, Bodega held high positions in
the Spanish navy in Havana, Cuba, and in C4diz, Spain.
He returned to San Blas in 1789. In 1792, he took com-
mand of the Spanish naval base at Nootka Sound on the
west shore of Vancouver Island. His appointment came in
the wake of the Nootka Sound Crisis of 1789, which had
brought Great Britain, Spain, and the United States to the
brink of war.

At Nootka in 1792-93, Bodega supervised the admin-
istration of the diplomatic settlement of the crisis. There he
met with American sea captain ROBERT GRAY and British
naval officer GEORGE VANCOUVER, providing both with
navigational information about the Pacific coast. Bodega
directed further Spanish exploration around Vancouver Is-
land, especially the Strait of Juan de Fuca. He also estab-
lished a Spanish naval installation at what is now Neah Bay,
Washington. Ships under his command explored north-
ward from Nootka into the fjords of British Columbia and
southeastern Alaska, making one of the final searches for
the NORTHWEST PASSAGE undertaken by a European
power. After a year in command at Nootka, Bodega re-
turned to San Blas. Before long, he died of a seizure in
Mexico City.

In the early 1790s, under the leadership of Juan Fran-
cisco de la Bodega, Spanish influence in the Pacific North-
west reached its highest point. Bodega’s explorations along
the northwest coast of North America resulted in accurate
navigational data, which aided in the subsequent findings
of Vancouver and Gray. While secking to carry out the
terms of the diplomatic settlement at Nootka, Bodega di-
rected one of Spain’s last great official explorations of
North America.

Bodmer, Karl (Carl Bodmer) (1809-1893)

Swiss artist on the upper Missouri River

Karl Bodmer was born in Riesbach, Switzerland. He first
studied art with his uncle, Swiss draftsman Johann Jakob
Mayer, then went to art school in Paris.

While on a sketching trip in Germany in 1832, Bod-
mer was engaged by ALEXANDER PHILIPP MAXIMILIAN to
accompany him on an expedition to the American West
and provide drawings and pictures of Indians and frontier
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scenes. In May of that year, he traveled with Maximilian
and the prince’s servant to Boston, New York, and St.
Louis. From there, they traveled on a fur company steam-
boat up the MISSOURI RIVER to the frontier trading posts
in what is now Nebraska, South and North Dakota, and
Montana.

Bodmer produced pictures of the Sioux (Dakota,
Lakota, Nakota) Indians who came to trade at Fort
Pierre in present-day South Dakota. Farther up the river
at Fort Clark (now Bismarck, North Dakota), he painted
portraits of the Mandan Indians and scenes of their daily
life.

Bodmer and Maximilian went on to Fort Union at the
mouth of the Yellowstone River. They continued by KEEL-
BOAT into present-day Montana as far as the mouth of
the Marias River, where they spent a few weeks at Fort
McKenzie.

At Fort McKenzie, Bodmer painted portraits of Black-
feet Indians and produced landscapes of the distant ROCKY
MOUNTAINS. He witnessed a surprise attack by Assiniboine
and Cree Indians against the Blackfeet encamped outside
the fort, recording the incident in a painting.

Bodmer and Maximilian returned in fall 1833 to Fort
Clark, where they spent the winter. Over the next several

Karl Bodmer (Library of Congress)
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months, Bodmer made pictures of Mandan life around the
post. He also painted Arikara and Hidatsa Indians.

Bodmer returned to St. Louis with Maximilian in
spring 1834. The two traveled back to New York, then sailed
for Europe.

In Paris, Bodmer worked at turning his pictures into en-
gravings that served as illustrations for Maximilian’s 1839
account of the expedition: Travels in the Interior of North
America. Although the book was published in a limited edi-
tion, Bodmer’s pictures were well received and gained him
widespread recognition.

In his later career, Bodmer became part of the art
colony at Barbizon and developed a long association with
the artist Jean-Francois Millet. He continued to execute
scenes of early American frontier life, including depictions
of the exploits of frontiersman DANIEL BOONE.

Karl Bodmer took part in one of the earliest expeditions
to the upper Missouri whose aims were cultural and scien-
tific, rather than commercial and political. His pictures pre-
serve the images of the vanished Mandan, who were all but
wiped out by a smallpox epidemic just three years after his
visit.

Bogle, George (1746-1781) British official in Tibet
George Bogle was born near Haddington in southern Scot-
land to a fairly prominent family. After his early education at
Haddington and Glasgow, he attended the University of Ed-
inburgh, then studied at a private school until 1764. That
year, he began to work for his older brother’s banking busi-
ness, but he left in 1769 and entered the service of the
BRITISH EAST INDIA COMPANY.

By 1774, Bogle had become a judicial official in India,
serving on behalf of the British East India Company and its
governor general, Warren Hastings. That year, Hastings
commissioned Bogle to undertake a diplomatic mission
across the HIMALAYAS into Tibet. With Alexander Hamilton
and a small party of other East India Company men, along
with several natives, Bogle traveled northward from Calcutta
through Bhutan, crossed the Tsangpo River, and reached
Shigatse in southern Tibet. He established friendly relations
with the Dalai Lama of Tibet, then returned to India.

From 1776 to 1779, Bogle continued to hold high po-
sitions as a colonial administrator in northeastern India. He
planned a second expedition to Tibet but died before he
could carry it out. Soon after his death in 1781, the rulers
of Tibet forbade further visits by Europeans, and no trade
connections were made.

George Bogle was the first European to visit Tibet since
Jesuit missionaries earlier in the 18th century. In 1876,
nearly a century after his death, British geographer Clement
R. Markham published an account of the journey, based
upon private papers and journals provided by Bogle’s family.

Boller, Henry A. (1836-1902) American fur trader on
the upper Missouri River

Henry Boller was born in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, the
son of a fairly successful merchant. As a boy, he developed an
interest in the western frontier, especially the life of the In-
dians. He was particularly influenced by frontier artist
GEORGE CATLIN’s illustrations of Indian life on the upper
MISSOURI RIVER.

Although Boller entered the University of Pennsylvania
in 1852, he left short of graduation, soon seeking his father’s
support for a voyage to India or China. Instead of sending
his son to the Far East, the elder Boller accompanied Henry
on a trip to St. Louis, Missouri, in spring 1857, where they
investigated the possibility of entering the upper Missouri
FUR TRADE. Henry again traveled to St. Louis the next year
and found a job with the independent fur-trading outfit
Clark, Primeau & Company.

Boller was hired as a clerk and was assigned to the com-
pany’s fur-trading post near Fort Berthold, on the north
bank of the Missouri, not far from present-day Stanton,
North Dakota. At this post, he dealt extensively with Man-
dan and Gros Ventre (Atsina) Indians.

Boller’s tenure at the Knife River trading post ended in
spring 1860, when Clark, Primeau & Company was ac-
quired by the AMERICAN FUR COMPANY. He returned to St.
Louis and entered into a business partnership with the vet-
eran frontier fur trader CHARLES LARPENTEUR.

Because of the American Fur Company’s domination of
the upper Missouri fur trade, Boller and Larpenteur were un-
able to arrange steamboat service to carry their goods to the
Dakotas and points west. As a result, in August of that year,
they shipped their goods north via the Mississippi River to
the port of St. Paul, Minnesota. From St. Paul, Boller, Lar-
penteur, and their men carried their goods overland by
wagon train to Pembina on the Red River of the North in
present-day northeastern North Dakota. As planned, the
wagon caravan broke into two groups at Pembina. Larpen-
teur led one party westward to the mouth of the Yellowstone
River, into the lands of the Assiniboine Indians. Several miles
above the mouth of the Yellowstone, he established his trad-
ing post, Fort Stuart. Meanwhile, Boller accompanied the
rest of the wagons and men in a journey across what is now
central North Dakota to Fort Berthold, on the Missouri,
where he had started in the fur trade three years earlier.

Boller, along with another partner, trapper Jeff Smith,
spent the next summer, fall, and winter trading for furs in
the Fort Berthold region, operating out of a makeshift trad-
ing station they had converted from an Indian earth lodge.
In March 1861, Boller and Smith traveled up the Missouri
and Yellowstone Rivers to join Larpenteur and the rest of the
trading expedition at Fort Stuart.

Boller and Smith arrived at Fort Stuart just as the win-
ter fur-trapping season was coming to a close. Since at that



time there were no steamboats servicing the independent fur
traders that far up the Missouri, they suggested to Larpen-
teur that they transport the winter’s fur harvest back along
the overland route to Pembina and St. Paul for shipment
down the Mississippi River to St. Louis. Larpenteur dis-
agreed with this idea; he prevailed in his plan to ship the furs
down the Missouri by boat directly to St. Louis. A 65-foot
flat-bottomed craft, known as a Mackinaw boat, was con-
structed for the trip; after Boller and Smith had gone on
ahead, Larpenteur traveled downriver with the furs. In this
way, Boller and his partners were able to ship their goods
directly to St. Louis by the easier and cheaper downriver
route, thereby avoiding the costly and time-consuming over-
land trek to St. Paul.

In St. Louis that summer, Boller received his share of
the profits, then left the firm and returned to Philadelphia.
There he soon became engaged to marry Mary Parsons, a
journalist. In 186364, he lived in Montana, taking part in
the gold rush around Bannack and Virginia City. He also
spent time in the Salt Lake region of Utah.

In 1864, Boller briefly returned to Philadelphia, but he
soon set out again for Montana. In 1866, he traveled to Cal-
ifornia, purchased a herd of horses, and drove them back to
Montana to sell at a considerable profit. He then returned to
Philadelphia to marry Mary Parsons.

Boller’s wife was an accomplished journalist, and with
her encouragement, he wrote of his career on the upper Mis-
souri River and the Montana frontier in the book Among the
Indians: Eight Years in the Far West, 1858—1867 (1867). The
work includes detailed descriptions of steamboat travel on
the upper Missouri and everyday life of Native Americans.

In 1868, Boller and his wife settled in Junction City,
Kansas, where he became involved in the cattle business. In
about 1878, he moved with his family to Denver, Colorado,
finding work first in insurance and then in the real estate
business. Boller had plans to revise his book, but he died
before its completion.

Henry Boller witnessed the last years of the fur trade
on the upper Missouri. His travels and those of carlier
mountain men helped open the American west to non-In-
dian settlement.

Bombay, Sidi (unknown—-1889) African guide,
interpreter in East and central Africa
Sidi Bombay was a Yao tribesman from the interior of what
is now Tanzania. Little is known of his origins or early life
except that he had been a slave owned by a man from Bom-
bay, India, and that he had adopted that city’s name as his
own. After gaining his freedom, he served as a soldier with
the forces of the sultan of Zanzibar.

In summer 1857, Bombay, who was fluent in Hindu-
stani, Arabic, and East African languages, was hired by SIR
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RICHARD FRANCIS BURTON and JOHN HANNING SPEKE as
guide and interpreter for their expedition into the interior of
East Africa in search of the source of the NILE RIVER. Soon
after the explorers set out from the coastal settlement of Bag-
amoyo in August, Bombay was given the additional respon-
sibility of managing the supply caravan. In August 1858,
while Burton remained behind at Tabora to recover from ill-
ness, Bombay accompanied Speke on a journey northward
to Lake Victoria.

Bombay, who proved essential to the success of the ex-
pedition, was again engaged by Speke on his return to East
Africa in 1860 to follow up his earlier investigations of
Lake Victoria, this time with JAMES AUGUSTUS GRANT.
Bombay’s duties included recruiting additional porters as
well as serving as Speke’s second in command when Grant
was incapacitated by a leg injury. Although many of the na-
tive bearers eventually deserted, Bombay and his men re-
mained loyal to Speke and Grant throughout the
expedition.

Bombay was employed by SIR HENRY MORTON STAN-
LEY in 1871, when he set out in search of Dr. DAVID LIV-
INGSTONE in East Africa’s lake region. Two years later, he
accompanied English explorer VERNEY LOVETT CAMERON
in his east-to-west trek across the African continent.

Bombay served for a short period as a missionary. He
then retired to a farm in Zanzibar purchased for him by
Speke and lived on a pension granted to him by the ROYAL
GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY in recognition of his contributions
to European exploration in Africa. He died on his farm in
1885.

Sidi Bombay, like other native guides and interpreters,
proved indispensable to the European exploration and dis-
covery of the interior of Africa. His geographic knowledge,
linguistic abilities, and administrative skill helped Burton,
Speke, Cameron, and Stanley in their travels throughout
hazardous regions of the African continent.

Boncourt, Louis-Charles-Adélaide Chamisso
de See CHAMISSO DE BONCOURT, LOUIS-CHARLES-
ADELAIDE.

Bonin, Charles (1865-1929) French traveler in Asia
In 1893, Frenchman Charles Bonin traveled into Southeast
Asia, visiting Malaya (present-day Malaysia) and Laos. He
then went to China, and over the next seven years, he trav-
eled widely throughout Mongolia and Tibet and into
SIBERIA. Bonin subsequently served in the French Ministry
of Foreign Affairs as director of archives.

In the course of his travels in China, Charles Bonin
charted the YANGTZE RIVER (Chang) and YELLOW RIVER
(Huang He) using modern scientific methods. In 1898,
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he made the first European foray into the lands of the Lolo
people.

Bonneville, Benjamin Louis Eulalie de
(1796-1878) U.S. Army officer, American fur trader in the
American West

Benjamin de Bonneville was born near Paris, France, as the
French Revolution was giving way to the rise of Napoléon
Bonaparte. His family was prominent in radical politics and
among family friends were many revolutionary sympathiz-
ers, including Marie-Joseph de Lafayette and the American
political writer Thomas Paine.

When Bonneville was seven, his family chose to leave
France rather than live under the Bonaparte autocracy. In
1803, with the help of Paine, they moved to the United
States, where Bonneville was raised and educated. He at-
tended West Point, receiving a commission as second lieu-
tenant in 1815.

Bonneville’s first army assignments took him to gar-
risons in New England. He also saw service supervising the
construction of a military road in Mississippi. In 1821, he
was sent to what was then the western frontier post of Fort
Smith in present-day Arkansas, and subsequently he was sta-
tioned at posts in present-day Oklahoma and Missouri. Dur-
ing his military service on the western frontier in the 1820s,
he was in close contact with fur traders working the ROCKY
MOUNTAINS in present-day Colorado, Utah, and Wyoming.

In 1825, Bonneville accompanied Lafayette on a tour of
the Mississippi River Valley. The next year, Bonneville was
promoted to the rank of captain and assigned to the fron-
tier garrison at Fort Gibson in present-day Oklahoma.

In 1830-31, Bonneville organized his own fur-trading
venture. In New York City, he obtained the financial sup-
port of veteran fur entrepreneur JOHN JACOB ASTOR. Soon
afterward, he applied to the army for a two-year leave of ab-
sence. In addition to developing business interests, Bon-
neville intended to provide the army with topographic data
on the regions west of the Rocky Mountains and north of
Mexico.

On May 1, 1832, Bonneville led a wagon caravan of
110 men from Fort Osage on the Missouri River in western
Missouri, northwest toward the Green River region of what
is now northeastern Utah and southwestern Wyoming. His
expedition crossed the Continental Divide by traveling
through the SOUTH PASS in Wyoming’s Wind River Range,
one of the early successful crossings westward through the
Rockies with loaded wagons.

From the South Pass, Bonneville led his men westward
along the Oregon Trail. Along the way, they passed by the
rock formations known as Red Buttes. Then, entering the
Green River Basin, high in the Rockies, they traveled into
the Bear Lake region of present-day northeastern Utah.

The expedition arrived in time for the fur trappers’ ren-
dezvous in summer 1832, held that year at Pierre’s Hole on
the western slopes of the Teton Mountains. Soon afterward,
Bonneville directed the construction of Fort Bonneville
along the Green River, north of Pierre’s Hole—a site that
provided a commanding presence over the passes through
the Rockies. Over the next three years, Bonneville led two
expeditions from this installation north and west into the
COLUMBIA RIVER region of Oregon.

In 1833, Bonneville dispatched one of his mountain
men, JOSEPH REDDEFORD WALKER, along with 40 others, to
explore the region westward, across the Sierra Nevada to
the California coast. That same year, he sent an application
to his superiors in Washington, D.C., to extend his leave,
but this communication never reached its destination.

Veteran fur traders tended to bypass Fort Bonneville in
favor of the more lucrative prices available from the HUD-
SON’S BAY COMPANY'’s posts on the Columbia River and
from the other posts on the MISSOURI RIVER and Yellow-
stone River. With his business losing money, Bonneville
headed back East in 1835. At Independence, Missouri, he
learned that the army had never received his application for
an extension of his leave. Believing he had overstayed his
leave for two years without authorization, his superiors
cashiered him from the service.

Bonneville journeyed to Washington, D.C., where he
remained throughout 1836 seeking reinstatement. During
this time, he contacted author Washington Irving, selling
him a firsthand account of his experiences in the FUR
TRADE. Irving edited Bonneville’s narrative and published
this work the following year as The Adventures of Caprain
Bonneville.

Bonneville’s reinstatement in the military was accom-
plished in 1836 through the direct intercession of President
Andrew Jackson. Historians have speculated, based on the
ease with which he obtained his leave and his subsequent
reinstatement, that Bonneville’s leave from the army may ac-
tually have been a cover for intelligence-gathering activities
concerning the Mexicans in California, the British in Ore-
gon, and Indian tribes. Moreover, Bonneville’s main compe-
tition in the fur trade was from Astor’s own AMERICAN FUR
COMPANY forts, which seems paradoxical considering that it
was Astor who provided much of Bonneville’s financial
backing. In any event, after 1836, Bonneville was once again
an officer in the U.S. Army.

Bonneville remained in the army for the next 29 years.
He fought in the U.S.-Mexican War of 1846-48, and, dur-
ing the 1850s, commanded U.S. garrisons in Oregon. In
1857, as a colonel in command of U.S. forces in the New
Mexico territory, he led a military expedition, comprised of
U.S. Army troops and Pueblo Indian auxiliaries, from Al-
buquerque into the Gila River region of what is now south-
central Arizona. The Gila River Expedition of 1857 was



intended as a punitive military strike against the Apache In-
dians. In meeting this objective, Bonneville also led his com-
mand into the little-known region of the recently acquired
Gadsden Purchase of 1853, undertaking one of the earliest
official U.S. explorations of this area.

During the Civil War, Bonneville directed recruiting
operations for the Union army, retiring from the service in
1865, at the rank of brevet brigadier general. He settled at
Fort Smith, Arkansas, where he lived until his death in
1878.

Benjamin de Bonneville’s explorations of the Rocky
Mountains and the Columbia River region provided the
government with important geographic and military data
that was useful in the subsequent U.S. takeover of the Ore-
gon Country in 1846. In addition, Bonneville’s expedition
under Joseph Walker blazed an important route for emi-
grants across Utah, northern Nevada, and the Sierra Nevada
into California, which later became the well-traveled Cali-
fornia Trail. In addition to Irving’s account of Bonneville’s
explorations, Bonneville himself prepared one of the earli-
est scientifically based maps of the river system of the central
Rockies and Pacific Northwest. Bonneville Lake and Bon-
neville Dam in southern Oregon were named after him, as
well as the Bonneville Salt Flats on the western edge of
northwestern Utah’s Great Salt Lake Desert.

Boone, Daniel (1734-1820) American frontier hunter,
soldier, guide in Kentucky
Daniel Boone was born to a family of English Quakers near
Reading, Pennsylvania. In 1749, he moved south with his
family to the Yadkin Valley in the frontier region of north-
western North Carolina.

With the outbreak of the French and Indian War in
1754, Boone became a wagoneer for British troops and colo-
nial militia forces in western Pennsylvania. He survived
General Edward Braddock’s disastrous 1755 offensive
against the French and Shawnee Indian allies at Fort
Duquesne (present-day Pittsburgh). The next year, he mar-
ried his neighbor Rebecca Bryan. In 1758, he again took
part in an assault on Fort Duquesne, which resulted in a
British victory under General John Forbes.

In 1763, following the conclusion of the French and
Indian War, Boone traveled south to East Florida, which
had then become a British possession. He explored the St.
Johns River of northeastern Florida, with plans to settle
there. But his wife refused to move from North Carolina,
and Boone remained in the Yadkin Valley for the next
several years. In 176768, he made a hunting expedition
into the APPALACHIAN MOUNTAINS but failed to reach
Kentucky.

Boone had become acquainted with frontiersman JOHN
FINLEY during his service in the French and Indian War.

BOONE, DANIEL 69

On their reunion in 1768, Finley told Boone about the ter-
ritory of eastern Kentucky. Later that year, Boone set out
on a hunting expedition. A hunter by profession, he peri-
odically went on extended forays into the wilderness to hunt
for deer, whose hides provided an important cash supple-
ment to his farming income. Because of threatened resis-
tance from Cherokee Indians, who resented Boone’s
encroachment on their lands in defiance of the Proclamation
Line of 1763, Boone was forced to return to his North Car-
olina home without reaching his intended destination, the
Blue Grass country of Kentucky.

Accompanied by his brother Squire Boone, his brother-
in-law John Stuart, Finley, and several other frontier com-
panions, Daniel Boone set out on another hunt in 1769,
sponsored in part by North Carolina land developer Judge
Richard Henderson. Henderson and his Transylvania Com-
pany sought to develop the lands beyond the Proclamation
Line and engaged Boone and his small party, who, as
hunters, would be less likely to arouse the suspicions of
British authorities concerning settlement plans.

The group passed through the CUMBERLAND GAP of
southwestern Virginia, then followed an ancient Cherokee
Indian trail known as the Warriors’ Trace. Boone and
part of his company then traveled by way of the South Fork
of the Kentucky River to the site of present-day Irvine,

Daniel Boone (New York State Library, Albany)
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Kentucky. From there, they explored the Kentucky and
Red Rivers as far as the Eskippikithiki region. By Decem-
ber 1769, Boone had traveled throughout much of central
Kentucky, including the Blue Grass region. That same
month, Stuart and Boone were captured by a Shawnee In-
dian war party, but they soon escaped.

Stuart disappeared over the winter of 1769-70, while
hunting on his own (his body was found five years later—
he had apparently been killed by Indians). That spring,
Boone’s brother Squire returned east to North Carolina
for additional supplies. Left alone, Boone explored the
Licking and Kentucky River Valleys of northeastern Ken-
tucky. He reached the Ohio River and followed it as far as
the Falls of the Ohio in the vicinity of present-day
Louisville, Kentucky.

Boone was rejoined by his brother in late July 1770 at
an encampment on the Red River and spent the rest of that
year hunting for deer in the Green and Cumberland Valleys.
With a substantial quantity of valuable hides and furs, the
brothers set out on the return journey to North Carolina in
March 1771. Near the Cumberland Gap, however, they
were waylaid by Cherokee. The Indians confiscated all of the
Boones’ furs, hides, horses, and mules and warned the fron-
tiersmen against trespassing on their reserved lands in the fu-
ture. Boone and his brother returned safely to the Yadkin
Valley soon afterward.

In 1773, in defiance of the Indians, Boone undertook a
colonizing expedition into the Cumberland Gap region. In
addition to his own family, Boone led seven other families of
frontier settlers into eastern Kentucky from North Carolina.
They had hardly penetrated the Cumberland Gap when
they were ambushed by Cherokee. Boone’s 17-year-old son
James was killed in the attack, and the party fled back to
North Carolina.

Boone’s colonizing efforts into the trans-Appalachian
region were interrupted by the outbreak of Lord Dunmore’s
War of 1774 against the Shawnee. In this conflict, Boone
served as courier for colonial troops and surveyors operat-
ing around the headwaters of the Ohio River near present-
day Louisville, Kentucky.

In 1775, Boone undertook another colonizing expe-
dition through the Cumberland Gap, sponsored again by
Judge Richard Henderson and his Transylvania Company.
With an advance party of about 30 frontiersmen, he blazed
a route from the Shenandoah Valley through the Cumber-
land Gap as far as the southern reaches of the Kentucky
River, south of present-day Lexington, Kentucky. He
established a permanent settlement, known as Boonesbor-
ough (or Boonesboro). Settlers from east of the Appalachi-
ans soon arrived, and the area was annexed as a county of
Virginia.

With the onset of the American Revolution, Boones-
borough was subject to attacks by the British-allied

Shawnee. Boone himself was captured by a war party in
1778, but he was adopted into the tribe by a chief known as
Blackfish. He managed to escape after a few months of cap-
tivity and provided military intelligence to the American
forces concerning British and Shawnee strategy.

In 1779, Boone established a settlement at Boone’s Sta-
tion, near present-day Athens, Kentucky. Financial reverses
precipitated by legal problems concerning his land claims
led Boone to take his family to the area of present-day
Mayesville, West Virginia, where he operated a tavern.

In 1796, Boone attempted to win the government con-
tract to develop his Wilderness Road into a wagon route,
but the project was granted to another party. Meanwhile,
one of his sons, Nathan Boone, had migrated westward to
the Louisiana country, at that time a Spanish possession.
Three years later, Boone also traveled westward; he was
granted a land claim by the Spanish government in the
Femme Osage region of what is now Missouri. He lost title
to these lands following the acquisition of the Louisiana
Territory by the United States in 1803. A special act of
Congress eventually reinstated Boone’s claim to his Spanish
land grant.

Boone lived on the Missouri frontier at the settlement
of St. Charles near St. Louis for the remainder of his life.
From about 1800 to 1818, he continued to make expedi-
tions into the western wilderness, hunting and exploring.
He entered the Platte River region, perhaps as far west as the
eastern ROCKY MOUNTAINS, before his death in 1820.

Daniel Boone’s hunting and colonizing expeditions into
eastern and central Kentucky helped to bring about the
non-Indian settlement of that region after the American
Revolution. The Wilderness Road, established by Boone in
the mid-1770s, encouraged migration into the trans-
Appalachian country of Kentucky and Tennessee, providing
the basis for regular travel between the original settlements
in the East and the newly established frontier regions ex-
tending west to the Mississippi and Missouri Rivers. Boone’s
exploits were popularized in John Filson’s 1784 book, Dis-
covery, Settlement, and Present State of Kentucky. His reputa-
tion in the popular culture as a frontiersman and explorer
only deepened in 1824, when his character was immortal-
ized in verse as part of British Romantic poet Lord Byron’s
work Don Juan.

Borchgrevink, Carsten Egeberg (1864-1934)
Norwegian explorer in the Antarctic

Born in Norway, Carsten E. Borchgrevink settled in Aus-
tralia in 1888. His first trip to the Antarctic region was in
1894-95, aboard the Norwegian whaling ship Antarctica.
On January 23, 1895, he was among the crewmembers who
went ashore on Victoria Land, becoming one of the first
men to set foot on the Antarctic continent.



Borchgrevink was in England in the late 1890s, where
he succeeded in obtaining support for a scientific expedition
to Antarctica from British newspaper publisher Sir George
Newnes. After a stopover in NEW ZEALAND, his expedition
sailed to Antarctica on the Southern Cross in August 1898,
reaching the coast at Cape Adare in mid-February 1899 dur-
ing the Antarctic summer. The ship soon returned to New
Zealand, leaving Borchgrevink and the nine others in his
party for the Antarctica winter.

Over the next year, Borchgrevink made several expedi-
tions overland on skis and dogsleds into the interior of
Antarctica. On one expedition from the Cape Adare base, he
reached 78° 50’ south latitude, which up to that time was
the most extreme southern point ever reached.

Borchgrevink and his expedition were picked up by the
Southern Cross when it returned in early February 1900. Be-
fore leaving the Antarctic, he made a navigational study of
the Ross Ice Shelf, revealing that it had moved southward al-
most 30 miles since its first sighting by SIR JAMES CLARK
ROSS in the early 1840s.

Carsten E. Borchgrevink was a pioneer in Antarctic
exploration. His 1899-1900 expedition was the first to
winter on the Antarctic continent and undertake exten-
sive exploration into the interior. His account of his ex-
ploits, First on the Antarctic Continent, was published in
1901.

Borough, Stephen (Stephen Burrough)
(1525-1584) English mariner in Russia and the European
Arctic, brother of William Borough

Stephen Borough was born in Northam, Devonshire, Eng-
land. Embarking on a career as a seafarer, he became an ac-
complished sea captain and navigator. In 1553, he
commanded the Edward Bonaventure in a three-ship trading
expedition to Russia, sponsored by SEBASTIAN CABOT and
headed by SIR HUGH WILLOUGHBY. The pilot general on the
voyage was RICHARD CHANCELLOR.

Following the west coast of Norway northward, Bor-
ough and Chancellor located and named North Cape, then
rounded it and entered the White Sea. They soon reached
the Russian port of Archangel.

In 1556, Borough again sailed to the Arctic coast of Eu-
ropean Russia, supported by Cabot and his newly formed
MUSCOVY COMPANY. In command of the Searchihrift, Bor-
ough went even farther east on this voyage, locating a strait
between Vaigach Island and Novaya Zemlya providing an
entrance to the Kara Sea.

Borough had planned to travel as far as the mouth of
the Ob River, east of Novaya Zemlya, but was forced back
by ice. He wintered at Archangel and in the spring, he un-
dertook a search for Sir Hugh Willoughby and his ships,
missing since 1554. From a Dutch vessel, he learned that
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Willoughby’s fleet had been wrecked and all hands lost. Be-
fore returning to England in 1557, Borough explored the
coasts of the Kola Peninsula, Finland, and Lapland.

In 1561, Borough commanded the Swallow for the
Muscovy Company in a voyage to Russia, taking the com-
pany’s chief factor, ANTHONY JENKINSON, on the first leg
of his trade mission to the Caspian Sea and central Asia.

In 1563, Borough entered the naval service of Queen
Elizabeth I and, for the next 20 years, he served as chief pilot
for her fleet of ships on the Medway River in southeastern
England. His brother, WILLIAM BOROUGH, was also a sea-
farer and served with Stephen in his voyages to Russia in
1553 and 1556.

Stephen Borough’s voyages not only opened up Russia
to English commerce, but also provided the earliest naviga-
tional information for subsequent maritime expeditions in
search of a NORTHEAST PASSAGE between Europe and the
Far East.

Borough,William (William Burrough)
(1536-1599) English mariner in Russia and the European
Arctic, brother of Stephen Borough

Born in Northam, Devonshire, England, William Borough
was the younger brother of STEPHEN BOROUGH. Starting at
the age of 16, he sailed as an ordinary seaman on his
brother’s voyages to Russia.

Over the next 20 years, William Borough continued to
make regular trips from England to Russia as a captain for
the London-based MUSCOVY COMPANY'’s trading fleet. In
1568, he helped organize an expedition attempting to find a
NORTHEAST PASSAGE in the eastern reaches of the Barents
Sea. Over the next six years, he traveled widely in the region
between the ports on the White Sea and Moscow. He helped
plan and organize MARTIN FROBISHER’s 1576 exploration of
GREENLAND.

In about 1579, Borough entered the English navy and
commanded warships in campaigns against pirates in the
Baltic Sea. In 1581, he published a major work on naviga-
tion, A Discourse of the Variation of the Compass, or Magnet-
ical Needle. He served under SIR FRANCIS DRAKE in a naval
campaign against the Spanish at Cddiz in 1587, and, the
next year, he commanded a warship in the English victory
over the Spanish Armada.

William Borough produced written accounts of his
travels and observations in Russia during his years there for
the Muscovy Company. He also drew up new navigational
charts based on the latest explorations of the Russian Arc-
tic coast. In his 1581 Discourse he was one of the earliest
navigators to cite the errors in maps by GERARDUS MERCA-
TOR and other cartographers, caused by their not taking
into account variations in COMPASS readings in high north-
ern latitudes.
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Bougainville, Hyacinthe-Yves-Philippe
Potentien de (baron de Bougainville)
(1782-1846) French naval officer in the South Pacific, son of
Louis-Antoine de Bougainville

Hyacinthe de Bougainville was the eldest son of French
naval officer and explorer LOUIS-ANTOINE DE BOUGAIN-
VILLE. He was born in Nantes, France, and following his
early education at the Ecole Polytechnic in 1798-1800, he
entered the French navy.

In 1800, Bougainville sailed to the South Pacific with
NICOLAS BAUDIN as a midshipman on the Géographe, then
returned from Australia in 1803 on the expedition’s other
ship, the Naturaliste. He held numerous naval assignments
in the Napoleonic Wars of 1803-14.

In 1817-19, Bougainville was a lieutenant commander
in a French naval expedition to Southeast Asia and the
Moluccas. He commanded the 7hetis and Espérance in a
CIRCUMNAVIGATION OF THE WORLD in 1824-26. In 1838,
he was made a rear admiral.

In the first half of the 19th century, Hyacinthe, baron
de Bougainville, carried on the tradition of French maritime
exploration in the Pacific begun by his father in the 1760s.
His account of his 1824-26 voyage, Journal of a Circum-
navigation of the World, along with an atlas, was published in
1827.

Bougainville, Louis-Antoine de (comte de
Bougainville) (1729-1811) French naval officer in the
Atlantic and Pacific, father of Hyacinthe-Yves-Philippe
Potentien de Bougainville

Louis-Antoine de Bougainville was born in Paris, the son of
a prominent lawyer in the court of Louis XV. He first em-
barked on a legal career but then undertook the study of
mathematics under French mathematician Jean le Rond
d’Alembert. By 1756, he had published a major work on
integral calculus, Traité du calcul integral, for which he was
elected to Great Britain’s prestigious ROYAL SOCIETY.

Bougainville entered the French army in 1753. He
served in French Canada as aide-de-camp to General Mont-
calm in the French and Indian War of 175463, taking part
in engagements on Lake Champlain and negotiating the
French surrender at Quebec.

Back in France in 1763, Bougainville launched a cam-
paign to reestablish a French overseas colonial empire. With
financial backing of relatives and merchants of the port of
St. Malo, he succeeded in organizing a colonizing enter-
prise on the Falkland Islands in the South Atlantic Ocean
(known by the French as the Malouines and by the Argen-
tines as the Malvinas), for the resettlement of Acadians dis-
placed from Canada by the British. The French government
supported Bougainville’s plan, hoping that it would provide
France with control of the main sea route to the Pacific

Ocean, one of the last regions where the British had not yet
established a strong naval presence.

From 1764 to 1766, Bougainville headed three expe-
ditions to the Falklands and established a small Acadian
colony called Fort St. Louis. In this period, he also ex-
plored Tierra del Fuego and Patagonia. His chief maritime
adviser, PIERRE-NICOLAS DUCLOS-GUYOT, undertook a
navigational survey of the eastern approach to the Strait of
Magellan.

In 1766, when France was compelled by international
circumstances to sell the Falklands to Spain, Bougainville
was sent to oversee the transfer of the islands. To compen-
sate him for the loss of his colony, France offered him the
governorship of the French Indian Ocean colonies on Ile
de France (present-day Mauritius) and Bourbon (present-
day Réunion). Instead, Bougainville chose to undertake a
government-sponsored CIRCUMNAVIGATION OF THE
WORLD.

Bougainville sailed from Brest, France, in December
1766, commanding the frigate Boudeuse. Two months later,
the expedition’s other vessel, the Etoile, sailed from the
French port of Rochefort, joining up with Bougainville and
the Boudeuse at Rio de Janeiro in June 1767. On reaching
the Falklands, Bougainville negotiated the Spanish takeover
of the islands, then sailed to Tierra del Fuego. Hampered by
rough seas and bad weather, his ships took 52 days to make
the westward passage through the STRAIT OF MAGELLAN,
during which a detailed study of the strait was made, in-
cluding the charting of a bay that now bears his name.
Bougainville also studied the inhabitants of Patagonia and
Tierra del Fuego, disproving earlier reports that these natives
were giants.

One of the intended aims of Bougainville’s world voy-
age was to search for Terra Australis, the elusive GREAT
SOUTHERN CONTINENT. Upon entering the Pacific, he first
headed northward to the TROPIC OF CAPRICORN, then
sailed due west. The expedition soon came upon the Tu-
amotu Islands. Unable to make a landing because of outly-
ing reefs, Bougainville named them the Dangerous
Archipelago. Continuing westward, he reached Tahiti in
April 1768. Although British navigator SAMUEL WALLIS had
visited Tahiti eight months earlier, Bougainville claimed the
island for France, calling it New Cythera. The French were
well received by the Tahitians; Ahutoru, the chief’s son, was
allowed to join the expedition.

Still seeking the fabled Great Southern Continent, as
well as the east coast of New Holland (which turned out to
be Australia), Bougainville sailed westward from Tahiti to
the islands of Samoa, which he named the Navigator
Archipelago. He also charted the Solomon Islands, which
originally had been visited by Spanish navigator ALVARO DE
MENDANA in 1568, but had been lost to navigation because
of inaccurate charting.



At one point, Bougainville and his ships were less than
250 miles off the coast of northeastern Australia, but they
were prevented from reaching the mainland by the Great
Barrier Reef, a portion of which is now known as
Bougainville Reef.

Short on provisions, Bougainville was forced to head his
expedition northward in search of a passage to the SPICE Is-
LANDS (the Moluccas) where he planned to obtain live spice
plants for transplanting on Ile de France. His explorations
around the New Hebrides revealed that they were islands,
and not part of a great landmass as previously thought.
Landing on New Britain, he came upon a plaque left by
British explorer PHILIP CARTERET on his visit there a few
months eatlier.

In summer 1768, Bougainville reached the Dutch set-
tlement of Batavia in what is now Indonesia. Outbreaks of
scurvy forced him to abandon plans to obtain spice plants in
the Moluccas. After obtaining fresh provisions from the
Dutch, he sailed back to France by way of Ile de France and
the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE, arriving at St. Malo in March
1769.

In 1771, Bougainville published his account of the
trip, A Voyage Around the World. The next year, he tried un-
successfully to gain support for a French expedition to the
NORTH POLE. Appointed a commodore in the French
fleet, he took part in 1779 in naval operations against the
British in the American Revolution. In 1782, following his
defeat by the British at Martinique in the Caribbean Sea,
he retired from the navy. He returned to active service
under the French revolutionary government after 1790.
He was made a count of the empire by Napoléon I in
1808.

Louis-Antoine, comte de Bougainville commanded the
first official French expedition to circumnavigate the world.
His explorations in 1766—69 confirmed the existence of
many islands unknown to Europeans since the Spaniards
had explored the western Pacific Ocean in the 16th century.
His voyage resulted in the European discovery of straits in
the Solomons and in the New Hebrides that now bear his
name. Bougainville Island, the largest of the Solomons, was
also named in his honor. The Louisiade Archipelago and
New Cyclades reappeared on maps as a result of Bou-
gainville’s Pacific expedition. The expedition’s naturalist,
JOSEPH-PHILIBERT COMMERSON, sent back thousands of
new species of plants and animals during the voyage. Among
them was the tropical flowering vine known as the
bougainvillea, named after Bougainville. Observations on
the culture of the Tahitians influenced French Enlighten-
ment authors Jean-Jacques Rousseau and Denis Diderot in
their concept of the noble savage. Bougainville’s eldest son,
HYACINTHE-YVES-PHILIPPE POTENTIEN DE BOUGAINVILLE,
also embarked on a naval career that took him around the
world.
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Bourgmont, Etienne-Veniard de (sieur de
Bourgmont, Etienne de Bourgmond)

(1680—ca. 1730) French soldier, fur trader on the Missouri
River and Great Plains

Etienne de Bourgmont was born in the Normandy region of
France, the son of a doctor. In about 1700, he immigrated
to French Canada, where he worked as one of the voya-
GEURS in the FUR TRADE on the eastern Great Lakes.

Within a few years, Bourgmont entered the French mil-
itary, serving as an ensign under HENRI DE TONTI at the
French fur-trading settlement at Detroit. When Tonti re-
tired in 1705, Bourgmont temporarily took command at
Detroit. An Indian uprising erupted the following year, and
in 1707, Bourgmont deserted, flecing to an island in Lake
Erie with other army defectors. He was soon joined there
by Madame Tichenet, known as La Chenette, a woman with
whom he was romantically linked.

In about 1712, Bourgmont and the other deserters were
apprehended by French authorities. He soon became
friendly with French colonial governor ANTOINE LAUMET
DE LA MOTHE, who allowed Bourgmont to escape south-
ward into the French Louisiana country. Eventually
Bourgmont settled among the Indians of the central Mis-
SOURI RIVER region.

Over the next five years, Bourgmont established
friendly relations with the Oto, Omaha, Pawnee, and other
tribes of the Missouri River and its tributaries. He also un-
dertook explorations up the Missouri, reaching as far as the
mouth of the Platte River in present-day eastern Nebraska.

In 1717, Bourgmont wrote an account of his travels on
the Missouri, La Description, describing the region as far to
the north as the Arikara Indian villages in what is now cen-
tral South Dakota, although it is not certain he traveled
there himself.

In 1719, the French colonial governor of Louisiana,
JEAN-BAPTISTE LE MOYNE, appointed Bourgmont a captain
in recognition of his efforts in establishing peaceful relations
with the Indians of the upper Louisiana country.
Bourgmont subsequently took part in the French victory
over the Spanish in western Florida. Soon afterward, he re-
turned to France and reported his findings on the upper
Missouri to the French government.

In 1723, the Company of the Indies, the French trading
monopoly in Louisiana, concerned over Spanish encroach-
ment from the west, commissioned Bourgmont to return to
North America and establish a French outpost in what is
now north-central Missouri. Bourgmont founded Fort Or-
leans at the mouth of the Grand River. In 1724, he set out
with a small detachment of French soldiers to the west to
make peace with the Comanche Indians. He ascended the
Missouri to the mouth of the Kansas River. After following
that stream briefly, he set out overland. In present-day west-
ern Kansas, where almost 200 years earlier FRANCISCO
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VASQUEZ DE CORONADO had fruitlessly sought Indian
riches, Bourgmont met with Comanche chiefs and suc-
ceeded in gaining their allegiance to the French.

Not long after his return to Fort Orleans, Bourgmont
convinced several Plains Indian chiefs to accompany him to
Paris, where they were received with great acclaim by the
French royal court. Bourgmont married a wealthy widow
and remained in France. For his efforts in securing an al-
liance with the Missouri River tribes, the French govern-
ment granted him a title of nobility.

Although he did not ascertain the actual source of the
Missouri, Etienne de Bourgmont’s explorations took him
to a point on the river farther north than any known Euro-
pean had been to that time. His 1724 expedition across the
Kansas plains into Comanche country was the deepest
French penetration into the territory west of the MISSISSIPPI
RIVER to date.

Bouvet de Lozier, Jean-Baptiste-Charles
(1704-1786) French naval officer in the South Atlantic

An orphan at the age of seven, Jean-Baptiste Bouvet studied
for a time in Paris before working in the shipyards of St.
Malo. He decided to pursue a career in navigation and by
1731 had reached the rank of lieutenant in the FRENCH
EAST INDIA COMPANY.

In 1733, Bouvet proposed a plan to locate the GREAT
SOUTHERN CONTINENT, or Terra Australis, in the South Pa-
cific Ocean—perhaps the same land reportedly located by
Binot Paulmier de Gonneville in 1504 and known as
GONNEVILLE’S LAND—where ships might stop over on
journeys to the Far East. His proposal was finally accepted,
and in July 1738, Bouvet departed Lorient, France, with two
ships, the Aigle and Marie. The following October, the ex-
pedition arrived at Santa Catarina Island off the coast of
Brazil and continued southward the next month.

On January 1, 1739, in the South Atlantic Ocean, east
of the South Sandwich Islands, southwest of Africa’s CAPE
OF GOOD HOPE, and north of the ANTARCTIC CIRCLE, Bou-
vet and his expedition encountered a landmass covered in
glaciers that they thought to be a promontory of Antarc-
tica; Bouvet named it the Cape of Circumcision. Bouvet
waited for 12 days, hoping to land, but finally gave up be-
cause of perpetual fog. Avoiding DRIFT ICE, the expedition
headed eastward in search of other lands. With supplies
dwindling and the crew suffering from cold and SCURVY,
Bouvet directed his ships northward on January 24 for the
Cape of Good Hope. The expedition returned to France in
late February.

Because Jean-Baptiste Bouvet did not correctly chart
the location of what turned out to be a 22-square-mile island,
neither JAMES COOK nor SIR JAMES CLARK ROSS could lo-
cate it. It was not until 1808 that British whalers rediscovered

it. In 1822, the American sealer Benjamin Morrell managed
the first landing and named it Bouvet Island in honor of the
French discoverer. Great Britain claimed the island in 1825,
calling it Liverpool Island. Norway occupied it in 1924, how-
ever, and, the next year, Great Britain relinquished its claim.
In 1971, Bouvet Island and adjacent waters were designated
a nature reserve, and in 1977, Norway established an auto-
mated meteorological station on the island.

Boyd, Louise Arner (1887-1972) American explorer

in the Arctic

Louise Arner Boyd was born in San Rafael, California, near
San Francisco, into a family with a fortune made by her
maternal great-grandfather in the California gold rush of
1849. A 1907 debutante, she became socially active in
wealthy circles. In 1910, she joined her parents in a year-
long tour of Europe and Egypt.

By 1920, both of her parents had died, and Boyd in-
herited her family’s considerable wealth. She made another
trip to Europe soon afterward. In 1924, she first ventured
into the Arctic regions as a passenger on a Norwegian cruise
ship.

In 1926, Boyd embarked on her first Arctic exploring
expedition. In Norway, she chartered the ship Hobby and,
along with a few friends, sailed northward into the Arctic
Ocean to Franz Josef Land. This was primarily a recreational
cruise in which Boyd and her companions hunted polar
bears and seals, recording the trip with both motion pictures
and photographs.

Boyd’s next expedition to the Arctic was in summer
1928. Again sailing from Norway on the Hobby, she assisted
the Norwegian government in its search efforts for ROALD
ENGLEBREGT GRAVNING AMUNDSEN, who had disappeared
on a rescue mission on behalf of Tralian Arctic explorer UM-
BERTO NOBILE and his expedition. During the next few
months, Boyd and her companions on the Hobby explored
eastward and westward from Spitsbergen (present-day Sval-
bard), covering more than 10,000 miles between Franz Josef
Land and the Greenland Sea. Although the search for
Amundsen was fruitless, the Norwegian government
awarded Boyd the Chevalier Cross of the Order of St. Olav
for her efforts. She was the first non-Norwegian woman to
be so honored. In addition, she received from the French
government the Cross of the Legion of Honor.

In 1931, Boyd undertook a scientifically oriented ex-
ploration of the Arctic, aimed at collecting geographic and
geological data as well as making a photographic study of
Arctic animals and plants. She engaged the ship the
Veslekari and sailed to the east coast of GREENLAND.
Among her party were a botanist, a big game hunter, and
the writer Winifred Menzies. Boyd and her expedition
stopped at an Inuit settlement near Scoresby Sound, where



she made a study of their life and culture; she later reported
the experience in a series of articles published in The Chris-
tian Science Monitor in 1932. In her surveys of Greenland’s
east coast, she reached the uncharted De Geer Glacier. The
region between De Geer Glacier and the Jaette Glacier was
later named Louise Boyd Land, in her honor.

In summer 1933, Boyd undertook her third Arctic ex-
pedition, under the sponsorship of the AMERICAN GEO-
GRAPHICAL SOCIETY. Again sailing on the Veslekari, a vessel
that she used on all her subsequent Arctic explorations,
Boyd and her scientific team studied the glacial features
along Greenland’s east coast. They explored north of
Scoresby Sound, examining Franz Josef Fjord and King
Oscar Fjord. A sonic depth finder was used on this expedi-
tion to study subsurface coastal features. Boyd recounted her
experiences on this expedition in her book, The Fiord Region
of East Greenland, published in 1935.

In 1937 and 1938, Boyd explored the Arctic seas north
and east of Norway, between Bear Island and Jan Mayen Is-
land. These two expeditions used ultrasonic depth research
to determine the existence of a submarine ridge between

Louise Arner Boyd (Library of Congress)
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these Arctic islands. Boyd’s book about this expedition was
to be published in 1940. However, with the onset of World
War II in Europe, she was advised by the U.S. government
that the information included in it, especially her pho-
tographs, could be of a strategic value to the Germans. The
work, The Coast of Northeast Greenland, was finally pub-
lished in 1948.

In 1941, in connection with preparations for the im-
pending war, the National Bureau of Standards commis-
sioned Boyd to undertake an expedition to the Arctic region
to study the effects of polar magnetic phenomenon on radio
communications. After America’s entry into the war later
that year, she became a technical adviser to the War Depart-
ment on matters dealing with strategic planning in the Arc-
tic. In recognition of her services, the U.S. Army awarded
Boyd a Certificate of Appreciation in 1949, citing her valu-
able contributions of Arctic geographic knowledge to the
war effort.

Boyd’s next and last Arctic exploit took place in 1955
when, at the age of 68, she chartered an airplane and became
the first woman to fly over the NORTH POLE. She spent her
last years in San Francisco, where she died at the age of 85.

Louise Arner Boyd’s Arctic explorations resulted in new
geographic information about Greenland’s east coast and re-
vealed significant features about the floor of the Greenland
Sea. She was the first woman to play a leading role in the his-
tory of modern Arctic exploration.

Bozeman, John Merin (1835-1867) American
pioneer in Colorado and Montana

John Bozeman, originally from Georgia, headed westward to
Colorado in 1861 to try his luck as a prospector. With new
gold strikes in southwestern Montana, he relocated to Vir-
ginia City and Bannack.

At that time, to reach Montana from the east, non-In-
dians traveled to the headwaters of the MISSOURI RIVER by
way of Fort Benton, or westward along the Oregon Trail,
northward through the SOUTH PASS of Wyoming’s Wind
River Range, then along the Overland Trail through Idaho
via Fort Hall. Both the Missouri River route and the over-
land routes were circuitous. Travelers along the Oregon and
Opverland Trail were forced to cross the Continental Divide
twice. The direct route northward from Colorado crossed
through the heart of hunting lands that the government
had reserved for the Sioux (Dakota, Lakota, Nakota) and
Northern Cheyenne Indians, east of the Bighorn Mountains
of north-central Wyoming.

In the winter 1862-63, Bozeman and a companion, the
trapper John Jacobs, with Jacobs’s mixed-blood daughter,
departed Bannack, Montana, heading eastward across the
Bighorn Mountains of Wyoming, then southward, accom-
plishing a more direct route to Colorado.



76 BRACKENRIDGE, HENRY MARIE

The following spring, 1863, Bozeman led a wagon train
out of Julesburg, Colorado, a settlement on the South Platte
River in northeastern Colorado, and followed the river and
the Overland Trail along the first leg of the usual route to the
Montana goldfields at Bannack and Virginia City. When
warned by Indian war parties to stay off lands reserved
by treaty, the majority of emigrants remained on the long
route west of the Bighorns. Bozeman and a small party left
the wagon train, however, and, traveling mostly at night,
headed northward along the east side of the Bighorn Moun-
tains. When they reached the Yellowstone River, they
crossed the Belt Mountains through what later came to be
known as the Bozeman Pass, and arrived in the Montana
gold country, having avoided the usual roundabout route
along the Overland Trail to Fort Bridger in Wyoming and to
Fort Hall in Idaho. In spring 1864, Bozeman led a second,
larger wagon train the entire distance of his new route, the
first such crossing.

Indian attacks against travelers on the new trail were
common. Yet the U.S. government wanted to encourage
gold mining in Montana, mainly because the U.S. Trea-
sury was short of gold in 1865, following the conclusion of
the Civil War. As a result, starting about 1865, the army
began constructing forts to protect the travelers heading
northward from Colorado into southwestern Montana.
Among these were Fort Phil Kearny, Fort C. E Smith, and
Fort Reno. Soon regular wagon traffic was following the
Bozeman Trail.

Meanwhile, Bozeman had begun to prosper as a result
of his new trade route into Montana, and, in 1864, he had es-
tablished the town of Bozeman in Montana’s Gallatin Valley.
The Bozeman Trail attracted cattlemen, who saw a great op-
portunity to bring much needed beef cattle north from Texas
into the Montana mining country around Bannack and Vir-
ginia City. The first cattle drive from Texas to Montana was
undertaken in 1866.

The increased number of travelers passing through
Sioux lands, coupled with the devastating effects on hunting
lands inflicted by the cattle drives, led to increased Indian
raids. By the end of 1866, a full-scale conflict was underway,
known as Red Cloud’s War or the War for the Bozeman
Trail, under the Oglala Sioux Red Cloud and younger war
chiefs, such as Crazy Horse and Hump.

Bozeman himself was killed on the trail by Blackfeet In-
dians in 1867. The next year, that portion of the Bozeman
Trail between Fort Reno and Fort Phil Kearny in north-
central Wyoming, and Fort C. F. Smith on the Bighorn
River in southern Montana, was closed by the government
in accordance with the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1868, ending
Red Cloud’s War. The Bozeman remained closed for nearly
10 years, until the final defeat of the allied Sioux, Northern
Cheyenne, and Northern Arapaho under Sitting Bull in the
wars for the Black Hills in 1876—77. The road was then re-

opened and served as the main trade and cattle route into
Montana.

John Bozeman’s journey in 1863 blazed a much-needed
cut-off from the Oregon Trail east of the Bighorn Moun-
tains into the Montana goldfields. His endeavors opened the
northern plains to commerce from Colorado and Texas and
helped bring about U.S. military action against the Plains
tribes and their subsequent displacement by non-Indian
settlers.

Brackenridge, Henry Marie (1786-1871)
American traveler, writer on the Missouri River, envoy to
South America

Born in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, Henry Marie Bracken-
ridge, starting at the age of two, was tutored by his father,
the writer and scholar Hugh Henry Brackenridge. When
seven years old, he was sent by his father to St. Genevieve on
the MISSISSIPPI RIVER near St. Louis, a port city at that time
under Spanish dominion. From 1793 to 1796, the young
Brackenridge learned French at St. Genevieve; he then re-
turned home to continue his education, studying the classics
with his father and attending the Pitesburgh Academy. He
went on to study law and was admitted to the Pennsylvania
Bar in 1806.

Brackenridge first settled in Baltimore, Maryland, in-
tending to establish a practice in admiralty law. Unable to
build a clientele, he returned to the MISSOURI RIVER frontier
about 1810, settling in St. Louis. Because of his interest in ex-
ploration, he joined MANUEL LISA’s fur-trading expedition up
the Missouri, which departed St. Louis in April 1811. Trav-
eling by KEELBOAT with Lisa’s ST. LOUIS MISSOURI FUR COM-
PANY contingent, Brackenridge journeyed through the lands
of the Sioux (Dakota, Lakota, Nakota) Indians and reached
the Mandan and Arikara villages in present-day South and
North Dakota in June. After spending some time among the
fur traders and trappers on the upper Missouri, as well as with
the naturalist JOHN BRADBURY, he returned downriver to St.
Louis in August. Brackenridge’s account of his journey was
later incorporated into Washington Irving’s 1836 work on
the upper Missouri and western FUR TRADE, Astoria.

Between 1811 and 1814, Brackenridge practiced law
in St. Louis and New Orleans. During this period, he
learned the Spanish language and studied the principles of
Spanish law and helped formulate the code of laws that
would become the legal system of Louisiana. He also served
as a territorial deputy attorney general as well as a judge. In
1814, Brackenridge’s account of his travels and observa-
tions on the lower Mississippi, Views of Louisiana, was first
published.

Brackenridge’s knowledge of Spanish and Spanish law
came to the attention of President James Madison, and in
1817, he was appointed as a secretary to the U.S. State De-
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partment’s commission that traveled to South America to re-
port on the newly established independent republics. His
subsequent report provided a basis for the Monroe Doc-
trine. His account of his experiences on that tour, Voyage ro
South America, appeared in 1819.

In 1821, Brackenridge was sent to Florida, where he
served first as a secretary to Florida territorial governor An-
drew Jackson, then as a federal judge. He was on the bench
in Florida until his removal in 1832, following a dispute
with Jackson, who had become president.

Brackenridge spent his remaining days on his estate
near Pittsburgh, where he founded the community of Tar-
entum. In 1834, he published an account of his frontier ex-
periences, Recollections of Persons and Places of the West.

Since most of the exploration of the upper Missouri in
the first decades of the 19th century was undertaken by
commercial interests, especially unlettered mountain men
and frontier trappers, Henry Marie Brackenridge’s account
serves as a rare record of the region as seen through the eyes
of an educated person. His writings include a description of
travel by keelboat on the Missouri River in the years before
the introduction of the steamboat.

Bradbury, John (1768-1823) Scottish naturalist

in North America

John Bradbury, a native of Scotland, was educated in Eng-
land, concentrating in botany and zoology. In 1809, the
Botanical Society of Liverpool sent him to the United States
for a scientific study of the plant life of the American fron-
tier. Upon his arrival, he was welcomed by former president
and fellow naturalist Thomas Jefferson. At that time, St.
Louis was the gateway to the frontier regions to the west,
and Jefferson arranged for Bradbury to travel to that city and
use it as a base for his scientific expeditions.

Over the following year, Bradbury undertook numer-
ous excursions into the region surrounding St. Louis, up to
a distance of 300 miles from the city.

In spring 1811, Bradbury joined WILSON PRICE HUNT’s
fur-trading expedition up the MISSOURI RIVER, the overland
contingent of JOHN JACOB ASTOR’s venture to the Oregon
coast. Bradbury remained with the Astorians until June
1811, when they reached one of Astor’s trading forts on the
Missouri in what is now southern South Dakota. He joined
fellow writer HENRY MARIE BRACKENRIDGE, who was tour-
ing the upper Missouri with MANUEL LISA’s expedition, and
traveled farther up the Missouri into what is now North
Dakota, spending time among the Mandan and Arikara In-
dians, before returning to St. Louis in August.

The outbreak of hostilities between the United States
and England in the War of 1812 prevented Bradbury’s re-
turn to England, and he undertook an extensive tour of the

Ohio Valley.

Returning to England in 1815, John Bradbury pub-
lished an account of his travels on the American frontier. His
book, entitled Travels in the Interior of North America in the
Years 1809, 1810, and 1811, includes information on the
geographic features of the upper Missouri region, as well as
detailed studies of its flora and fauna. Noteworthy among
his wildlife descriptions is the account of the massive herds
of buffalo on the banks of the Missouri in the Dakotas, ex-
tending for miles and numbering in the many thousands. In
addition, Bradbury describes the lives of Indian peoples and
of Missouri River boatmen.

Bransfield, Edward (ca. 1785-1851) British naval
officer in the Antarctic

Irish-born Edward Bransfield was serving on the British ship
Andromache, based in Valparaiso, Chile, in 1819, when he
heard reports from whalers and sealers of land sightings to
the south in uncharted seas. He commandeered the brig
Williams, under Captain William Smith, for an exploratory
expedition on behalf of the British navy.

Heading southward, Bransfield reached and charted the
South Shetland Islands, landing on King George Island.
On January 30, 1820, farther to the south, he spotted snow-
covered mountains on an expanse of land that would later be
charted as the northwest coast of the Antarctic Peninsula. At
about the same time, FABIAN GOTTLIEB VON BELLINGS-
HAUSEN, sailing for Russia, was also south of the ANTARC-
TIC CIRCLE.

With its energy and resources directed toward the dis-
covery of the NORTHWEST PASSAGE, the British Admiralty
showed little interest in Edward Bransfield’s discovery. In
November of that same year, 1820, the American mariner
NATHANIEL BROWN PALMER sighted the southern Antarctic
Peninsula and, for a time, received credit for the first sight-
ing of Antarctica. Bransfield had originally named the
peninsula Trinity Land. It later became known as Palmer
Land. With newfound interest in the region, Great Britain
renamed the peninsula Graham Land, after R. G. Graham,
Lord of the Admiralty. In 1965, the United States and Great
Britain agreed on the name Antarctic Peninsula. Bransfield
Island, Bransfield Strait, and Mount Bransfield are named
after the British explorer.

Brazza, Pierre-Paul-Francois-Camille
Savorgnan de (Pietro Paolo Savorgnan di
Brazza) (1852-1905) lralian-born French naval officer,
official in West Africa

Born in Rome, Pietro di Brazza attended the French naval
academy, a position arranged by his father, an Italian count.
In 1874, as a young officer, Brazza traveled to the French
colony of Gabon in West Africa. After returning to Europe,
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he became a naturalized French citizen and adopted the
French form of his name, Pierre Savorgnan de Brazza.

In 1875—77, Brazza, on behalf of French interests in the
region, explored Africa’s Ogowe River as well as the Alima,
a tributary of the CONGO RIVER (Zaire River). In 1879-82,
in the employ of the French National Committee of the In-
ternational Association, which sought to counter SIR HENRY
MORTON STANLEY’s efforts to annex the Congo basin on be-
half of King Leopold II of Belgium, Brazza explored and
developed the upper Congo region. In 1880, he founded
Franceville in what is now Gabon and Brazzaville in what is
now Congo. Brazza’s treaties with tribal leader Makoko that
same year provided the basis for France to assume control
of the French Congo, an area of 193,000 square miles north
and west of the Congo, which was declared a French pro-
tectorate in 1891 and became part of French Equatorial
Africa (modern-day Gabon and Republic of the Congo) in
1910. Belgium’s Congo Free State came to be known as
Zaire and is now the Democratic Republic of the Congo.

Starting in 1883, Brazza served as a French colonial of-
ficial. During his tenure, he continued to carry out expedi-
tions in the region. In 1886-98, he was commissioner
general of the French Congo. In 1905, he again traveled
there on behalf of the French government to investigate re-
ports of forced labor and cruelty on French-run rubber plan-
tations, but he died of dysentery during the trip.

Pierre Savorgnan de Brazza helped open up the Congo
River to French interests and helped France secure a
foothold in West Africa.

Brébeuf, Jean de (Saint Jean de Brébeuf)
(1593-1649) French missionary in the eastern

Great Lakes region

Jean de Brébeuf was born in the Normandy region of France
to a noble family. Starting in 1617, he studied under the Je-
suits, becoming a priest five years later.

In 1625, Brébeuf traveled to North America and began
his missionary work among the Montagnais Indians of Que-
bec. The next year, accompanied by Indian guides, Brébeuf
undertook a CANOE voyage westward to the Georgian Bay
region of Lake Huron, where he soon established a Jesuit
mission to the Huron (Wyandot) Indians. When French
Canada was threatened by a British invasion in 1628, he was
recalled to Quebec. He returned to France the next year.

With French control of Quebec reestablished in 1633,
Brébeuf returned to Canada and resumed work among the
Huron. He was the author of the 1635 and 1636 editions of
the Jesuit Relations about the Huron missions. In 1640, Bré-
beuf and other Jesuit missionaries were forced to flee from the
Georgian Bay settlements following an outbreak of smallpox,
which the Huron blamed on them. They went south to live
among the Neutral (Attiwandaronk) Indians in present-day
southeastern Ontario between Lake Ontario and Lake Erie.

Brébeuf’s efforts among the Neutral were hampered by
the Indians’ belief that he was a sorcerer and he left in 1641.
By 1644 he was again at work among the Huron.

In 1649, the Iroquois (Haudenosaunee) invaded Huron
territory. Brébeuf, GABRIEL LALEMENT, and several other Je-
suit missionaries were captured and tortured, then burned to
death. In 1930, Brébeuf, along with Lalement, was declared
one of the Jesuit Martyrs of North America and canonized by
Pope Pius XI.

Jean de Brébeuf’s work among the Indians of Georgian
Bay and the Straits of Mackinac established some of the ear-
liest non-Indian settlements in that part of French Canada.
He developed the St. Ignace missionary settlement on
Mackinac Island, which served as a base for the MississippI
RIVER explorations of JACQUES MARQUETTE and LOUIS
JOLLIET.

Bréhant de Galinée, René de (ca. 1645-1678)
French missionary in the eastern Grear Lakes region

René de Bréhant was born at Rennes in northwestern
France, a descendant of a French noble family that traced
its lineage back to the CRUSADES. He attended the Sorbonne
in Paris, studying astronomy and mathematics in addition to
preparing for the priesthood. Soon after receiving a degree in
theology, he entered the Sepulcian Order, and in 1668, he
arrived in French Canada as a missionary priest.

Bréhant spent a year at the Sepulcian headquarters near
Montreal, learning the Algonquian language in preparation
for a planned evangelical mission to the Potawatomi Indians
of the upper Mississippi Valley.

In early July 1669, Bréhant left Montreal with a group
of missionaries led by FRANCOIS DOLLIER DE CASSON. The
missionaries were accompanied by a number of VOYAGEURS,
including RENE-ROBERT CAVELIER DE LA SALLE as inter-
preter. They followed the St. Lawrence River to Lake On-
tario, then proceeded along its south shore to the Niagara
River. After crossing the Niagara River, near what is now
Hamilton, Ontario, Bréhant and his missionary compan-
ions parted company with La Salle, whose abilities as an in-
terpreter proved limited.

Bréhant, Dollier, and the other missionaries explored
westward for some distance, then encamped for the winter
on the north shore of Lake Erie. In late March, they set out
again for Potawatomi territory, but they were forced to
change their plans when the CANOE carrying their religious
items, including a portable altar, was lost in a storm. With-
out proper equipment to carry out their evangelical work,
the missionaries decided to head back toward Montreal.

Not wanting the expedition to be a total failure,
Bréhant and the others decided to explore the Great Lakes
by following a northern route back to Montreal. From Lake
Erie, they followed the Detroit River into Lake St. Clair
and Lake Huron. After a visit to the mission in the Straits



of Mackinac, they headed eastward into Georgian Bay and
Lake Nipissing. On the last leg of the journey, they traveled
up the Ottawa and St. Lawrence Rivers, arriving back in
Montreal on June 18, 1670.

Upon his return to Montreal, Bréhant became ill. Dur-
ing his convalescence over the next few months, he wrote
an account of his journey, producing a map of the route fol-
lowed to and from the Great Lakes. The map, one of the first
ever drawn of the eastern Great Lakes, was presented to the
colonial governor of New France, Jean-Baptiste Talon.

Bréhant returned to France in 1671. He died seven
years later while en route to Rome.

René de Bréhant’s travels with Dollier into the Great
Lakes covered much territory already known at that time to
the French. Nevertheless, his map clearly showed for the first
time that Lakes Ontario, Erie, and Huron were connected.

Brendan, Saint (Saint Brendan the Navigator,
Brandan, Brandon, Brendon, Brendan of
Clonfert, Brendan the Voyager) (ca. 484—ca. 578)
Irish monk, legendary explorer of the North Atlantic

Born in or near Tralee on the southwest coast of Ireland,
Brendan was ordained a priest in A.D. 512. He established
monasteries in Ireland at Ardfert and Clonfert and under-

The legend of Saint Brendan (Library of Congress)
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took evangelical missions to the Shetland Islands, Brittany,
Cornwall, and Wales.

As reported in the early-10th-century Irish geographic
works The Book of Lismore and Navigatio Sancti Brendani (also
known as The Voyage of St. Brendan), Brendan reportedly went
on a pilgrimage across the Atlantic Ocean. Sea pilgrimages in
an open boat made of ox-hides stretched over a wooden
frame, known as a CURRAGH, were a common practice.

According to the Navigatio, Brendan and a party of 17
Irish monks sailed westward from the southwest coast of Ire-
land and visited several islands in the Atlantic. Along the
way, they came upon fabulous creatures, including giant
sheep, pygmies, and sea-cats. Some historians have specu-
lated that Brendan may have reached the Facroe Islands be-
tween ICELAND and northern Scotland. The pygmies may
have been Inuit (Eskimo) encountered off the coast of
GREENLAND, and the sea-cats could have been walruses. In
addition, as the story is told, a friendly whale named Jasco-
nius is described as visiting the monks each Easter; the
monks reportedly celebrated Easter Sunday mass on its back.

After five years of wandering among the islands of the
North Atlantic, Brendan and his companions supposedly ar-
rived in a land of continental dimensions, which they iden-
tified as “The Land Promised to the Saints.” After exploring
the interior for weeks, they reached a large river, where an
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angel reportedly appeared to tell them that this land was re-
served for others to missionize at some point in the future.
As instructed, they returned to Ireland.

In his later years, Brendan was associated with St.
Columba at the monastery on the island of Iona, off the
west coast of Scotland.

Although there is little historical evidence on where
Brendan actually went on his voyage to the west, some his-
torians have theorized that between 566 and 573, he may
have reached Iceland, the CANARY ISLANDS, the AZORES, or
the Madeira Islands. A popular speculation is that the Irish
monk reached the Western Hemisphere and made a land-
ing on Bermuda or the North American mainland.

St. Brendan’s legendary explorations inspired medieval
cartographers to include a ST. BRENDAN’S ISLE on their
maps, lying west of Africa, near the conjectured islands of
“Antillia” and “High Brassil.” On his 1492 globe of the
world, MARTIN BEHAIM indicated a “St. Brendan’s Island”
west of the Canary Islands, near the EQUATOR. Throughout
the later Middle Ages, the story of St. Brendan’s voyage pre-
served hopes that unknown lands lay waiting to be discov-
ered westward across the Atlantic. Coupled with the sagas
of the VIKINGS, the legend of St. Brendan influenced the
voyages of CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS and other European
explorers of the late 15th and early 16¢h centuries.

Bressani, Francesco-Gioseppe (Father Francis
Joseph Bressani) (1612-1672) Iralian missionary in
French Canada

Francesco-Gioseppe Bressani was born in Rome. He joined
the Jesuit order at the age of 15 and subsequently embarked
on an academic career, becoming a professor of mathemat-
ics, philosophy, and literature.

In 1642, Bressani traveled to French Canada, where he
ministered to French colonists and Huron (Wyandot) Indi-
ans near Quebec. In 1644, he left the Jesuit settlement at
Trois Rivieres on the St. Lawrence River, and, accompanied
by a party of Christianized Huron, he headed westward up
the river for the Jesuit mission on the shores of Lake Huron’s
Georgian Bay. Soon after starting out, Bressani and his
Huron companions were attacked by an Iroquois (Hau-
denosaunee) Indian war party near present-day Sorel, Que-
bec. The priest was taken captive and held for four months.
During a trip to the upper Hudson River region, Bressani
won his release when he was ransomed by Dutch fur traders.
He then made his way to the Dutch colony of New Ams-
terdam (present-day New York City), from where he sailed
to France.

In July 1645, Bressani returned to Quebec and again
traveled westward to the Lake Huron region for missionary
work among the Huron. In 1648, with the outbreak of a
full-scale war between the Iroquois and the Huron, Bressani

set out for Quebec with a group of Huron refugees. En
route, he was wounded in an Iroquois attack, but he man-
aged to reach Quebec, where he remained for the next year.
On his way back to the Lake Huron mission, he learned that
it had been destroyed by Iroquois. Soon afterward, he re-
turned to Europe, and he lived his remaining years in Flo-
rence, Italy.

Francesco-Gioseppe Bressani’s account of his years as a
missionary in French Canada, entitled Bréve Relation, was
published in Macerata, Italy, in 1653. His experience as a
captive of the Iroquois illustrates the resentment the Iro-
quois maintained against the French and the Jesuits that
stemmed from SAMUEL DE CHAMPLAIN's initial military al-
liance with the Huron in 1609.

Bridger, James (Jim Bridger) (1804-1881)
American fur trapper, scout, guide in American West

Born in Richmond, Virginia, James (Jim) Bridger moved
with his family to Missouri, settling near St. Louis. By the
time he was 13, he was orphaned and working as a black-
smith in the St. Louis area.

In 1822, Bridger answered WILLIAM HENRY ASHLEY'’S
call for fur trappers to take part in his first expedition up
the MISSOURI RIVER to the Dakotas and northern ROCKY
MOUNTAINS. He was with Ashley’s original contingent of
men who trapped for furs during the winter of 1822-23,
based around the newly established Fort Henry at the
mouth of the Yellowstone River.

The following winter of 1823-24, Bridger trapped
under Ashley’s partner ANDREW HENRY, along with fellow
mountain men John Fitzgerald and HUGH GLASS, exploring
the Green River region of present-day southern Wyoming
and northern Utah.

The next winter, 1824-25, Bridger trapped northwest-
ern Utah’s Rocky Mountains, and, in late 1824 or early
1825, he reached the Greart Salt Lake, becoming one of the
first non-Indians to explore it. Noting that the water was
salty rather than fresh, Bridger speculated that he had come
across an arm of the Pacific Ocean. JAMES CLYMAN, HENRY
FRAEB, LOUIS VASQUEZ, and other trappers determined the
lake was landlocked in 1826.

From 1826 to 1834, Bridger continued to trap for Ash-
ley’s various successors in the FUR TRADE, including JEDE-
DIAH STRONG SMITH and WILLIAM LEWIS SUBLETTE of the
ROCKY MOUNTAIN FUR COMPANY. In 1835, he attended the
Green River fur traders’ rendezvous with CHRISTOPHER
HOUSTON CARSON (Kit Carson). From 1838 to 1843, he
was associated with JOHN JACOB ASTOR’s AMERICAN FUR
COMPANY and worked the Rocky Mountains in search of
beaver pelts.

By the late 1830s, fur trappers had seriously depleted
the supply of beaver in the Rockies. Meanwhile, demand for



the pelts declined as silk became more fashionable among
eastern and European hatmakers. In 1843, with his trapping
partner Louis Vasquez, Bridger established a trading post,
Fort Bridger, on the Oregon Trail, at the Green River’s Black
Fork, near the present-day town of Green River, Wyoming.
Bridger and Vasquez traded for buffalo hides with Indian
and non-Indian hunters and provided supplies and accom-
modations for travelers along the Oregon Trail headed for
the Pacific Northwest and northern California.

In its first year of operation, Bridger’s post was host to
a large Oregon-bound wagon train, led by JESSE APPLEGATE.
In 1847, BRIGHAM YOUNG, leading the first Mormon
wagon train westward into the what is now Utah, stopped at
Fort Bridger, where Bridger provided supplies and helpful
information about the route south and west into the Great
Salt Lake Basin. JOHN CHARLES FREMONT, during his ex-
peditions of the 1840s into the Rockies, also stopped at Fort
Bridger, where he received trail information and supplies
from the mountain man.

In 1849-50, Bridger was a guide for Captain HOWARD
STANSBURY’s expedition seeking a route through Utah’s
Wasatch Mountains. During this venture, Bridger explored
the route known as Cheyenne Pass, as well as what later be-
came known as Bridger’s Pass. The latter, in years to come,
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Jim Bridger (drawing by Frederic Remington) (Library of Congress)
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served as an important route for overland stages and for the
Union Pacific Railroad.

In 1853, the Mormons in Utah and southern Wyo-
ming, suspecting that Bridger was supplying firearms and
ammunition to the Ute Indians, forced Bridger to sell his in-
terest in the trading post.

In 1855-56, Bridger served as guide for Irish big-game
hunter Sir George Gore on a hunting expedition into the
Yellowstone Valley of present-day northwestern Wyoming.
This expedition brought back oral accounts of scenic won-
ders, spurring interest in the region among easterners.

When Mormon settlers in northern Utah openly re-
sisted federal authority during the Mormon War of
1857-58, federal troops under Colonel Albert Sidney John-
ston were sent to put down the uprising, with Bridger
as guide.

In 185960, Bridger was a guide to Captain WILLIAM
FRANKLIN RAYNOLDS’s expedition from Fort Pierre and Fort
Union in the Dakota Territory through Wyoming and Mon-
tana. In the course of this government-sponsored enterprise,
Bridger helped locate a suitable wagon route connecting the
Oregon Trail with the Walla Walla Valley of present-day
eastern Washington.

In 1861, Bridger helped lead the Berthoud party
through the Rockies from Denver in an attempt to find a
shorter wagon route to the Great Salt Lake.

In about 1864, Bridger blazed a trail northward from
Denver to the gold mining country around Bannack and
Virginia City, Montana. Unlike the Bozeman Trail, estab-
lished about the same time, Bridger’s route ran west of
Wyoming’s Bighorn Mountains, thus circumventing the sa-
cred hunting grounds of the Sioux (Dakota, Lakota,
Nakota) and Cheyenne Indians. Although Bridger’s trail
northward from Colorado may have been safer for travelers
to Montana, as well as less antagonistic to the Indians, it was
longer and less traveled than JOHN MERIN BOZEMAN’s
route. The inevitable conflict with the Sioux led to the gov-
ernment’s Powder River Expedition of 1865, during which
Bridger again served as a scout for federal troops, this time
commanded by General Patrick Edward Connor.

Although Bridger was troubled by failing eyesight, he
continued to act as a guide and scout for the U.S. govern-
ment and railroad interests. In 1866, he led a survey party
measuring the length of the Bozeman Trail and conducted
an expedition surveying the route across Wyoming and
Utah for Grenville Mellon Dodge’s Union Pacific Railroad
project.

By 1868, Bridger’s health had forced him into retire-
ment. He settled near his old trading partner, Louis Vasquez,
at Westport, Missouri, where he spent the remainder of
his life.

Jim Bridger’s career as a fur trapper in the 1820s
and 1830s, and his later adventures as a trader and guide
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for explorers, military men, and settlers, spanned nearly the
entire period of exploration and settlement of the north-
ern plains and northern Rockies. The trails he helped blaze
later became routes for wagon trains and railroads. More-
over, his explorations of the Yellowstone Valley of north-
western Wyoming contributed to the eventual preservation
of this wilderness area as the nation’s first national park in
1872.

Brosses, Charles de (1709-1777) French geographer
Charles de Brosses was born at Dijon in the Burgundy re-
gion of France. He became one of the leading scholars of
his time, contributing to Diderot’s Encyclopedia of 1751-72.
Also prominent in politics, he was president of Burgundy’s
local governing body.

De Brosses had a keen interest in geography, and, in
1756, he published his Histoire de la navigation aux terres
australes (History of navigation to southern lands), a study
of explorations into the world’s southern latitudes. Among
the exploits he chronicled were those of French navigator
Binot Palmier de Gonneville who sailed the southern seas
in 1504, where he reportedly reached a large landmass,
later known as the legendary GONNEVILLE’S LAND. Based
on this and other accounts, de Brosses promoted the idea
of a GREAT SOUTHERN CONTINENT, maintaining that
such a landmass had to exist in the Southern Hemisphere
in order to counterbalance the continents of the Northern
Hemisphere.

De Brosses found further evidence to support his idea
of geographic equilibrium in French sea captain JEAN-BAP-
TISTE-CHARLES BOUVET DE LOZIER’s voyage of 1738-39, in
which he reached land at 54° south latitude, farther south
than any lands then charted in the Southern Hemisphere.
He named it Cape Circumcision, after the feast day (January
1, 1739) on which he reached it, and concluded that it was
the northern tip of a huge continent that extended to the
south, the fabled Gonneville’s Land. In his 1756 book, de
Brosses held the cape as proof of the existence of the Great
Southern Continent. Subsequent explorations would reveal
that what Bouvet had found was actually only a small island,
1,100 miles off the Atlantic coast of Antarctica, known
today as Bouvet Island.

In his History of Navigation, de Brosses first coined the
term Australasia to refer to the Great Southern Continent.
He also originated the term Polynesia as a reference to the
many island groups in the South Pacific. Many of his geo-
graphic notions were erroneous. He contended that large
stretches of open sea could not freeze, and that icebergs orig-
inated from freshwater rivers, their existence in southern lat-
itudes underscoring the existence of a large southern
landmass with an extensive inland river system that flowed
to the sea.

De Brosses’s geographic work influenced the French
and British navigators who, following the conclusion of the
Seven Years War in 1763, set out to explore the great un-
charted regions of the Southern Hemisphere. South Pacific
CXPIOl‘CI‘S JOHN BYRON, LOUIS-ANTOINE DE BOUGAIN-
VILLE, and JAMES COOK were both familiar with his work
when they searched for the Great Southern Continent dur-
ing the 1760s.

Charles de Brosses promoted the idea that the aim of
exploration into uncharted lands should be to advance sci-
entific knowledge and to elevate the cultures of primitive
peoples encountered, rather than merely for national gain by
conquest. He was one of the first to propose that newly lo-
cated lands could be used as places where European crimi-
nals could be sent for resettlement and rehabilitation, an
idea that was eventually realized with the establishment of
the first penal colony in New South Wales in Australia, in
1788.

Broughton,William Robert (1762-1821)

British naval officer on the Pacific coasts of North America
and Asia

Few details exist of William Broughton’s early life. After en-
tering the British navy as a midshipman in his early teens, he
took part in naval operations against the French on the At-
lantic coast of North America and off the coast of India in
1778-83, during the American Revolution.

In 1791, as a naval lieutenant, Broughton took com-
mand of the brig Chatham, accompanying GEORGE
VANCOUVER and the Discovery on an expedition to the
northwest coast of North America. They first sailed to the
Pacific Ocean by way of the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE and Aus-
tralia. The two ships separated. Broughton headed across the
Pacific toward Tahiti, locating an island group about 400
miles east of NEW ZEALAND, which he named the Chatham
Islands after his ship.

In late May 1792, on North America’s Pacific North-
west Coast, Broughton, guided by American merchant cap-
tain ROBERT GRAY's reports, located and entered the mouth
of the COLUMBIA RIVER and undertook the first exploration
by non-Indians up that river from the Pacific. His party
reached a point 119 miles upstream, near what is now
Washougal, Washington, east of the Willamette River’s
mouth at present-day Portland, Oregon.

Broughton subsequently sailed with Vancouver to
Monterey, California, and, after traveling overland across
Mexico to Vera Cruz, he returned to England in 1793.

In 1796, Broughton, in command of the Providence, re-
turned to the northwest coast of North America. Arriving
too late to rejoin Vancouver, he sailed westward across the
Pacific, then surveyed Asia’s Pacific coast from the Kam-
chatka Peninsula southward to Korea and Japan. On May



16, 1797, the Providence was wrecked when it struck a reef
off the coast of Formosa (present-day Taiwan). Nevertheless,
all of the crew survived, and Broughton carried out the rest
of the Asian coast survey aboard a sloop that had been ac-
companying his ship. In May 1798, he arrived at Macao, the
Portuguese colony off the southeast coast of China, from
where he returned to England.

Broughton went on to serve in British naval campaigns
in the Napoleonic Wars of the early 1800s. In 1810, he par-
ticipated in the British campaign against the French colony
on the Indian Ocean island of Mauritius, and, the next year,
he took part in the attack on the Dutch colony on Java.
After 1812, he returned to England, later settling in Flo-
rence, Italy.

In 1804, Broughton published an account of his expe-
dition along the Asian coast, entitled A Voyage of Discovery to
the North Pacific Ocean. He also left journals describing his
exploration of the northwest coast of North America and his
journey across Mexico.

Although Robert Gray is generally credited with the
non-Indian discovery of the Columbia River, it was
William Broughton who first charted it in 1792. Great
Britain later claimed sovereignty over the Oregon Country
partly on the basis of Broughton’s investigations of the
lower Columbia River Basin. In 1805, WILLIAM CLARK and
MERIWETHER LEWIS relied on Broughton’s charts of the
lower Columbia River during their overland expedition to
the Pacific.

Brown, Robert (1773-1858) Scottish naturalist in
Australia and Tasmania

Robert Brown was born in Montrose, Scotland, the son of
an Episcopal clergyman. He attended the Montrose gram-
mar school, where he befriended James Mill, who later be-
came a leading British philosopher. After studying
philosophy at Marichal College in Aberdeen, Brown entered
the University of Edinburgh in 1789. By that time, he had
developed a keen interest in natural history, especially
botany, and had become a member of the Natural History
Society of Edinburgh. In 1791, he prepared a comprehen-
sive collection and study of the flora of Scotland.

In 1795, Brown was commissioned as an officer and as-
sistant surgeon in a Scottish regiment of the British army.
After his service with the army in the north of Ireland, he was
sent to London on recruiting duty in 1798, where he met
British naturalist SIR JOSEPH BANKS. Banks recognized
Brown’s potential as a scientist and secured his appointment
as the official naturalist on MATTHEW FLINDERS’s expedi-
tion to Australia in 1801.

Brown sailed from Portsmouth with Flinders on the /-
vestigator in July 1801, reaching the west coast of Australia
that December. Over the next few months, he made nu-
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merous landings on the Australian coast. Accompanied by
natural history artist FERDINAND LUCAS BAUER, he under-
took an extensive study of the region’s wildlife. In addition
to thousands of plant specimens, Brown collected animals
unique to Australia, including kangaroos, emus, and certain
varieties of lizards and cockatoos.

In February 1802, the Investigator sailed 148 miles up
Spencer Gulf on Australia’s south coast. Near its head,
Flinders sighted a peak he named Mount Brown, in honor
of the Scottish naturalist. Two months later, at Encounter
Bay, Brown served as Flinders’s interpreter in his meeting
with the French maritime explorer THOMAS-NICOLAS
BAUDIN.

Following a stop at Port Jackson (present-day Sydney),
Brown continued with the Flinders expedition in an explo-
ration of the east and north coasts of Australia. He examined
the flora and fauna along the shores of the York Peninsula,
and the coast of the Gulf of Carpentaria, and encountered
several aborigines.

In August 1803, Brown and the rest of the scientific
staff remained behind at Port Jackson; Flinders continued to
explore in ships borrowed from the BRITISH EAST INDIA
COMPANY while the Investigator underwent repairs. Flinders
had instructed the scientists to seck their own return passage
if he did not return after 18 months. Brown took part in
studies of plant life around Sydney, including an investiga-
tion of the reproductive features of orchids.

Brown then sailed to the newly established British
colony on TASMANIA, where he spent 10 months examin-
ing the island’s plants and animals. Among the species he
studied was the Tasmanian wolf, found only on that island.

Brown returned to Port Jackson in early 1805, but
Flinders failed to arrive within the arranged time, having
been taken prisoner by the French at Ile de France (present-
day Mauritius) in late 1803. Soon afterward, Brown and
the other scientists sailed back to England on the refur-
bished Investigator. On the return voyage, they made a
stopover at Cape Town, South Africa, where Brown col-
lected additional plant specimens. He arrived back in Eng-
land in October 1805, with a total of almost 4,000
specimens of plants, 1,700 of which were new to science.
He also brought back various live animals, including the
bare-nostriled wombat.

Over the next five years, Brown compiled a compre-
hensive catalogue and study of the plants he had collected in
Australia and Tasmania, published in 1810 as Prodromus
Florae Novae Hollandiae. In addition, he contributed scien-
tific material to Flinders’s account of the expedition, pub-
lished in 1814. In classifying the new plants he had
discovered, Brown had to establish 14 new genera.

Brown went on to a long and distinguished career as
one of England’s foremost natural scientists. He developed
a close association with Joseph Banks, and upon Banks’s
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death in 1820 Brown inherited his house, library, and
natural history collection. He was made a fellow of the
ROYAL SOCIETY in 1811, and, in 1827, he became curator
of the British Museum’s botanical collection. That same
year, he published the scientific findings for which he is
best known, the phenomenon known as Brownian Move-
ment, which substantiated the kinetic molecular theory of
matter. In 1831, he discovered the nucleus of the plant
cell.

With his work as a naturalist in Australia and Tasmania,
Robert Brown carried on the tradition of British scientific
exploration and inquiry in the South Pacific begun in the
late 1760s with the voyages of JAMES COOK.

Bruce, James (Laird of Kinnaird) (1730-1794)
Scottish explorer in East Africa

James Bruce was born on his family’s estate, Kinnaird, in
Sterlingshire, Scotland. Following his early education at
Harrow, he went on to Edinburgh University in 1747. In
about 1750, forced to curtail his studies for health reasons,
he went to London and worked for a wine merchant’s firm,
marrying the owner’s daughter in 1753. Nine months after
his marriage, his wife died, and Bruce sought solace in travel
to exotic places.

Starting in 1755, Bruce journeyed along the southern
shore of the MEDITERRANEAN SEA, visiting sites of Roman
ruins from Tunis to Tripoli. He also sailed to Crete, Rhodes,
and the Mediterranean coast of present-day Turkey.

In 1763, Bruce was appointed Great Britain’s consul
general at Algiers. Commissioned also to continue his study
of classical ruins in North Africa, he hired Italian artist Luigi
Balugani to make drawings and serve as his assistant. He re-
mained in the diplomatic service for two years.

In 1768, Bruce resolved to undertake an expedition
into the interior of East Africa in search of the source of the
NILE RIVER. An accomplished linguist, he readied himself
for his journey by becoming fluent in Spanish, Portuguese,
Arabic, and Ambharic, the principal language of Ethiopia.
Accompanied by Balugani, he traveled to Alexandria, Egypt,
where he drew on earlier medical training to practice as a
doctor. With his reputation as a medical man, he obtained
diplomatic letters that aided in his subsequent travels to Ara-
bia and Ethiopia.

In mid-1768, Bruce and Balugani ascended the Nile
from Alexandria, reaching as far upriver as Aswan. Because
of hostile tribes, Bruce and his assistant headed eastward
across the desert to the RED SEA coast. They crossed over to
Jidda on the Arabian Peninsula, then headed southward, re-
crossing the Red Sea to the Eritrean port of Massawa, which
they reached in September 1769. From Massawa, they jour-
neyed into the Ethiopian interior, arriving at the capital city
of Gondar in February 1770.

In Gondar, Bruce was received by the Ethiopian king,
Tecla Haimanot, and by the regent and real power behind
the throne, Ras Michael of Tigre. He won the favor of the
Ethiopian rulers by instituting sanitary measures that
stemmed an outbreak of smallpox in the royal palace. At
that time, a civil war was raging in the country, and Bruce
took part in several military campaigns on behalf of the
monarchy. Following his appointment as a provincial gov-
ernor, he explored the region around Lake Tana, visiting Tis-
siat Falls. On November 14, 1770, at the nearby Springs of
Geesh, he found what he (mistakenly) took to be the source
of the Nile emanating from underground streams. These he
named the Fountains of the Nile. Actually, he had located
the source of the Blue Nile, a principal tributary of the main
course of the Nile.

Bruce remained in Gondar until late 1771. Earlier that
year, his artist assistant Balugani had died. From Gondar,
Bruce descended the Blue Nile to its confluence with the
White Nile at the site of present-day Khartoum. Although
the White Nile appeared to be the greater stream at that
junction, Bruce still concluded the Blue Nile to be the main
course of the river.

Bruce left the river at Berber and undertook an ardu-
ous 18-day overland trek northward across 400 miles of the
Nubian Desert. Upon reaching Aswan, he traveled down the
Nile to Cairo, from where he sailed to Europe, returning to
England in June 1774.

Bruce presented the results of his explorations in an in-
terview with King George I1I; he was subsequently elected a
fellow of the ROYAL SOCIETY. Nonetheless, his account of
his African exploits was met with much skepticism by Lon-
don’s intelligentsia, including the renowned man of letters
Dr. Samuel Johnson.

Soon after his return, Bruce retired to his family estate
in Scotland and wrote a multivolume work on his explo-
rations in Africa, Travels to Discover the Source of the Nile,
first published in 1790. Four years later, he was fatally in-
jured in a fall down the main staircase at Kinnaird as he de-
scended to assist a lady into a carriage.

James Bruce’s explorations rekindled European interest
in the uncharted interior of Africa, especially with regard to
the elusive source of the Nile, and helped lead to the found-
ing of the AFRICAN ASSOCIATION. He was not the first Eu-
ropean to locate the source of the Blue Nile in Ethiopia,
having been preceded by Portuguese missionaries PEDRO
PAEZ and JERONIMO LOBO by about 150 years. Bruce’s mis-
taken conclusion that the Blue Nile was the main branch of
the river was not revealed until the explorations of SIR
RICHARD BURTON and JOHN HANNING SPEKE in the late
1850s. Nevertheless, he was the first European to undertake
an expedition aimed specifically at finding the Nile’s source,
and was one of the earliest explorers to report the connec-
tion between the White Nile and the Blue Nile at Khartoum.



Bruce,William Spiers (1867-1921)

Scottish physician, polar explorer

William S. Bruce was born in London of Scottish parentage.
Trained in medicine at Edinburgh University, he also stud-
ied natural sciences, especially oceanography. In 1892-93,
he made his first voyage to the polar regions as ship’s surgeon
on the Scottish whaler Baleena, sailing from Dundee to the
Antarctic.

In the late 1890s, Bruce continued his polar explo-
rations in Franz Josef Land, the Arctic archipelago north and
east of Scandinavia. He returned to the South Polar region
in command of the Scottish National Antarctic Expedition
0f 1902-04. Aboard the ship Scotia, he surveyed the shore of
the Weddell Sea, along the Atlantic portion of Antarctica.
He observed a range of 150-foot cliffs on the coast and de-
termined that although covered with ice, they were part of
an Antarctic landmass. He named this region Coats Land,
after his chief sponsor, Scottish industrialist Andrew Coats.
No landing was possible at this time because of ice condi-
tions.

Between 1906 and 1920, Bruce turned his attention
back to the Arctic, making seven voyages to Spitsbergen
(present-day Svalbard), where he continued his oceano-
graphic studies. During these years, he also edited the mul-
tivolume report of the 1902-04 Scottish National Antarctic
Expedition, and he recounted his experiences in the Arctic
and Antarctic in the book Polar Explorations (1911).

The Scottish National Antarctic Expedition led by Dr.
William S. Bruce took place at the same time as the British
expedition under ROBERT FALCON SCOTT, as well as those
sponsored by France and Sweden. Bruce also helped initiate
Argentina’s annual expeditions to the Antarctic when he ar-
ranged for that country to take over the Laurie Island
weather station, in recognition of Argentine rescue efforts of
explorers from other countries.

Bralé, Etienne (ca. 1592-1633) French explorer in
Jour of the five Great Lakes

Etienne Brilé first traveled to North America in 1608, as a
protege to French explorer and colonizer SAMUEL DE CHAM-
PLAIN. He remained at the newly founded Quebec settle-
ment for the next two years, and, in 1610, he was sent to live
among the Algonquian-speaking Indians of the St. Lawrence
River Valley to learn their language and customs.

The next year, Champlain, before returning to France,
sent Bralé to live among the Huron (Wyandot) Indians.
Briilé became familiar with the Iroquoian language and cul-
ture and was accepted as a friend by tribal leaders.

In 1611-12, Brilé traveled westward along the St.
Lawrence River with the Huron, visiting the lands of other
tribes, including the Montagnais and Nipissing. He trav-
eled by birchbark CANOE to the western extent of the St.
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Lawrence River, then along the Ottawa River, part of the
present-day boundary between Quebec and Ontario,
Canada. Crossing along the south shore of Lake Nipissing,
he entered the French River and followed it to its outlet at
the northern end of Georgian Bay, becoming the first Euro-
pean to see Lake Huron.

From the Huron settlements on Georgian Bay, Bralé,
traveling by canoe with intermittent overland portages,
headed southward and reached the northwestern end of
Lake Ontario. He then journeyed back to Montreal and
Quebec, rejoining Champlain, who had returned from
France.

In 1615, Bralé joined Champlain on an expedition to
gain Huron support for an attack on the Iroquois (Hau-
denosaunee) Indians in what is now central New York State.
Brilé served as Champlain’s interpreter, and the two French-
men, with a small party of Huron, retraced Brtlé’s previous
route to Georgian Bay. After traveling southward, they
parted at Lake Simcoe: Champlain headed for the Iroquois
settlements on Lake Oneida near present-day Syracuse, New
York, and Bralé continued with his own party of Indians
across Lake Ontario and into the Niagara River. He crossed
the narrow strip south of Niagara Falls and came upon Lake
Erie. After recruiting a force of Erie Indians for the cam-
paign against the Iroquois, he headed southwestward to join
Champlain.

Brilé and his Indian allies arrived too late to be of any
service to Champlain at Lake Oneida. Champlain then sent
Brlé farther south to gain the support of the Susquehan-
nock Indians. He reached Otsego Lake near present-day
Cooperstown, New York, and entered the Susquehanna
River, following it for 440 miles to its outlet into the At-
lantic Ocean at Chesapeake Bay, through parts of the pre-
sent-day states of New York, Pennsylvania, Maryland, and
Virginia. In spring 1616, while returning to Montreal, Bralé
was captured by the Iroquois, but eventually managed to
escape.

In 1621, Brtlé embarked on yet another expedition to
the Great Lakes. He headed westward from the St. Lawrence
and, following his earlier route along the Ottawa River, Lake
Nipissing, and the French River, entered Georgian Bay. This
time, he continued westward along the north shore of Lake
Huron. With him traveled another Frenchman, named
Grenolle. In the Manitoulin Island area, Br(ilé came across
valuable copper deposits. Although he missed the entrance
to Lake Michigan at the Straits of Mackinac, he proceeded
through Sault Sainte Marie and the St. Marys River, thus be-
coming the first European to enter Lake Superior. His ac-
counts are sketchy, but it is thought he continued along the
south shore of Lake Superior as far west as present-day Du-
luth, Minnesota.

Throughout the 1620s, Briilé remained among his
Huron friends, with intervening visits to Montreal and Que-
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bec. In 1628, when the British Kirke brothers succeeded in
wresting control of the St. Lawrence Valley from the French,
Briilé offered his services to them. He reportedly was aboard
the vessel that captured his former mentor, Champlain, in
1629. French control of Quebec was restored in 1632. The
next year, a disagreement with his Huron hosts led to Bralé’s
death at their hands.

During his 25 years in French Canada, Etienne Brtilé’s
explorations took him to four of the five Great Lakes: Lake
Ontario, Lake Erie, Lake Huron, and Lake Superior. More-
over, his 1615-16 journey from Otsego Lake, in New York,
down the Susquehanna to Chesapeake Bay revealed the ex-
istence of a canoe-and-portage route linking the Great Lakes
to the Atlantic coast. His expedition to the western end of
Lake Superior in 1621 took him about 1,200 miles into the
interior of North America.

Brunel, Olivier (Oliver Brunel) (ca. 1540-1585)
Dutch mariner in Russia and the European Arctic

Olivier Brunel, born in Brussels or Louvain, was of Flemish
ancestry. He pursued a career in navigation and hoped to
make a fortune in trade with the Orient by discovering the
NORTHEAST PASSAGE.

Brunel carried out his first known voyage in about
1565, sponsored by the White Sea Trading Company,
rounding the North Cape of Norway into the Barents Sea
and onto its inlet, the White Sea. He was taken prisoner by
Russian authorities, accused of being a spy by the Muscovy
COMPANY of London, and held at Yaroslavl, north of
Moscow, until 1570. The Stroganovs, an influential Rus-
sian merchant family, lobbied for his release and hired him
to develop trade relations between Russia and the Nether-
lands. During this period, he reportedly became the first Eu-
ropean to make the overland journey from Moscow to the
Ob River to the west. It was this journey that prompted him
to plan a sea journey through the Kara Sea to the mouth of
the Ob River for a proposed route to the empire of Cathay
(China). He reportedly first spoke of his plans for this voy-
age as early as 1581 and perhaps made a failed attempt that
summer.

In 1583, under the sponsorship of Frederick II of
Denmark and Norway, Brunel, together with a Norwegian
business partner, Arent Meyer, undertook a voyage of explo-
ration to GREENLAND from Bergen, Norway. DRIFT ICE and
fog off Greenland caused them to abandon the mission.

In 1584, backed by a Dutch consortium and again in
partnership with Meyer, Brunel pursued his dream of a sea
route to Cathay but made it only as far as the west coast of
Novaya Zemlya before being blocked by ice. The next year,
he made another attempt to reach the Ob River, entering the
Kara Sea by way of the Yugor Strait. With passage again
blocked by ice, he decided instead to make a landing at Pe-

chora Bay and trade his cargo with the native Samoyeds, an
undertaking that proved successful. The landing boat cap-
sized on the return to the ship, however, and Brunel was
drowned.

Olivier Brunel’s sea and land voyages helped further
trade contacts between European nations and expand
knowledge of the European Arctic, as started by the Britons
SIR HUGH WILLOUGHBY, RICHARD CHANCELLOR, and
STEPHEN BOROUGH and continued by fellow Dutchman
WILLEM BARENTS.

Bruni, Antoine-Raymond-Joseph de

(chevalier d’Entrecasteaux) (1737-1793)

French naval officer in the South Pacific
Antoine-Raymond-Joseph de Bruni, chevalier d’Entre-
casteaux, was born at his family’s chateau in the Provence re-
gion of southern France. He was of noble descent, and his
father served as a high government official in Provence.

After entering the Marine Guard in 1754, d’Entre-
casteaux went on to serve with distinction in the Battle of Mi-
norca of 1756, a French naval victory over the British in the
western MEDITERRANEAN SEA. By 1770, he had been pro-
moted to lieutenant commander, and, over the next several
years, he directed the operations of ports and arsenals in
France.

In 1785, d’Entrecasteaux was made commander of
French naval forces in the Indian Ocean and the Far East.
Two years later, he was named governor of the French colony
on Ile de France (present-day Mauritius) in the Indian Ocean.

Promoted to rear admiral in 1791, d’Entrecasteaux took
command of an expedition commissioned to search for
JEAN-FRANCOIS DE GALAUP, comte de La Pérouse, who had
been missing with his two ships since 1788. In command
of the Récherche, I’ Entrecasteaux was accompanied by an-
other vessel, the Espérance, captained by JEAN-MICHEL
HUON DE KERMADEC. In addition to secking the lost La
Pérouse expedition, he had been instructed to survey the
coasts of New Holland (present-day Australia), Van
Diemen’s Land (TASMANIA), and New Caledonia. From
New Caledonia, Entrecasteaux planned to follow La
Pérouse’s assumed course to the northeast coast of New
Guinea. They departed from Brest on September 29, 1791.

Upon arriving in Cape Town in January 1792, d’Entre-
casteaux received secondhand reports that traces of the La
Pérouse expedition might have been sighted in the Admi-
ralty Islands. With this news, he changed his plans: instead
of going to Australia, he headed directly for the Admiralty
Islands by way of the SPICE ISLANDS (the Moluccas). Unfa-
vorable sailing conditions held back the ships™ progress
across the Indian Ocean. Running low on food and water,
the expedition was compelled to head south and east to
southern Tasmania.



By April, d’Entrecasteaux had reached the southeast
coast of Tasmania. Upon reconnaissance of the shoreline, he
learned that Adventure Bay was not part of the mainland, but
was actually part of one of two islands in an uncharted bay.

From Tasmania, d’Entrecasteaux sailed northeastward
to New Caledonia, where he undertook the first survey of
that island’s west coast. He then continued into the Bis-
marck Archipelago, stopping at Baku and New Ireland.
After failing to find a trace of La Pérouse’s expedition in the
Admiralty Islands, d’Entrecasteaux explored around the
Solomon Islands, a group that had been incorrectly indi-
cated on maps since their initial European discovery by
Spanish navigator ALVARO DE MENDANA in 1568.

By the time d’Entrecasteaux and his expedition arrived
at the Dutch settlement on Amboina in September 1793,
the Reign of Terror had begun in France. Class tensions de-
veloped among the men under his command. Although the
Netherlands was on the verge of war with France, the
Dutch provided help. A month later, d’Entrecasteaux sailed
back toward the west coast of Australia, then made an ex-
tensive cruise along the Great Australian Bight, making the
European discovery of the Recherche Archipelago. Mean-
while, Jean-Michel Huon de Kermedec made the European
discovery of Esperance Bay. The expedition returned to
the southern Tasmanian coast, coming into contact with
native peoples. After cruising along the coast of NEW
ZEALAND, where the French engaged in some trading with
the native Maori, they again explored New Caledonia and
visited the Santa Cruz Islands. D’Entrecasteaux then di-
rected the course westward to the Solomon Islands. He
soon located a new island group now known as D’Entre-
casteaux Islands.

D’Entrecasteaux next expanded his search for La
Pérouse to the eastern end of New Guinea. By chance he
explored Vanikoro Island, unaware that it was on that very
island’s reefs that La Pérouse’s ships had been wrecked.

The French government had allowed only three years
for d’Entrecasteaux’s expedition. By July 1793, he decided to
return to France. He became ill with SCURVY and dysentery
en route to the Dutch East Indian port of Batavia and died
at sea. Command of the expedition went to ALEXANDRE
HESMIVY D’AURIBEAU, who was soon faced with political
problems with the Dutch and with his own crew.

Much of the geographic and scientific data obtained by
chevalier d’Entrecasteaux fell into the hands of the British,
inspiring them to establish present-day Hobart, Tasmania.
The islands south of Hobart are named North and South
Bruny (Bruni) after the French explorer, as is D’Entre-
casteaux Channel, which separates them from the mainland.
D’Entrecasteaux is credited with finally establishing the cor-
rect position of the Solomons, which had been mistakenly
charted by Mendafa in 1568, PHILIP CARTERET in 1767,
and LOUIS-ANTOINE DE BOUGAINVILLE in 1768.
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Brunner, Thomas (1821-1874) British explorer

in New Zealand

Thomas Brunner immigrated to NEW ZEALAND from Eng-
land as a 19-year-old assistant surveyor with the New
Zealand Company. Starting in 1843, he undertook the first
penetration by Europeans into the interior of New Zealand’s
South Island. He headed southward from the site of present-
day Motueka on the west shore of Tasman Bay, reaching as
far as the Richmond Range.

In 1845, Brunner set out again, guided by a Maori
named Ekuhu and accompanied by Charles Heaphy and
William Fox. On this expedition, Brunner and his party
traveled southward from the eastern side of Tasman Bay into
what is now known as New Zealand’s Hot Springs District,
where they explored the region around Lake Rotoroa.

Brunner continued his explorations of South Island the
next year, in an expedition from Golden Bay on the island’s
northwestern corner. Again guided by Ekuhu and accom-
panied by Heaphy, he followed the west coast of South Is-
land to the Grey River, then headed eastward into the
interior and explored the Taramakau River.

Later in 1846, Brunner began his most extensive ex-
ploration of South Island. With Ekuhu as his guide, he
headed southward from Tasman Bay to the upper reaches of
the Buller River, then descended that stream westward to its
mouth at Cape Foulwind, on the Tasman Sea. He proceeded
southward along the west coast of South Island to the Grey
River. Following the Grey River north and east into the in-
terior, he traversed the Southern Alps to the slopes of the Pa-
paroa Range.

After exploring the Taramakau River, Brunner returned
to the west coast of South Island, exploring as far south as
Mount Cook and Titihira Head.

Thomas Brunner’s explorations revealed much about
the major rivers and mountain ranges of South Island, New
Zealand, a region that had been until that time known only
from earlier coastal surveys. The Lake Rotoroa area that he
visited, with its natural hot springs, subsequently became a
major New Zealand health resort region. In the course of his
1846-48 expedition, Brunner became the first European to
visit the lake in the northern part of New Zealand’s South Is-
land that now bears his name. His book, Journal of an Expe-
dition to Explore the Interior of the Middle Island of New
Zealand, was published in 1851, the same year he received a
medal from the ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY.

Bruyas, Jacques (1635-1712) French missionary

in North America

Jacques Bruyas was originally from Lyon, France. Ordained
a Jesuit missionary priest, he crossed the Atlantic Ocean to
New France, arriving in Quebec in early August 1666. The
following summer, he began his missionary work among
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the Iroquois (Haudenosaunee) tribes who then dominated
what is now central and western New York State. He jour-
neyed to the lands of the Mohawk, Oneida, and Onondaga
part of the Iroquois League, remaining among them a few
years, then was transferred to Sault St. Louis mission
among the Huron (Wyandot), the main Jesuit settlement
in the St. Lawrence Valley.

Bruyas served as superior to all the Jesuit missions in
French Canada from 1693 to 1699. He was subsequently
named Jesuit envoy to the Onondaga.

While traveling throughout the lands of the Iroquois,
Bruyas, a philologist, made a study of their language, subse-
quently producing a Mohawk dictionary.

As with other French Jesuits of the 1600s, Father
Jacques Bruyas’s work among the Native Americans led to
the exploration of uncharted regions of northeastern North
America.

Brydges, Harford Jones (1774-1829)

British diplomar in central and southwest Asia

Harford Brydges was a diplomatic officer for the British
government in the first decade of the 19th century. At that
time, mounting concerns over Russia’s expansion of its
sphere of influence in the Middle East led the British gov-
ernment to seck stronger ties with Persia (present-day Iran)
and its neighboring countries. To this end, Brydges was
commissioned to lead a diplomatic mission to Persia in
1807.

Sailing westward from Bombay, India, Brydges and his
party entered the Persian Gulf and disembarked at the port
of Bushehr in what is now Iran. He then undertook a tour
of the kingdom of Persia, visiting such major cities as Esfa-
han, Qazvin, and Teheran.

Brydges remained in Persia for four years, during which
he traveled extensively throughout the coastal Baluchistan
region on the Arabian Sea coast, as well as the south shore of
the Caspian Sea. He also explored parts of Afghanistan and
the Caucasus Mountains to the north. His journeys took
him across much of the same territory covered 2,100 years
earlier by ALEXANDER THE GREAT and his army.

Harford Brydges’s reports provided the British govern-
ment with new information about parts of central and
southwest Asia that had rarely been visited by Europeans.

Buchan, David (1790-1845) British naval officer

in the Arctic Ocean

As an officer in the British navy, David Buchan served in the
Napoleonic Wars of 1803—15. By 1818, he had reached the
rank of captain. That year, under the direction of SIR JOHN
BARROW, second secretary of the Admiralty, he was com-
missioned to lead a seaward expedition across the Arctic

Ocean to the Pacific Ocean, passing as close as possible to
the NORTH POLE.

In April 1818, Buchan, in command of the Dorothea,
accompanied by then-lieutenant SIR JOHN FRANKLIN in
command of the 7rent, sailed from London to Spitsbergen
(present-day Svalbard), north of Norway. At that time, it
was believed that the Arctic PACK ICE did not extend north-
ward beyond a point between GREENLAND and Spitsbergen,
and that an open, ice-free polar sea existed around the North
Pole. Two other ships, commanded by SIR JOHN ROSS and
SIR WILLIAM EDWARD PARRY, also took part in the Royal
Navy’s 1818 Arctic expedition. Buchan and Franklin were to
sail from Spitsbergen due north to the BERING STRAIT, while
Ross and Parry sailed westward through Davis Strait, west of
Greenland. The four ships then were to rendezvous in
Bering Strait.

Buchan and Franklin reached the northwest coast of
Spitsbergen, where their ships were trapped by ice for more
than a month. At one point, icebergs nearly crushed
Buchan’s vessel. His expedition reached as far north as
80°34" north latitude before the impregnable, southward-
drifting pack ice forced him to abandon the expedition.
The ships returned to England in October 1818.

The notion of an open polar sea as pursued by David
Buchan died hard. The North Pole would be reached early
the next century using sledges.

Bukhgolts, Ivan Dmitryevich (fl. 1700s)

Russian army officer in central Asia

Ivan Bukhgolts, a high-ranking army officer in the service of
Russian czar Peter the Great, was commissioned in 1715 to
lead a gold-prospecting expedition south from the Irtysh
River settlement of Tobolsk to the Yarkand River region of
Chinese Turkestan. In command of a force of 2,000 men,
Bukhgolts ascended the Irtysh in boats.

In the western Altai Mountains, Bukhgolts’s party was
attacked by a force of Kalmyk tribesmen. Although out-
numbered five to one, they managed to hold off the
Kalmyks for three months. They then retreated down the Ir-
tysh River to its confluence with the Om, where they con-
structed fortifications the following year.

Although Ivan Bukhgolts did not realize his objective of
penetrating the Yarkand River region of Chinese Turkestan,
his post at the junction of the Om and Irtysh Rivers endured
as an important permanent Russian foothold in central Asia,
becoming the present-day city of Omsk.

Burchell, William John (ca. 1782-1863)

British naturalist in South Africa and Brazil

William J. Burchell was born in Fulham, near London, En-
gland, where his father operated a plant nursery. In 1805, he



traveled to the South Atlantic Ocean island of St. Helena,
for work as a schoolmaster and botanist in the employ of the
BRITISH EAST INDIA COMPANY. While on St. Helena, he
contacted Dutch colonial authorities in Cape Town, South
Africa, and obtained permission to undertake a scientific ex-
ploration of the region.

Burchell arrived in Cape Town in November 1810, and
he set out for the interior the following June. Traveling in a
frontier wagon, and accompanied only by a small party of
native tribesmen, he crossed the Karroo Desert, east of
Cape Town. From the Orange River, he traveled into
Bechuanaland (present-day Botswana) and also visited the
region around the settlement of Griqualand, southwest of
present-day Kimberly. In the course of his explorations,
Burchell collected over 63,000 specimens of plant and ani-
mal life, undertook astronomical studies, and made weather
observations.

After five years in Africa, Burchell returned to England.
His account of his explorations, Travels in the Interior of
Southern Africa, was first published in 1822 and included
panoramic views of Africa produced by a process known as
scenographic projection, a precursor to photographic tech-
niques. Burchell also presented 43 African animal specimens
to the British Museum.

In 1825, Burchell sailed to Rio de Janeiro, from where
he conducted a scientific expedition into the interior of
Brazil, studying the Brazilian rainforest in the Minas Gerais
region. He became the first European to venture into the
Goias region near present-day Brasilia. In 1829, he headed
northward to Belem, from where he returned to England
with thousands of flora and fauna specimens.

In recognition of his scientific contributions, William J.
Burchell received an honorary degree from Oxford Univer-
sity in 1834. Moreover, many of the new botanical and zo-
ological species he brought back from Africa and South

America were named after him.

Burckhardt, Johann Ludwig (Jean-Louis
Burckhardt, John Lewis Burckhardt, Ibrahim

ibn Abdullah) (1784-1817) Swiss scholar, explorer in
Syria, Egypt, and Arabia

Johann Ludwig Burckhardt was born in Lausanne, Switzer-
land, the son of a wealthy German-Swiss family. He attended
universities in Leipzig and Géttingen, Germany, studying
Arabic and the culture and history of the Middle East.

In 1806, Burckhardr arrived in London, where a pro-
fessor at Gottingen had arranged for him to meet with SIR
JOSEPH BANKS, then an influential member of the AFRICAN
ASSOCIATION, which hoped to send an explorer across the
SAHARA DESERT from the NILE RIVER and reach TIMBUKTU
on the NIGER RIVER. With his background in Arabic, Burck-
hardt succeeded in winning this commission in 1808.
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In spring 1809, Burckhardt traveled from England to
Aleppo, Syria. He expanded his knowledge of Arabic and
immersed himself in a study of Islam in preparation for the
proposed trip across the Sahara with a caravan of Muslim
pilgrims returning from Mecca. While in Syria, he assumed
the Arabic name Ibrahim ibn Abdullah. Burckhardt re-
mained in Syria for more than two years, during which he
lived with the nomadic tribes of northern Arabia and made
several trips into the interior from Aleppo, visiting the site of
the ancient city of Palmyra north of the Syrian Desert.

In June 1812, Burckharde set out for Cairo, the first leg
of his intended journey to the Niger River. Traveling south-
ward through the valley of the Jordan River, he reached the
site of the ancient tomb of Khaznet Firaun, then entered
the forgotten city of Petra. Carved into the rock cliffs above
the Wadi Musa in what is now Jordan, Petra had been settled
since the days of the Old Testament and had eventually be-
come a thriving Roman city. Burckhardt was the first Euro-
pean to visit Petra since the CRUSADES in the Middle Ages.

By September 1812, Burckhardt was in Cairo, where he
attempted, without success, to arrange for passage with a
caravan westward across the Sahara into the Fezzan region of
present-day Libya. He then undertook two years of explo-
ration into Egypt, the Sudan, and Arabia. Starting from the
town of Isna, he ascended the Nile as far as Tinareh. En
route back to Isna in March 1813, he located the ancient
Egyptian temple at Abu Simbel, with its 60-foot-high stat-
ues of Pharaoh Ramses II.

Still unable to find a westward-heading caravan, Burck-
hardt, in early 1814, decided to explore the Nubian Desert,
then cross the RED SEA to Arabia. Once in Arabia, he
planned to make a pilgrimage to Mecca, believing it would
give him credibility as a Muslim. He reached Shendi in the
northeastern Sudan, then headed eastward to the Red Sea
port of Suakin. From Suakin, he sailed to Jidda on the Ara-
bian Peninsula. Proceeding toward Mecca, he was aided by
letters from the viceroy of Egypt that vouched for him as a
faithful Muslim. Burckhardt entered Mecca, then visited the
other Islamic holy city, Medina, the first European to do so.

Following Arabia’s Red Sea coast northward, Burck-
hardt reached the Sinai Peninsula, which he explored before
returning to Cairo in late June 1815. In Cairo, he continued
his search for a westward caravan that would take him to
Libya and the southern Sahara, and also set about preparing
a written account of his journeys.

In 1817, Burckhardt developed a severe case of dysen-
tery and died. Soon afterward, the African Association
began to publish his works on the Middle East.

Johann Ludwig Burckhardt did not succeed in his ini-
tial objective of reaching the Niger from North Africa.
Nonetheless, the surviving accounts of his journeys in
Egypt, the Sudan, and Arabia provided much new informa-
tion for Europeans. His reports on the Wahhabi in Arabia,
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the reformist religious movement that took control of that
region in 1811, were the first to reach Europe. In addition,
he is credited with rediscovering the city of Petra in what is
now Jordan. His descriptions of Medina and Mecca later
inspired the subsequent explorations of SIR RICHARD FRAN-
CIS BURTON.

Burke, Robert O’Hara (ca. 1821-1861)

Irish colonist in Australia

Robert O’Hara Burke was a native of St. Clerans in County
Galway, Ireland. Educated in Belgium, he embarked on a
military career with the army of the Austrian Empire in
1840. Eight years later, he returned to Ireland and served
with the Irish Mounted Constabulary.

In 1853, Burke immigrated to Victoria, Australia, and
continued his career with the colony’s police force. By 1860,
he had reached the rank of police inspector. At that time,
an overland telegraph route was sought that would connect
the settled southern region of Australia with the north,
thereby providing a link with shipping from British India. In
1860, the colonial government of Victoria, spurred on by
South Australia’s offer of a prize of £2,000 to anyone who
could make the first south-to-north crossing of the Aus-
tralian continent, organized the Great Northern Exploration
Expedition and appointed Burke to lead it.

Equipped with camels and horses, Burke, with WILLIAM
JOHN WILLS as second in command, and a company of 18
men, left Melbourne in late August 1860. In late September,
upon reaching Menindee in western New South Wales,
Burke decided to push on with a small advance party, leav-
ing the bulk of his command to await his return.

From Menindee, Burke, Wills, Charles Gray, and sev-
eral others pushed north and east to the Bulloo River. They
crossed the northern section of the Sturt Desert and reached
Cooper’s Creek, where Burke planned to rendezvous later
with the rest of the expedition. On December 16, 1860,
Burke, accompanied by Wills, Gray, and camel driver John
King, left the Cooper’s Creek encampment and set out for a
final push to the coast. After nearly three months of trekking
across the deserts and plains of northern Australia, they
reached the tidal basin of the Flinders River. With their
progress hampered by coastal swamps, they could not reach
the seacoast, but they were close enough to hear the surf
breaking on the shores of the Gulf of Carpentaria.

The very next day, Burke, Wills, Gray, and King set out
on the return journey southward. By that time, they were
critically short of food. Yet they pushed on, hoping to reach
the supply depot at Cooper’s Creek. Gray died along the
way, although Burke, Wills, and King managed to reach
Cooper’s Creek on April 21, missing a relief party by only
hours. Two days later, they set out down Strzelecki Creek,
hoping to reach JOHN MCDOUALL STUART’s outpost at

Mount Hopeless, 150 miles distant. The rest of the journey
proved disastrous; they were forced to kill their remaining
camels for food, and in their weakened state, had inadver-
tently wandered in a circle back to Cooper’s Creek, where
they arrived again on May 28. Earlier that day, the relief
party had also returned to Cooper’s Creek, but, seeing no
sign of Burke and his companions, had left again.

By this time, Wills was too weak to continue, so Burke
and King left him behind and went in search of aid. Two
days later, Burke died of starvation, and when King returned
to Wills in early July, he found him dead as well. For the
next few months, King managed to survive on food pro-
vided by a local group of Aborigines and was finally rescued
by a relief expedition on September 15.

Robert O’Hara Burke’s 1860-61 expedition suffered
from poor planning and wavering leadership on his part.
Despite the tragic outcome, he nonetheless succeeded in
making a south-to-north crossing of the Australian conti-
nent. Stuart, however, gained official recognition for ac-

complishing the deed first.

Burnes, Sir Alexander (1805-1841)

British diplomat in central Asia

Alexander Burnes was born in Montrose, Scotland. At the
age of 17, he entered the service of the BRITISH EAST INDIA
COMPANY, serving as an officer with its armed forces at
Surat, on the west coast of India north of Bombay. He stud-
ied Indian languages there, becoming an interpreter for the
company.

In 1826, Burnes was sent to the Kutch region of west-
ern India, where he developed an interest in the geography
of central Asia. His explorations into central Asia began in
1831, when he ascended the INDUS RIVER into what is now
northern Pakistan on a diplomatic mission to the Maharajan
Ranjit Singh of Lahore.

The next year, Burnes left Lahore dressed as an Afghani
native. Traveling northward through Peshawar, he crossed
the Hindu Kush and entered Afghanistan. After visiting the
Afghani cities of Kabul and Balkh, he continued northwest-
ward to Bukhara in what is now Uzbekistan. He visited the
eastern Caspian Sea region, then headed southward for
Teheran and the Persian Gulf port of Bushehr, from where
he sailed to England.

Back in England, Burnes wrote an account of his expe-
riences in south-central Asia, Travels into Bokbara, first pub-
lished in 1834.

In 1839, Burnes returned to Afghanistan as Great
Britain’s diplomatic representative to that country’s unpop-
ular ruler, Shah Shujah. Two years later, Burnes was killed by
an assassin in Kabul.

Sir Alexander Burnes’s travels into Afghanistan and cen-
tral Asia provided the British government with firsthand in-



formation on the geography and culture of the territory
north of the Indian subcontinent, a region that during the
1830s and 1840s had great strategic bearing on the com-
peting expansionist policies of Great Britain and Russia.

Burney, James (1750-1821) British naval officer

in the Pacific, writer

James Burney was born in London, the eldest son of English
composer and musical historian Charles Burney. At the age
of 10, he entered the Royal Navy as a cabin boy. At 20, he
sailed to Bombay, India, as a seaman.

In 1772-74, Burney served as a lieutenant on the Ad-
venture in JAMES COOK’s second voyage to the Pacific
Ocean. In December 1773, he led a party of marines ashore
on the coast of NEW ZEALAND, in search of some missing
crew members. His discovery of their grisly remains revealed
that the indigenous peoples there were hostile and canni-
balistic, a finding that warned Cook and other mariners to
be cautious on later visits to New Zealand.

Returning to England on the Adventure with Burney in
summer 1774 was a Tahitian native named Omai. With the
help of Burney’s sister, novelist Fanny Burney, Omai was
presented to London society and was received with great
celebrity.

Burney joined Cook on his third voyage to the Pacific
in 1776-80, serving as first lieutenant on the Discovery. On
this expedition, he led a party that explored the island of
Atiu in the Cook Island group, where he established friendly
relations with the natives.

Burney was promoted to captain in 1782. He left ac-
tive sea duty two years later. Starting in 1804, and continu-
ing for 12 years, he published a comprehensive record of
explorations in the Pacific, entitled Chronological History of
the Voyages and Discoveries in the South Sea or Pacific Ocean.
His history of buccaneers in the Americas was published in
1816 and was followed three years later by a book on Rus-
sian explorations in eastern SIBERIA. He was appointed a rear
admiral in 1821 and died in London later that same year.

Known for his writings, James Burney was an eyewit-
ness to many of the maritime voyages of exploration detailed
in his works.

Burton, Sir Richard Francis (Mirza Abdullah)
(1821-1890) British soldier, writer, linguist, explorer in
India, Arabia, Africa, and South America

Richard Burton was born in Torquay on the south coast of
England. His father, an Irishman, was a colonel in the
British army. Following his early education at schools on the
European continent, Burton entered Oxford University,
where he began his study of Arabic. He remained at Oxford
for only about a year, being expelled in 1840 for dueling.

BURTON, SIR RICHARD FRANCIS 91

In 1842, Burton enlisted in the BRITISH EAST INDIA
COMPANY'’s armed forces in western India, the Bombay Na-
tive Infantry, serving as an officer in the lower Indus Val-
ley’s Sind region for the next seven years. He traveled
widely throughout what is now Pakistan, studying native
languages, including Persian, Afghani, and Hindustani,
and perfecting his command of Arabic. Burton became
the official interpreter for his regiment. He also undertook
an undercover mission that involved spying on his fellow
soldiers at all-male brothels in Karachi. His reports aroused
a great deal of controversy, and Burton was transferred
from India back to England in 1849.

In 1853, Burton obtained a year’s leave of absence to
continue his studies of Arabic and travel in Arabia. That
year, he sailed to Suez, from where he undertook a journey
to the Muslim holy cities of Mecca and Medina. Disguised
in native dress as an Afghani physician, he traveled under the
name of Mirza Abdullah. To ensure that his non-Muslim
identity would not be detected, Burton had himself circum-
cised before embarking on his trip into Arabia. He reached
Mecca in late January 1854, then proceeded to Medina. He
made sketches of the holy shrines of Islam, including the
Kaaba, the cube-shaped building containing Islam’s most sa-
cred object: the Black Stone. Although Burton had planned
to travel across the Arabian Peninsula and explore the Rub’
al-Khali (the EMPTY QUARTER) in the southeast, illness
forced him to return by steamer to Egypt. From there, he
reached Bombay.

In 1854, Burton was commissioned by the Indian army
to undertake an exploration of Somaliland, present-day So-
malia, the region of East Africa around the Horn of Africa.
Along with a small number of other officers, including
JOHN HANNING SPEKE, G. E. Herne, and William Stroyan,
Burton organized the expedition at Aden. Before the main
party set out, Burton journeyed to the slave-trading center
of Harar in northwestern Ethiopia. Again disguised in native
dress, he succeeded in entering the city, which until that
time had never been visited by a non-Muslim, and man-
aged to meet the region’s ruler. After 10 days, he returned to
Aden, making a harrowing journey across the desert by
himself.

Burton’s subsequent expedition into Somalia with
Speke and the other officers met with less success. They had
not yet begun to explore the interior when they were at-
tacked by natives at the coastal city of Berbera. Stroyan was
killed, and both Burton and Speke were wounded.

Burton recovered and went on to serve with the British
army in the Crimean War of 1854-56. In 1855, reports by
German missionaries JOHANN LUDWIG KRAPF and JOHANN
REBMANN suggested that a large inland sea, comparable in
size to the Caspian, lay deep in the interior of East Africa,
and might prove to be the long-sought-after source of the
NILE RIVER. In 1856, with backing from both the ROYAL
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GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY and the British Foreign Office,
Burton organized an expedition to find this body of water
and solve the mystery of the Nile’s source. Accompanying
him to Africa again was John Hanning Speke.

In August 1857, Burton and Speke set out from Bag-
amoyo on the Indian Ocean coast of present-day Tanzania,
opposite Zanzibar. Unlike earlier expeditions in search of the
Nile’s source, which usually began from the Nile’s delta in
Egypt, Burton planned to reach the headwaters of the river
by penetrating the continent from the east. The expedition
included 130 porters and 30 pack animals, carrying supplies
to last two years. The sultan of Zanzibar provided guides
and a caravan leader; one guide in particular, SIDI BOMBAY,
proved to be of invaluable service.

Following the route of Arab slave caravans, Burton and
Speke reached Tabora (then called Kezeh), about 500 miles
inland. From Arab traders at Tabora, they learned that the
great inland sea was actually three separate large lakes. Con-
tinuing westward, they followed the Malagarasi River to its
mouth, and, on February 13, 1858, reached the shores of
Lake Tanganyika (the second largest lake in Africa) at Ujiji,
becoming the first Europeans to see it. Both explorers were

Sir Richard Burton (Library of Congress)

by this time stricken with malaria and other tropical ail-
ments. Burton was nearly paralyzed and suffered from an in-
fected jaw; Speke was practically blind from fever. They
spent some time recovering among the Arab traders at Ujiji.
Speke then undertook an exploration by dugout CANOE of
Lake Tanganyika. Burton at that time was convinced that
this immense inland body of water was the source of the
Nile. Yet Speke, after partially surveying the lake, returned
to Ujiji without any conclusive proof that the great White
Nile flowed from it.

Burton and Speke, running low on supplies and not
mer 1858. Returning to Tabora, Speke decided to explore
northward on his own, upon hearing reports of an even
larger lake. Burton, too ill to continue, instead recuperated
at Tabora and undertook an ethnological study of the na-
tives. Six weeks later, Speke returned, claiming he had lo-
cated the source of the Nile at Lake Victoria, 200 miles to
the north. Burton still held to his belief that the Nile flowed
from Lake Tanganyika, and the issue became a serious point
of contention between them.

On the homeward trip, Burton remained in Aden while
Speke continued on to England, arriving two weeks ahead of
Burton. Despite a pledge not to reveal his findings uncil
Burton had returned, Speke appeared before the Royal Ge-
ographical Society. By the time Burton arrived in England,
Speke had received most of the glory and credit for the
African expedition. Over the next few years, Burton hotly
contested Speke’s claim that Lake Victoria was the principal
source of the Nile. Their dispute ended in September 1864,
when Speke died in an apparent hunting accident on the eve
of a public debate with Burton on this issue.

Soon after returning from Africa, Burton married Isabel
Arundell. In 1860-61, he visited North America, traveling
to Salt Lake City, Utah, where he made a study of the Mor-
mon community, the subject of his 1861 book, City of the
Saints.

Burton returned to Africa in 1861, beginning four years
of service as British consul in the Gulf of Guinea regions of
Benin, Dahomey, and Biafra, in what is now Nigeria. In his
first year in West Africa, he succeeded in making the first
known ascent of Mount Cameroon.

In 1865, Burton was appointed British consul in Sdo
Paulo, Brazil. His South American travels included a cross-
ing of the continent.

Burton returned to the Middle East in 1869, serving as
a diplomat in Damascus. Starting in 1872, he assumed a
similar post at Trieste, then a part of Austria.

In 1877-78, Burton took part in a gold-seeking expe-
dition to Arabia. In 1881-82, he joined VERNEY LOVETT
CAMERON in search of gold in what is now Ghana.

In 1886, Burton was knighted by Queen Victoria. He
died in Trieste four years later.



Sir Richard Burton’s efforts to find the source of the
Nile ended in controversy. As it turned out, in 1874, HENRY
MORTON STANLEY confirmed Speke’s claim that Lake Vic-
toria was the principal source of the Nile, although it was
subsequently revealed that the Kagera River, which flows
into Lake Victoria, is technically the ultimate source. Burton
nonetheless played a major role in the exploration of central
Africa, undertaking one of the first expeditions to reach the
interior from the Indian Ocean coast. He was the first En-
glishman to visit Mecca, and the first European to travel to
Harar, Ethiopia, and live to tell about it. Burton was also an
accomplished linguist, having mastered 29 languages and 11
dialects. Furthermore, he was a major literary figure of the
19th century; he published numerous works about the
places he explored, as well as a multivolume translation of

the Arabian Nights.

Button, Sir Thomas (unknown—1634)

English naval officer, explorer in Hudson Bay

Thomas Button was an English naval captain in 1611, when
HENRY HUDSON’s ship the Discovery returned to England
following an unsuccessful expedition sponsored by the MUs-
COVY COMPANY in search of the NORTHWEST PASSAGE, the
fabled all-water route westward across the top of North
America to the Pacific Ocean and the Orient. Hudson’s men
had mutinied and abandoned him to die of exposure in the
bay that now bears his name. The mutineers had then
brought back to England news of Hudson Strait and the
great body of water to the west, actually HUDSON BAY. They
reported the existence of tides coming from the western side
of the bay, which led many of Hudson’s sponsors to believe
that the outlet to the fabled Northwest Passage could be
found there.

Some of Hudson’s former backers then reorganized as
the COMPANY OF MERCHANTS OF LONDON DISCOVERERS
OF THE NORTHWEST PASSAGE, and hired Button and an-
other captain, by the name of Ingram, to undertake a voyage
and retrace Hudson’s route. The company was chartered by
England’s King James I and underwritten in part by geogra-
pher RICHARD HAKLUYT. It was hoped that this expedition
might find the Northwest Passage and possibly rescue Hud-
son, whose fate at that time was unknown. Also along on
this expedition was ROBERT BYLOT.

Button, in command of the Resolution, and Ingram, on
Hudson’s old ship, the Discovery, sailed westward through
Hudson Strait, hoping to determine that it led into the
Pacific. But the ensuing westward voyage brought them
to the northwest shore of Hudson Bay, forcing a course
southward.

Button and his men spent the winter of 1612—13 near
the mouth of the Nelson River, named in honor of one of
the ship’s officers who had died on the voyage. This point on
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the southwestern edge of Hudson Bay in present-day north-
eastern Manitoba, Canada, would become the site of the im-
portant HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY post— York Factory—in
1684.

In spring 1613, Button sailed the Resolution north-
ward along the west coast of Hudson Bay, but he soon
surmised that it provided no outlet to a western ocean. He
explored as far north as Southampton Island at the extreme
northwestern corner of Hudson Bay, then set sail for
England.

Thomas Button’s 1612-13 exploration, and the subse-
quent expeditions of WILLIAM BAFFIN, JENS MUNK, LUKE
FOXE, and THOMAS JAMES, eventually led geographers to
conclude that Hudson Bay had no access to the Pacific
Ocean. Although Button’s voyage yielded neither the North-
west Passage, nor any trace of Henry Hudson, his reports
added to the navigational knowledge of Hudson Bay and
laid the basis for subsequent voyages.

Bylot, Robert (fl. early 1600s) English mariner

in the Canadian Arctic

Robert Bylot, an English seafarer of the early 17th century,
first appears in history as a crewmember on HENRY HUD-
SON’s last voyage to North America on the Discovery in
1610-11, in which HUDSON BAY was explored. After the
mutiny and marooning of Hudson and several others in
June 1611, Bylot commanded the Discovery on its return
voyage across the Atlantic Ocean, landing first on the south-
west coast of Ireland, then continuing to England. Along
with the seven other survivors of the ill-fated voyage, Bylot
was subsequently acquitted of any wrongdoing.

Bylot returned to Hudson Bay the following year in
another attempt to locate the NORTHWEST PASSAGE, sailing
with SIR THOMAS BUTTON on the Resolution and spending
the winter of 161213 on the west shore of Hudson Bay, at
the mouth of the Nelson River.

In 1614, Bylot sailed again to the North American coast
on the Discovery, serving as mate under Captain William
Gibbons. During that voyage, the ship reached no farther
than a bay on the coast of Labrador. Beset by bad weather
there, the expedition was forced to return to England with-
out having undertaken any additional explorations.

In 1615, Bylot commanded the Discovery in yet another
expedition in search of the Northwest Passage. His pilot and
navigator was WILLIAM BAFFIN. In exploring the northern
part of Hudson Bay, they attempted to negotiate Frozen
Strait near Southampton Island. Unable to find a clear pas-
sage, they concluded that the bay did not provide a western
outlet with enough sea-room for large sailing ships.

The last recorded voyage undertaken by Bylot was in
1616. Sailing with Baffin on the Discovery, he took part in
the European discovery of Baffin Bay and Lancaster Sound.
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Robert Bylot, along with RICHARD HAKLUYT, was a
member of the COMPANY OF MERCHANTS OF LONDON DIS-
COVERERS OF THE NORTHWEST PASSAGE. As an early Arc-
tic explorer of North America, he took part in five major
expeditions in search of the Northwest Passage. Although
Bylot and Baffin were unable to navigate Lancaster Sound
on their 1616 voyage, it proved, two centuries later, to be
the entrance to a seaward route to the BERING STRAIT—the
long-sought Northwest Passage.

Byrd, Richard Evelyn (1888-1957) American naval
officer, aviator, polar explorer

A native of Winchester, Virginia, Richard E. Byrd was the
son of one of that state’s most prominent families. He at-
tended the Virginia Military Institute, then went on to the
United States Naval Academy, graduating as an ensign in
1912.

Byrd briefly left the navy in 1916 due to an ankle injury
but returned as a training officer in World War I. In 1917, he
underwent training as a naval aviator in Pensacola, Florida.

In the years following World War I, Byrd took an ac-
tive role in the development of naval aviation. For the pro-
posed navy transatlantic flight of 1919, he prepared fueling
stations in Nova Scotia. He subsequently was a liaison be-
tween the navy’s newly formed Bureau of Aeronautics and
the U.S. Congress, and was briefly assigned to duty in Eng-
land in 1921, where he took part in AIRSHIP test flights.

Byrd’s first venture into the polar regions was in
1924-25, when he commanded an airborne squadron at-
tached to Donald MacMillan’s expedition to GREENLAND.
From the camp established at Etah, Greenland, Byrd navi-
gated an aircraft piloted by American aviator Floyd Bennett
in a series of flights over the Greenland ice cap, resulting in
the charting of some 30,000 square miles of territory.

The next year, Byrd organized a flight over the NORTH
POLE. By this time, he had been promoted to the rank of
commander in the U.S. Navy and had become a leading
figure in aeronautical exploration of the Arctic. With the fi-
nancial backing of American auto manufacturer Edsel Ford,
Byrd obtained a Fokker monoplane and arrived in Spitsber-
gen (present-day Svalbard), north of Norway, in April 1926.
His ship, the Chantier, put in to the harbor at Spitsbergen
at the same time that ROALD ENGELBREGT GRAVNING
AMUNDSEN, LINCOLN ELLSWORTH, and UMBERTO NOBILE
were making preparations for their own flight, by airship,
over the North Pole. The presence of the two teams of ex-
plorers in Spitsbergen at the same time led to much public
speculation about a race to the Pole.

On May 9, 1926, with Bennett as pilot and Byrd in
command and navigating, their plane, dubbed the josephine,
took off from Spitsbergen. When engine trouble developed
en route, Byrd refused to make an emergency landing, and

the mechanical problem resolved itself. After a seven-hour
flight, Byrd and Bennett flew over the North Pole, the first
men ever to do so. While circling over the top of the world,
Byrd threw down the medal worn by ROBERT EDWIN PEARY
on his 1909 overland trek to the North Pole. (There is some
indication, based on Byrd’s diary, that they may have missed
the mark, however, making Amundsen, Ellsworth, and No-
bile, who passed over the Pole three days later on May 12,
the first men to do so.)

In June 1927, shortly after Charles Lindbergh’s historic
transatlantic aeronautical achievement, Byrd was a crew
member on the trimotor America in its successful New
York—to—Paris flight.

Byrd undertook his first Antarctic exploration in 1928.
Traveling by way of NEW ZEALAND, his expedition of 75
men and four aircraft arrived at the Bay of Whales in De-
cember of that year. Byrd established Little America, a large
base camp not far from where Amundsen had established his
Framheim base 18 years earlier. During the next several
months, Byrd undertook preliminary explorations from the
air, resulting in the mapping of the Rockefeller Mountains.
In addition, a geological expedition undertook a survey of
the Transantarctic Mountains.

On November 28, 1929, in the late Antarctic spring,
Byrd and his flight crew took off from Little America aboard
the trimotor aircraft the Floyd Bennett (named after Byrd’s for-
mer partner, who had died in the course of an Arctic search-
and-rescue mission in 1928). Byrd was again navigator on this
flight; his pilot was Bernt Balchen, who formerly had served
with Amundsen in the Arctic. Aerial photographer Ashley
McKinley was also on board. From the Bay of Whales, they
flew over the Queen Maud Range, secking a pass southward
to the Polar Plateau. To clear the peaks, they were forced to
jettison more than 250 pounds of emergency food and sur-
vival gear. At 1:15 A.M. on November 29, 1929, Byrd and his
crew flew over the SOUTH POLE. With this flight, Byrd be-
came the first man to have flown over both the North and
South Poles. What was known as the First Byrd Antarctic Ex-
pedition headed back to New York in February 1930. Upon
his return, Byrd was promoted to the rank of rear admiral.

During the next three years, Byrd raised financial back-
ing for another assault on the South Polar region. By January
1934, he was back in Little America, where he established a
larger base camp. His equipment this time included six trac-
tors and several early snowmobile-type vehicles. There were
also four aircraft. This party of 120 men, one of the largest
expeditions ever to visit the Antarctic, intended to undertake
scientific studies involving physics, biology, geology, and
meteorology.

Byrd established a scientific research station in a small
hut situated 125 miles inland from Little America. Traveling
overland with a convoy of three light Citroén trucks that
had been fitted out for the roadless Antarctic interior with
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caterpillar-type tractor tracks, Byrd arrived at the site on
March 28, 1934. Left there alone, Byrd was able to contact
the main base of Little America by radio. However, a rescue
expedition, if needed, could not reach him until the end of
the Antarctic winter season (August in the Northern Hemi-
sphere). After only two months alone at the advance base,
Byrd began to suffer from the effects of carbon monoxide
poisoning from fumes emitted from a faulty generator. He
was in an extremely weakened state when a relief party ar-
rived by tractor on August 10, 1934. Another two months
elapsed before he was well enough to be flown back to Lit-
tle America on the coast.

The Second Byrd Antarctic Expedition yielded much
new geographic knowledge, including the location of the
Edsel Ford Mountains and Marie Byrd Land. Byrd’s aerial
explorations of the Ross Ice Shelf revealed for the first time
the continental proportions of Antarctica. At the beginning
of February 1935, Byrd and his team left Antarctica for the
United States.

In 1939, Byrd commanded the United States Antarctic
Service Expedition, a large, government-sponsored under-
taking initiated to counter German encroachments on
Antarctic territory previously claimed by Norway. This was
the first U.S. government venture into the Antarctic since
CHARLES WILKES’s voyage in the late 1830s. Byrd established
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two new bases, one at Stonington Island off the Antarctic
Peninsula and another near Little America. The expedition
was brought to an end in summer 1941 with the U.S. entry
into World War II.

Byrd took part in the war in the Pacific, surveying sites
for air strips and establishing transpacific air routes that were
adopted in the postwar years.

In 1946, Byrd was placed in command of Operation
High Jump, which was the largest polar expedition to that
time, involving 4,500 men, 19 aircraft, four helicopters, and
a naval task force of 13 ships. Extensive aerial reconnaissance
of Antarctica was undertaken in 1947-48. Byrd made an-
other flight to the South Pole, passing over previously unex-
plored regions. A helicopter survey discovered the Bunger
Qasis, a series of uncharted lakes.

In preparation for the INTERNATIONAL GEOPHYSICAL
YEAR of 1957-58, Byrd was senior adviser to the U.S. Navy’s
large-scale 1956 expedition to Antarctica: Operation Deep
Freeze. In January of that year, he made his third and final
flight over the South Pole. He had campaigned for an inter-
national treaty of cooperation in regard to Antarctic research
and exploration, and his hopes for such an agreement were
realized before his death in 1957.

Admiral Richard E. Byrd modernized polar exploration
and pioneered American leadership in the exploration of the
Antarctic in the 20th century. He has a prominent place in
the history of aviation aerial exploration as the first man to
fly over both the North and South Poles. As the first man to
spend a winter alone in the interior of the Antarctic conti-
nent, he is one of the pioneers of modern polar exploration.
Byrd’s organized aerial exploration of Antarctica conclusively
showed that the South Polar landmass was indeed a conti-
nent, and not a series of island chains, as had been previ-
ously speculated.

Byron, John (1723-1786) British naval officer in the
South Atlantic Ocean and South Pacific Ocean
John Byron, the son of an aristocratic and titled family, was
born on his family’s baronial estate, Newstead Abbey, in
Nottinghamshire, England. He reportedly first went to sea
as a cabin boy in the Royal Navy at the age of eight or nine.
In 1740, he sailed as a midshipman on the Wager in Com-
modore GEORGE ANSON’s voyage to South America.
Shipwrecked off the coast of Patagonia the following
year, the young Byron was held under brutal conditions by
Native Americans, who eventually turned him over to Span-
ish authorities in Chile. Byron was imprisoned briefly by the
Spanish, who were at war with Great Britain, then was sent
back to Europe on a French vessel. He did not reach En-
gland until 1745. His account of his ordeal in South Amer-
ica was published in 1746 and proved an immediate literary
success.
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Promoted to captain, Byron took part in naval actions
in the last years of the War of the Austrian Succession
(1740-48). In 1760, during the Seven Years War (1756—
63), he commanded British naval vessels in engagements
against the French off the coast of New Brunswick and Cape
Breton Island, Canada.

By the war’s end in 1763, Byron had reached the rank
of commodore. In 1764, he was placed in command of a
naval expedition assigned to seek out uncharted lands be-
tween the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE and CAPE HORN. The onset
of a period of international peace provided the British Ad-
miralty with an opportunity to explore the southern reaches
of the Atlantic Ocean and Pacific Ocean for Terra Australis,
the fabled GREAT SOUTHERN CONTINENT. Geographers at
that time speculated that this undiscovered land existed
around the southernmost Southern Hemisphere as a coun-
terbalance to the great known landmasses of the Northern
Hemisphere. Finding this unknown land was to be Byron’s
primary objective.

Byron’s ship, the Dolphin, sailed from Plymouth in June
1764. It was one of the earliest vessels to have a hull
sheathed in copper. Accompanying the Dolphin was the
sloop Zamar.

After sailing to Rio de Janeiro by way of Madeira and
the Cape Verde Islands, Byron’s expedition continued south-
ward to the coast of Patagonia. In the STRAIT OF MAGEL-
LAN, Byron located Port Famine, and, in late 1764, he
encountered LOUIS-ANTOINE DE BOUGAINVILLE’s ship on
its way back from the Falkland Islands. Unaware of the
French colony on the Falklands, Byron laid claim to this is-
land group for Great Britain on his subsequent survey of
the South Atlantic in January 1765.

By April 1765, Byron and his ships had entered the Pa-
cific Ocean. He sailed westward along a latitude that would
have taken him to the east coast of Australia had he not been
forced by weather conditions to head northwestward. He
sighted several uncharted islands in the Tuamotu Archi-
pelago, including Napuka and Tepoto, bestowing on them
the name Disappointment Islands, after he was unable to
find a suitable anchorage there. Farther westward, in the
Gilbert Islands, he sighted Nukunau, which he named

Byron Island. He also explored previously uncharted islands
in the Marshall and Mariana chains.

Byron then came upon an archipelago he called the
King George Islands. While ashore on one of them, Takaroa,
in search of fresh coconuts and scurvy grass, he came upon
a portion of a boat left there in 1722 by the Dutch explorer
JAKOB ROGGEVEEN in his CIRCUMNAVIGATION OF THE
WORLD. Byron eventually reached Formosa (present-day
Taiwan) and from there, continued around the world by
way of Batavia (present-day Jakarta) and Cape Town, South
Africa, reaching England in May 1766.

In 1769, Byron began three years of service as the colo-
nial governor of Newfoundland. He returned to active naval
duty in 1775 as a rear admiral. Promoted to vice admiral in
1778, he took part in naval battles against the French in the
American Revolution. In 1779, Byron earned the nickname
“Foul-Weather Jack,” when a convoy under his command,
carrying British troops to North America, was beset by the
worst Atlantic storms in British naval history. Later that
year, he commanded the British fleet in a costly but indeci-
sive naval battle against the French near Grenada in the
Caribbean Sea. After that action, he held no other major
commands.

Byron was the grandfather of English romantic poet
George Gordon, Lord Byron, and the great-great-grandfa-
ther of the travel writer Lady ANNE BLUNT. The elder
Byron’s 1746 book, Narrative of Great Distresses on the Shores
of Patagonia, was an inspiration for the shipwreck scenes in
his grandson’s verse work Don Juan.

John Byron’s 1764-66 voyage was the first purely scien-
tific expedition undertaken by the British navy. His Account
of a Voyage round the World in the Years 1764, 1765, and
1766 was first published in 1767. Great Britain’s claim over
the Falkland Islands dates back to Byron’s explorations. Al-
though he succeeded in adding several islands to the charts
of the South Pacific, Byron provided no conclusive proof for
the existence or nonexistence of Terra Australis. Over the
next 10 years, the Admiralty sent out additional exploring
expeditions, including those led by SAMUEL WALLIS, PHILIP
CARTERET, and JAMES COOK.



Cabeza de Vaca, Alvar Nufiez

(ca. 1490—ca. 1564) Spanish soldier in the American
Southeast and Southwest

Alvar Nufiez Cabeza de Vaca was born to a noble family at
Jerez de Frontera in Andalusia, Spain. Early in his life, he
embarked on a career in the military, serving in campaigns
in Navarre and Italy. In 1513, he entered the service of the
duke of Medina Sidonia.

In 1527, Cabeza de Vaca was appointed treasurer of
PANFILO DE NARVAEZ’s expedition to Florida. In April
1528, the expedition landed at Tampa Bay. Despite Cabeza
de Vaca’s objections, Narvdez sent his fleet northward up
Florida’s Gulf Coast, planning to rendezvous with them
later. Cabeza de Vaca then traveled with Narvdez and his
300 men through the Florida Panhandle in a vain search for
Indian gold and riches. After several months, they tried to
meet up with the ships near Apalachee Bay but failed to find
them.

Cabeza de Vaca then supervised the construction of five
makeshift barges on which Narvdez and his men planned to
follow the Gulf Coast to Panuco (present-day Tampico),
Mexico. By late 1528, the barges were south of the Missis-
sippi Delta, where they were swept out to sea by the river’s
current and separated in a storm. Cabeza de Vaca, in com-
mand of one of the barges, managed to reach the shore of
what was probably Galveston Island, Texas, along with a
number of his men. They were joined by other survivors, in-
cluding two officers of the expedition, Alonso del Castillo
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Maldonado and Andrés Dorantes de Carranza, plus Do-
rantes’s Moorish slave ESTEVANICO.

Without food on the island, some of the men resorted
to cannibalism. Cabeza de Vaca, stricken with fever, was
forced to remain behind when Castillo and Dorantes took
the remaining survivors to the Texas mainland. Eventually
he regained his strength and followed them. Unable to con-
tact the other Spaniards, he wandered through northeast
Texas for the next four years, subsisting through trade with
the Indians.

In 1533, Cabeza de Vaca met up with Castillo, Do-
rantes, and Estevanico at a point on the Colorado River of
Texas about 100 miles north of present-day San Antonio,
where the Indians gathered annually to feast on the region’s
harvest of wild pecans. He learned that all of the other mem-
bers of the Narvdez expedition were either dead or enslaved
by Indians. The four present were at that time involuntary
guests of the Indians, unable to travel freely. Nonetheless,
they agreed to meet at the same spot the following summer
and attempt to reach a Spanish settlement in Mexico.

In summer 1534, Cabeza de Vaca rejoined the other
men as planned. A year later, led by Indian guides, they
headed north and west across Texas into present-day New
Mexico. Cabeza de Vaca gained a wide reputation as a healer
among the tribes of the Southwest by performing Catholic
rites over the sick, with some success.

The four men reached the Rio Grande at what is now
Rincon, New Mexico, about 60 miles north of present-day
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Las Cruces. They crossed the river at this point and turned
south into Chihuahua, Mexico. It is thought they entered
the desert region of southeastern California before wander-
ing through Sonora, Mexico. They reached the Gulf of Cal-
ifornia, passed through the Sierra Madre, and finally met
up with a Spanish slave-hunting party in north-central Mex-
ico. After a month’s rest at Culiacdn, Cabeza de Vaca went
on to Mexico City, arriving in July 1536.

Cabeza de Vaca reported to Mexico’s royal governor,
ANTONIO DE MENDOZA, that he had heard reports of In-
dian cities located north of the region through which he had
wandered, prompting the later search for the Seven Cities
of CIBOLA. Back in Spain in 1538, he contributed to the of-
ficial report on the fate of the Narvdez expedition. He was
asked to join HERNANDO DE SOTO’s expedition to Florida,
but declined, refusing to be second in command.

In 1540, Cabeza de Vaca was appointed governor of the
Rio de la Plata colony, present-day Paraguay. In late 1541,
he arrived at Santa Catarina, an island off the coast of Brazil,
where he obtained additional supplies. Crossing to the
South American mainland, he set out for the colonial capi-
tal at Asuncién, 600 miles inland. He followed northeast-
ern Argentina’s Parand River from its mouth to its
confluence with the Iguagu, where he and his party became
the first Europeans to see the spectacular Iguagu Falls, higher
and wider than Niagara Falls. The inland journey to Asun-
cién took over four months. Without Indian trails to follow,
his 250-man expedition had to hack their way into the
South American interior, as well as construct bridges to cross
the numerous bends in the river.

Arriving in Asuncidén in March 1542, Cabeza de Vaca
discovered that the colonists were short on supplies and op-
pressed by corrupt royal officials. He immediately instituted
reforms, which led the officials to conspire against him.

In September 1542, Cabeza de Vaca led 400 Spanish
soldiers and about 800 Guarani Indians in an exploration up
the Paraguay River as far as Puerto de los Reyes, were they
were forced to turn back, unable to penetrate the dense rain-
forest.

On returning to Asuncién in April 1543, Cabeza de
Vaca was imprisoned by his political enemies. Two years
later, he was sent back to Spain in chains to face charges of
malfeasance in office. Nevertheless, his allies in Asuncién
managed to smuggle back documents that eventually cleared
him of any wrongdoing. He remained in Spain for the rest
of his life, serving as a royal magistrate in Seville.

Alvar Ntfiez Cabeza de Vaca’s account of his adventures
in North America, entitled Naufragios (Shipwrecks), was
published in 1542. His eight-year sojourn from Florida to
the Gulf of California constituted the first known crossing
of the North American continent, predating SIR ALEXANDER
MACKENZIE’s voyages and the MERIWETHER LEWIS and
WILLIAM CLARK expedition by more than 250 years. His re-

ports gave impetus to the subsequent expeditions of Her-
nando de Soto and FRANCISCO VASQUEZ DE CORONADO.
In South America, Cabeza de Vaca’s explorations increased
geographic knowledge about the headwaters of the Rio de
la Plata.

Cabot, John (Giovanni Caboto)

(ca. 1450—ca. 1499) Italian spice trader, mariner in North
America, in service to England, father of Sebastian Cabot
John Cabot is believed to have been born Giovanni Caboto
in Genoa, Italy, about the middle of the 15th century. By
1461, he had moved with his family to Venice and had be-
come an accomplished navigator, sailing for Venetians in the
SPICE TRADE. In this capacity, he made voyages throughout
the eastern MEDITERRANEAN SEA and to trade centers in
what is now Lebanon, and may have visited Mecca in pre-
sent-day Saudi Arabia.

The Venetian merchants in the spice trade obtained
pepper, nutmeg, and cloves—items essential in Europe for
the preservation of meat—{rom caravans that traveled across
Asia. Cabot claimed that while in Mecca he learned that the
spices originated in eastern Asia. He theorized that if a direct
route to Asia could be found, higher profits could be realized
by circumventing Arab middlemen.

By 1476, Cabot had become a naturalized Venetian cit-
izen. During this period, CLAUDIUS PTOLEMY’s Geographia
was translated into Latin and published in Europe, reviving
the theory that the world was round and that Asia could be
reached on a westward crossing of the Atlantic Ocean. Dur-
ing the 1480s, Cabot tried to obtain backing for an expedi-
tion across the Atlantic Ocean to China, then known as
Cathay, in order to establish a direct all-water route to the
markets of the Far East. He first went to Valencia, where he
attempted to gain the support of Spanish king Ferdinand at
the same time CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS was seeking spon-
sorship for a similar enterprise. Cabot is thought to have
been in Barcelona in 1493, when Columbus made his tri-
umphant return with news of his reaching what was then be-
lieved to be the outlying islands of the Indies.

Cabot journeyed to England in 1494 to seek the sup-
port of King Henry VII. Also in 1494, sovereignty over the
newly explored lands in the Western Hemisphere was di-
vided between Spain and Portugal under the terms of the
Treaty of Tordesillas, following the bull of Pope Alexander
VI1in 1493. King Henry VII of England, in defiance of this
proclamation, granted Cabot royal patents to explore west-
ward across the Atantic, as well as a trade monopoly on any
new lands or routes to Asia that he might locate.

Cabot had at this time settled in Bristol, one of Eng-
land’s principal seaports, whose merchants had for years
been involved with the trade in fish between Iceland and the
Iberian Peninsula. Bristol merchants were forced to pay the



highest prices for spices, which they obtained through mid-
dlemen in the Middle East and Venice. Seeking to circum-
vent the Scandinavians in the fish trade and the Venetians in
the spice trade, a syndicate of merchants provided financing
for Cabot’s proposed expedition across the Atlantic, pre-
sumably to Asia.

On May 20, 1497, John Cabot set sail aboard the ship
the Mathew with a crew of 18 men, probably including one
of his three sons, SEBASTIAN CABOT. They put in first at
Dorsey Island on the southwest coast of Ireland, then sailed
westward, maintaining a course between latitudes 50 and 51
degrees, the approximate latitude of Bristol. Cabot success-
fully navigated due west across the Atlantic, reaching the
coast of North America on June 24, 1497.

The precise location of Cabot’s landfall is uncertain. If
he did in fact follow a course due west from Bristol, it is
likely that he reached the shores of either northern New-
foundland or Cape Breton Island in what is now Nova Sco-
tia. During his brief visit ashore, he encountered no people,
but did see tools, fishing nets, and the remains of a settle-
ment. He may have also explored southwestern GREEN-
LAND.

Cabot sailed the Mathew around the east coast of New-
foundland, possibly as far south as present-day Maine. He
soon headed back to England, with a brief stopover in Brit-
tany, France. He reached Bristol in early August, with the
news that he had reached China and the lands of the Great
Khan. Later that month, he met with King Henry VII, who
rewarded him with a sum of money and an annuity for his
accomplishments. A second, larger expedition across the At-
lantic was soon planned.

With five ships and 200 men, Cabot again sailed from
Bristol in May 1498. His objective on this journey was to
reach the island of “CIPANGU,” presumably present-day
Japan, where Cabot believed the spices originated. One of
the ships developed trouble and was forced to put in on the
west coast of Ireland; the four remaining ships sailed west-
ward with Cabot. Nothing is known for certain of the re-
sults of this voyage. Some accounts say that Cabot and his
crew were lost at sea; others relate that he reached the North
American mainland and explored as far south as Chesapeake
Bay, then returned to England, and, having failed to establish
a new route to Asia, died in obscurity.

In any event, John Cabot’s voyages, along with those of
Christopher Columbus in the WEST INDIES and PEDRO AL-
VARS CABRAL in South America, enabled 16th-century ge-
ographers to understand that a large continent lay between
Europe and Asia and contributed to the first published maps
of the Americas, produced by JUAN DE LA COSA, AMERIGO
VESPUCCI, and MARTIN WALDSEEMULLER. America, con-
sidered to have been named in honor of Amerigo Vespucci,
may actually have been named after one of Cabot’s original
Bristol backers, a merchant named Richard Amerike. Al-
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though Cabort returned from his first voyage with no trea-
sures from the Orient, he did bring back a quantity of cod,
which he reported to be in abundance in the waters off the
islands of northeastern North America. His report brought
about soon afterward an influx of European fishing fleets to
the Grand Banks region off the Canadian coast. Cabot’s ex-
plorations also inspired attempts to find the fabled NORTH-
WEST PASSAGE across the top of North America to Asia. The
voyages of GASPAR CORTE-REAL and MIGUEL CORTE-REAL
to Labrador followed in the early 1500s. One of them took
back to Europe Beothuk Indians in possession of a gold
sword and other items made in Venice and believed to have
been left behind by Cabot’s crew. The body of water lying
between Cape Breton Island and Newfoundland, although
never explored by Cabot, was later named Cabot Strait in his
honor. His son Sebastian went on to undertake numerous
expeditions to both North and South America.

Cabot, Sebastian (ca. 1475-1557) Italian mariner
in the Americas in service to England and Spain,

cartographer, merchant, sponsor of expeditions in search of
Northeast Passage, son of John Cabot

Sebastian Cabot was born in Venice, the son of explorer
and navigator JOHN CABOT. He may have accompanied his
father on at least one of his two voyages to North America in
1497-98. In 1500, the younger Cabot reportedly undertook
a voyage of exploration from the English port of Bristol to
the coast of what is now Nova Scotia.

In 1509, Cabot, with the sponsorship of Bristol mer-
chants, again sailed the Atlantic Ocean to the northeast
coast of North America. By that time, the explorations of his
father, as well as those of CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS, had
been documented in maps published by MARTIN WALD-
SEEMULLER, indicating a large continuous landmass be-
tween Europe and the Far East. Cabot’s 1509 voyage
westward from Bristol was an attempt to find a water route
north of the newly explored continent, one of the earliest at-
tempts to seek the fabled NORTHWEST PASSAGE.

During the expedition, Cabot, sailing along the coast,
may have entered Hudson Strait and the eastern portion
of HUDSON BAY. According to his own account, he believed
this arm of the Atlantic Ocean to be the Pacific Ocean,
but he was forced to turn around because of a threatened
mutiny. On the return voyage, Cabot first sailed southward
along the coast and reported sighting Newfoundland, Nova
Scotia, and Long Island.

In 1512, Cabot was appointed chief cartographer to the
court of Henry VIII of England. After several more years in
England, he sought sponsorship from the Spanish Crown
for additional exploring expeditions. In about 1518, he was
named chief pilot to the court of Charles I, king of Spain
and emperor of the Holy Roman Empire (as Charles V).
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By 1522, the news of the successful CIRCUMNAVIGATION
OF THE WORLD by FERDINAND MAGELLAN had reached
Spain, and it was now firmly established that the Orient could
be reached via an all-water route around the tip of South
America. In 1525, Cabot was commissioned captain general
of a large Spanish expedition to the EAST INDIES. He was to
travel to the SPICE ISLANDS (the Moluccas) of present-day In-
donesia and seck the legendary land of OPHIR; he was also as-
signed to make astronomical observations and undertake a
geographic survey of the South American coast.

In April 1526, Cabot sailed with a fleet of four ships,
carrying 200 soldiers and colonists, from the Spanish port of
Sanltcar de Barrameda, south of Seville. He headed south-
ward to the Cape Verde Islands off the west coast of Africa.
From there, his ships turned southwestward and reached the
port of Recife, Brazil, in September 1526. While exploring
the southeast coast of Brazil, he located the island of Santa
Catarina, which he named in honor of his wife.

Cabot also landed in the estuary of the Rio de la Plata
near present-day Buenos Aires, where he encountered sur-

-
- " .V
3&‘ A &

Tl O
.;i’t& A kLY

John Cabot and Sebastian Cabot in North America (Library of Congress)
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Detail of map of eastern North America by Sebastian Cabot (1544) (Library of Congress)

vivors of the JUAN DIAZ DE SOLIS expedition of 1515-16,
who had heard reports of a “White King” with a domain
rich with gold and silver. (ALEJO GARCIA was the individual
most associated with the reports.) Cabot had been directed
by the Spanish Crown to survey the boundary line between
Spanish and Portuguese territory in South America estab-
lished by the 1494 Treaty of Tordesillas, then proceed south-
ward around CAPE HORN to the East Indies. The lure of
riches in the interior of South America led Cabot to aban-
don his plans to go to the Orient. Instead, he spent the next
three years exploring the inland waterways of the Paraguay
and Barmejo Rivers of present-day Argentina, Uruguay,
Paraguay, and Brazil. He found little gold but explored the
Parand River to the Apipe Rapids, and possibly as far as the
site of Asuncién, Paraguay.

In 1528-29, one of Cabot’s lieutenants, Francisco
César, led an advance expedition deep into the interior and
reached the foothills of the ANDES MOUNTAINS. He re-

turned with samples of gold, probably from the kingdom of
the Inca, further inspiring Cabot to search for a fabled
wealthy kingdom. The city of LOS CESARES, named after
César, became a persistent legend from this time. The con-
cept of EL DORADO also grew out of such reports. During
this period, Cabot established the colony of San Espiritu on
the Parand River. Soon after his departure for Spain in 1529,
however, the settlement, which was peopled by colonists
originally headed for the Moluccas, was wiped out by Timbu
tribesmen.

Cabot returned to Spain in 1530, resuming his duties as
chief pilot, a position previously held by AMERIGO
VESPUCCI and Diaz de Sélis. He remained in service to
Spain until the late 1540s, at which time he returned to
England. He now sought the backing of London merchants
for trade expeditions to northern Russia. He also intended
to locate a NORTHEAST PASSAGE to the Orient across the top
of Europe and Asia.
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In 1551, Cabot was appointed first governor of the
London-based MUSCOVY COMPANY. Between 1553 and
1556, he organized and financed expeditions into regions
northeast of Scandinavia. Explorers such as SIR HUGH
WILLOUGHBY and RICHARD CHANCELLOR sailed under his
sponsorship. In 1556, well into his eighties, Sebastian Cabot
sponsored STEPHEN BOROUGH’s expedition from England
to the White Sea on the Arctic coast of European Russia.

Sebastian Cabot’s reputation as an explorer was for a
time tarnished with accusations that he attempted to claim
for himself the accomplishments of his father. Yet his own
explorations in both North and South America provided
Europeans with their first clear idea of the extent of the new
lands. His early expeditions initiated a search for the North-
west Passage that would persist for more than 400 years, into
the age of nuclear-powered icebreakers and submarines. In
South America, Cabot’s explorations of the inland water-
ways of the Rio de la Plata and other rivers led to the rapid
colonization of these regions by Spain and Portugal. His
later efforts to find a Northeast Passage led to increased trade
to the northern ports of Russia and broke the trade
monopoly of the North Sea and Baltic Sea cities of the
HANSEATIC LEAGUE. Along with HENRY HUDSON, he was
one of the few early explorers to seck both the Northwest
and the Northeast Passage.

Cabral, Goncalo Velho (ca. 1386—ca. 1447)
Portuguese colonist in the Azores

Gongalo Cabral, a Portuguese nobleman, was an associate of
HENRY THE NAVIGATOR, prince of Portugal, working at his
navigational study center at Sagres in southwestern Portugal.
In the early 15th century, the Isles of SAINT BRENDAN ap-
peared as real places on Catalan maps used by Henry and
other geographers at Sagres. In 1431, Cabral was sent by the
Portuguese prince to investigate these islands, which were be-
lieved to lie several hundred miles southwest of Portugal.

On his first attempt, in 1431, Cabral reached as far as
the Formigas Rocks in the Atlantic Ocean, only about 25
miles east of his destination. In the course of a voyage the
next year, he located and named Santa Maria; on a subse-
quent voyage, he came upon a second island, Sao Miguel.
Soon afterward, he reached a third island, Terceira. It was
Prince Henry who named the island group, giving them the
Portuguese designation Ilhas dos Acores (“Isles of the
Hawks”), known in English as the AZORES.

Given dominion over the Azores, Cabral undertook to
colonize them, bringing in settlers from Portugal as well as
Flemings from the Low Countries. Over the next century,
the Azores became an agricultural center, as well as an im-
portant stopover point for early Atlantic crossings.

Although the Azores had been known to Portuguese
mariners as early as 1427, Gongalo Cabral is generally rec-

ognized as having made the first accurate sighting of them,
and it was his voyages that led to their initial colonization.
In the decades that followed, most Portuguese exploration
concentrated on following the African coastline to India.
Nevertheless, Cabral’s reports of the Azores instilled in the
minds of Portuguese and other European explorers the idea
that additional new and fertile lands lay west of Europe
across the Atlantic.

Cabral, Jodo (1599-1669) Portuguese missionary

in India and Tibet

Jodo Cabral was a Portuguese Jesuit who arrived at the
Ganges Delta, near the site of present-day Calcutta, India,
in 1626, along with fellow Jesuit ESTEVAO CACELLA. The
purpose of their intended journey was to introduce Chris-
tianity to Tibet.

Cabral and Cacella traveled northeastward into the
Brahmaputra River region and headed westward to Cooch
Behar. From there, they headed northward into Bhutan and
traversed the HIMALAYAS and entered into Tibet. At the Ti-
betan town of Shigatse, they established a Christian mission.

Soon after founding the Shigatse mission, Cacella un-
dertook a trip along the Himalayas in an attempt to visit an-
other mission at Tsaparang, while Cabral headed back to
India for supplies. Cabral followed a route that took him
through Katmandu in Nepal, then traveled eastward back to
Cooch Behar. There, he met up with Cacella, who had been
unable to reach his destination.

Cabral was back at the Shigatse mission in 1631, but he
remained for only a year before being transferred back to
India. Cacella died in Tibet after contracting an illness.

Jodo Cabral was among the handful of Jesuit mission-
aries who kept alive links with remote Tibet during the 17th
century. His work, along with that of fellow Jesuits ANTO-
NIO DE ANDRADE and FRANCISCO DE AZEVADO, carried
on a tradition of Western religious contacts with Tibetan

Buddhists.

Cabral, Pedro Alvars (Pedro Alvares Cabral,
Pedralvarez Cabral, Pedro Alvarez de Cabral)

(ca. 1467—ca. 1520) Portuguese mariner in Brazil

and India

Pedro Cabral was a native of Belmonte in east-central Por-
tugal. His family’s close ties to the Portuguese monarchy
led, in 1483, to his appointment as a page to the court of
King John II.

After 1495, Cabral continued his career at court under
Manuel I. In 1499, soon after VASCO DA GAMA’s return
from his successful voyage around the CAPE OF GOOD
HOPE, Manuel chose Cabral to command a large trading
fleet in a follow-up voyage to India. Cabral had been ap-



pointed an admiral, although more for his diplomatic and
commercial ability than for his nautical experience. In
charge of part of the fleet was BARTOLOMEU DIAS, the Por-
tuguese navigator who, in 1487, had determined Africa’s
southernmost point and rounded the Cape of Good Hope.

Cabral’s 13 ships sailed from Lisbon in March 1500,
carrying more than 1,200 men, including merchants, sol-
diers, and Franciscan missionaries, as well as a number of
convicts. Sailing southward from Portugal, they stopped at
the CANARY ISLANDS, then proceeded toward the Cape
Verde Islands. Although eatlier Portuguese navigators, in-
cluding Dias, had closely followed the coastline of Africa in
their search for a route to India, Cabral acted on da Gama’s
advice to sail due south from the Cape Verdes, away from
the African continent, thus avoiding unfavorable winds in
the Gulf of Guinea. He planned on taking advantage of
strong westerly winds at a point south and west of the
African mainland to carry his fleet around the Cape of Good
Hope and into the Indian Ocean.

Sailing farther southwest than any other European nav-
igator had yet ventured, Cabral’s fleet neared the coast of
Brazil and, on April 22, 1500, sighted the South American
mainland at about 17° south latitude. They anchored off the
coast of present-day Caravelas, within sight of Mount Pas-
coal, about midway between Salvador to the north and pre-

Pedro Cabral (Library of Congress)
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sent-day Rio de Janeiro to the south. Four days later, at Port
Seguro, Cabral went ashore and took formal possession of
the new land for Portugal, calling it Terra da Vera Cruz (land
of the true cross), despite his uncertainty concerning
whether he had discovered an island or a continent.

Cabral’s men undertook a brief exploration inland,
coming into contact with the region’s Tupinanba Indians.
News of his accomplishment was immediately sent back to
Portugal on one of the ships. Two of the convicts were left
on the Brazilian mainland, with instructions to learn what
they could about the land; it is believed that they fell victim
to cannibalistic natives soon after Cabral’s departure on May
2, 1500.

Ten days after setting out from Brazil, the Portuguese
sighted a comet that many took as an omen of troubles yet to
come. Approaching the Cape of Good Hope from the west,
the ships were caught in a severe storm. Four of them went
down with all hands, Dias among them. Another ship was
lost and did not rejoin the fleet until the following year. With
his few remaining vessels, Cabral made his way around the
Cape of Good Hope and northward along the east coast of
Africa, stopping at Kilwa and Malindi, before heading north-
eastward across the Arabian Sea to India’s Malabar Coast.

At the Indian port city of Calicut, Cabral attempted to
establish a Portuguese trading post. Arab traders, resentful of
any European encroachment, incited an attack on Cabral’s
settlement. In response, Cabral attacked and destroyed 10
Arab trading vessels, massacred their crews, and bombarded
the city of Calicut. He then headed 120 miles southward
along the Malabar Coast to the friendlier port of Cochin,
where he became the first European to purchase spices and
other valuable items directly from Eastern merchants.

On the return voyage to Portugal, at the Cape Verde
Islands, Cabral met up with AMERIGO VESPUCCI’s expe-
dition, which had set out to investigate Cabral’s carlier
claims on Brazil. He was also rejoined by the ship separated
in the storms off the cape. Commanded by Diogo Dias,
brother of Bartolomeu Dias, it had returned from a visit to
Madagascar.

Cabral returned to Portugal in July 1501. In the course
of the voyage to India, he had lost more than half of his ships
and nearly 900 of his original 1,200 men. Nevertheless, the
profitable cargo he brought back from India, in addition to
the news of his exploration of Brazil, soon earned him com-
mand of Portugal’s next major trading venture. Before he
could set out, however, the king replaced him with da
Gama.

Cabral is not known to have taken part in any subse-
quent voyages. He settled at Santarém, Portugal, marrying
the well-connected and wealthy Dona Isabel da Castro in
1503.

Pedro Cabral’s Terra da Vera Cruz became known to
later geographers as Brazil, after a type of wood found
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there, much valued as a source of red dye. Brazil had also
been the name of a fabled mid-Atlantic island which had
appeared in medieval maps since the days of SAINT BREN-
DAN. Although he is generally considered the European
discoverer of Brazil, Cabral was not the first explorer to
sight the Brazilian mainland, having been preceded by less
than a year by Spanish mariners, including ALONSO DE
OJEDA and VICENTE YANEZ PINZON. Nevertheless, Cabral
had sailed into an area where no land had been anticipated,
while his predecessors had explored the extensions of
known coastlines. As the European discoverer of Brazil,
Cabral provided Portugal with its only significant territo-
rial claim in the Western Hemisphere, an outcome of the
division of the New World agreed to by Spain and Portugal
under the terms of the Treaty of Tordesillas of 1494. Cabral
also achieved the main objective of his 1500-1501 voyage
by establishing trade with India and breaking the
monopoly on the European SPICE TRADE with the Orient
exercised by the Arabs and the Venetians in the eastern
Mediterranean. Cabral’s reports of new lands west of Africa
led to the 1501-02 voyage of Vespucci, who ultimately
determined that the Americas were in fact continents and
not part of the Far East.

Cabrillo, Juan Rodriguez (Joio Rodrigues
Cabrilho) (ca. 1500-1543) Portuguese mariner on

the California coast, in service to Spain

Juan Cabrillo, originally from Portugal, entered the service
of Spain sometime before 1520. That year, he took part in
the Spanish conquest of the Aztec in Mexico under the com-
mand of PANFILO DE NARVAEZ. Three years later, he served
under PEDRO DE ALVARADO in the conquest of what is now
Guatemala and El Salvador.

Cabrillo remained in Guatemala as an assistant to Al-
varado, who had been named the colony’s captain general.
In 1540, Alvarado was commissioned to lead an expedition
to the SPICE ISLANDS (the Moluccas), a key source of spices
in what is now Indonesia. His fleet of 13 ships landed at
Navidad, a port on the central Pacific coast of Mexico south
of present-day Guadalajara, in 1540. Because of reports of
the fabled Seven Cities of CIBOLA from explorers MARCOS
DE NIZA and ALVAR NUNEZ CABEZA DE VACA, however, AN-
TONIO DE MENDOZA, the Mexican governor, directed Al-
varado to undertake a side exploration of the coast north of
Baja California, in the hope of finding a seaward route to
Cibola and the riches it promised. He also was to search for
the fabled STRAIT OF ANIAN, which was thought to lead
from the Pacific Ocean to the Atlantic Ocean. Alvarado was
diverted from the expedition because of an Indian upris-
ing—the Mixtén War—in the vicinity of Guadalajara. After
Alvarado’s death during a retreat, Cabrillo was placed in
command of the expedition northward.

Cabrillo sailed from Navidad on June 27, 1542, in
command of two ships, the San Salvador and the Victoria.
He headed along the west coast of Mexico, rounded the tip
of Baja California, then continued along the coast beyond
Cabo del Engafio (Cape Deceit). An earlier expedition, led
by FRANCISCO DE ULLOA, had attempted to explore be-
yond this point in 1539-40, but had never returned to
Mexico.

After about a week at sea, Cabrillo and his men sighted
the mainland of what is now southern California and, in
September 1542, they became the first Europeans to explore
San Diego Bay, which Cabrillo originally named San
Miguel. Cabrillo sent a small party ashore to explore in-
land. The Spaniards managed to survey some of the territory
around present-day San Diego despite an Indian actack.

Cabrillo directed his ships along the California coast,
visiting Santa Monica and San Pedro Bays, as well as Santa
Catalina and San Miguel Islands. In his account, Cabrillo
noted the dense Indian population along the coast; the
number of campfires sighted on the shore near San Pedro
Bay led him to name it Bahia de los Fumos (Bay of Fires).
The expedition made landings to explore the inland regions,
encountering Native Americans of various tribes, all of them
friendly. The expedition continued to Monterey Bay and in
November 1542, eventually reached Point Reyes and ex-
plored what came to be known as Drake’s Bay.

Severe weather forced Cabrillo’s return southward to
Monterey Bay. The expedition then landed at San Miguel Is-
land for the winter; Cabrillo suffered a fall and developed a
fatal infection, dying on January 3, 1543.

Command was assumed by Cabrillo’s chief pilot, BAR-
TOLOME FERRELO. The expedition departed San Miguel in
February 1543, again sailing northward along the California
coast. Ferrelo is thought to have reached the coast of pre-
sent-day Oregon near the mouth of the Rogue River, or pos-
sibly even the COLUMBIA RIVER, before returning to Mexico
in April.

Juan Cabrillo’s voyage was the first European explo-
ration along the California coast.

Cacella, Estevao (1585-1630) Portuguese missionary
in India and Tibet

Estevdo Cacella was a Portuguese Jesuit who traveled to
India as a missionary in 1626 with JOAO CABRAL. The two
priests traveled from Cooch Behar, near what is now Cal-
cutta, up the GANGES RIVER and into Bhutan, then crossed
the HIMALAYAS, and entered Tibet.

After establishing a mission at Shigatse, Cacella under-
took a journey along the northern side of the Himalayas to
the mission at Tsaparang, which had been established in
1625 by ANTONIO DE ANDRADE. Cabral had meanwhile
returned to India for additional supplies.



Severe snowstorms led Cacella to abandon his attempt
to negotiate the northern slopes of the Himalayas. He made
his way south to India, rejoining Cabral at the village of
Cooch Behar.

Cacella returned to Tibet in February 1630. Having be-
come seriously ill in the course of the seven-month journey,
he soon died.

Estevao Cacella, with other Jesuit missionaries of the
16th and 17th centuries, helped maintain what little contact
there was between Europe and Tibet.

Cadamosto,Alvise da (Alvise Ca’da Mosto, Luigi
da Cadamosto, Luigi da Cada Mosto) (1432-1488)
Italian mariner along coastal Africa, in service to Portugal
Alvise da Cadamosto, from a Venetian noble family, em-
barked on a seafaring career. By the early 1450s, he was en-
gaged in the maritime trade between Italy and the Flemish
ports on the coast of what is now Belgium.

In 1454, a storm drove Cadamosto’s ship ashore on the
coast of Portugal. News of the arrival of the experienced
Venetian mariner reached HENRY THE NAVIGATOR, prince
of Portugal, who had been sponsoring explorations in search
of a sea route to the Orient. Henry soon met with
Cadamosto and persuaded him to undertake a series of voy-
ages along the west coast of Africa in order to establish trade
contacts with tribes of the sub-Saharan region, beyond the
control of the Muslim nations to the north.

Cadamosto, equipped by Henry with a ship, crew, and
supplies, sailed on his first voyage under the Portuguese flag
in 1455. He had been instructed to learn what he could
about the inland trade between TIMBUKTU and the African
coast, especially in regard to spices, gold, and slaves. Ac-
companying Cadamosto was Portuguese seafarer Vincent
Dias. After stops at the CANARY ISLANDS and Madeira, they
headed for Cape Blanco and the coast of Mauritania, where
Cadamosto investigated the trade practices of the natives,
later reporting on the commerce in salt and gold between
the coastal peoples and inland peoples.

Cadamosto continued southward along Africa’s west
coast, reaching as far as the continent’s westernmost point,
Cape Verde, then explored up the Senegal River about 60
miles. There he met with the local ruler, an African Muslim
named Budomel, staying on as a guest for a month. On his
return to the mouth of the Senegal River, he was joined by
another Italian navigator in service to Portugal, Antoniotto
Usodimare, of Genoa. With Usodimare, Cadamosto sailed
to the mouth of the Gambia River.

Having reached about 13° south latitude, farther south
than any European mariner had been to that time, he noted
how low the NORTH STAR was over the horizon, an indica-
tion that he was approaching the EQUATOR. He soon be-
came the first known European to observe and identify the
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Southern Cross, a constellation visible only near or south of
the equator. While attempting to explore up the Gambia
River, Cadamosto’s ship was attacked by native warriors in
canoes and forced to withdraw to the open sea. Soon after-
ward, he sailed back to Portugal.

The next year, 1456, Cadamosto embarked on his sec-
ond expedition for Prince Henry. Again joined by Usodi-
mare, he commanded a fleet of three ships. After sailing
southward to Cape Verde, they proceeded westward. Rely-
ing on basic navigational instruments, they sailed 320 miles
out of sight of land until they came upon a group of un-
charted islands. Cadamosto named them the Cape Verde
Islands and claimed them for Portugal. On the return trip
to Portugal, he explored the coast of what is now Guinea-
Bissau, where he made the European discovery of the Bija-
gos Islands.

Alvise da Cadamosto returned to his native Venice in
1463. Although the Portuguese were highly secretive about
their geographic discoveries, he produced an eyewitness ac-
count of early European exploration of Africa. Published
posthumously in Italy in 1507, it provided details of tribal
customs, as well as descriptions of animal and plant life
Cadamosto observed in his travels, including the earliest ac-
count of the hippopotamus. Sailing in sturdy lateen-rigged
CARAVEL ships, he made some of the earliest extended voy-
ages out of sight of land, preceding the later expeditions of
Italian-born explorers CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS, JOHN
CABOT, and AMERIGO VESPUCCI. Like Cadamosto, they also
carried out explorations in the service of a country other
than their own.

Cadillac, Sieur de  See 1L.A MOTHE, ANTOINE
LAUMET.

Caesar, Gaius Julius (100-44 B.C.) Roman general,
statesman in northern Europe
Julius Caesar was born into one of the Roman Republic’s most
prominent patrician families. Through family connections
and his marriage to the daughter of the powerful Lucius Cor-
nelius Cinna, he rose politically in Roman society and
achieved a position as one of Rome’s chief military leaders.
Caesar led an invasion into Gaul (present-day France
and Belgium) in 58-56 B.C., extending Roman influence
northward from the MEDITERRANEAN SEA. He remained ac-
tive in the region over the next years, leading to Roman do-
mination of the Gallic tribes and extensive road building.
To link Italy with newly acquired Gaul, Caesar estab-
lished a route through the Alps by way of the 8,000-foot-
high Great St. Bernard Pass, providing northern Italy with
overland access to the Upper Rhone Valley and the Lake
Geneva region of present-day Switzerland.



106 CAILLIE, RENE-AUGUSTE

Caesar also undertook an invasion of the island of
Britain, landing with two Roman legions at present-day
Dover in 55. The next year, he landed five more legions
from Rome. While the Roman subjugation of Britain was
not completed until the next century, Caesar’s campaign was
the first recorded contact between Mediterranean peoples
and those of the British Isles since PYTHEAS in the fourth
century B.C. In his brief sojourn there, Caesar undertook
astronomical studies on the length of days in the higher lat-
itudes. He subsequently reported on Britain’s geographic
location relative to the rest of the Roman provinces, erro-
neously placing it east of the known region of Spain.

Caesar returned to Italy in 49. He became embroiled
in a power struggle with Roman leader Pompey, but
achieved victory in the ensuing civil war. A group of sena-
tors, fearful of his influence and power over the Roman peo-
ple, assassinated Caesar in the senate building in Rome on
March 15, 44 B.C.

Julius Caesar extended the scope of classical civilization
as far as the Atlantic coasts of present-day France and Eng-
land, providing the Romans with the first accurate accounts
of those regions.

Caillié, René-Auguste (René-Auguste Caillé)
(1799-1838) French explorer in West Africa

René-Auguste Caillié was a native of Mauze in western
France’s Deux-Sévres region. Coming from a family of mod-
est means, he had little formal education. While he was still
very young, his family fell into disgrace when his father, the
village baker, was jailed for larceny.

By his mid-teens, Caillié had been drawn to the idea of
exploring Africa, his interest reportedly sparked by the great
expanses of territory marked “unknown” on contemporary
maps of that continent. In 1816, at the age of 17, he ran
away to the nearby port of Rochefort and signed on as a
cabin boy on a ship headed for the African west coast. Cail-
lié jumped ship in Senegal, where he joined a British expe-
dition, led by a Major Gray, in search of news of MUNGO
PARK, who had disappeared 10 years earlier along the NIGER
RIVER. On his first venture to Africa, Caillié made several
trips between the Senegalese coastal settlements of Dakar
and St. Louis, and explored along the lower Senegal River.
After less than a year, he was stricken with tropical fever, be-
coming so ill that he had to return to France.

Caillié remained in France for the next seven years, sav-
ing his money and preparing for another trip to Africa. He
had determined that posing as an Arab traveler was the only
effective way to explore the interior.

In 1824, Caillié returned to Senegal. He traveled to the
desert region of Mauritania and lived for a year among the
Braknas tribe, who taught him the Arabic language and Is-
lamic ritual.

In 1825, having been refused financial support by the
French colonial governor of Senegal for a proposed expedi-
tion to the Niger River and TIMBUKTU, Caillié traveled to
the British colony in Sierra Leone, where he found employ-
ment as superintendent of an indigo plantation. Learning
that the Geographical Society of Paris was offering a prize
of 10,000 francs to anyone who could reach Timbuktu and
return to Europe with a description of the fabled metropo-
lis in the desert, he organized an expedition.

In March 1827, Caillié embarked from Freetown, Sierra
Leone, and, after a short voyage along the coast, reached
Conakry in present-day Guinea. He headed inland, travel-
ing alone across the desert to the foothills of the Fouta Djal-
lon Range and the upper reaches of the Senegal River.
Arriving at Tieme in August 1827, he was stricken with
SCURVY, which laid him up for four months. He resumed
his journey in January 1828, reaching the upper Niger River
Valley at Kouroussa. Pretending to be an Egyptian Arab re-
turning to his homeland from France, Caillié descended the
Niger River on a large trading CANOE. He arrived at Kabara,
the port of Timbuktu, in late April 1828.

In Timbuktu, Caillié was struck by how the actual city,
an austere trading settlement in the desert, differed from the
fabled magnificence described by the 16th-century historian
LEO AFRICANUS and other early travelers. Caillié remained
there for two weeks, during which he learned that another
European, the Scotsman ALEXANDER GORDON LAING, had
reached the city in 1826, but had been murdered by his
Muslim guide soon after their departure. On May 4, 1828,
Caillié left Timbuktu, traveling northward across the sa-
HARA DESERT with a slave caravan. He crossed the Great
Atlas Mountains, reaching the MEDITERRANEAN SEA at
Tangier, where he secured passage back to France.

The Geographical Society of Paris awarded Cailli¢ the
cash prize; he was further honored with admission to the Le-
gion of Honor. Nevertheless, some critics, especially those in
England, doubted Caillié’s claim of having reached Tim-
buktu, principally because his realistic descriptions did not
live up to the expectations fueled by earlier legendary ac-
counts. Granted a pension by the French government, Cail-
lié retired in France. While in Africa, he had developed
tuberculosis, and he succumbed to this illness in 1838.

Although René-Auguste Caillié brought back no new
geographic information concerning the course of the Niger
River, a mystery that puzzled European geographers until
the middle of the 19th century, his three-volume account,
published in 1830, provided the first accurate description
of Timbukeu. His last journey in Africa had taken him
across 4,500 miles of territory, most of which at that time
was unknown to Europeans. Doubts about his accomplish-
ments were put to rest in the 1850s after German explorer
HEINRICH BARTH’s expedition to Timbuktu confirmed Cail-
lie’s findings.
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Cameron,Verney Lovett (1844-1894)

British naval officer in central Africa

Verney Lovett Cameron, the son of a clergyman, was born
in Radipole, Dorsetshire, on England’s south coast. At the
age of 13, he entered the British navy as a midshipman, and,
over the next 10 years, he saw active service in the Indian
Ocean, taking part in British efforts to stem the SLAVE
TRADE. In 1868, he participated in a British military expe-
dition against Ethiopia.

Promoted to lieutenant by 1870, Cameron returned to
England, where he was stationed at the naval base at Sheer-
ness, off the coast of Kent. That year, he offered his services
to the ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY, proposing to lead an
expedition into East Africa in search of the missing mis-
sionary and explorer, DAVID LIVINGSTONE.

Cameron’s initial offer was turned down; soon after-
ward, in 1871, American journalist SIR HENRY MORTON
STANLEY succeeded in locating Livingstone. Nonetheless,
the following year, the Royal Geographical Society orga-
nized an expedition to take supplies to Livingstone, who had
remained in Africa, and appointed Cameron to lead it, di-
recting him also to undertake an exploration of the region
around Lake Tanganyika.

Cameron, in command of the Livingstone East Coast
Expedition, headed into the interior of what is now Tanza-
nia in late March 1873. Starting out from Bagamoyo, an In-
dian Ocean port city opposite Zanzibar, he traveled with
W. E. Dillon, a British naval surgeon; Lieutenant Cecil Mur-
phy, a British army artillery officer; and Robert Moffat, Liv-
ingstone’s nephew.

After a 500-mile trek inland, Cameron and his party
reached Tabora. In late October 1873, they received word
that Livingstone had died; a few days later, Livingstone’s
body was brought to Tabora. Moffat by then had died, and
Dillon and Murphy decided to head back to England.

Undaunted, Cameron stayed on to explore Africa. Pro-
ceeding farther westward, he reached Ujiji on Lake Tan-
ganyika. He undertook an extensive exploration of this vast
inland body of water, Africa’s second largest lake, and sub-
sequently produced the first detailed map of it. His survey
revealed that 96 rivers flowed into the lake. He also made
the European discovery of the Lukuga River, the only river
flowing out of it.

In Ujiji, Cameron arranged to have Livingstone’s per-
sonal belongings and journals shipped back to England,
then headed into the region east of Lake Tanganyika. He
soon reached Nyangwe, a slave trading center on the Lual-
aba River. He determined that the Lualaba could not be a
tributary of the NILE RIVER, as many geographers believed at
that time. Using a barometer to determine altitude, he con-
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cluded that this river, at a much lower elevation than the
Nile to the north, and with a much greater volume of water
than was found in the upper Nile, was more likely a tribu-
tary to Africa’s other great river, the CONGO RIVER, now
known as the Zaire.

Hostile Arab slavers made it impossible for Cameron
to hire canoes and native bearers to explore the Lualaba
northward and find out if it did indeed join the Congo as he
believed. Instead, he set out on a southwestward journey
across the watershed between the Congo and the ZAMBEZI
RIVER. Traveling overland by way of Kabambare, he crossed
present-day Zaire and reached the Adantic coast of Africa
in northern Angola, arriving on November 7, 1875.

Upon his return to England the following April,
Cameron was proclaimed the first European to have tra-
versed tropical Africa from the Indian Ocean to the Atlantic
coast and was awarded the Founder’s Medal by the Royal
Geographical Society. He recounted his experience in his
1877 book Across Africa.

In the early 1880s, Cameron returned to Africa, joining
SIR RICHARD FRANCIS BURTON in an expedition to present-
day Ghana, in search of mineral wealth. With Burton, he
coauthored an account of this adventure, 7o the Gold Coast
for Gold, first published in 1883. That year, Cameron left
the navy, but he continued in government service as a diplo-
mat in Africa, aiding in Britain’s campaign against the SLAVE
TRADE. During the late 1880s, he was active in promoting
a railroad link between Cape Town, South Africa, and Cairo,
Egypt. In 1894, while in southern England, he was killed in
a horseback riding accident.

Verney Lovett Cameron’s speculation that the Lualaba
River flowed northward to the Congo River was shown to
be true with the subsequent explorations of Henry Morton
Stanley and JOSEPH THOMSON. Moreover, Cameron’s
1873-75 expedition into central Africa brought back the
first detailed information on the region east of Lake Tan-
ganyika, and the first report of the Lukuga River. Although
unable to undertake an exploration of the Congo River it-
self, he traversed its entire watershed with the Zambezi, and,
in so doing, became the first European to make an east-to-
west crossing of the African continent below the SAHARA
DESERT.

Campbell, John (1766—ca. 1840) Scottish missionary
in South Africa
John Campbell was born in Edinburgh, Scotland, where, in
his early years, he was a schoolmate of author Sir Walter
Scott. He excelled in business and went on to become a phi-
lanthropist, using his financial resources to sponsor religious
causes.

In 1812, soon after Great Britain gained control of
the Dutch colony around the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE, the
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London Missionary Society requested that Campbell go to
South Africa to inspect its missions.

After sailing to Cape Town that year, Campbell jour-
neyed eastward along the coast into the largely unsettled re-
gion around what is now Port Elizabeth. At Algoa Bay, he
headed inland, traveling northward across the open grass-
lands known as the highveld. Eventually he entered the land
of the Botswanas, at Kuruman, on the southern edge of the
Kalahari Desert. From there, he followed the course of the
Hartz River eastward to the Vaal River, which took him to
the west-flowing Orange River and the Atlantic coast of Na-
maqualand, in present-day southern Namibia. From there,
he returned to Cape Town in 1814, where he lived for the
next several years.

Campbell undertook a second journey into the interior
of South Africa in 1819-21. He traveled northward into the
Kalahari region and penetrated the northern part of the pre-
sent-day Transvaal region, where he located the source of the
1,000-mile-long Limpopo River. He returned to London
after 1821, having covered more than 2,000 miles of remote
inland territory. He continued to work on behalf of African
missions for the next 20 years. He also authored several
books recounting his African experiences.

John Campbell’s explorations beyond the frontier re-
gion of early-19th-century South Africa preceded by more
than two decades the mass migrations of the Boers into what
later became the Orange Free State and the Transvaal.

Campbell, Robert (1804-1879) American trapper,
merchant on the Missouri River and in the Rocky Mountains
Robert Campbell was born near the town of Omagh in what
is now Northern Ireland. He came from a fairly affluent
family and received a good education before immigrating
to America in his late teens.

By 1824, Campbell was in St. Louis, Missouri, at that
time the hub of the burgeoning FUR TRADE to the upper
MISSOURI RIVER and northern ROCKY MOUNTAINS. Trou-
bled by chronic lung disease, Campbell sought to recover his
health with a trip into the unspoiled wilderness and joined
WILLIAM HENRY ASHLEY’s 182425 expedition to take sup-
plies to the fur traders and trappers in the Uinta Mountains
in what is now northeastern Utah.

Campbell, with Ashley’s party, including THOMAS FITZ-
PATRICK, traveled up the Missouri to the North Platte River
at Fort Atkinson, near present-day Omaha, Nebraska. Fol-
lowing the North Platte westward across the plains, the
group explored present-day western Nebraska and the east-
ern Colorado Rockies. They proceeded southward, reached
the South Fork of the Platte River, then headed westward to
the Green River. They traveled down the Green on
makeshift boats into the Uinta Mountains, east of the Great
Salt Lake. Along the way, Campbell traveled through the

Green River’s Flaming Gorge, a narrow waterway that
passed between 2,500-foot-high overhanging cliffs. He was
among the first non-Indians to explore Browns Hole and the
rapids of the Green River in what is now northeastern Utah’s
Dinosaur National Monument.

At a point below Browns Hole, the group encountered
French-Canadian explorer and trapper ETIENNE PROVOST
and his party, and the leaders of the two expeditions con-
ferred on what each had learned en route.

Campbell then explored with the combined Ashley-
Provost expedition into the Uinta Mountains, and, in July
1825, he attended the first annual trappers’ rendezvous at
Henrys Fork of the Green River, at the south end of what is
now known as the Flaming Gorge Reservoir on the Utah-
Wyoming boundary line.

Campbell remained active in the Rocky Mountain fur
trade. On his way to the trappers’ rendezvous of 1828, his
party, including JAMES PIERSON BECKWOURTH, was at-
tacked by Blackfeet warriors, but they successtully fought off
the Indians in a battle that later came to be known as the
“Fight in the Willows.” During the 1829 trapping season, he
explored Crow Indian lands between the Powder and
Bighorn Rivers in what is now north-central Wyoming. Fol-
lowing this expedition, Campbell visited his Irish home-
land in 1830-31.

Back in the Rockies in 1832, Campbell and WiLLIAM
LEWIS SUBLETTE trapped the western slopes of the Teton
Mountains, south of what is now Yellowstone National Park.
During this expedition, the mountain men survived an at-
tack by Gros Ventre (Atsina) Indians in a skirmish at Pierre’s
Hole.

Campbell and Sublette remained partners in the fur
trade for the next 10 years. From St. Louis, they operated a
thriving supply business to the fur trappers on the upper
Missouri, northern plains, and northern Rockies. In 1833,
they established Fort William, a large trading fort at the
mouth of the Yellowstone River (near the American Fur
Company’s main fur-trading center at Fort Union), in what
is now northwestern North Dakota. Campbell himself man-
aged this trade center in 1833-34. CHARLES LARPENTEUR
sometimes worked with him.

In 1834, Campbell and Sublette founded Fort Laramie
in southeastern Wyoming, a settlement that became an im-
portant stopover point for travelers on the Oregon Trail.

Campbell ended his partnership with Sublette in 1842.
Campbell went on to establish a prosperous mercantile busi-
ness in St. Louis, specializing in supplying the fur trade and
buying beaver pelts for shipment to the East.

In 1851, Campbell returned to his old post at Fort
Laramie, which had since been sold to the U.S. Army. There
he assisted his old trapping friend, Thomas Fitzpatrick, in
negotiating a peace treaty with Sioux (Dakota, Lakota,
Nakota) Indians.



Campbell’s business dealings in St. Louis made him a
wealthy man. He expanded his enterprises into commercial
banking and real estate. Yet he never broke his ties with the
frontier, and during the post—Civil War years, he served as a
peace commissioner for President Ulysses S. Grant’s Peace
Policy to the Indians.

Robert Campbell, like the other traders and trappers of
the 1820s and 1830s, explored uncharted lands and helped
open the American West to non-Indian settlement.

Campbell, Robert (1808-1894) Scottish fur trader

in western and northwestern Canada and Alaska

At the age of 22, Scottish-born Robert Campbell immi-
grated to North America to work for the HUDSON’S BAY
COMPANY at its fur-trading posts on the Canadian frontier.
Starting in 1834, he began a series of annual explorations of
the Mackenzie and Yukon Rivers.

During his explorations of the Mackenzie River, Camp-
bell became the first known non-Indian man to see the Pelly
River. In 1843, he returned to the Pelly and followed it
northwestward to the Lewes and Yukon Rivers, thus deter-
mining the headwaters of eastern Alaska’s interior river sys-
tem, which eventually flowed into the Bering Sea. In 1848,
at the confluence of the Lewes and Yukon, he established the
northwesternmost post for the Hudson’s Bay Company at
that time, Fort Selkirk, which abutted the region controlled
by the RUSSIAN-AMERICAN COMPANY.

In 1850-51, Campbell continued his explorations of
the Yukon River, reaching its confluence with the Porcu-
pine River in northeastern Alaska. Soon afterward, Fort
Yukon was established there as another post for the Hudson’s
Bay Company.

In 1852, Campbell traveled to London, where he helped
prepare maps of the interior river system of northeastern
Alaska and what is now the western Yukon Territory. He soon
returned to the Canadian West, where he was the Hudson’s
Bay Company’s chief factor for Saskatchewan undil his retire-
ment in 1871. He spent his later years on his Manitoba ranch.

Robert Campbell’s account of his penetrations into the
Canadian northwest, The Discovery and Exploration of the
Pelly River, was first published in 1883. His explorations of
the rivers to the north and west of the Great Slave Lake
provided geographers with important data on the then-
uncharted areas of Canada’s northern regions, as well as the
previously uncharted area of northern Alaska.

Cano, Juan Sebastian del (Juan Sebastian de
Elcano, Juan Sebastian Delcano) (ca. 1476-1526)
Spanish mariner in first circumnavigation of the world

Juan Sebastidn del Cano, of Basque ancestry, was born in
northern Spain. By 1519, he had become an experienced
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seafarer and navigator and was appointed captain of
the Concepcion, one of five ships that set out from Spain for
the EAST INDIES under the command of FERDINAND
MAGELLAN.

Six months into the voyage, while wintering on the At-
lantic coast of Patagonia, Cano took part in a mutiny by
some of Magellan’s officers and men who wanted to aban-
don the expedition and return to Spain. Magellan prevailed,
however, and subsequently sent Cano, still in command of
the Concepcion, along with another vessel, the San Anronio,
in search of a passage westward to the Pacific Ocean. In Oc-
tober 1520, following a violent storm, Cano returned to
Magellan, having located the entrance to what later became
known as the STRAIT OF MAGELLAN.

The expedition, following up Cano’s report, sailed into
the strait and entered the Pacific. In April 1521, Magellan
was fatally wounded in the Philippines. That September,
Cano was elected to command the expedition, then reduced
to only three ships, the Concepcion, the Trinidad, and the
Victoria. With less than half of the original 237 men in the
expedition surviving, there were too few crew members to
man all three ships; as a result, Cano ordered the Concepcion
burned.

By late November 1521, Cano, in command of the
Victoria and accompanied by the Trinidad, finally reached
Magellan’s intended destination, the SPICE ISLANDS (Moluc-
cas), in what is now Indonesia. After obtaining a valuable
cargo of spices, the two ships set sail in January 1522. The
Trinidad was not seaworthy enough to attempt a passage
around the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE, and instead sailed east-
ward in the hope of reaching a Spanish port in Panama. But
it was soon captured by the Portuguese. Cano avoided cap-
ture by entering the Indian Ocean by way of Banda Strait
and Timor, then sailed directly across the Indian Ocean and
around the Cape of Good Hope, not making a landfall until
he reached the Portuguese-held Cape Verde Islands off the
coast of West Africa. There, he tried to persuade the Por-
tuguese that he had just returned from the Americas, not the
restricted East Indies. The Portuguese did not believe him,
however, and took 13 of his men prisoner.

In September 1522, Cano reached Spain. Of the 237
men and five ships that had started out with Magellan,
only 18 men and one ship returned. Nevertheless, the
spices that Cano brought back from the Moluccas more
than paid the cost of the enterprise. Spanish monarch
Charles I (Holy Roman Emperor Charles V) honored
Cano for completing the first CIRCUMNAVIGATION OF THE
WORLD, and his participation in the mutiny in Patagonia
was forgiven.

In 1525, Cano again sailed for the Moluccas in an ex-
pedition that planned to claim that rich source of spices for
Spain. The next year, while retracing Magellan’s route across
the Pacific, he died of SCURVY.



110 CAO,DIOGO

Juan Sebastidn del Cano initially received most of the
credit for undertaking the first circumnavigation of the
world. Magellan’s role as the expedition’s originator and
leader was not recognized until years later. In any event,
CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS’s idea of reaching the Orient by
sailing westward was first realized by Cano, who also played
a key role in locating the eastern entrance to the Strait of
Magellan.

Cao, Diogo (Diego Cam) (ca. 1450-1486)
Portuguese mariner on the Atlantic coast of Africa

Diogo Cio, or Diego Cam, was probably born in Trds or
Montes, Portugal. While still young, he served as a squire at
the court of HENRY THE NAVIGATOR, prince of Portugal, at
Sagres, where he was exposed to work being done by geog-
raphers and navigators at Henry’s school of navigation.

By 1480, Cao had become an accomplished seafarer
and navigator, serving as admiral with the Portuguese navy.
That year, he undertook his first recorded voyage to the west
coast of Africa, and, while visiting ports on the Gulf of
Guinea, he may have met CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS.

Soon after coming to the throne in 1481, King John II
of Portugal commissioned Cao to continue the exploration
of Africa that had begun under Prince Henry. Cio left Por-
tugal in June 1482, and, sailing southward along the west
coast of Africa, went beyond what is now Santa Catarina in
Gabon, the southernmost point previously reached by Eu-
ropean navigators.

In August 1482, Cao came upon the mouth of a great
river. On its north bank, he erected a 13-foot-high limestone
pillar known as a PADRAO, proclaiming Portuguese sove-
reignty over the region, with inscriptions in Portuguese,
Latin, and Arabic. From local natives, Cao learned that the
river was called the Kongo (or CONGO RIVER, now known
as the Zaire River), after the powerful monarch, Mani
Kongo, who controlled the region from Mbanzu farther
upriver. Four members of Cao’s crew set out to explore the
Congo and contact the king, as well as seek out the leg-
endary white ruler known as PRESTER JOHN. Meanwhile,
Cio continued his exploration southward.

In late August 1483, at what is now Cape St. Mary, An-
gola, about 500 miles south of the mouth of the Congo,
Cio erected a padrdo, then headed back northward. He
stopped at the Congo’s mouth to pick up the men he had
left there; not finding them, he took four native potentates
back to Portugal, as hostages.

Cao reached Lisbon on April 8, 1484, where King John
honored him with a knighthood. The next year, Cio em-
barked on a second voyage. He reached the mouth of the
Congo, where he was joined by the four Portuguese left be-
hind in 1483. The four native princes were returned to their
homeland as well, having been well treated in Portugal. Cao

then sailed his ship up the Congo for a distance of about 100
miles. A record of his visit still exists as graffiti carved into
the face of the cliffs overhanging the river at the Yellala Falls.

From the Congo, Cao sailed farther southward along the
coast of what is now Angola and erected a padrio at Cabo
Negro. He had hoped to find an end to the African continent
and a passage eastward to India. His supplies running low, he
set up another padrio at Cape Cross, on the Atlantic coast of
what is now Namibia, and headed back to Portugal, having
explored an additional 1,500 miles of African coastline with
no southern end of the continent in sight.

By 1486, Cao was in Portugal. He may have taken with
him the African prince known as Cacuto, who returned to
west-central Africa in the early 1490s and aided the Por-
tuguese in winning control of the region. Cao also took back
a large shipment of black pepper, which, although it had a
disastrous effect on the Portuguese spice market, nonetheless
made the voyage highly profitable. Cao may have again ex-
plored the coast of West Africa. He reportedly died south of
Cape Cross, Namibia, later that same year, 1486.

Diogo Cao’s explorations revealed that the African con-
tinent extended much farther southward than had been
speculated. His charting of the Congo River provided Por-
tugal with access to trade with the interior of central Africa.
The pillars he set up along the African coast endured for
hundreds of years, and several of them were recovered and
deposited in museums in Europe. In reaching the coast of
Namibia at Walvis Bay, he was the first European to sail al-
most as far south as the TROPIC OF CAPRICORN. His explo-
rations along the coast of Africa soon led to the first
European voyage around the CAPE OF GOOD HOPE, accom-
plished by Portuguese navigator BARTOLOMEU DIAS in
1487. German cartographer MARTIN BEHAIM accompanied
Cio on at least one of his voyages.

Cardenas, Garcia Lopez de  See LOPEZ DE
CARDENAS, GARCIA.

Carpini, Giovanni da Pian del (John de Piano
de Carpini, John of Pian de Carpini, John de Plano
Carpini, John of Plano, John of Piano Carpini)
(1182-1252) Italian friar, early traveler in central Asia
Giovanni del Carpini was born in the north-central Italian
city of Perugia, near Assisi. A disciple of St. Francis of Assisi,
he entered the religious order established by his companion.
In 1245, Carpini headed the Franciscan order in
Cologne. That year, he was summoned to Lyons by Pope In-
nocent IV. The eastern frontier of Europe had undergone a
siege by the Mongol tribes from the steppes of central Asia,
who had advanced as far west as Kiev and Hungary by 1240.
Soon afterward, there was a lull in their aggression, and ru-



mors began to circulate in the West that the Mongols were
sympathetic to the Christians and might be persuaded to
ally themselves with the European powers in an attack
against the Muslim Turks, then occupying the Holy Land
and also threatening Europe.

In Lyons, Carpini was designated envoy to the Mon-
gols. With a letter from the pope, entreating the current
Mongol khan (ruler), Ogadei, a descendant of GENGHIS
KHAN, to desist from the further slaughter of Christians
and to embrace Christianity, Carpini departed Lyons on
April 16, 1245. He first traveled to Bohemia, where he met
with King Wenceslaus, who had had some contact with the
Mongols during their most recent onslaught on his eastern
frontier. In Poland, Carpini was joined by another Francis-
can, Friar Benedict, who acted as his interpreter. They pro-
ceeded eastward across the Ukraine by horseback, stopping
at Kiev before continuing to the Dnieper and Don Rivers,
north of the Black Sea.

In February 1246, Carpini and his party reached the
Volga River, where they encountered a large encampment of
Mongols, headed by Batu. From Batu, they obtained the
horses necessary to cross the barren steppes of central Asia,
and, with a letter of safe conduct, they continued their jour-
ney, traveling north of the Caspian and Aral Seas into the
northern reaches of the GOBI DESERT.

Carpini arrived at the Mongol Imperial Encampment
near Karakorum on July 22, 1246. Since leaving Lyons 15
months earlier, he had traveled across 3,000 miles of eastern
Europe and central Asia. At that time, more than 2,000
Asian princes and their respective entourages had assembled
at Karakorum to witness the coronation of the new khan,
Kuyuk, uncle of Batu. Carpini learned then that the former
khan, Ogadei, had died in 1241, and he realized that
Ogadei’s death was the reason for the sudden lull in Mon-
gol aggression against Europe.

Carpini presented his papal letters to Kuyuk. In turn
the khan gave Carpini letters for the pope in which he curtly
communicated that he would not become a Christian, and
that he could not accept the overtures for peace unless they
were presented personally by the pope and the princes of
Christendom. He then offered to send his own emissaries
back to the pope with Carpini, but the Franciscan declined
the suggestion, fearing the Mongols would learn how dis-
unified the European powers actually were.

On November 13, 1246, Carpini and Friar Benedict
were allowed to leave Karakorum. Over the next 10 months,
they made a harrowing winter crossing of central Asia,
reaching Kiev in June 1247.

On his return to western Europe, Carpini presented his
account to the pope in Lyons. He was subsequently ap-
pointed archbishop of Antivari on the Dalmatian coast, in
what is now Yugoslavia, and served as a papal diplomat to
the court of Louis IX of France.
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Giovanni del Carpini wrote a detailed account of his
journey into Mongolia, entitled The Book of the Tartars,
which provided Europeans with one of the first descriptions
of the life and customs of the native peoples of central Asia.
Carpini initiated the first dialogue between the East and
West in medieval times, setting a precedent for the subse-
quent diplomatic missions of WILLIAM OF RUBROUCK and
André de Longjumeau, as well as for the commercial travels
of MARCO POLO.

Carson, Christopher Houston (Kit Carson)
(1809-1868) American frontiersman, guide in

the American West

Christopher (Kit) Carson was born near Richmond, Ken-
tucky. In 1811, his family took him to the Missouri frontier.
In 1826, he left Old Franklin, Missouri, where he had been
apprenticed to a saddle-maker, and traveled with a trade car-
avan along the Santa Fe Trail to Taos, New Mexico.

Over the next several years, Carson operated out of Taos
as a trapper, trader, and hunter. In 1829, he accompanied
EWING YOUNG on an expedition from Taos across the Mo-
jave Desert to California’s San Joaquin Valley.

Carson returned to Taos with Young in 1831. That year,
he explored the Old Spanish Trail with fur trader R